

EPIDEMIOLOGY AND PATHOGENIC CHARACTERIZATION OF SPECIES OF THE GENUS AEROMONAS

Ana Fernández Bravo

ADVERTIMENT. L'accés als continguts d'aquesta tesi doctoral i la seva utilització ha de respectar els drets de la persona autora. Pot ser utilitzada per a consulta o estudi personal, així com en activitats o materials d'investigació i docència en els termes establerts a l'art. 32 del Text Refós de la Llei de Propietat Intel·lectual (RDL 1/1996). Per altres utilitzacions es requereix l'autorització prèvia i expressa de la persona autora. En qualsevol cas, en la utilització dels seus continguts caldrà indicar de forma clara el nom i cognoms de la persona autora i el títol de la tesi doctoral. No s'autoritza la seva reproducció o altres formes d'explotació efectuades amb finalitats de lucre ni la seva comunicació pública des d'un lloc aliè al servei TDX. Tampoc s'autoritza la presentació del seu contingut en una finestra o marc aliè a TDX (framing). Aquesta reserva de drets afecta tant als continguts de la tesi com als seus resums i índexs.

ADVERTENCIA. El acceso a los contenidos de esta tesis doctoral y su utilización debe respetar los derechos de la persona autora. Puede ser utilizada para consulta o estudio personal, así como en actividades o materiales de investigación y docencia en los términos establecidos en el art. 32 del Texto Refundido de la Ley de Propiedad Intelectual (RDL 1/1996). Para otros usos se requiere la autorización previa y expresa de la persona autora. En cualquier caso, en la utilización de sus contenidos se deberá indicar de forma clara el nombre y apellidos de la persona autora y el título de la tesis doctoral. No se autoriza su reproducción u otras formas de explotación efectuadas con fines lucrativos ni su comunicación pública desde un sitio ajeno al servicio TDR. Tampoco se autoriza la presentación de su contenido en una ventana o marco ajeno a TDR (framing). Esta reserva de derechos afecta tanto al contenido de la tesis como a sus resúmenes e índices.

WARNING. Access to the contents of this doctoral thesis and its use must respect the rights of the author. It can be used for reference or private study, as well as research and learning activities or materials in the terms established by the 32nd article of the Spanish Consolidated Copyright Act (RDL 1/1996). Express and previous authorization of the author is required for any other uses. In any case, when using its content, full name of the author and title of the thesis must be clearly indicated. Reproduction or other forms of for profit use or public communication from outside TDX service is not allowed. Presentation of its content in a window or frame external to TDX (framing) is not authorized either. These rights affect both the content of the thesis and its abstracts and indexes.



Epidemiology and pathogenic characterization of species of the genus *Aeromonas*

ANA FERNÁNDEZ BRAVO



DOCTORAL THESIS 2019



Epidemiology and pathogenic characterization of species of the genus *Aeromonas*

Ana Fernández Bravo

DOCTORAL THESIS 2019

Directed by Prof. M^a Jose Figueras Salvat

Department of Basic Health Sciences Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences



Prof. Dr. Maria José Figueras Unit of Biology and Microbiology Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences University Rovira i Virgili Sant Llorenc 21, 43201 REUS, SPAIN Tel 0034 977759321, Fax 0034 977759322 mariajose.figueras@urv.cat

Maria José Figueras Salvat professor of Microbiology of the Department of Basic Health Sciences, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences of the University Rovira i Virgili

CERTIFY THAT:

The present work entitled: "Epidemiology and pathogenic characterization of species of the genus *Aeromonas*" prepared by Ana Fernández Bravo to obtain the degree of doctor by the University Rovira i Virgili, have been carried out under my supervision at the Unit of Microbiology of the Department of Basic Health Sciences, and that it fulfils the requirements to obtain the International Doctorate mention.

Reus, April 26th, 2019.

Via Jaque

Dr. Maria José Figueras Salvat

To my father Sergio

Acknowledgements

En primer lugar, agradecer a la Profesora Maria José Figueras por darme la oportunidad de realizar mi tesis doctoral con ella, por sus conocimientos, su paciencia y dedicación durante estos años; y al Profesor Josep Guarro por su gran acogida en la unidad. Al Dr. Alberto Stchigel y al Dr. Pep Cano, por su optimismo, por su apoyo y por las grandes conversaciones en esos momentos de estrés. Gracias por ser mi hombro en los momentos más duros. Al resto de los profesores de la unidad de Microbiología: Dra. Josepa Gené, Dra. Dania García, Dr. Javier Capilla, Dra. Kendra Rodríguez y Dra. Isabel Pujol por todos vuestros consejos desde la veteranía, por cada muestra de cariño y por cada palabra de aliento durante este camino. No podría olvidarme de la Dra. Loida, a pesar de que no empezamos con buen pie, ha sido un gran referente para mi, gracias por pertenecer al consejo de sabias.

También quiero agradecer al Dr. Ashok Chopra por su acogida durante 6 meses en la University of Texas Medical Branch y por haberme permitido trabajar con temas tan interesantes. No puedo olvidarme de la primera persona que confió en mi la Dra. Carmen Amaro, gracias por ayudarme y por estar siempre que necesito. Gracias también a Amparo que en tantos buenos momentos me acompañó. Y no me puedo olvidar de Celia, la verdad es que tú has sido mi maestra, quien consiguió que esto empezara a gustarme y mi gran apoyo siempre.

Me gustaría dar las gracias a todas aquellas personas que han contribuido a este trabajo con su ayuda. A la Dra. Josefa Girona que se ofreció a prestarme las células y me permitió trabajar en el laboratorio de cultivos; y a la Dra. Graciela Castro por darme su mano cada vez que la he necesitado.

Y que decir de esa gran familia que encontré ya hace casi 4 años. Gracias al personal técnico Nuria y Carme (mi gran compañera de cultivos celulares) por ser mi mano derecha y guiarme en cada momento. Mil gracias a mis compañeros, los que están, los que se fueron y los que nos visitaron brevemente: Joao, Jordi, Katy, Marcela, Neto, Nico, Damaris, Edu, Emmanuel, Yasmina, Isa, Viry, Dayana, Dani,

Miriam, Tere, Alba...Vosotros habéis hecho que todo esto fuera tan especial, las risas y los grandes momentos siempre han estado asegurados con vosotros.

Infinitas gracias a mis científicas locas: Adela, Primi, Nuria, Alba y Marta. Ni siquiera puedo empezar a escribir sin emocionarme al pensar todos esos momentos que pasamos juntas. Ellas han sido mi apoyo, ayudándome desde el minuto uno en que aparecí en el laboratorio y por supuesto las más liantas de todas...Siempre dispuestas a chupitos de absenta, comidas en la Paola, tardes en el campus y mil cosas más. Especialmente agradecer a Alba por sus conocimientos de genómica y a Marta por ayudarme con el manejo de ratones, entre muchas otras cosas.

Gracias a mis amigos por acompañarme en todo esto y porque a pesar de la distancia siempre me hacéis sentir que estoy cerca. En especial a Gemma, mi gran amiga "a on va la corda, va el poal", gracias por tu apoyo, sé que no ha sido fácil.

A mi familia (padres, abuelos, tíos, primos y mi Telmo), las personas más importantes de mi vida y la mejor familia que me podía tocar. En especial, a mis padres, ellos me acompañan siempre desde la sombra. Gracias a vosotros soy lo que soy y no hay tiempo ni dinero para devolveros todo lo que habéis hecho por mi. Sois las personas que guiáis mi vida y camináis junto a mi, sé que no ha sido fácil, pero espero que valga la pena. Por todo esto, mil gracias por estar en mis días buenos y en mis no tan buenos. No puedo oldivar a Alan mi apoyo y mi mejor compañero, gracias por tu amor.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION1
1.1. Historic perspective of the genus Aeromonas
1.2. Taxonomy and identification
1.2.1. Phenotypic characterization
1.2.2. Molecular identification
1.2.2.1. Identification techniques based on 16S ribosomal RNA8
Sequences of the 16S rRNA gene
Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption/Ionization Time of Flight Mass
Spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS)10
1.2.2.2. Identification based on Housekeeping genes
Single Housekeeping gene and Multilocus Phylogenetic Analysis
(MLPA)11
1.2.3. Whole genome sequencing12
1.2.3.1. In silico DNA-DNA hybridization (isDDH)12
1.2.3.2. Average Nucleotide Identity13
1.2.4. Molecular typing techniques13
1.2.4.1. Enterobacterial Repetitive Intergenic Consensus PCR (ERIC- PCR)14
1.2.4.2. Multilocus Sequence Typing14
1.3. Ecology and epidemiology15
1.3.1. Aeromonas in the aquatic environments
Surface water16
Groundwater16
Drinking water16
Seawater17
Irrigation water17
1.3.2. <i>Aeromonas</i> in animals18
1.3.3. <i>Aeromonas</i> in food19
1.3.4. Human infections
Mixed infections
1.3.4.1. Gastroenteritis

Diarrhea in adults
Diarrhea in children
Enterophatogenicity of Aeromonas
1.3.4.2. Wound infections
Necrotizing fasciitis
1.3.4.3. Bacteremia/Septicemia
1.3.4.4. Other infections
1.3.5. Aeromonas in Spanish hospitals
1.4. Host-pathogen interaction
1.4.1. Innate immune response against Aeromonas
1.4.2. Virulence factors
1.4.2.1. Structural components
Flagellum42
Pili
Capsule42
S layer
Lipopolysaccharides (LPS)
1.4.2.2. Extracellular proteins
Exotoxins
Hemolysins
Proteases
Lipases
Shiga toxins45
1.4.2.3. Secretion systems
Type Two Secretion System (T2SS)45
Type Three Secretion System (T3SS)45
Type Four Secretion System (T4SS)46
Type Six Secretion System (T6SS)46
1.4.2.4. Quorum sensing
1.4.2.5. Metal ions
1.5. Antimicrobial susceptibility

1.5.1. Resistance mechanism	48
1.6. Pathogenicity	49
1.6.1. Studies with different cell lines	49
1.6.2. Studies on animal models	51
2. INTEREST AND OBJECTIVES	53
3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	61
3.1. Bacterial strains, conservation and culture	63
3.1.1. Genetic manipulation of the bacterial strains	63
3.1.1.1. Construction of bioluminescent mutant	63
3.1.1.2. Construction of knockout/complemented mutants	64
3.2. DNA extraction and genotyping	64
3.3. Molecular identification	65
3.3.1. Phylogenetic analysis with housekeeping genes	65
3.3.2. MALDI-TOF	65
3.4. Phenotypic characterization	66
3.5. Detection of virulence genes	66
3.6. Antimicrobial susceptibility profile	67
3.7. Protein sequence analysis and 3D-structure prediction	68
3.8. Genomics	68
3.8.1. DNA extraction, sequencing and annotation	68
3.8.2. Genomic indexes	69
3.8.3. Genomic characterization	69
3.8.4. In silico search of genes in the Aeromonas genomes	70
3.9. In vitro studies	70
3.9.1. Cell lines and growth conditions	70
3.9.2. Infection	70
3.9.3. Phagocytic assays	71
3.9.4. Intracellular survival	71
3.9.5. Cell damage assay	71
3.9.6. RNA extraction and quantitative RT-qPCR	72
3.9.6.1. Gene expression in Aeromonas	72

3.9.6.2. Immune-related genes expression in monocytes72
3.9.7. Dynamic of mixed infections74
3.10. <i>In vivo</i> studies74
3.10.1. Animal model
3.10.2. Immunosuppression
3.10.3. Immunization
3.10.4. Infection
3.10.5. Survival curves75
3.10.6. Bacterial dissemination
3.10.7. Bacterial quantification by qPCR76
3.10.8. Histopathological analysis
3.11. Water samples
3.11.1. Quantification by plate count method77
3.11.2. Quantification by "Most Probable Number"
3.11.3. Quantification by qPCR
4. RESULTS
4. RESULTS
 4. RESULTS
 4. RESULTS
 4. RESULTS
 4. RESULTS
4. RESULTS

4.8. Role of T6SS and exoA gene in the mixed infection caused	by Aeromonas
hydrophila that develop necrotizing fasciitis	229
4.9. Evaluation of the immune response in the monocytic cell line	THP-1 against
Aeromonas spp	
5. GENERAL DISCUSSION	
6. CONCLUSIONS	
7. REFERENCES	
8. SUPPLEMENTARY	

1. INTRODUCTION



1.1. Historic perspective of the genus Aeromonas

The genus *Aeromonas* (aer-, from the Greek: gas; -mones, units, gas producing units), according to the most recent edition of the Bergey's Manual, belongs to the Class Gammaproteobacteria, Order Aeromonadales, Family *Aeromonadaceae*, which currently includes 3 genera: *Aeromonas*, *Oceanimonas* and *Tolumonas* (Martin-Carnahan and Jospeh, 2005). These microorganisms are characterized for being Gram-negative bacillus, oxidase and catalase positive, capable of degrading nitrates to nitrites, glucose fermenters and resistant to vibriostatic factor O/129 (2,4-diamino-6,7-di-iso-propylpteridine phosphate). Although they are microorganisms native to the aquatic environment, they are also frequently isolated in human food, fish and other infectious processes in humans, including immunocompromised and immucompetent people (Castro-Escarpulli et al., 2002; Martin-Carnahan and Joseph, 2005; Figueras 2005; Janda and Abbott et al., 2010; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015).

It is believed that the first isolates were reported in 1891 Sanarelli et al. and these bacteria were classified as *Bacillus hydrophilus fuscus*. The genus was created in 1936 by Kluyver and van Niel, but the International Committee of Systematic Bacteriology established the authorship to Stainer in 1943.

The genus *Aeromonas* belonged to the family *Vibrionaceae*, since 1965, together with the genera *Vibrio* and *Plesiomonas* (Martin-Carnahan and Joseph, 2005). In the mid-70s, most of the *Aeromonas* were included within two groups, mainly based on the temperature of growth and various characteristics, such as motility, pigment production in TSA or indole production. These two groups were the following:

- Mesophilic strains (optimal growth at 35-37°C) responsible for various infections in humans and defined globally under the name of *A. hydrophila*.

- Psychrophilic strains (optimal growth at 22-28°C) mainly fish pathogens and identified as *A. salmonicida*.

Doctoral thesis

Ana Fernández Bravo

These two groups were reclassified later on the basis of studies of DNA-DNA reassociation (McInnes et al., 1979; Popoff et al., 1981; Farmer et al., 1986).

From 1992 to date, 22 new species have been described and included in the genus: *A. allosaccharophila* (Martínez-Murcia et al., 1992b), *A. encheleia* (Esteve et al., 1995b), *A. bestiarum* (Ali et al., 1996), *A. popoffii* (Huys et al., 1997a, b), *A. simiae* (Harf-Monteil et al., 2004), *A. molluscorum* (Miñana-Galbis et al., 2004), *A. bivalvium* (Miñana-Galbis et al., 2007), *A. tecta* (Demarta et al., 2008), *A. piscicola* (Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2009), *A. fluvialis*, *A. taiwanensis* and *A. sanarellii* (Alperi et al., 2010a, b), *A. diversa* (Miñana-Galbis et al., 2010), *A. rivuli* (Figueras et al., 2011a), *A. cavernicola* (Martínez-Murcia et al 2013), *A. australiensis* (Aravena-Román et al., 2013), *A. dhakensis* (Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2015b), *A. rivipollensis* (Martí-Balcázar et al ., 2016) and *A. lusitana* (Martínez-Murcia et al., 2015b), In addition, four new species included in the Doctoral thesis of Fadua Latif Eugenín in 2015 are in the process of description, and all the species are represented in Table 1.

- The type species of the genus *A. hydrophila* includes 2 subspecies: *A. hydrophila* subsp. *hydrophila* and *A. hydrophila* subsp. *ranae* (LMG 19707^T), while *A. salmonicida* includes 5 subspecies: *A. salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida*, *A. salmonicida* subsp. *achromogenes* (ATCC 3659^T), *A. salmonicida* subsp. *masoucida* (ATCC 27013^T), *A. salmonicida* subsp. *smithia* (ATCC 49393^T) and *A. salmonicida* subsp. *pectinolytica* (DSMZ 12609^T).

- A. veronii includes 2 biotypes: A. veronii bv. sobria and A. veronii bv. veronii.

- The species *A. icthiosmia* and *A. culicicola* are considered synonyms of *A. veronii* by. *sobria* and *A. veronii* by. *veronii* (Huys et al., 2001; 2005).

- A. enteropelogenes is a synonym of A. trota (CECT 4255^T, Collins et al., 1993).

- *A. hydrophila* subsp. *dhakensis* (CECT 5744^T, Huys et al., 2002) and *A. aquariorum* (CECT 7289^T, Martínez-Murcia et al., 2008) were reclassified as a single species *A. dhakensis* (CECT 5744^T).

Table 1. Aeromonas species

Species	Type strain	Source	References
A. hydrophila	CECT 839 ^T	Milk	Stainer, 1943
A. salmonicida	CECT 894 ^T	Salmon	Griffin et al., 1953
A. sobria	CECT 4245 ^T	Fish	Popoff and Veron, 1981
A. media	CECT 4232 ^T	Fisheries water	Allen et al., 1983
A. veronii	CECT 4257 ^T	Sputum	Hickman-Brenner et al., 1987
A. caviae	CECT 838 ^T	Guinea pig	Schubert and Hegazi, 1988
A. eucrenophila	CECT 4224 ^T	Fresh water fish	Schubert and Hegazi, 1988
A. schubertii	CECT 4240 ^T	Skin abscess	Hickman-Brenner et al., 1988
A. jandaei	CECT 4228 ^T	Human feces	Carnahan et al., 1991
A. trota	CECT 4255 ^T	Human feces	Carnahan et al., 1991
A. allosaccharophila	CECT 4199 ^T	Eel	Martínez-Murcia et al., 1992
A. encheleia	CECT 4342 ^T	Eel	Esteve et al., 1995
A. bestiarum	CECT 4227 ^T	Sick fish	Ali et al., 1996
A. popoffi	CECT 5176 ^T	Drinking water	Huys et al., 1997
A. simiae	IBS S-6874 ^T	Monkey feces	Harf-Monteil et al., 2004
A. molluscorum	CECT 5864 ^T	Shellfish	Miñana-Galbis et al., 2004
A. bivalvium	CECT 7113 ^T	Shellfish	Miñana-Galbis et al., 2007
A. tecta	CECT 7082 ^T	Children feces	Demarta et al., 2008
A. piscicola	CECT 7443 ^T	Sick fish	Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2009
A. fluvialis	CECT 7401 ^T	River water	Alperi et al., 2010
A. taiwanensis	CECT 7403 ^T	Wound infection	Alperi et al., 2010
A. sanarelli	CECT 7402 ^T	Wound infection	Alperi et al., 2010
A. diversa	CECT 4254 ^T	Wound infection	Miñana-Galbis et al., 2010
A. rivuli	CECT 7518 ^T	River water	Figueras et al., 2011
A. cavernicola	CECT 7862 ^T	Cavern creek water	Martínez-Murcia et al., 2012
A. australiensis	CECT 8023 ^T	Irrigation water	Aravena-Román et al., 2013
A. dhakensis	CECT 5744 ^T	Children feces	Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2013
A. finlandensis	CECT 8028 ^T	Cyanobacterial bloom	Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2015
A. aquatica	CECT 8025 ^T	Cyanobacterial bloom	Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2015
A. lacus	CECT 8024 ^T	Cyanobacterial bloom	Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2015
A. rivipollensis	LMG 26323 ^T	River water	Martí and Balcazar, 2016
A. lusitana	CECT 7828 ^T	Untreated water	Martínez-Murcia et al., 2016
A. intestinalis	CECT 8980 ^T	Human feces	Figueras et al., 2017
A. enterica	CECT 8981 ^T	Human feces	Figueras et al., 2017
A. crassostreae	CECT 8982 ^T	Shellfish	Figueras et al., 2017
A. aquatilis	CECT 8026 ^T	Lake water	Figueras et al., 2017

Doctoral thesis

Ana Fernández Bravo

- *A. intestinalis*, *A. enterica*, *A. crassostreae* and *A. aquatilis* are the 4 new species in process of description (Figueras et al., 2017).

1.2. Taxonomy and identification

In the year 2002, Stackebrandt et al. suggested, as a member of the International Committee of Systematics of Prokaryotes (ICSP), that the definition of new prokaryotic species should include a polyphasic study involving a phenotypic, genotypic and phylogenetic differentiation. The phenotypic differentiation is based on biochemical, morphological and physiological characteristics, and on the analysis of protein and fatty acids profile; while the phylogenetic differentiation should include the sequence of at least 1300 nucleotides (nt) of the 16S rRNA gene. In addition, the sequencing of at least 7 housekeeping genes is suggested such as the so call MLSA (Multilocus Sequences Analysis), or as we prefer to denominate MLPA (Multilocus Phylogenetic Analysis). The MLPA provides greater resolution and phylogenetic differentiation.

To determine the intraspecific variability, the MLST (Multilocus Sequences Typing) has been proposed to show more resolution than other molecular typing techniques (RAPD, ERIC-PCR, REP-PCR, AFLP, etc.).

In recent years, molecular identification uses the information included in the genome for genome comparison. Several techniques have been used, such as the Average Nucleotide Identity (ANI) or the *in silico* DNA-DNA Hybridization (*isDDH*) (Richter and Rosselló-Móra, 2009; Meier-Kolthoff et al., 2013).

1.2.1. Phenotypic characterization

Phenotypic characterization embraces the morphology, physiology, and biochemical response of the bacteria. The morphology analyses the form, presence of flagella, inclusion bodies, endospores or Gram stain. The physiological characteristics include the data of the growth under different conditions (salt, pH, temperature, oxygen), while the biochemical profile includes the presence of

enzymes, metabolization of substrates, and resistance to antimicrobial agents, as well as total protein profiles (Abbott et al., 2003).

Phenotypical methods show important limitations for the characterization of *Aeromonas* spp., since many of the commercialized methods tend to confuse different species. In 2010, Beaz-Hidalgo et al. performed a re-identification of 119 strains isolated from fish, previously identified with phenotypical methods by using molecular methods (16S rRNA-RFLP and *rpoD* sequencing), and the results demonstrated that the majority of strains were mistakenly identified as *A. hydrophila*. Similar errors occur in clinical, due to the limitations of the methods, being *A. hydrophila* erroneously overestimated as one of the most important species (Figueras et al., 2009; Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2010; Morinaga et al., 2013; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015).

The typical phenotypic characteristic of the genus include Gram negative stain, presence of the cytochrome oxidase, growth in nutrient broth at 0% of NaCl and negative growth at 6%, inositol acid production, the ability to oxidize-ferment glucose and resistance to the vibriostatic factor O/129, except for the species *A. cavernicola* and *A. australiensis* which are sensitive to this agent (Altwegg, 1999, Martin-Carnahan and Joseph, 2005; Martínez-Murcia et al., 2013; Aravena-Román et al., 2013).

Three species of *Aeromonas* (*A. hydrophila*, *A. sobria*, and *A. caviae*) existed as phenospecies, that is, a named species containing multiple DNA groups, the members of which could not be distinguished from another one by simple biochemical characteristics (Borrell et al., 1998; Abbott et al., 2003). An important study was performed in 2003 by Abbott, in which 62 biochemical tests and 193 strains were used. They discovered that only 9 tests showed the same response for all strains. Regarding the study performed by Beaz-Hidalgo et al. (2010), the reidentification of the 119 strains isolated from fish and identified by biochemical test showed that only 35.5% were correctly identified at species level with the biochemical characterization (Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2010).

Doctoral thesis

Ana Fernández Bravo

For many years, automatic or semiautomatic commercial identification systems have been the most commonly used in the clinical laboratories for bacterial identification. However, as indicated the phenotypic identification of *Aeromonas* species has been considered difficult, due to the limitations of the phenotypic test involved in these Systems (API 20E, Vitek, BBL Crystal, MicrosScan W/A, among others). The results obtained after comparing the biochemical identification of *Aeromonas* species using non-automated systems and automated systems showed a good correlation (Vivas et al., 2000). However, the comparison of the results obtained with molecular methods shows a very low concordance (Lamy et al., 2010). An additional, an important problem of the identification with automated systems is the confusion of *Aeromonas* strains with species of the genus *Vibrio* (Lamy et al., 2010; Janda and Abbott et al., 2010).

1.2.2. Molecular identification

1.2.2.1. Identification techniques based on 16S ribosomal RNA

The sequences of the 16S ribosomal RNA (16S rRNA) gene have been classically considered as stable and as specific molecular markers for the identification of bacterial species. The 16S rRNA is an essential gene with universal distribution that allows the comparison with all microorganisms. Moreover, its structure presents a mosaic of variable regions, useful in the differentiation of organisms closely related, and their conserved regions are useful for comparing distant organisms, and have allowed the design of "universal" primers (Woese et al., 1987).

Sequences of the 16S rRNA gene

The first sequencing of the 16S rRNA gene in the genus *Aeromonas* was performed in 1992 by Martínez-Murcia et al. The findings demonstrated that the phylogenetic analysis agreed with the DNA-DNA hybridization (DDH) results that were used to define the species. In *Aeromonas* spp., the 16S rRNA showed to be extremely conserved, and the informative nucleotide positions are located in region V3, followed by V1, and V2 (Martínez-Murcia and Lamy, 2015).

The presence of mutation or microheterogeneities was described in the 16S rRNA gene of some species that had led to some misidentifications (Alperi et al., 2008). Nowadays, it is considered that in the genus *Aeromonas*, this gene is useful for delimiting distant species, but species considered different showed identical 16S rRNA sequences. Therefore, this gene is not reliable for the identification of closely related *Aeromonas* spp. (Alperi et al., 2008; Martínez-Murcia and Lamy, 2015). The phylogenetic tree derived from sequences of the 16S rRNA gene of all *Aeromonas* species described until now is shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Phylogenetic relationship of 40 species of *Aeromonas* (*four in process of description) based on the sequences of the 16 rRNA gene. The number in the nodes indicates the bootstrap values. Bar show number of substitutions by site.

Doctoral thesis

Ana Fernández Bravo

Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption/Ionization Time of Flight Mass Spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS)

The MALDI-TOF MS is an approach used for the identification of microorganisms that has been introduced in recent years in many clinical laboratories (Vávrová et al., 2015). The method determines the molecular weights (mainly 2-20 kDa) of proteins, the majority of these associated with the 16S rRNA gene (Donohue et al., 2006; Latif-Eugenín, 2015). Its principal advantage consists in a short-time analysis without previous extensive preparation methods Vávrová et al., 2015. Currently, 2 software are available for the identification, SARAMISTM and Biotyper. Lamy et al. (2011) analyzed 139 strains of clinical and environmental origin identified with *rpoB* sequencing. The results showed that 100% of the identification was correct at genus level, while the correct identification at species level was 91.4%. Similar results were obtained by Benagli et al. (2012) with the reidentification of 714 isolates from clinical and environmental origin, also previously identified with the *gyrB* sequences that found a correct identification at species level of 93%.

Later, Chen et al. (2014a) used 217 clinical isolates previously identified by *rpoB* sequencing, which were 100% correctly identified at genus level, and 97% at species level. In the last years, two new studies were performed (Shin et al., 2015, Latif-Eugenín, 2015). Shin et al. (2015) performed a MALDI-TOF identification of 65 clinical strains previously identified by *gyrB* sequencing and found 98.5% of concordance at genus level, and 92.3% at species level. These results are relatively similar to the ones obtained by Latif-Eugenín (2015) using 179 clinical strains from Spanish hospitals, where 98.3% showed a correct identification at genus level, and 91.1% at species level. Based on these data, it is possible to conclude that MALDI-TOF is a useful tool, since the error of identification is <10%. However, this method has a limitation because the database should be updated to include all the species of the genus, for instance *A. dhakensis* is missing in different databases (Latif-Eugenín, 2015).

1.2.2.2. Identification based on Housekeeping genes

The housekeeping genes codify proteins with essential functions for the bacterial survival (Stackebrandt et al., 2002). The phylogenetic information of these genes is higher than the 16S rRNA gene, since these genes possess a higher evolutionary rate, and the variations are distributed for the whole gene. In order for these genes to be useful, they have to comply with certain characteristics like: 1) not to be influenced by horizontal gene transfer, 2) they have to be present in all bacteria, 3) they should have a single copy in the genome, and 4) two regions with a higher conservation for the primer construction (Latif-Eugenín, 2015).

Single Housekeeping gene and Multilocus Phylogenetic Analysis (MLPA)

The first genes studied in Aeromonas were gyrB (encoding the B subunit of DNA gyrase, a type II DNA topoisomerase) and *rpoD* (encoding the s70 factor, one of the sigma factors that confers promoter-specific transcription initiation on RNA polymerase) (Yáñez et al., 2003; Soler et a., 2004). These genes have helped to recognize many new species and were used in the description of many species (Demarta et al., 2008; Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2009; Alperi et al., 2010a, b; Miñana-Galbis et al., 2010; Figueras et al., 2011a; Martínez-Murcia et al., 2013; Aravena-Román et al., 2013; Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2013, 2015b; Martí and Balcázar, 2016; Martínez-Murcia et al., 2016; Figueras et al., 2017). Nevertheless, the sequencing of only one housekeeping gene may not show enough resolution to show without doubt the phylogenetic positions of some closely related species, as occurs between A. veronii and A. allosaccharophila or between A. salmonicida, A. bestiarum and A. piscicola. This limitation can be resolved by using the sequencing of several housekeeping genes, performing a phylogenetic study based on the concatenated sequences of these different genes. In the genus Aeromonas, the other genes proposed to study the phylogenetic relationships are:, rpoB, recA, dnaJ, cpn60, mdh, gyrA, dnaX, atpD, groL, gltA, metG, ppsA, dnaK, radA, tsf and zipA (Küpfer et al., 2006; Nhung et al., 2007; Sepe et al., 2008; Miñana-Galbis et al., 2009, 2010; Martínez-Murcia et al., 2011; Martino et al., 2011; Roger et al., 2012b). Martínez-

Doctoral thesis

Ana Fernández Bravo

Murcia et al. (2011) described a Multilocus Phylogenetic Analysis (MLPA) for the first time, by using concatenated sequences of 7 housekeeping genes (*rpoD*, *gyrB*, *gyrA*, *recA*, *dnaJ*, *dnaX* and *atpD*).

1.2.3. Whole genome sequencing

Advances in the techniques used to obtain complete genomes have evolved very quickly reducing considerably the cost of sequencing. In this sense, in 2012, only 6 *Aeromonas* genomes were available; however, in 2014, the number of genomes increased, and in fact that year, 56 genomes that represented 12 of the species of the genus *Aeromonas* were analyzed by Colston et al. (2014). The authors described that the size of the *Aeromonas* genomes oscillate between 3.90 Mbp (*A. fluvialis*) and 5.18 Mbp (*A. piscicola*) with an average size of 4.51 Mbp. Similarly, the % of G+C was 60.2%, oscillating between 58.1% (*A. australiensis*) and 62.8% (*A. taiwanensis*).

One year later, Beaz-Hidalgo et al. (2015a) re-identified the genomes of 44 strains deposited in the Genbank, and the results showed that 14 strains were identified incorrectly. The taxonomic affiliation was determined by a Multilocus Sequence Typing (MLST), and by pairwise Average Nucleotide Identity (ANI). The results demonstrated that the correct taxonomic affiliation should be verified by using ANI and MLPA before a genome is submitted to the NCBI, and that researchers should amend the existing taxonomic errors present in databases (Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2015a).

The misidentifications of the genomes could be determined by using the new tools that have been developed for the bacterial identification based on the genome comparison, the *in silico* DNA-DNA hybridization (*is*DDH) and the Average Nucleotide Identity (ANI) (Colston et al., 2014; Creason et al., 2014; Figueras et al., 2014; Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2015a, b).

1.2.3.1. In silico DNA-DNA hybridization (isDDH)

The tool call *Genome to genome distance calculator* allows to determine the degree of reassociation or genetic similarity between two genomic DNAs belonging

to different bacterial isolates (*in silico* DDH, *is*DDH). This informatic tool was developed by DSMZ (Leibniz-Institut DSMZ-Deutsche Sammlung von Mikroorganismen und Zellkulturen GmbH), and in fact simulates the classical experiment of DNA-DNA hybridization (DDH) used for the comparison of bacteria strains that showing a 16S rRNA gene similarity above 97%. If the *is*DDH was \geq 70% it indicated that two strains belonged to the same species. The same threshold is used for the *is*DDH calculation (Auch et al., 2010a; Meier-Kolthoff et al., 2013)

1.2.3.2. Average Nucleotide Identity

The Average Nucleotide Identity is defined as the average percentage of identity that exists in the nucleotide sequence of orthologous gene shared by two genomes (Konstatinidis and Tiedje, 2005; Goris et al., 2007; Richter and Rosselló-Móra, 2009). Several software available at different public databases have been developed to perform this. The results obtained in different studies demonstrated that the percentages of ANI \geq 95-96% were correlated with the results of *is*DDH \geq 70% (Goris et al., 2007; Richter and Rosselló-Móra, 2009; Kim et al., 2014). For this reason, the ANI has been proposed as a new reference method. There are 4 web sites available to calculate this: JSpecies, ANI calculator, OrthoANI and OrthoANIusearch tool. Colston et al. (2014) analyzed 56 Aeromonas genomes and determined that values $\geq 96\%$ were consistent with the taxonomy of the genus. Additionally, Beaz-Hidalgo et al. (2015a) compared the ANI values with the results obtained by MLPA and the data in both were concordant. This work ratified that ANI is a good alternative to use as a gold standard for the delineation of the species as equal or different when comparing genomes. Moreover, the ANI cutoff in Aeromonas to the species separation should be higher than 96% (Colston et al., 2014; Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2015a).

1.2.4. Molecular typing techniques

Molecular typing techniques are essential to determine the epidemiological relationships between the strains and allow recognizing if different isolates belong or not to the same strains or are clonally related. The techniques identify the strains

Doctoral thesis

Ana Fernández Bravo

responsible for epidemiological outbreaks: PFGE, RAPD-PCR, AFLP, REP-PCR, BOX-PCR, and ERIC-PCR or a group of genes, as in the case of ribotyping and the MLST (Figueras et al., 2009). All the techniques except the MLST generated band patterns and can be compared to determine if the isolates belong or not to the same strain.

1.2.4.1. Enterobacterial Repetitive Intergenic Consensus PCR (ERIC- PCR)

Enterobacterial Repetitive Intergenic Consensus (ERIC) are imperfect palindromic sequences of 127 bp that occur in multiple copies in the genomes of enteric bacteria, vibrios, and other bacterial genera (Wilson and Sharp, 2016). This technique allows determining the epidemiological relationships between strains and to recognize the strains that are the source of infection in epidemiological outbreaks. Moreover, it allows to recognize if the isolates included in the description of new species are identical or not, or if they derive from the same clone (Figueras et al., 2006; Figueras et al., 2011d).

In 2003, Soler et al. using 26 isolates of *Aeromonas* spp. from different geographical origins showed that the ERIC-PCR was more discriminatory than the REP-PCR, RFLP or RFLP of the ITS 16S-23S. In addition, the study conducted by Figueras et al. (2006) demonstrated that the ERIC-PCR produced the same results as the PFGE and the AFLP. Studies published in 2008 showed that the ERIC-PCR could be useful for typing at the species (Nováková et al., 2009) and subspecies levels (Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2008).

1.2.4.2. Multilocus Sequence Typing

The MLST uses the sequence of internal fragments of seven housekeeping genes (450-500 bp of seven genes) and for each gene the sequences from different strains are compared and each unique sequence is assigned a specific number for each gene or allele. The strains that show the same allelic profile (identical sequence for all genes) correspond to the same sequence type (ST) which is identified by a specific number (Maiden et al., 1998; Maiden, 2006; Figueras et al., 2011b; Jolley

and Maiden, 2014). When more ST are available for each bacterium, it will be easier to understand the structure of the various biological populations (Maiden et al., 1998; Maiden, 2006; Jolley and Maiden, 2014; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015).

1.3. Ecology and epidemiology

Aeromonas are microorganisms associated with the aquatic environment. However, these bacteria are worldwide distributed and have been isolated from several clinical and environmental samples (Del Val et al., 1990; Janda and Abbott, 2010; Figueras et al., 2017). Figure 2 from Janda and Abbott, 2010 shows the environmental sources of *Aeromonas* that can be the route of colonization and infection for the human population.

The literature suggests that the majority of the *Aeromonas* infections in humans have been acquired by the contact with water, as well by food i.e. meat, milk, seafood (Janda and Abbott, 2010; Ponnusamy et al., 2016; Teunis and Figueras, 2016).



Figure 2. Environmental sources of *Aeromonas* associated with the infection in humans from Janda and Abbot, 2010.
Ana Fernández Bravo

1.3.1. Aeromonas in the aquatic environments

The genus *Aeromonas* has been described an aquatic pathogen and can be found in different types of water, such as surface water, groundwater, drinking water, seawater, irrigation water, among others (Ferguson et al., 1994; Araujo et al., 1990; Borrell et al., 1998; Figueras et al., 2005; Rahman et al., 2009; Aravena-Román et al., 2013; Figueras and Ashbolt, 2019). Several authors have described characteristics of *Aeromonas* that explain their broad distribution (Altwegg et al., 1989; Schubert, 1991; Szewzyk et al., 2000; Sautour et al., 2003; Janda and Abbott, 2010). These bacteria can grow in a wide interval of temperatures (4°C to 45°C) with an optim range between 22°C-30°C, and under different pH conditions (5.2-9.8).

Surface water

The concentration of *Aeromonas* in surface waters is abundant and the diversity is higher than in seawater (Kaper et al., 1981; Sharma et al., 1995; Montes et al., 1999; Chaix et al., 2017; Figueras and Ashbolt, 2019). Borrell et al. (1998) described that in Catalonia (Spain) 96% of lakes and reservoirs samples, as well as 88% of river water samples harbored *Aeromonas* strains. Finish water from many lakes and rivers harbored many strains, and this is the origin of three new species described (*A. aquatica, A. finlandensis* and *A. lacus*) in 2015 by Beaz-Hidalgo et al.

Groundwater

The prevalence of *Aeromonas* in groundwater is generally lower, and high levels of the bacterium could be associated with the intrusion of fecal contamination (WHO, 2002; Figueras and Ashbolt, 2019).

Drinking water

There are numerous cases in which has been detected the presence of *Aeromonas* in drinking water distribution systems and even in bottled water (Massa et al., 1995; Huys et al., 1995; Borrell et al., 1998; Figueras et al., 2005; Figueras and Ashbolt, 2019). The concentration of *Aeromonas* in drinking water is related to the capacity to regrow in the system (Holmes et al., 1996; van der Kooij et al., 2015)

and can be changed depending on the available nutrients, the temperature, and the concentration of residual chlorine (Sisti et al., 1998). Latif-Eugenín (2016a) showed the importance of the culture conditions. In two studies in Spain, the incidence of *Aeromonas* in drinking water ranges from 6.9% to 8.9% (Borrell et al., 1998; Figueras et al., 2005). In all the positive water samples, the concentration of chlorine was lower. Some authors associated the increase of *Aeromonas* in the distribution systems with rain events (Gavriel et al., 1998; Simon et al., 2001). Furthermore, the concentrations vary depending on the seasons, obtaining higher levels of *Aeromonas* at lower temperatures (Pablos et al., 2009).

Seawater

Aeromonas have been isolated from seawater by several authors (Küeh et al., 1995; Ferguson et al., 1994; Borrell et al., 1998). The concentration could be associated with the contributions of the terrestrial water effluents (Araujo et al., 1990). Additionally, it has been demonstrated that *Aeromonas* can grow and survive at a low salinity (Araujo et al., 1990; Monfort and Baleux, 1991).

Irrigation water

Due to factors such as population increase, alteration of rainfall patterns, and natural water sources contamination, the water is becoming a scarce resource. This has led to the reuse of residual water after undergoing different treatments in a Wastewater Treatment Plant (WWTP), generating the so call reclaimed or recycled water. A secondary biological treatment is normally performed, however, if the water has a direct contact with vegetables or humans, an additional tertiary treatment involving desinfection is required. The latter tertiary treatment is normally chemical (ozone, chlorination) and physical (ultraviolet radiation). However, natural processes such as lagooning system, which is a process of purification, produced when the wastewater is temporarily stored in shallow ponds or lagoons can be also employed depending on the type of used of the produced water (Boussaid et al., 1991; Hassani et al., 1992; Jjemba et al., 2010). This water can be used for irrigation. *Aeromonas* has been frequently isolated from irrigation water, and the

Ana Fernández Bravo

prevalence in reclaimed water used for irrigation was >60% (Aravena-Román et al., 2013; Latif-Eugenín et al., 2016, 2017). Water used for irrigation that contains *Aeromonas* can contaminate fruits and vegetables (Pianetti et al., 2004; Latif-Eugenín et al., 2016, 2017), being able to cause infection after consumption. In relation to the latter, there is epidemiological evidence showing that water acts as a vehicle for the dissemination of these pathogens, since it has been possible to identify the same *Aeromonas* strain from drinking water samples, as from the feces of individuals with diarrhea (Khajanchi et al., 2010; Pablos et al., 2011). Moreover, in another study, the same strains recovered from lettuce and tomatoes were isolated in the irrigation water (Latif-Eugenín et al., 2016).

1.3.2. Aeromonas in animals

Aeromonas have been described as aquatic pathogens, for fish and aquatic animals (Janda and Abbott, 2010; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015). The first isolates were in association with a case of septicemia in frogs and sick fish (Farmer et al., 2006). The species A. salmonicida and A. hydrophila are considered important fish pathogens, especially for salmonids in which they generate ulcers, hemorrhages, furunculosis and septicemia, producing large losses in the aquaculture industry (Pylkkö et al., 2005, 2006; Treasurer et al., 2007; Reith et al., 2008; Beaz-Hidalgo and Figueras, 2013; Figueras et al., 2011c). However, other species can be isolated from fish, for example, A. veronii, A. bestiarum, A. encheleia and A. sobria have been all recovered from common carp (Kozinska et al., 2002; Soriano-Vargas et al., 2010), A. allosaccharophila, A. dhakensis, A. caviae, A. veronii, A. hydrophila, A. jandeai, A. media and A. trota have been isolated from eel (Martínez-Murcia et al., 1992b; Esteve et al., 1995a, b, 2012; Yi et al., 2013), A. veronii from catfish (Nawaz et al., 2010), A. piscicola from salmonids (Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2009, 2010), A. sobria from tilapia (Li and Cai, 2011) and A. schubertii from snakehead fish (Chen et al., 2012). Recently, hypervirulent A. hydrophila strains have been the cause of persistent outbreaks of warm-water fishes worldwide (Rasmussen-Ivey et al., 2016).

Similarly, outbreaks caused by *A. hydrophila* in rabbit farms with a high mortality have been described (Paniagua et al., 1998). Additionally, *Aeromonas* have been isolated from dogs and cats (Ghenghesh et al., 1999), as well as from feces of horses (Forga-Martel et al., 2000; Waldridge et al., 2011).

Aeromonas have also been detected as echinoderm pathogens (Yang et al., 2008a), mollusks pathogens (Miñana-Galbis et al., 2004, 2007) and they have been associated with copepods (Gugliandolo et al., 2008). *A. hydrophila* has been described from the normal intestinal microbiota of Nile crocodiles (Lovely et al., 2008). They can also cause septicemia in poultry, however, in seagulls they have also been defined as normal microbiota (Kinzelman et al., 2008).

Finally, *A. veronii* has been recovered from sea lions, *A. hydrophila* from ovine and *A. dhakensis* from a neonate dead cetacean (Ilhan et al., 2006; Gonzalez et al., 2009; Pérez et al., 2015).

1.3.3. Aeromonas in food

Food may also be another possible source of infection. This colonization was firstly described by Aiken et al. (1936), as well as, by Miles and Halnan (1937). Aeromonas have been isolated from a wide variety of foods, mainly fish, seafood, meat products and sausages, fruits, vegetables and dairy products (Borrell et al., 1998; Neyts et al., 2000a; Awan et al., 2006; Chang et al., 2008; Yucel and Erdogan, 2010; Ottaviani et al., 2011; Nagar et al., 2011, 2013; Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2009, 2010; Beaz-Hidalgo and Figueras, 2012, 2013; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2014). Different studies have shown that A. hydrophila, A. veronii bv. sobria, A. caviae and A. dhakensis were the most prevalent species in fish for human consumption (Neyts et al., 2000a; Bashir Awan et al., 2006; Chang et al., 2008; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2014). Nevertheless, with molecular methods (RFLP-16S and rpoD gene sequencing) the most prevalent species in a variety of fish were A. salmonicida, followed by A. bestiarum, A. veronii, A. encheleia, A. hydrophila. A. allosaccharophila and A. bivalvium (Castro-Escarpulli et al., 2003; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2014).

UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI EPIDEMIOLOGY AND PATHOGENIC CHARACTERIZATION OF SPECIES OF THE GENUS AEROMONAS Ana Fernández Bravo

Doctoral thesis

Ana Fernández Bravo

In addition, *Aeromonas* have been isolated from seafood (oysters, mussels, shrimps and cockles), and the diversity is similar to the one found in fish, being the most prevalent *A. veronii, A. dhakensis, A. caviae, A. jandaei* and *A. schubertii* (Neyts et al., 2000a, b; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo., 2014; Yano et al., 2015). In relation to meat products (beef, lamb and poultry), *A. hydrophila* was the most prevalent species, using biochemical methods, followed by *A. caviae* (Borrell et al., 1998; Neyts et al., 2000a; Nagar et al., 2011). However, the diversity increases with *rpoD* and *gyrB* sequencing, because in addition to *A. hydrophila* and *A. caviae*, other species like *A. veronii, A. salmonicida, A. jandaei* and *A. simiae* were isolated (Fontes et al., 2010; Nagar et al., 2013).

Different studies reported the isolation of *Aeromonas* in fruits and vegetables. The bacterium has been isolated from carrot, tomato, lettuce, cucumber, potato, onion and celery. Among them, *A. hydrophila, A. caviae* were the most prevalent clinical species (Chang et al., 2008; Nagar et al., 2011, 2013).

Aeromonas are capable of growing in several conditions. This bacterium survives in low temperatures (2-10C°). Additionally, salt or sodium chloride (NaCl) is a usual preservative of meat products and raw fish. In general, *Aeromonas* are able to grow in NaCl concentrations up to 4%. The pH is another parameter used to control ate the bacterial growth in food. Nevertheless, it has been demonstrated that *Aeromonas* can survive at pH=5 (Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2014).

The higher numbers of isolates were recovered after enrichment techniques, since the *Aeromonas* concentration is in most of the cases low (Janda and Abbott, 2010).

1.3.4. Human infections

Currently, some *Aeromonas* spp. are considered, as opportunistic emerging pathogens because they are isolated as etiological agents in various infectious processes, mainly gastroenteritis, bacteremia/septicemia and wound infections, as well as in other infections that affect the hepatobiliary system, respiratory tract, bones and joints, as shown in Table 2 (adapted from Latif-Eugenín, 2015 & Figueras

and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015). *Aeromonas* are mainly enteric pathogens that affect as it occurs with other microbes the populations at risk such as children, the elderly, and the immunocompromised individuals (Figueras, 2005; Janda and Abbott, 2010; Igbinosa et al., 2012; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015). Numerous cases of bacteremia and extraintestinal infections such as meningitis, pneumonia, keratitis, and osteomyelitis caused by *Aeromonas* have been described in healthy and immunocompetent patients (Figueras, 2005; Dwivedi et al., 2008; Gunasekaran et al., 2009; Janda and Abbott, 2010; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015).

The exact worldwide incidence of *Aeromonas* infections is unknown. The first report was made in California in 1988, and it showed an annual incidence of *Aeromonas* infections of 10.5 cases per million people (King et al., 1992). In 2004, in England, the estimated incidence of bacteremia by *Aeromonas* was 1.5 cases per million people (Janda and Abbott, 2010), and in France, in 2006, 0.66 cases per million were estimated (Lamy et al., 2009). Another study carried out in Taiwan between 2008 and 2010 showed that the incidence of bacteremia caused by *Aeromonas* was 76 cases per million inhabitants, which was one of the highest incidence. In this way, it is shown that the different diseases caused by *Aeromonas* vary based on geographical location and this can be related to food and hygiene habits (Wu et al., 2012a).

Cases from human *Aeromonas* infections have been described from over the world; nevertheless, the incidence of gastroenteritis appears to be higher in undeveloped or developing regions. In relation to septicemia the incidence is higher in Asian countries, an explanation of this could be a higher incidence of cirrhosis, which is an important underlying condition related to *Aeromonas* septicemia (Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015; Batra et al., 2016; Figueras, 2017).

Until the description of *A. dhakensis* which resulted from the reclassification of *A. aquariorum* and *A. hydrophila* subsp. *dhakensis*, only three species, *A. caviae*, *A. veronii* and *A. hydrophila*, were considered predominant in clinical samples, corresponding approximately to 92% of the isolates (Figueras, 2005; Janda and Abbott, 2010; Igbinosa et al., 2012; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015).

UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI EPIDEMIOLOGY AND PATHOGENIC CHARACTERIZATION OF SPECIES OF THE GENUS AEROMONAS Ana Fernández Bravo

Doctoral thesis

Ana Fernández Bravo

The prevalence of predominant species in clinic has changed with the description of A. dhakensis and with the introduction of molecular identification methods. Nowadays, based on the data from different studies performed around the world, 96.5% of the clinical isolates correspond to four species; A. caviae (29.9%); A. dhakensis (26.3%), A. veronii (24.8%) and A. hydrophila (15.5%), as seen in Table 3 (from Latif-Eugenín, 2015, adapted from Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015), which also shows all species isolated from clinical samples that have been identified by molecular methods. In fact, A. dhakensis is the most prevalent species in Malaysia (Puthucheary et al., 2012), more frequent than A. caviae and A. veronii. A similar situation arises in Australia (Aravena-Román et al., 2011a) and in Taiwan (Wu et al., 2012a, 2015; Chen et al., 2013, 2014b), which demonstrates the clinical importance of A. dhakensis, isolated in different countries and from different types of samples (Table 3). The observation that A. dhakensis is more prevalent in tropical climates (Malaysia, Taiwan, and Australia) needs to be confirmed. Conversely, it also needs to verify if A. caviae is the most frequently isolated species in blood samples in Japan as indicated in one study (Kimura et al., 2013), or if A. hydrophila predominates in French Caribbean islands and in Taiwan (Hochedez et al., 2011), specially because in both studies they used phenotypic methods for the identification.

Furthermore, the confusion between *A. hydrophila* and *A. dhakensis* may have consequences, since the latter species is more virulent and shows greater cytotoxic activity against human skin fibroblast cell lines than *A. hydrophila*, as demonstrated by Chen et al. (2013). Recently, Chen et al. (2014b) showed that patients with bacteremia attributed to *A. dhakensis* had a higher mortality than bacteremia produced by the other species. Two new species i.e. *A. enterica* and *A. intestinalis* isolated from human feces (in process of description) have been included in the list (Table 2) of *Aeromonas* species associated with human infections (Figueras et al., 2017). However, it is not known the prevalence of the cryptic species *A. rivipollensis* (Martí and Balcázar, 2016) uncovered by *A. media* in clinical infections.

Species	Feces	Wound	Blood	Respiratory tract ^b	Urine	Peritoneal dialysis	Billis	Other ^c	Total (%)
A. caviae	130	36	112	3	6	4	2	6	299 (30.23)
A. veronii	99	40	96	9			2	3	249 (25.17)
A. dhakensis ^d	55	82	84	3	3	5	2	3	237 (23.96)
A. hydrophila	47	65	32	5	2	4	1	2	158 (15.97)
A. media	8	3	5		1				17 (1.71)
A. trota	1	2					1		4 (0.40)
A. taiwanensis	1	3							4 (0.40)
A. salmonicida ^e		2						1	3 (0.30)
A. jandaei	1		1		1				3 (0.30)
A. sanarellii	1	3							4 (0.40)
A. allosaccharophila	1		1						2 (0.20)
A. tecta	2								2 (0.20)
A. diversa		2							2 (0.20)
A. schubertii		1							1 (0.10)
A. bestiarum			1						1 (0.10)
A. popoffii					1				1 (0.10)
A. intestinalis ^f	1								1 (0.10)
A. enterica ^f	1								1 (0.10)
Total	346	239	332	20	14	13	8	15	989

Table 2. Distribution of the molecularly identified *Aeromonas* spp. recovered from different samples or sites of infection (adapted from Latif-Eugenín, 2015 & Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015^a).

^aData obtained from Huys et al. (2002), Hua et al. (2004), Al Benwan et al. (2007), Bossi-Küpfer et al. (2007), Demarta et al. (2008), Figueras et al. (2009), Tena et al (2009), Alperi and Figueras (2010), Miñana-Galbis et al (2010), Aravena-Román et al. (2011a), Esteve et al. (2012), Puthucheary et al. (2012), Roger et al. (2012b), Sedicèke et al. (2012), Senderovich et al. (2012), Wu et al. (2012a, 2015), Morinaga et al. (2013), Chen et al. (2013, 2014b), Shin et al. (2013), Pérez-Valdespino et al. (2014), Figueras et al. (2017) and theresults of 76 unpublished fecal isolates; ^b10 sputum strains; ^c Others includes: *A. caviae* (n = 6) from: vagina (3), appendix (1), fluid ascitic (1) and abscess (1); *A. veronii* (n = 3): ascitic fluid (2) and ear fluid (1); *A. dhakensis* (n = 3) from: ascitic fluid (1), joint fluid (1) and bone (1); *A. hydrophila* (n = 2) from: ulcer exudate (1) and abscess (1) and *A. salmonicida* from abcess (1); ^d In many of the studies *A. aquariorum* was the name used for *A. dhakensis*; ^e An additional case associated with peritoneal fluid was described by Yang et al. (2008), but the identification method used was not specified; ^f Two new species of *Aeromonas* in process of description.

The percentage of isolation of *Aeromonas* from people with diarrheal diseases range from 0.8% to 7.4%, and the percentage of isolation from feces of asymptomatic people is 4% (King et al., 1992). Studies have shown that the isolation of *Aeromonas* from fecal samples can vary significantly based on the season of the year, showing an increase in the number of cases in the warmer months, which favors its development in water, increasing the microbial load in both freshwater and saltwater. This same type of behavior has been observed in other diseases caused by *Aeromonas*, such as bacteremia/septicemia, which increases during the summer (Esser et al., 2000; Janda and Abbott, 2010).

UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI EPIDEMIOLOGY AND PATHOGENIC CHARACTERIZATION OF SPECIES OF THE GENUS AEROMONAS Ana Fernández Bravo

Doctoral thesis

Ana Fernández Bravo

In relation to the association between water and infections caused by *Aeromonas*, it is important to take into account that *Aeromonas* were the most isolated microorganisms after natural disasters, such as the tsunami in Thailand in 2004. In fact, *Aeromonas* corresponded to 22.6% of all isolates recovered from infected wounds of the survivors. Additionally, the dominance in wound infections was also observed after Hurricane Katrina in the southeastern United States (2005), (Hiransuthikul et al., 2005; Presley et al., 2006). In fact, floods and droughts are considered the main impacts of climate change and there is evidence that the increase and decrease in the volume of rainfall, are related to the *Aeromonas* outbreaks associated with water consumption (Figueras and Borrego, 2010). In addition, *Aeromonas* have been isolated together with *Vibrio cholerae* in the outbreaks that occurred in Haiti (Hasan et al., 2012; Mendes-Marques et al., 2012; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015).

Table 3. Distribution of the molecularly identified *Aeromonas* spp. from clinical studies performed in different countries (from Latif-Eugenín, 2015, adapted from Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015).

Study	Figueras et al., 2009ª	Aravena- Román et al., 2011 ^b	Puthucheary et al., 2012 ^c	Roger et al., S 2012b ^d	Senderovich et al., 2012 ^e	Wu et al., 2012a ^f	Chen et al., 2013 ^g	Pérez- Valdespino et al., 2013 ^e	Chen et al., 2014b ^e	Wu et al., 2015 ^{f,h}	Total
Species/country	Taiwan	Australia	Malaysia	France	Israel	Taiwan	Taiwan	Mexico	Taiwan	Taiwan	
A. caviae	73 (51.8)	34 (23.8)	18 (19.1)	24 (23.5)	11 (64.7)	15 (25.0)	11 (13.7)	10 (35.7)	7 (36.8)	43 (28.1)	246 (29.9)
A. dhakensis ⁱ	25 (17.7)	34 (23.8)	47 (50.0)	6 (5.9)		16 (36.4)	37 (46.3)	3 (10.7)	1 (5.3)	48 (31.4)	217 (26.3)
A. veronü	16 (11.3)	36 (25.2)	12 (12.8)	46 (45.1)	5 (29.4)	12 (27.3)	14 (17.5)	3 (10.7)	10 (52.6)	50 (32.7)	204 (24.8)
A. hydrophila	17 (12.2)	33 (23.1)	16 (17.0)	23 (22.5)		5 (11.4)	13 (16.2)	11 (39.3)		10 (6.5)	128 (15.5)
A. media	5 (3.5)	2 (1.4)		1 (1.0)			1 (1.3)	1 (3.6)			10 (1.2)
A. trota	3 (2.1)		1 (1.1)								4 (0.5)
A. taiwanensis	1 (0.7)				1 (5.9)		2 (2.5)				4 (0.5)
A. sanarellii	1 (0.7)						2 (2.5)		1(5.3)		4 (0.5)
A. salmonicida		1 (0.7)		1 (1.0)							2 (0.2)
A. allosaccharophila		1 (0.7)		1 (1.0)							2 (0.2)
A. schubertii		1 (0.7)									1 (0.1)
A. bestiarum		1 (0.7)									1 (0.1)
A. jandaei				1 (1.0)							1 (0.1)
Total	141	143	94	103	17	48	80	28	19	151	824

^{a-f} Origin of the strains: blood (41.1%, 58/141), wound (25.5, 36/141), feces (3.6%, 5/141), others (14.2%, 20/141); ^b wound (37.8%, 54/143), feces (23.1%, 33/143), blood (23.1%, 33/143), others (16.3%, 23/143); ^c stool(51.1%, 48/94), wound (23.4%, 22/94), blood (8.5%, 8/94), others (17.0%, 16/94); ^d wound (36.0%, 37/103), blood (16.5%, 17/103), others (15.5%, 16/103); ^{e-h} Studies include only isolates of: ^e stool, ^f blood, ^g wound; ^h In this study, a total of 153 strains were analyzed, but there were 2 that were identified as *Aeromonas* sp.; ⁱIn many studies *A. aquariorum* was the name used for the species *A. dhakensis*.

UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI EPIDEMIOLOGY AND PATHOGENIC CHARACTERIZATION OF SPECIES OF THE GENUS AEROMONAS Ana Fernández Bravo

Doctoral thesis

Ana Fernández Bravo

Mixed infections

The infections caused by *Aeromonas* often involve more than one type of bacteria within the same clinical sample (polymicrobial). Mixed infections with bacteria from other genera occur with a frequency ranging from 30% in bacteremia, 60% in wound infection and even 80% in the case of respiratory tract infections (Lamy et al., 2009). Nevertheless, other mixed infections with two different strains of *Aeromonas* in the same clinical sample have been described (Grim et al., 2014; Ponnusamy et al., 2016). These mixed infections have been estimated to occur in 5%-10% of the *Aeromonas* cases and the interaction of the virulence factors among the different co-infecting strains have been investigated in few studies (Lamy et al., 2009, Grim et al., 2014; Mosser et al., 2015; Ponnusamy et al., 2016).

A study of clinical *Aeromonas* infections performed in France during six months showed that 42.3% (33/78) of the cases were polymicrobial (Lamy et al. (2009). Mixed cultures of *Aeromonas* with other genera like *Campylobacter*, *Salmonella* etc. corresponded to 20.5% of the cases in a study performed by Latif-Eugenín (2015) in Spain (Table 5).

Mosser et al. (2015) investigated virulence of different pairs of *Aeromonas* strains (different species and clones) recovered from human mixed infections using the *C. elegans* model, and observed that the severity of the infections was lower when the strains were administered alone. Enhanced virulence was observed for several pair combinations of strains indicating the synergistic virulent effects (Mosser et al., 2015) The authors of the latter study concluded that infections do not depend only on the virulence of the single strains but are instead a more complex scenario where the interaction between the microbes involved, the host and the environment are all important players. In fact, they demonstrated that "the pathogens may display enhanced virulence in the presence of the right partner" (Mosser et al., 2015). Ponnusamy et al. (2016) described a mixed infection caused by two *A. hydrophila* strains recovered from a young immunocompetent patient with a fast progressing necrotizing fasciitis that resulted in the amputation of almost all the

extremities. They suggested that the T6SS and the ExoA toxin could be involve in this complex infection.

1.3.4.1. Gastroenteritis

Intestinal infections by *Aeromonas* are common and globally distributed (Von Graeevenitz, 2007; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015; Latif-Eugenín, 2015; Teunis and Figueras, 2017). However, the incidence is underestimated due to the fact that these infections are not routinely investigated (Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015). The first isolation of *Aeromonas* in stool was in 1961, although it had already been isolated in 1954, as an agent of myositis in a Jamaican woman. From that moment there are numerous studies that have associated *Aeromonas* with gastroenteritis (Baman, 1980; Gelbart et al., 1985; Reina and Lopez, 1995; Figueras, 2005; Graevenitz, 2007; Hasan et al., 2012; Ottaviani et al., 2013; Qamar et al., 2016; Teunis and Figueras, 2017).

The most frequent clinical presentation is secretory water (enteritis), ranging from 75% to 89% of all cases in which this microorganism was the only associated pathogen (Janda and Abbott, 2010; Latif-Eugenín, 2015; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015). An important complication resulting from *Aeromonas* gastroenteritis is the Hemolytic-Uremic Syndrome (HUS) and several cases were described in 2007 by Figueras et al.

Diarrhea in adults

The incidence in adults varies from 2% observed in Sweden, 6.9% in Hong Kong in healthy people, and 13% in immunocompromised patients (Figueras, 2005). Among patients with traveler's diarrhea in Spain, *Aeromonas* was defined as a causative agent in 2% of the cases (Vila et al., 2003), while in Japan it was isolated in 5.5% of the cases, and 8.7% in Finland (Figueras, 2005). In 5.5% of the cases of traveler's diarrhea, the infection was monomicrobial (Chopra and Houston, 1999; Vila et al., 2003). Recently, the first case of appendicitis associated with diarrhea of the rodent caused by *A. sobria* was described (Lim, 2009).

UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI EPIDEMIOLOGY AND PATHOGENIC CHARACTERIZATION OF SPECIES OF THE GENUS AEROMONAS Ana Fernández Bravo

Doctoral thesis

Ana Fernández Bravo

Diarrhea in children

Diarrhea caused by *Aeromonas* occurs mainly in children under 3 years old, and may last for one or two weeks with stools showing a watery consistency (Figueras, 2005; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015). In addition, studies carried out in Africa and South Asia have shown that *Aeromonas* mainly affect children between 24-59 months (Kotloff et al., 2013) The incidence of *Aeromonas* as a diarrheic agent in children varies from 2.3% in Taiwan to 13% in Nigeria (Esser et al., 2000; Juan et al., 2000; Nzeako and Okafor, 2000; Figueras, 2005; Igbinosa et al., 2012; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015). Two studies, one performed in Cuba by Bravo et al. (2012), and the another in Egypt by Mansour et al. (2012) showed a higher incidence of isolation of *Aeromonas* in children with diarrhea (7.5% and 1.4%) than in the control group (1.76% and 0.5%).

Enterophatogenicity of Aeromonas

The role of *Aeromonas* as an etiological agent in bacterial diarrhea has been questioned, mainly due to the lack of outbreaks, the isolation in asymptomatic patients, the no existence of an animal to reproduce the diarrhea and the lack of fulfillment of Koch's postulates demonstration (Janda and Abbott, 2010). However, Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo (2015) have defended the pathogenic role of this bacterium, mainly based on the same strain (genotype) that causes diarrhea isolated from water and food (Altwegg et al., 1991; Pablos et al., 2010, 2011; Kajanchi et al., 2010; Latif-Eugenín et al., 2016). Additionally, a recently study (Teunis and Figueras, 2016) demonstrated, based on the combined evidence from the few human outbreaks (Morgan et al., 1985; Carnahan et al., 1991; Granum et al., 1998; Krovacek et al., 1995; Zhang et al., 2012), that *Aeromonas* should be treated as a human enteropathogen. Exposure to low doses of the bacterium may lead to infection, but most infections are asymptomatic. For this reason, more investigations are needed to determine the specific combination of host, environment, and pathogen factors that lead to illness (Teunis and Figueras, 2016).

1.3.4.2. Wound infections

After gastroenteritis, wound infections are the most frequent presentation and are usually associated with healthy individuals. Several types of wound infections have been described, ranging from superficial infection to life-threatening infections, such as necrotizing fasciitis. Wounds occur as traumatic events or burns associated with contaminated water and soil (Lamy et al., 2009; Janda and Abbott, 2010; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015). The body sites most affected are hands, feet, arms and legs (Janda and Abbott, 2010) and the higher prevalence of *Aeromonas* wound infections are in people >10 years of age (Lamy et al., 2009; Janda and Abbott, 2010).

Azzopardi et al., 2011 analyzed the infections in burn patients and determined that 76% of the cases have been produced by *Aeromonas*, and 96% of these cases were associated with non-treated water contact. Moreover, in a previous study from Taiwan that recovered 129 cases of skin and soft tissue infections showed that 78% of patients suffered a previous trauma, and in 30% of the cases there was water exposition.

Additionally, medical procedures, including leech therapy and elective surgery, can also predispose the individuals to develop wound infections caused by *Aeromonas* (Bauters et al., 2007). In the case of leech therapies, they are generally underestimated. The incidence of infection by *Aeromonas* in this type of treatment varies between 7%-20% and has two presentations, a rapid one that occurs within the first day after treatment, and another slow after 10 days or more, of the application of leeches (Schnabl et al., 2010; Mumcuoglu et al., 2014; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015). Within nosocomial infections, the most common are those associated with surgical wounds, and that can present a high mortality (Tena et al., 2009). The involved etiological agents may vary depending on the surgical procedure used and the anatomical site affected.

UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI EPIDEMIOLOGY AND PATHOGENIC CHARACTERIZATION OF SPECIES OF THE GENUS AEROMONAS Ana Fernández Bravo

Doctoral thesis

Ana Fernández Bravo

Necrotizing fasciitis

Wound infections due to Aeromonas can evolve by generating necrotizing fasciitis (NF) (Figueras, 2005; Abuhammour et al., 2006; Tsai et al., 2009; Chang et al., 2012; Kao and Kao, 2012; Kumar et al., 2012; Sood and Nerurkar, 2014; Spadaro et al., 2014), especially in immunocompromised patients (Monaghan et al., 2008; Shak et al., 2011). Necrotizing fasciitis is a rapidly progressive, life-threating soft-tissue infection that causes a necrotic inflammation of the fascial planes and the surrounding tissue (Bellapianta et al., 2009; Tsai et al., 2015; Ponnussamy et al., 2016). The clinical features of necrotizing fasciitis include hypotension, fever, necrosis and gangrene (Spadaro et al., 2014; Tsai et al., 2015), Aeromonas spp. are mainly associated with NF, from which different cases were reported, some of them associated with water (Furusu et al., 1997; Joseph et al., 1979; Sever et al, 2013). Two previous studies (Grim et al., 2014; Ponnusamy et al., 2016) described the infection and showed the complex interactions among multiple strains of A. hydrophila, called flesh eating bacteria, isolated from an immunocompetent individual who developed NF resulting in amputation of various vital parts of the body (Grim et al., 2014; Ponnusamy et al., 2016). This case was considered originally monomicrobial, because there were two strains of the same species, A. hydrophila, and the strains were named NF1 and NF2. Also, both strains showed differences in the presence of a gene exoA, involved in the inhibition of protein synthesis and host cell death (Zdanovsky et al., 1993; Grim et al., 2014). In addition, the previous results showed that when NF is caused by a mixed infection with A. hydrophila, the progression of the NF follows a different course to that of a single strain of this species.

1.3.4.3. Bacteremia/Septicemia

The incidence of bacteremias produced by *Aeromonas* varies between 0.12% and 3.3%, depending on the study (Janda and Abbott, 2010; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015). Janda and Abbott. (2010) classified the bacteremias in four groups based on the affected populations, the main one including immunocompromised individuals (>80%), followed by those who suffered a

traumatic accident, the cases that affect healthy people, and finally those that involve patients undergoing reconstructive surgery and/or leeches therapy.

The most common underlying diseases found in association with cases of bacteremia/septicemia are neoplasms, hepatobiliary disease, and diabetes (Shizema et al., 2011; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015; Latif-Eugenín, 2015). The most common symptoms associated with *Aeromonas* bacteremia according to Janda and Abbott. (2010) included: fever (74% to 89%), jaundice (57%), abdominal pain (16% to 45%), septic shock (40% to 45%), and dyspnea (12% to 24%). The percentage of mortality associated with *Aeromonas* bacteremia is about 30% (Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015; Latif-Eugenín, 2015).

1.3.4.4. Other infections

Several other infections associated with Aeromonas have been described: i) pneumonia and other respiratory tract infections; ii) Spontaneous Bacterial Peritonitis (SBP); and iii) Urinary tract infections. Pneumonia caused by Aeromonas is a rare clinical picture, however different cases have been described (Kao et al., 2003; Nagata et al., 2011; Chao et al., 2013; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015). Although the carbapenems treatment is effective, there are cases where pneumonia is fulminating and fatal (Nagata et al., 2011). Spontaneous bacterial peritonitis (SBP) is associated with the ascitic fluid (Moreira and López-San Román, 2009). Aeromonas have been associated with SPB, which is a complication that occurs in 16% of patients with cirrhosis (Figueras, 2005; Latif-Eugenín, 2015). The percentages of mortality vary according to different studies, fluctuating between 20% and 56% (Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015). Urinary tract infections are rare, but there are cases, in which Aeromonas is the causal agent (Tena et al., 2007; Mandal et al., 2007; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015). However, the majority of the cases are associated with patients that have different underlying diseases, such as spina bifida, bilateral renal dilatation, and diabetes mellitus.

Ana Fernández Bravo

1.3.5. Aeromonas in Spanish hospitals

In relation to the diversity of *Aeromonas* species recovered from Spanish hospitals, a re-identification of 422 isolates was performed by sequencing the *rpoD* gene in a previous doctoral thesis (Latif-Eugenín 2015). The results showed that only 176 (41.6%) were correctly identified at species level. However, the results varied depending on the method used in hospitals (MicroScan W/A, Vitek II and MALDI-TOF). In comparison with the molecular identification, MALDI-TOF was able to identify correctly 91.9% of the strains at species level, but the phenotypic methods MicroScan W/A and Vitek II were only able to identify correctly 6.8% and 1.5%, respectively (Table 4, adapted from Latif-Eugenín, 2015).

Table 4. Identification concordance between phenotypic and genetic identification based on *rpoD* gene sequence (data obtained from Latif-Eugenín, 2015).

Identification Method (N° of strains)	Nº (%) of Strains Correctly Identified				
	Genus	Species			
Vitek II (73)	65/66 (98.5)	1/66 (1.5)			
MicroScan W/A (177)	168/177 (94.9)	12/177 (6.8)			
MALDI-TOF (179)	176/179 (98.3)	163/179 (91.1)			

By sequencing the *rpoD* gene, it was determined that of the 422 strains investigated, 260 (61.6%) corresponded to *A. caviae*, 91 (21.5%) to *A. veronii*, 27 (6.4%) to *A. hydrophila*, 19 (4.5%) to *A. media*, 5 (1.2%) to *A. dhakensis*, 2 (0.5%) to *A. allosaccharophila*, 2 (0.5%) to *A. salmonicida*, 1 (0.2%) to *A. bestiarum*, 2 (0.5%) to *Aeromonas* sp. and 13 (3.1%) did not belong to the genus *Aeromonas* (Figure 3, data obtained from Latif-Eugenín, 2015). These results of Latif-Eugenín in 2015 differ from the previously reported data about the *Aeromonas* distribution over the world presented in Table 3; however, the most prevalent species in all studies was *A. caviae* (61.6% Spain vs 29.9% when summarizing the results of 10

studies performed from 2009 to 2015). The prevalence of *A. dhakensis* was lower in Spain (1%) when compared with the previously reported data (26.3%), as shown in the Table 3 and Figure 3. Moreover, independently of the country 98% of *Aeromonas* species identified in clinical cases belong to five species i.e. *A. caviae, A. dhakensis, A. veronii, A. hydrophila,* and *A. media* (Table 3 and Figure 3). The main difference would be the higher prevalence of *A. hydrophila* and *A. dhakensis* in countries with tropical temperatures (Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015).



Figure 3. Distribution of 422 isolated strains based on the species. Data obtained from Latif-Eugenín, 2015.

Regarding the isolation origin, 86.8% of the 409 *Aeromonas* strains were recovered from feces (Figure 4, data obtained from Latif-Eugenín, 2015). The 409 strains of *Aeromonas* were isolated with a similar incidence in women and men. Table 5 (data obtained from Latif-Eugenín, 2015). Globally, *Aeromonas* were recovered with an incidence of 41.3% in patients with age lower than 14 years old (pediatric patients), followed by the elderly population with a prevalence of 24.4%. In addition, 63.3% of the cases correspond to monomicrobial infection, while 20.5% were a polymicrobial infection with *Campylobacter* and *Salmonella*.

Ana Fernández Bravo



Figure 4. Distribution of 409 *Aeromonas* strains based on the origin. Data obtainted from Latif-Eugenín, 2015.

Table 5. Distribution of 409 Aeromonas stra	ins based on sex	, age and type of infe	ection. Data obtained
from Latif-Eugenín, 2015.			

Sex %	Male	171 (41.8)		
	Female	172 (42.1)		
	Non-det.	66 (16.1)		
Age %	0-14	169 (41.3)		
	14-44	25 (6.1)		
	44-65	46 (11.2)		
	>65	100 (24.4)		
Type of infection %	Monomicrobial	260 (63.6)		
	Polymicrobial	84 (20.5)		

1.4. Host-pathogen interaction

1.4.1. Innate immune response against Aeromonas

The immune response is the body's response activated after antigen exposure. Two types of immune response have been described, the innate, and the adaptative. The innate response is the first line of defense of our body against a foreign invader. The innate immune system relies on the recognition of a particular

type of structural molecules that are common in many pathogens the so call "molecular patterns associated with pathogens" (PAMPs), which are recognized by pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs) present in several cells like monocytes, macrophages, among others (Takeuchi et al., 2010). The bacteria lipopolysaccharide (LPS) or the endotoxins are the prototypes of PAMPs present in Gram-negative bacteria (Akira et al., 2003). Two types of PRRs have been described, the membrane-bound PRRs, and the cytoplasmic PRRs.

The toll-like receptors (TLRs) are a type of PRRs that are expressed in the membrane of a wide variety of cells (neutrophils, monocytes, macrophages, mast cells, epithelial cells). The TLRs induce the phagocytosis of the pathogen and the inflammatory response mediated by the cytokines (TNF, IFN, IL-6, IL-8, etc). Several reports have shown that the TLR could also induce apoptosis (Salaun et al., 2007; Shrestha et al., 2012).



Figure 5. TLRs pathways. Adapted from Murciano, 2009; Takeda and Akira, 2004; Kawai and Akira, 2007.

Ana Fernández Bravo

The NOD-like receptors (NLRs) are cytosolic receptors that also activate cytokines and are considered another type of PRRs (Ting et al., 2008; Lamkanfi and Dixit, 2009). The NLR family of proteins are known to mediate caspase-1 activation by forming a macromolecular complex called inflammasome (Figure 6) that promotes the maturation and secretion of cytokines (IL-18, IL-1 β), inducing a different type of cell death dependent of caspase-1 called pyroptosis (Lamkanfi and Dixit, 2009; McCoy et al., 2010a) shown in Figure 6. The TLRs and NLRs proteins often act in concert to stimulate the activation of an inflammatory response (Bergsbaken et al., 2009).



Figure 6. Pyroptosis pathway with TLRs and NLRs acting in concert, adapted from Bergsbaken et al., 2009.

A new term, "cytokine storm", has been defined when the inflammatory response gets out of control by producing cytokines that induce the production of more cytokines by the immune cells (Tisoncik et al., 2012; Chousterman et al., 2017). Although the concept of the uncontrolled release of cytokines is well known, information about the factors that establish a cytokine storm is missing. In a study performed by infecting a mice model with *Vibrio vulnificus*, it was demonstrated

that the RtxA1₃ toxin was involved in the sepsis by triggering a cytokine storm that could be fatal for humans (Murciano et al., 2017).

The expression of several TLRs genes (*TLR1*, *TLR2*, *TLR3*...) after infection in a fish model with the species A. hydrophila and A. salmonicida has been described in the last years (Table 6). In recent studies, expression analyses of different TLRs in a fish model (grass carp and catfish) after A. hydrophila infection were performed (Zhang et al., 2017; Gong et al., 2017). The results of these studies demonstrated that the immune response showed tissue-specific patterns. However, the higher expression of TLRs indicated that they play an important role in the innate response against this species (Zhang et al., 2017; Gong et al., 2017). The tolllike receptor 4 (TLR4), is a transmembrane receptor that senses molecules such as lipopolysaccharides (LPS) present in the cell walls of Gram-negative bacteria (Takeuchi et al., 1999). Several studies have investigated the TLR4 immune response during A. hydrophila infections in a fish model, indicating the important role of these receptors in increasing the innate immunity in fish in response to pathogenic invasion. Previous studies demonstrated that the TLR4 signaling pathway could be activated after A. hydrophila infection in a minnow Gobiocypris rarus and the blunt snout bream (Su et al., 2009, Lai et al., 2017). Similarly, an interesting study was performed by Srivastava et al. (2017) in zebrafish. The results suggested that A. hydrophila manipulates the TLR4 to trigger an anti-inflammatory response facilitating the survival and the pathogenesis.

Gene expression of immune response mediators such as cytokines i.e. tumor necrosis factor alpha and beta (*TNF-a*, *TNF-β*), interferon gamma *IFN-γ*, interleukin 6, 8 and 10 (*IL-6*, *IL-8*, *IL-10*) among others, as well as chemokines such as C-C ligand 3 (*CCL3*) or CC produced by TLRs signaling have been studied in *A.hydrophila* and *A. salmonicida* after infecting a fish model, as summarized in Table 6 (Mulder et al., 2007; Brietzke et al., 2015; Xu et al., 2016; Kong et al., 2017). Previous studies with *A. salmonicida* in rainbow trout suggested an upregulation of *TNF-a* among other cytokine genes, involved in the systemic inflammation (Mulder et al., 2007; Britezke et al., 2015). Nevertheless, some

Ana Fernández Bravo

differences were observed in relation to the tissue studied (Mulder et al., 2007; Britezke et al., 2015). An interesting study by Kong et al. (2017) demonstrated that *A. hydrophila* induced the upregulation of pro-inflammatory cytokine gene *TNF-a* in the intestine of fish, impairing the integrity of the mucosal barrier structure. However, the oral incubation with *B. subtilis* reduced the damage and the inflammation caused by *A. hydrophila*.

Similarly, the expression of different chemokines, which are a family of small cytokines, has been studied after *A. hydrophila* infection in eel and grass carp (Arockiaraj et al., 2015; Liao et al., 2018). Two interesting chemokines, i.e., C-C motif chemokine ligand 2 (CCL2), and C-C motif ligand 20 (CCL20) have been described in *Vibrio anguillarum* infection using the fish (*Plecoglossus altivelis*) (Yu et al., 2019) and it was demonstrated that CCL2 plays a role in the immune response of a fish. Moreover, the expressions of *CCL2* and *CCL20* genes have been described after infection of THP-1 monocytes and mice with *Vibrio vulnificus* (Murciano et al., 2015, 2017).

Induction of several cytokines and chemokines after infecting mice and several cell lines, such as murine macrophage from blood (raw 264.7), human colon cancer cell line (HT-29), and a cancerous cell line (HeLa) with *A. hydrophila* have been demonstrated in several studies shown in Table 6. In the study of the genes related to the type III secretion system (T3SS), the results demonstrated that Act or AopB could be involved in the production of cytokines and chemokines in raw 264.7 and HT-29 cells (Fadl et al., 2006). Furthermore, a study of the immunomodulatory and protective role of quorum sensing in mice during *A. hydrophila* infection was carried out. The mice were treated with N-acyl homoserine lactones (AHLs) before the infection with *A. hydrophila*, and this resulted in a reduced level of cytokines and chemokines as well as the bacterial load in the organs. This work suggested that the AHL pretreatment modulated the innate immune response in mice, and increased the survival of the mice after *A. hydrophila* infection (Khajanchi et al., 2011).

Regarding apoptosis or programmed cell death, several studies have described that Aeromonas spp., mainly A. hydrophila, can induce this process in vitro, by using different cell lines such as raw 264.7, HeLa, HT-29 or mouse BALB/C monocyte macrophage (J744). Other studies have also demonstrated the capacity of A. hydrophila and A. veronii to cause apoptosis in kidney leukocytes or head kidney macrophages, among others obtained from fish (Table 6). In relation to the proteins associated with the apoptosis, the TP53 is a suppressor tumor protein with an important role in the programmed cell death, whose expression has been studied in zebrafish after A. hvdrophila infection (Lü et al., 2015). However, this is the only study that investigated the TP53 gene, therefore, other studies evaluating the expression of this gene in other cell lines and infections with other species would be necessary. Also, the induction of apoptosis has been studied by evaluating the caspase 3 protein (CASP3) activation in HeLa cells (Sierra et al., 2010). The results of this study demonstrate that the AexU gene in A. hydrophila induces the apoptosis via CASP3 (Sierra et al., 2010). These pro-apoptotic proteins have been deeply studied in other genera, for example in Vibrio (Lu et al., 2009; Murciano et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2015). These studies used these genes as a method of analysis of the immune response against this bacterium. Another interesting pro-apoptotic protein is the B-cell lymphoma 2 associated X protein (BAX) that belongs to the BCL2 protein family, and that is regulated by the TP53. The BAX has not been studied in Aeromonas, however, in a previous work with V. vulnificus this gene was upregulated in a THP-1 after infection (Murciano et al., 2015).

NLR subset inflammasomes, such as NLR pyrin domain containing 3 (NLRP3), NLR card domain containing 4 (NLRC4) or NLR pyrin domain containing 1 (NLRP1), promotes the maturation and secretion of the proinflammatory cytokines interleukin 1 beta (IL-1 β) and IL-18, resulting in pyroptosis. The inflammasome consists of a complex of caspase-1, PYCARD domain (ASC), the AIM-2, and the NLR receptor (Figure 6). The activation of caspase-1, and the release of interleukin 1 beta (IL-1 β), followed by the cell death called pyroptosis have been studied after infecting macrophages with *A. hydrophila* (McCoy et al.,

Ana Fernández Bravo

2010a). The results suggested that *A. hydrophila* induces an inflammatory response via NLRP3 inflammasome, which comprises the NLR protein (NLRP3), the adapter ASC, and caspase-1 (McCoy et al., 2010a). Another study performed by the same Japanese group demonstrated that inflammasomes-mediated caspase-1 activation (NLRP3 and NLRC4) are involved in host defenses against systemic *A. veronii* infection in mice and macrophages obtained from mice (McCoy et al., 2010b) (Table 6).

Independently if the cell damage is caused by apoptosis or by pyroptosis, the lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) assay has been used to determine the damage during *Aeromonas* infections (McCoy et al., 2010; Yarahmadi et al., 2016). The LDH is a cytoplasmatic enzyme that is released to the medium only when the cell is lysed or has a damaged membrane.

The nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NF- κ B) is a protein complex that plays a role in regulating the immune response, controlling the activation of pro-inflammatory cytokines. The stimulation of the TLRs induces the activation of NF- κ B. The RelA is a protein involved in NF- κ B formation and previous studies in fish demonstrated the expression of the RELA after *A. hydrophila* infections by using a pathway that induces the production of several pro-inflammatory cytokines (Table 6). The c-Jun is an immune modulation protein that along with c-Fos, forms the AP-1 that is an activator of pro-inflammatory genes such as *TNF-a*, *IL-8*, *IL-6*, among others. However, it has been described that when the c-fos acts alone, this protein induces an increase of the anti-inflammatory genes such as *IL-10* or *IL-4*, among others (Hop et al., 2018). These genes have been previously studied by using different *Aeromonas* spp. to clarify the role of these transcription factors in virulence using human epithelial colorectal adenocarcinoma (Caco-2) cells (Hayes et al., 2009).

Table 6. Studies that investigated the gene expression and proteins involved in the immune response after *Aeromonas* spp. infections in animal models or cell lines.

Proteins studied	Model	Aeromonas	Reference
TLRs (TLR1, TLR2, TLR3, TLR4, TLR5, TLR7, TLR8, TLR9, TLR18, TLR19, TLR20, TLR22)	Fish Mice	A. hydrophila A. salmonicida	Su et al., 2009 Basu et al., 2011a,b Merino et al., 2014 Zhang et al., 2015 Brietzke et al., 2015 Lai et al., 2017 Shan et al., 2017 Zhang et al., 2017 Gong et al., 2017 Srisvastava et al., 2017
Cytokines (TNF-α, TNF- β, IFN-γ, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10)	Fish Mice HeLa cell line Raw 264.7 cell line HT-29 cell line	A. hydrophila, A. salmonicida A. veronii	Fadl et al., 2006 Mulder et al., 2007 Khajanchi et al., 2011 Sierra et al., 2011 Merino et al., 2014 Brietzke et al., 2015 Xu et al., 2016 Kong et al., 2017 Chandrarathna et al., 2018
Chemokines (CC- Chem14, CsCC- Chem20, CsCC- Chem25, CCL3, CCL5)	Fish Mice HeLa cell line Raw 264.7 cell line HT-29 cell line	A. hydrophila	Fadl et al., 2006 Khajanchi et al., 2011 Sierra et al., 2011 Arockiarai et al., 2015 Liao et al., 2018
Apoptosis (TP53, CASP3)	Fish Leukocytes from fish Macrophages from fish HeLa cell line	A. hydrophila, A. veronii	Sierra et al., 2010 Jones et al., 2012 Banerjee et al., 2012 Banerjee et al., 2014 Lü et al., 2015 Ni et al., 2016 Shelly et al., 2017
Pyroptosis (NLRP3, NLRC4, IL-1β)	Mice Macrophages from mice	A. hydrophila, A. veronii	McCoy et al., 2010a,b
Transcription factors (c-jun, RelA)	Fish Caco-2 cell line	A. hydrophila A. salmonicida A, veronii	Hayes et al., 2009 Tian et al., 2017 Zhang et al., 2017

1.4.2. Virulence factors

The presence of virulence factors has been described in *Aeromonas*, they allow the bacteria to colonize, invade, overcome the immune response of the host and cause infection (Janda and Abbott, 2010; Tomás, 2012; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015).

Ana Fernández Bravo

1.4.2.1. Structural components

Flagellum

Like other *Proteobacteria*, the genus *Aeromonas* has two types of flagellum (Canals et al., 2007), one polar which is constitutive and one lateral which is inducible. The lateral flagellum is used for surface movement and swarming, and the polar flagellum for movement in liquid suspensions. Merino et al. (1997) showed that mutant strains for genes involved in the flagella formation *flaAB*, *flaH*, *fliA*, *fliM*, *maf-1*, and *flrC* decreased polar flagellum production resulting in a decrease in adhesion and biofilm formation (Merino et al., 1997). It has also been shown that flagellar glycosylation is related to the ability to form biofilm and to adhere to Hep-2 cells (Galán and Collmer, 1999).

Pili

Pili are structures, that like the flagella, have a role in adherence to other bacteria or to the host cells. These structures are formed from protein subunits called pilins and can be differentiated from the flagellum because they have a smaller diameter (3-8 nm vs 15-20 nm of the flagella) and normally they do not present a coiled structure (Proft and Baker, 2009).

Capsule

The capsule is a structure composed of polysaccharides that generally covers the outer membrane of the bacterial cell (Tomás, 2012), since this is the outermost layer of the bacteria involved in interactions between the bacteria and the environment; consequently, the capsule has been described as an important virulence factor of many pathogens. In fact, it reduces opsonization, prevents phagocytosis, favors interactions with other bacteria, with host tissue, and acts as a barrier against hydrophobic toxins (Merino and Tomás, 2010).

S layer

The S layer is a surface protein layer of paracrystalline nature that is produced by a wide range of bacteria to form the outermost cell envelope (Tomás,

2012). This layer has been associated with several functions related to pathogenicity due to its exposure on the cell surface. It plays a major role in various biological functions: adhesion protection against complement and attack by phagocytes, antigenic properties, anchoring site for hydrolytic exoenzymes, bacteriophage receptors, among others (Beveridge et al., 1997).

Lipopolysaccharides (LPS)

Lipopolysaccharides are amphipathic macromolecules composed of three regions, i.e., lipid A, the central oligosaccharide (OS), and a portion of polysaccharide O-antigen (Nazarenko et al., 2011). The genus *Aeromonas* includes a total of 97 serotypes, serotyped from reference strains of *A. hydrophila*, *A. caviae* and *A. sobria* (Thomas et al., 1990); however, only some of them seem to be associated with virulence on fish. Furthermore, serotype O11 is associated with serious infections in humans, such as septicemia, meningitis, and peritonitis, while serotype O34, the most common in mesophilic *Aeromonas*, is associated with wound infections in humans and outbreaks of septicemia in fish (Janda et al., 1996). Additionally, the TLR4 is most well-known for recognizing LPS, which induces the activation of the immune response essential for an antibacterial defense (Su et al., 2009; Tomás, 2012).

1.4.2.2. Extracellular proteins

Exotoxins

The genus *Aeromonas* produces a wide variety of exotoxins, however, not all toxins described are produced by all strains even though these strains have genes. Two types of enterotoxins have been described in *Aeromonas* spp., cytotonic and cytotoxic (Tomás, 2012).

The cytotoxic enterotoxin (*act*) inhibits the phagocytic activity of host cells, produces hemolysis and increases the levels of tumor necrosis factor α (TNF- α) and interleukin (IL-1 β) in the murine macrophages RAW 264.7 (Chopra et al., 2000). The cytotonic enterotoxins have been divided into two groups: the thermolabile

Ana Fernández Bravo

toxin (*alt*), and the thermostable antitoxin (*ast*), whose function is to increase the levels of AMPc and prostaglandins in the intestinal mucosa (Tomás et al., 2012).

Hemolysins

Hemolysins are a diverse group of enzymes that produce osmotic lysis of erythrocytes, through the production of pores in the cytoplasmic membrane (Rasmussen-Ivey et al., 2016). In *Aeromonas*, two types of hemolysins have been defined: α and β with physiological and functional differences (Singh and Sanyal, 1992). Aerolysin (*aerA*) is the prototype of hemolysin of the genus which is secreted by the Type Two Secretion System (T2SS), this active hemolysin binds to glycoproteins of the host cell membrane (Nelson et al., 1997).

Proteases

Proteases contribute to the metabolic versatility that allows *Aeromonas* to persist in different habitats and facilitate interactions with other microorganisms. In general, proteases contribute to pathogenicity (Tomás, 2012), since they promote invasion by direct damage to host tissue or by proteolytic activation of toxins (Figueras and Beaz- Hidalgo, 2014). They may also contribute to the establishment of an infection that exceeds the host's initial defenses, inactivating the complement system or providing nutrients for cell proliferation (Figueras and Beaz- Hidalgo, 2014).

Lipases

Lipases are produced by a wide range of bacteria. These can provide nutrients or constitute virulence factors when interacting with human leukocytes or by affecting various functions of the immune system through free fatty acids generated by lipolytic activity (Tomás, 2012). An important lipase in the genus *Aeromonas* is the glycerol phospholipid cholesterol acyltransferase (GCAT), which can digest the membranes of erythrocytes and produce their lysis (Igbinosa et al., 2012). This gene, in addition to being an important virulence factor, can be used for the identification of the bacteria belonging to the genus since several authors have shown that this gene is present in practically all *Aeromonas* strains, including

representatives of all species (Chacón et al., 2002; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2014).

Shiga toxins

The function of these toxins is the inactivation of ribosomes (arrest of protein synthesis) of vascular endothelial cells, leading to cell death (Alperi et al., 2010). The Shiga toxins have only been detected in strains recovered from food (Palma-Martínez et al., 2016).

1.4.2.3. Secretion systems

Currently six secretion systems are known in Gram negative bacteria, all of these systems are involved with the transport of virulence factors to the extracellular medium or directly within the host cell (Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2013).

Type Two Secretion System (T2SS)

The T2SS is present in all known members of *A. hydrophila*, this is integral in the extracellular secretion of a wide range of virulence factors including aerolysin, amylases, DNAsa, and proteases (Galán and Collmer, 1999). The T2SS secrete proteins are found in the cytoplasm of the bacteria in the extracellular space outside of the cell.

Type Three Secretion System (T3SS)

The T3SS functions as a molecular needle which introduces effector toxins into the host cells (Vilches et al., 2009; Khajanchi et al., 2011; Tomás, 2012; Latif-Eugenín, 2015). The presence of a T3SS has been described in *A. salmonicida* and in *A. hydrophila* strains AH-1, AH-3 and SSU (Vilches et al., 2004; Sha et al., 2005; Tomás et al., 2012; Tanaka et al., 2012). Nowadays, it is known that the T3SS of *Aeromonas* is similar to the T3SS of *Yersinia* (Vilches et al., 2004). Five effector toxins of the T3SS have been identified in *Aeromonas*: AexT (ADP-ribolisante toxin), the AopU which inhibits the nuclear Kappa B factor involved in the activation of IkB (protein kinase), the AopH (tyrosine phosphatase), the AopO (serine/threonine kinase), and AexU (similar to AexT toxin). The T3SS of

UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI EPIDEMIOLOGY AND PATHOGENIC CHARACTERIZATION OF SPECIES OF THE GENUS AEROMONAS Ana Fernández Bravo

Doctoral thesis

Ana Fernández Bravo

Aeromonas has been shown to be co-regulated by contact with the host cells, cytotoxic enterotoxin, flagella, lipopolysaccharide, DNA methylation, temperature, calcium and magnesium levels, while the effectors are required for an appropriate secretion signal (Vilches 2008; Tanaka et al., 2012; Tomás, 2012).

Type Four Secretion System (T4SS)

The T4SS is the only system capable of transferring genetic material between bacteria, which plays a crucial role in the propagation of resistance genes and virulence. This system is a versatile transporter that secretes both nucleic acids and proteins by the sec-independent route (Rangrez et al., 2006).

Type Six Secretion System (T6SS)

The T6SS functions analogously to the phage tail, allowing the injection of virulence factors into the host cell through G repeat proteins (VgrG) and hemolysinco-regulated protein (Hcp), which functions as an antimicrobial pore former protein when secreted, or as a structural protein. It appears to be highly conserved and can be found in one or more copies in diverse Gram-negative species, such as *Vibrio cholerae*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, *Yersinia pestis*, *Escherichia coli*, *Salmonella enterica*, among others (Tomás, 2012).

A functional T6SS has been described in *A. hydrophila* involved in virulence (Suarez et al., 2008; Tomás, 2012). Recently, the T6SS has been associated with a role in the mixed infections between two *A. hydrophila* strains (NF1-NF2) obtained from a case of necrotizing fasciitis (NF) in an immunocompetent young girl (Ponnusamy et al., 2016). The data derived from the induced NF infection with these strains separately and together, suggested the possibility that the expression of the effectors related to T6SS may be differentially regulated in both strains, causing a different progression of NF by mixed infections in comparison with a single strain of *A. hydrophila* (Ponnusamy et al., 2016).

In the last years it has been described that the T6SS have an additional role eliminating competitor bacteri, being this "antibacterial" characteristic essential in the case of polymicrobial infections (English et al., 2012). In 2013, Carrauthers et al.

suggested that T6SS in *Acinetobacter baumanii* plays a role in the competence with other bacteria. Another study demonstrated that the T6SS of *Shigella sonnei* confers an advantage to this species when it competes with *S. flexneri* and *E. coli* and this advantage was reduced in T6SS mutant strains (Anderson et al., 2017).

1.4.2.4. Quorum sensing

Quorum sensing (QS) is a communication system by which bacteria induce the expression of some virulence factors, such as the T3SS or the *act* toxin. This is regulated by "signal" molecules, such as N-acyl homoserine-lactone (AHLs) in response to external stimulus, for example, the bacteria populational density (Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2014). In addition, the AHLs are capable to modulate the host immune response (Khajanchi et al., 2011; Grim et al., 2014).

1.4.2.5. Metal ions

Metal ions are essential for the correct functioning of microbial biological processes (O'Halloran and Culotta, 2000). Many evidences indicate an important role of "metallostasis" in the host-pathogen interaction, involved in the acquisition and transfer of metals (Rosenzweig, 2002; Waldron et al., 2009; Capdevila et al., 2017). During infection the host limits the availability of essential metals, by inactivating the metal-dependent processes of the bacterial pathogen that compensates this limitation by producing different proteins (O'Halloran and Culotta, 2000; Palmer and Skaar, 2016; Capdevila et al., 2017).

In the genus *Aeromonas* it is known that the mechanisms for iron acquisition play a role in the pathogenesis and the development of the infection. Two mechanisms are known: siderophore-independent and siderophore-dependent. The siderophores are peptides which present a functional group with affinity to iron ions that need specific cell membrane bound receptors and a cell-associated apparatus to incorporate the metal into the bacterial metabolism. The siderophore-independent mechanism consists of a bacterial outer membrane protein that binds host-specific iron. Also, the gene expression related to the iron acquisition is regulated by protein Fur (Tomás, 2012).

Ana Fernández Bravo

Other metal cofactors with a role in the pathogenicity of *Aeromonas* have been described, for example, some copper and silver resistance genes coding for different proteins (Francki et al., 2000; Fones and Preston, 2013). However, less information is available on the acquisition of other metals in *Aeromonas*.

For instance, nothing is known about the nickel homeostasis that has been described in other bacterial models such as *Helicobacter. pylori* or *E. coli* with a role in the host-pathogen interaction (Johnson et al., 2015; Hu et al., 2017; Blum et al., 2017). A relevant metallochaperone HypA has been associated with the adaptation to acidic environments, considering this protein as a potential virulence factor in emerging pathogenic bacteria.

1.5. Antimicrobial susceptibility

Antimicrobial susceptibility studies carried out until now for *Aeromonas* have followed the guidelines for the *Enterobacteriaceae* included in the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI) published in 2015. Generally, *Aeromonas* have been inhibited by most antimicrobial agents. However, different resistance has been described such as to penicillins (Aravena-Román et al., 2012). Nevertheless, previous studies described *A. trota* as the only species of the genus susceptible to ampicillin (Carnahan, 1991; Overman and Janda, 1999; Huys et al., 2002; Abbott et al., 2003; Lai et al., 2007; Dallagassa et al., 2018).

1.5.1. Resistance mechanism

The β -lactamases are related to the activity against several β -lactam antibiotics (Janda and Abbott, 2010). Three mainly β -lactamases have been described in *Aeromonas*, class B metallo- β -lactamase, class C cephalosporinase and class D penicillinase. Fosse et al. (2003) characterized the β -lactamases in *Aeromonas*. i) *A. hydrophila* complex strains expressing class B, C, and D β lactamases; (ii) *A. caviae* strains expressing class C and D β -lactamases; (iii) *A. veronii* group strains containing class B and D lactamases; (iv) *A. schubertii* strains harboring class D lactamases; and (v) *A. trota* strains with class C β -lactamases. It also appears that many *A. veronii* by. sobria isolates also produce a class C

cephalosporinase (Fosse et al., 2003; Janda and Abbott, 2010). Although *Aeromonas* are sensitive to quinolones, resistance to these drugs has been reported. According to the data, this resistance could be related with plasmid-mediated proteins (Cattoir et al., 2008; Sanchez-Cespedes et al., 2008).

1.6. Pathogenicity

One important issue in the study of the pathogenicity of *Aeromonas* is the selection of adequate *in vivo* or *in vitro* model to reproduce the infection in the different experiments (Romero et al., 2016)

1.6.1. Studies with different cell lines

Many studies of pathogenesis and virulence in Aeromonas have been performed by using in vitro cell lines in the last years (Table 7) The capacity of Aeromonas to adhere, invade, and to produce cytotoxicity has been described, mainly in A. hydrophila and A. caviae, and the most frequently used cell lines are the cell lines human larynx carcinoma (HEp-2) and human colon carcinoma (Caco-2). The cytotoxicity of 55 Aeromonas strains was analyzed in another study by using four cell lines, African green monkey kidney (Vero), Madin Darby Bovine Kidney (MDBK), Baby Hamster Kidney cells (BHK-21), and marmoset B lymphoblastoid cells (B95a), demonstrating that the Vero cell line is the best model to examine and test the cytotoxicity of *Aeromonas* spp., due to is the most sensitive cell line (Ghatak et al., 2006). In a recent study, Dos Santos et al. (2015) evaluated the capacity of Aeromonas spp. to adhere, invade, survive and produce cytotoxicity by using three different cell lines, HEp-2, Caco-2, and human colorectal adenocarcinoma (T-84). The results showed that Aeromonas isolated from different sources were able to invade intestinal (T-84, Caco-2) and epithelial (HEp-2) cell lines (Dos Santos et al., 2015). These results suggested that the cytotoxicity and the adhesion could depend on the type of cell line tested.

Ana Fernández Bravo

Cell line	Study	Aeromonas	Reference
MDBK Vero B95a BHK-21	Adhesion, invasion and cytotoxicity	A. hydrophila A. caviae A. veronii A. trota A. jandaei	Ghatak et al., 2006
HEp-2 Vero	Adhesion and cytotoxicity	A. hydrophila A. salmonicida A. veronii A. bestiarum A. schuberti A. eucrenophila A. encheleia A. jandaei A. sobria A. caviae A. trota A. media	Ottaviani et al., 2011
HEp-2 CHO Vero	Cell -contact cytotoxicity	A. hydrophila A. caviae A. veronii	Krzyminska et al., 2012
НТ-29	Cytotoxicity	A. caviae A. veronii	Chen et al., 2014b
C2C12	Cytotoxicity	A. hydrophila A. dhakensis A. veronii A. caviae	Chen et al., 2014c
НЕр-2	Adhesion, biofilm and immune stimulation	A. hydrophila	Merino et al., 2014
HEp-2 Caco-2 T-84	Adhesion, invasion and cytotoxicity	A. hydrophila A. caviae	Dos Santos et al., 2015
RAW 264.7	Mixed infections	A. hydrophila	Ponnusamy et al., 2016
Caco-2	Adhesion and cytopathic effect	A. hydrophila A. dhakensis A. bestiarum A. piscicola A. salmonicida	Albarral et al., 2016
HepG2 WLR-68	Cytotoxicity effect of metalloprotease	A. hydrophila	Abdallah, 2019
Caco-2	Adhesion, invasion and cytotoxicity	A. salmonicida	Dias et al., 2019

Table 7. Summary of interesting recent studies that infect different cell lines with Aeromonas spp.

In 2012, Krzyminska et al. demonstrated that the presence of T3SS in the *Aeromonas* strain tested could mediate cell-contact cytotoxicity, destruction of host epithelial cells, and tissue damage in different cell lines: Chinese hamster ovary (CHO), HEp-2 and Vero. Merino et al. (2014) demonstrated by the generation of mutants that the flagella glycosylation in *A. hydrophila* plays an extremely important role in the adhesion to Hep-2 cells and in biofilm formation. Similarly, the flagella glycosylation induces the stimulation of the immune response.

As previously explained, Ponnusamy et al. (2016) studied the complex mixed infections between two strains of *A. hydrophila* (NF1-NF2) by using in the *in*

vitro experiments the murine macrophages (RAW 264.7). They suggested a different course of the disease in a mixed infection compared to the single infection.

In addition, host immune studies regarding *Aeromonas* interactions with different cell lines (Krzyminska et al., 2008; Rosenzweig and Chopra, 2013; Reyes-Becerril et al. 2016) have been described in the section 1.4.1.

1.6.2. Studies on animal models

Simulation of the *Aeromonas* infections in several animals has been performed in different previous studies. The animal models and the latest relevant studies are described in Table 8. Selection of the experimental model is one of the most important issues in the study of virulence and pathogenicity (Romero et al., 2016).

Mice are susceptible to a similar range of microbial infections as well as humans (Buer and Balling, 2003). As shown in Table 8, in many recent studies, mice are considered a good model used to study the pathogenicity in *Aeromonas*; remarkable studies were performed. In two studies performed by Grim et al. (2014) and Ponnusamy et al. (2016), the possible role of the mixed infections with two *A*. *hydrophila* strains in the progression of NF was described. Additionally, another interesting study with mice was performed by Chen et al. (2014c), which demonstrated the virulence of *A. hydrophila*, *A. dhakensis*, *A. caviae*, and *A. veronii* by the analysis of the survival curves by using BALB/c mice. The results suggested a variation among the most clinical prevalent species.

Romero et al. (2016) demonstrated that zebrafish larvae could be used as host model to assess the virulence of *A. hydrophila*. Additionally, zebrafish was used as a model of co-infection with *Aeromonas* species (Chandrarathna et al., 2018), demonstrating a higher mortality under co-infection in relation to the single infection. Moreover, zebrafish has been used as a model to study the immune response against *Aeromonas* (Srivastava et al., 2017).

Recently, catfish has been used as a fish model to clarify the virulence mechanism in *A. hydrophila* (Peatman et al., 2018), the blocking of aerolysin
Ana Fernández Bravo

activity after *A. hydrophila* infections (Dong et al., 2018) and the enterotoxic effects after *A. hydrophila* infection (Sellegounder et al., 2018), among others.

Model	Study	Aeromonas	Reference
Mice	Mixed infections, pathogenicity	A. hydrophila A. dhakensis A. caviae A. veronii	Chen et al., 2014c Grim et al., 2014 Romero et al., 2016 Ponnusamy et al., 2016
Catfish	Enterotoxic effects, virulence mechanism, transcriptome, aerolysin activity	A. hydrophila A. veronii	Sellegounder et al., 2018 Li et al., 2018 Peatman et al., 2018 Dong et al., 2018
Blue gourami	Septicemia, immune responses	A. hydrophila	Fock et al., 2001 Yu et al., 2005
Zebrafish	Immune response, mixed infections	A. hydrophila A. veronii	Romero et al., 2016 Guo et al., 2018 Chandrarathna et al., 2018 Srivastava et al., 2017
Slime mold	Pathogenicity	A. salmonicida A. hydrophila	Froquet et al., 2007
Nematode	Virulence, immune response, necrosis	A. hydrophila A. dhakensis A. veronii A. caviae	Mosser et al., 2015 Chen et al., 2017 Chen et al., 2018a Chen et al., 2018b

Table 8. Latest relevant studies that perform Aeromonas infections in different animal models

Chen et al. (2018a) evaluated the netamode of *Caenorhabditis elegans* as a virulence and pathogenicity model to study the *Aeromonas* infections, demonstrating that *A. dhakensis* was the most virulent species in comparison with the most prevalent clinical species. Also, in 2017, Chen et al. used *C. elegans* as a disease model of muscle necrosis after *A. dhakensis* infection; the results validated the *C. elegans* as model to study *A. dhakensis*. Mosser et al. (2015) contributed to the paradigms of mixed infections suggesting that the virulence of one *Aeromonas* strains could be higher in presence of a partner.

Other interesting models of infection have also been proposed, but less studied: i) Blue gourami was used to study the role of an endogenous serum lectin in the immune protection against *A. hydrophila* infections (Fock et al., 2001), as well as for the identification of putative virulence factors in *A. hydrophila* strains (Yu et al., 2005); ii) Slime mold was studied for a host model to evaluate the virulence of *Aeromonas* (Froquet et al., 2007).

2. INTEREST AND OBJECTIVES



Interest and objectives

The genus *Aeromonas* includes more than 32 species autochthonous of aquatic systems, some of which are considered emerging human pathogens. Nowadays, water is an increasingly limited resource and for this reason different methods of water treatment have been developed, including those that treat wastewater to generate reclaimed water and usually this water is used for irrigation. It has been previously shown that strains of *Aeromonas* may be present in this irrigation water and the same strains have been recovered in the irrigated vegetables, i.e. lettuces and tomatoes, and this may represent a risk of infections for consumers. For this reason, to continue studying the presence of *Aeromonas* in water it is extremely relevant to determine the risk more precisely (**objective 1, study 4.1.**).

The species of Aeromonas considered as emerging pathogens can cause a wide spectrum of diseases in humans, mainly gastroenteritis, bacteremia, and wound infections, being able to infect both immunocompromised and immunocompetent patients. According to the recent literature, at least 19 of the species included in the genus Aeromonas can be considered potential pathogens for humans. However, 96.5% of the strains associated to clinical cases correspond only to four species i.e. A. caviae (29.9%), A. dhakensis (26.3%), A. veronii (24.8%), and A. hydrophila (15.5%). Species classically associated with fish diseases, such as A. salmonicida have also been sporadically isolated in association with human infections. However, a comparative analysis of the capacity of mesophilic and psychrophilic strains of A. salmonicida, recovered from human clinical cases, water and fish, to generate infections in a murine model, has never been performed. This kind of study will provide light on the capacity of those strains to generate human infections. Furthermore, the comparison of the genomes of such strains might contribute to a better understanding of their pathogenicity and will help to understand if the subspecies defined within this species using phenotypical methods, are recognized as such, by using a comparison of their genomes. The objective 2, (study 4.2.), pretends to provide answers to these questions.

In clinical settings, the recognition of the *Aeromonas* spp. has been subjected to much confusion when using phenotypic identification methods. For

Ana Fernández Bravo

instance, confusion between *Aeromonas* and *Vibrio* occurs frequently, as recognized in our laboratory, when the identification is performed in parallel with molecular techniques such as the use of the sequences of housekeeping genes (*rpoD*, *gyrB*, etc). Therefore, in our laboratory we collaborate with the University hospitals of our area to re-identify with molecular methods the strains of *Aeromonas* associated with clinical cases, studying the characteristics of the patients and preparing publications of the most relevant cases. The aim is to raise awareness among clinicians on the importance of the *Aeromonas* infections (**objective 3, studies 4.3. and 4.4.**)

In the mentioned case studies, we also investigate the performance of the MALDI-TOF identification system. This system is nowadays used in many clinical laboratories, where it helped to improve considerably the identifications of *Aeromonas* and many other microbes. In fact, recent studies using MALDI-TOF show that between 98.3% and 100% of the strains of *Aeromonas* are correctly identified at the genus level and 91.1% to 97% at the species level. However, erroneous identifications due to the absence of some species, such as *A. dhakensis* in the database are still common. In fact, it is not known the full extent of these errors especially when MALDI-TOF is used to characterize environmental strains. Therefore, more studies are required to compare the results of MALDI-TOF with those obtained by using reliable methods, such as the analysis of the sequences of housekeeping genes (**objective 4, study 4.5.**).

In the last years, the number of genome sequences from the *Aeromonas* spp., has increased from the six genomes available in 2012, to 348, in 2019, when the database was consulted (04/18/2019). The introduction of the taxonomic indexes (ANI, *is*DDH, etc), as well as the development of several bioinformatic tools allows the comparison of *Aeromonas* genomes and their characterization in relation to their identity and the presence of specific genes associated with virulence, antimicrobial resistance, metabolic pathways, among others. *Aeromonas lusitana* is a recently described species isolated from water and vegetables in Portugal and Spain that has, so far, not been reported after its description from other habitats. In our laboratory we have identified a new strain of this species in a study that characterized strains of

Interest and objectives

Aeromonas recovered from rainbow trout in Mexico. Considering this, we decided to analyze and compare the genome we obtained from the new strain, along with the phenotypic characteristics and presence of virulence and resistance genes with the data derived from the type strain to increase the knowledge about this relatively new and poorly known species (**objective 5, study 4.6.**).

The virulence of *Aeromonas* has been described as multifactorial and linked to the expression of genes (*exoA*, *alt*, *act*...) that encode different toxins, structural components (*flaA*, *maf-5*, *flp*...), secretion systems (T3SS, T6SS...) and proteins associated with metals. Nonetheless, the specific role of some genes, as genes encoding metalloproteins, like the metallochaperone HypA that plays a role in the survival of *Helicobacter pylori* and *Escherichia coli* in the acidic environment of the stomach, has not yet been investigated in *Aeromonas*. Considering that 80% of the infections caused by *Aeromonas* are gastrointestinal, a similar possible adaptation of these bacteria to acidic environment of the stomach could be suspected suggesting that HypA could also be present in the bacteria of this genus (**objective 6, study 4.7.**).

Mixed infections with *Aeromonas* have been estimated to occur in 5%-10% of the cases and the interaction of the virulence factors among the co-infecting strains has been poorly studied. In fact, two *A. hydrophila* strains were recovered from a fast progressing necrotizing fasciitis that occurred in a young immunocompetent patient resulting in the amputation of almost all the extremities. Recently, the team of Dr. A.K. Chopra (Department of Microbiology and Immunology, University of Texas Medical Branch, Galveston, USA) demonstrated in an *in vitro* and *in vivo* model of infection that the progression of the necrotizing fasciitis varied if the infection was performed with only one or with the two strains of *A. hydrophila* recovered from the mentioned case. They observed that the infection followed a different course characterized by the antagonism/synergism of the strains causing differences in the severity of the disease. The authors suggested that the T6SS could have a role in the antagonistic effect observed between the two strains. In addition, the ExoA toxin, present only in one of the strains, could play a

Ana Fernández Bravo

role in the bacterial dissemination. However, there is a need to demonstrate this hypothesis by using mutant strains for the genes associated with the T6SS, as well as mutants for the gene encoding the ExoA toxin and performing with them combined mixed infections to determine or confirm the specific role of these virulence factors in these complex mixed infections. My contribution to that study has been performed during my six-month stay at the Dr. Chopra's laboratory in Galveston (USA), and it corresponds to the **objective 7 (study 4.8.)**.

Another aspect that is poorly known in relation with the Aeromonas infections is the interactions of the bacteria with the human immune system. The few existing studies have been centred in A. hydrophila, followed by A. veronii and A. salmonicida, by using animal models such as fish or mice, as well as different cell lines, i.e., mouse BALB/C monocyte macrophages (J744), murine macrophages from blood (RAW 264.7), the cancerous cell line (HeLa) or the human colon colorectal adenocarcinoma (HT-29). Previous studies suggested that the immune response could be cell type-dependent, considering this, it could be interesting to study the human monocytic cell line (THP-1) that has so far not been studied in Aeromonas. The THP-1 cell line acts as the first line of defense simulating the early steps of the infection. Moreover, several studies demonstrated the expression of different immune-related genes including the ones associated with cytokines (TNFa), chemokines (CCL20), TLRs (TLR4), transcription factors (RELA, JUN), apoptosis (*CASP3*, *TP53*) and pyroptosis (*IL-1\beta*, *NRLP3*). However, the chemokine gene CCL2, as well as the BAX gene related to the apoptosis route, have not been studied in infections produced by Aeromonas. Additionally, the response against other important Aeromonas species like A. caviae and A. dhakensis that have a higher frequency of isolation in clinical cases, have not yet been studied. In addition, if strains recovered from the environment have an equal capacity to develop an innate-immune response in the host cells, in comparison with the classically considered more virulent strains from clinical origin is another aspect that has never been studied. Therefore, to perform a study by using a selection of the species that represent the different frequencies of isolation in the clinical cases, together with the

Interest and objectives

use of clinical and environmental strains may help to clarify if there exists a speciesspecific immune response that could explain their differential prevalence in human infections (**objective 8, study 4.9.**)

In order to clarify the above commented aspects, the following **specific objectives** have been defined:

- 1. To quantify the presence of *Aeromonas* in different water samples by qPCR to determine the potential risk to public health.
- 2. To evaluate the pathogenicity of mesophilic and psychrophilic *A. salmonicida* clinical and environmental strains, comparing their genomes and using a murine model of infection.
- 3. To describe the characteristics of the patients and the strains associated with cases of infections produced by *Aeromonas* and *Vibrio* at our local hospitals.
- 4. To evaluate the performance of the MALDI-TOF identification method for the characterization of environmental *Aeromonas* strains by comparing the results with those derived from the sequences of the *rpoD* gene.
- 5. To contribute to the characterization of *A. lusitana* performing a genomic and phenotypic comparative analysis of a strain recovered from fish in our laboratory with the type strain.
- 6. To characterize the potential role of the HypA metallochaperone in the virulence of *Aeromonas*.
- 7. To study the role of the T6SS and the *exoA* gene in the necrotizing fasciitis (NF) mixed infection generated in a mouse model and in the murine macrophage cell line from blood (RAW 264.7) by using the two original strains of *A. hydrophila*, that generated the human NF, in combination with defective mutants of those strains for the above mentioned virulence factors.
- 8. To evaluate the host immune response of the human monocytic cell line (THP-1) infected independently with six *Aeromonas* species, and with strains of clinical and environmental origin, evaluating the expression profile of 11 immuno-related genes. To determine if it exists a species-specific immune response that could explain the different prevalence of the species associated with human infections.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS



Materials and methods

3.1. Bacterial strains, conservation and culture

The strains used in this doctoral thesis are listed in the Supplementary section. All the strains correspond to environmental and clinical isolates obtained in our laboratory, as well as isolates from culture collections, including type strains.

For the conservation, the strains used in this doctoral thesis were maintained in Tryptic Soy Broth (TSB, DifcoTM, France) plus glycerol (15%) at 80°C. Before experiments, bacteria were routinely grown in Tryptone Soya agar (TSA, DifcoTM, France) at 30°C for 24 h. Other media and buffers were used such as ADA, APA-A, LB Agar or Blood Agar. Antibiotics such as ampicillin (Ap), kanamycin (Km) and rifampicin (Rif) were added when necessary (Table 9).

Table 9.	Media	and	buffers	used	in	the	studies.
----------	-------	-----	---------	------	----	-----	----------

Media	Study	
TSA Tryptic Soya Agar	4.2., 4.4., 4.4., 4.5., 4.6., 4.7., 4.9.	
ADA (+amp) Ampicillin Dextrin Agar Base +amp	4.1.	
LB Agar Luria Bertani Agar	4.8.	
LB Agar (+antibiotics) Luria Bertani Agar +amp	4.8.	
APA-A Buffered Peptone Water + amp	4.1.	
XLD Xilose, Lysisne, Deoxycholate Agar	4.4.	
TCBS Thiosulfate Citrate Bile Salts Sucrose Agar	4.3.	
BA Blood Agar	4.3.	
TSB (+glycerol) Tryptic Soy Broth	Strain maintenance	

3.1.1. Genetic manipulation of the bacterial strains

3.1.1.1. Construction of bioluminescent mutant

In the study 4.8., performed in the University of Texas Medical Branch, a conjugation with two strains of *Escherichia coli*, SM10 Apir carrying the pTNS2

Ana Fernández Bravo

plasmid and SM10 Apir harbouring the pUC18-mini-Tn7T::Km-lux was performed (Ponnusamy et al., 2016). The later minitransposon contains a lux luminescence operon with the native promoter and kanamycin resistance (Km^r) selection marker. This system allows the integration downstream of the *gmlS* gene, which encodes a conserved glucosamine-6-phosphate synthetase, with the helper plasmid pTNS2 providing the transposase complex (Ponnusamy et al., 2016).

3.1.1.2. Construction of knockout/complemented mutants

All mutants of *A. hydrophila* NF1 and NF2 in the study 4.8., were generated in the University of Texas Medical Branch. The mutants were constructed by using a crossover PCR and a homologous recombination, previously described (Ponnusamy et al., 2016; Suarez et al., 2008; Liang et al., 2015). The insertion and deletion of the genes were confirmed by PCR and genome sequencing (study 4.8.)

3.2. DNA extraction and genotyping

Genomic DNA for molecular characterization was extracted from pure cultures from TSA, using the InstaGeneTM DNA Purification Matrix (Bio-Rad-Hercules CA, USA) following the manufacturer's instructions. All the strains included in the study 4.6., were genotyped using ERIC-PCR, using the primers ERIC 1R and ERIC 2 (Table 10) previously described by Versalovic et al. (1991) and in concordance with the conditions described by Houf et al. (2002).

Method	Primer	Sequence 5'- 3'
ERIC-PCR	ERIC 1R	ATGTAAGCTCCTGGGATTCAC
	ERIC 2	AAGTAAGTGACTGGGGGTGAGCG

 Table 10. Primers used for the ERIC-PCR.

Materials and methods

3.3. Molecular identification

3.3.1. Phylogenetic analysis with housekeeping genes

All strains analyzed in this doctoral thesis were identified at species level by the *rpoD* gene sequencing, using the primers listed in Table 11, and the conditions used by Soler et al. (2004). Similarly, in the study 4.6., the *gyrB* housekeeping gene was analyzed. The resulting sequences were aligned with the other described species of the genus by using the ClustalW algorithm (Larkin et al., 2007) in MEGA v6.0 (Tamura et al., 2013). A phylogenetic analysis was performed with the Neighborjoining (NJ) method with MEGA v6.0 (Tamura et al., 2013).

 Table 11. Primers used for PCR amplification and sequencing of gyrB and rpoD genes.

Primer	Sequence 5'- 3'
rpoD- Fs	ACG ACT GAC CCG GTA CGC ATG TAY ATG MGN GAR ATG GGN ACN GTA ATA GAA
rpoD- Rs	ATA ACC AGA CGT AAG TTN GCY TCN ACC ATY TCY TTY TT AXDACDS
rpoD-Fs1	GTCAATTCCGCCTGATGC
rpoD-Rs1	ATCATCTCGCGCATGTTGT
gyrB-3F	TCCGGCGGTCTGCACGGCGT
gyrB-14R	TTGTCCGGGTTGTACTCGTC

3.3.2. MALDI-TOF

The strains used in the studies 4.3. 4.4. and 4.5. were previously identified by using MALDI-TOF Byotiper (Bruker®), detecting proteins in the range 2-20 kDa. The result obtained in the comparison with the database is translated in a *score* with different colors, indicating the reliability of the identification at genus or species level (Figure 7).

2.300 - 3.000	highly probable species identification
2.000 - 2.299	secure genus identification, probable species identification
1.700 - 1.999	> probable genus identification
0.000 - 1.699	> not reliable identification

Figure 7. Score range indicating the reliability of the identification at genus or species level.

The MALDI-TOF in the studies 4.3., and 4.4. was performed in three different hospitals: University Hospital Sant Joan, Reus, University Hospital Miguel Servet, Zaragoza, and University Hospital Joan XXII, Tarragona. Additionally, the MALDI-TOF analysis of the study 4.5. was performed in the Veterinary Health Surveillance Center (VISAVET) in Madrid.

3.4. Phenotypic characterization

A study of phenotypical characteristics was performed. Conventional tests were carried out at least twice for the strains (studies 4.6. and 4.7.). Additionally, in the studies 4.3., 4.4., and 4.6., the biochemical tests were performed by using the automated system MicroScan Walkaway (Siemens®). The biochemical properties tested included catalase, oxidase and urease activity, nitrate reduction, glucose, utilization of citrate, DL-lactate, and growth in media supplemented with different concentrations of NaCl, among other tests, previously described for *Aeromonas* (Janda and Abbott, 2003, 2010). Moreover, in the studies 4.3., and 4.4. the API20 (BioMerieux ®, Marc 1'Etoile, France) were used for the phenotypic characterization, following the manufacturer's instructions.

3.5. Detection of virulence genes

The 10 virulence genes from the strains used in the study 4.6. were detected by PCR using the primers and conditions previously described that targeted the different genes (Table 12).

Materials and methods

Gene	Reference	Gene	Reference
lafA	Merino et al., 2003	ascF-G	Chacón et al., 2003
aerA	Soler et al., 2002	ascV	Chacón et al., 2003
act	Kingombe et al., 1999	aexT	Braun et al., 2002
ast	Aguilera-Arreola et al., 2005	aopP	Fehr et al., 2006
alt	Chopra et al., 1996	stx1	Wang et al., 2002
lipH3	Chacón et al., 2003	stxA2	Muniesa et al., 2003
pla	Chacón et al., 2003	ahe2	Chacón et al., 2003
plc	Chacón et al., 2003	aspA	Chacón et al., 2003

Table 12. Genes analyzed in the study 4.6.

3.6. Antimicrobial susceptibility profile

In the studies 4.3., 4.4., and 4.6., the antibiotic resistance was studied by a disk diffusion test, and the results were analyzed according to the CLSI guidelines (CLSI, 2015). The BBL Sensi-Disc Susceptibility Test Discs (BD, Madrid, Spain) were used containing the antibiotics listed in Table 13.

Antimicrobial agents			
Amikacin	Ciprofloxacin	Trimetoprim- sulfamethoxazole	
Ampicillin	Cefepime	Tigecycline	
Amoxicillin-clavulanic acid	Cefuroxime	Tobramycin	
Aztreonam	Ertapenem	Ciprofloxacin (5ug)	
Ceftazidime	Gentamicin	Cefotavime	
Ceftriaxone (30 µg)	Imipenem	Cefoxitin	
Cephalothin	Nalidixic acid	Piperacillin (100µg)	
Tetracycline (30µg)	Piperacillin-tazobactam		

 Table 13. Antimicrobial agents evaluated in different studies.

Ana Fernández Bravo

3.7. Protein sequence analysis and 3D-structure prediction

The prediction of 3D monomeric and dimeric protein structure in the study 4.7., and the comparative analyses of this protein were carried out by using Swiss-model online tool. To determine the sequence conservation between species, the sequences were aligned by using the ClustalW algorithm in the MegAlign software. Similarly, the phylogenetic relationships among sequences of the protein were depicted in a phylogenetic tree constructed on MEGA v6.0 using the Neighbor-joining method.

3.8. Genomics

3.8.1. DNA extraction, sequencing and annotation

A total of 4 genomes (studies 4.2. and 4.6.) were sequenced in our laboratory. Total genomic DNA was extracted from pure cultures grown in TSA by the Easy-DNATM gDNA Purification Kit (Invitrogen, Madrid, Spain) following the manufacturer's instructions. The quality of the DNA was checked by electrophoresis of 10 μ l of DNA in 1.5% agarose gel. The total amount of DNA was quantified by using Nanodrop 2000. After extraction, in the study 4.2., the DNA was sent to IBIS from Université Laval (Canada) to prepare sequencing libraries by using the KAPA Hyper Prep kit, while in the study 4.6., the sequencing libraries were performed with the Nextera DNA Library Preparation kit in our laboratory. The resulting libraries in both studies were sequenced with MiSeq platform of Illumina. The final reads in the study 4.2. were assembled by using A5-miseq version 20160825 (Coil et al., 2015), and in the study 4.6. using SPAdes (Bankevich et al., 2012) and the CGE assembler (Larsen et al., 2012).

In relation to the annotation, in the study 4.6., the assembled genome was annotated in RAST Annotation (Aziz et al., 2008) and compared with other *Aeromonas* genomes previously annotated. However, in the study 4.2., the assembled genomes were annotated by using the Prokaryotic Genome Annotation

Materials and methods

Pipeline (PGAP) and deposited in Genbank (Tatusova et al., 2016). Additionally, the genomes were annotated by using Prokka version 1.12 (Seemann, 2014) to compare with other *Aeromonas* genomes.

3.8.2. Genomic indexes

Genomic indexes were used in the studies 4.2., and 4.6. The ANI was calculated in both studies, by using pyani (Kurtz et al. 2004) (study 4.2.) and OrthoANI (Lee et al., 2016) programs (study 4.6.). The <96 % cut-off was used for the definition of a new phylogenetic line or species (Colston et al., 2014). The *is*DDH was calculated with the GGDC software (Meier-Kolthoff et al., 2013) (Study 4.6.).

3.8.3. Genomic characterization

The functional and metabolic characterization of the genome in the study 4.6., was performed with the functional Comparison Tool of the Seed Viewer (Overbeek et al., 2014) by using the annotation obtained with RAST (Aziz et al., 2008). Additionally, the Core-Pan genome analysis was performed by using the program pancoreplot from CMG Biotools (Vesth et al., 2013).

In the study 4.2., homologous links between the translated coding sequences were defined by using GET_HOMOLOGUES version 20180103 (Contreras-Moreira and Vinuesa, 2013) with two algorithms: COG and OMCL. The sequences to the softcore were recovered by using TranslatorX version 1.1 (Abascal et al., 2010) and the alignments were filtered by using BMGE version 1.12 (Criscuolo and Gribaldo, 2010). After this, the alignments were concatenated by using AMAS (Borowiec, 2016). The maximum-likelihood phylogeny was itself performed by using IQ-TREE (Hoang et al., 2017). The antibiotic resistance was predicted by using ABRicate version 0.8.7 and the CARD database (Jia et al., 2017).

Ana Fernández Bravo

3.8.4. In silico search of genes in the Aeromonas genomes

For identification, the genes were searched in the genomes by using a sequence obtained from the Uniprot database. This nucleotide sequence was used as a query on BLAST searches in the genomes.

In the study 4.6. to ensure that the sequenced genome corresponded to the strain of interest, the seven housekeeping genes (*rpoD*, *gyrB*, *gyrA*, *atpD*, *dnaJ*, *dnaX* and *recA*) used in the Multilocus Phylogenetic Analysis (MLPA) were extracted from each genome and compared with the Sanger sequence originally obtained for the identification of the *Aeromonas* species. In the study 4.7. the nucleotide sequences of *hypA* and *ure* genes related to the virulence of *Aeromonas* were searched in the 36 available genomes.

3.9. In vitro studies

3.9.1. Cell lines and growth conditions

For the studies 4.7., 4.8., and 4.9., three cell lines were selected from the experiments. TPH-1 (human peripherial blood), J744A.1 (mouse BALB/C monocyte macrophages), RAW 264.7 (macrophage from murine blood) (Murciano et al., 2015; Rama et al., 2011; Ponnusamy et al., 2016). THP-1 cells and RAW 264.7 were maintained as suspension cells in Roswell Park Memorial Institute Medium (RPMI-1640, PAA Laboratories) supplemented with 10% FBS (fetal bovine serum, PAA Laboratories) plus 1% P/S (penicillin-streptomycin solution, PAA Laboratories), while J744A.1 cells were maintained as adherent cells in Dubelcco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM, PAA Laboratories) supplemented with 10% FBS plus 1% P/S, in all cases at 37°C and 5% CO₂.

3.9.2. Infection

Prior to infection, cells were seeded in tissue culture plates $(1 \times 10^6 \text{ cells/ml})$ containing serum-free DMEM without antibiotics (serum-starvation conditions) for 18 h, as previously described (Murciano et al., 2015). Cells were infected with the

Materials and methods

strains of *Aeromonas* grown overnight at different multiplicity of infection (MOI 5,10 and 20) calculated by serial dilution and plating on TSA or LB agar (studies 4.7., 4.8., and 4.9.). In addition, to compare with macrophages infection, in the study 4.7., *Aeromonas* were seeded in culture plates with DMEM without FBS and P/S at alkaline pH (pH=8) and acidic pH (pH=4.5) adjusted with HCl solution followed by filtration to remove any precipitate.

3.9.3. Phagocytic assays

After 1 h of RAW 264.7 infection, a treatment to kill extracellular bacteria with gentamicin was performed for 1 h (0 h time point). To count the number of bacteria a serial dilution and plating were performed. The percentage of phagocytosis was calculated with the number of bacteria at 0 h time point in relation to the initial infection dose (study 4.8.).

3.9.4. Intracellular survival

After 1 h of infection of RAW 264.7 (study 4.8.) and THP-1 (study 4.9.), a treatment to kill extracellular bacteria with gentamicin was performed for 1 h (0 h time point). The percentage of intracellular survival was calculated after bacterial serial dilution and plating, followed by the calculation using the number of bacteria after 4 and 6 h in relation to the 0 h time point.

3.9.5. Cell damage assay

In the study 4.9., we performed at time curse (3,4,5, and 6 h) harvesting of supernatants after THP-1 infection. The cell damage was determined based on the quantification of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) released, using the Cytox96[®] Non-Radioactive Cytotoxicity Assay kit (Promega) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Recombinant bovine LDH (Sigma Aldrich) was used to generate a standard curve and sample values were extrapolated from the curve.

Ana Fernández Bravo

3.9.6. RNA extraction and quantitative RT-qPCR

3.9.6.1. Gene expression in Aeromonas

In the study 4.7., the total RNA was isolated from J774.1 infection (4h) as well as from bacteria seeded in alkaline (pH= 8) and acidic (pH= 4.5) media, by using TRIzol (Invitrogen), and the quality was confirmed by using Nanodrop. The cDNA was obtained from RNA by using the iScript cDNA Synthesis Kit (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc. Hercules, CA, USA). The RT-qPCR was performed in duplicate by using Power SYBR® green PCR Mastermix (Applied Biosystems®, Life Technologies) on StepOnePlusTM Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems) to establish the expression of *hypA*, using 16s rRNA gene as a housekeeping gene. The primers are listed in Table 14

Primers	Sequence 5'-3'	
hypA		
Forward	ATGCACGAAATGTCTCTGGC	
Reverse	TCGTAATTTGTACCCGCCAC	
16S rRNA		
Forward	TGTGTCCTTGAGACGTGGC	
Reverse	ACAAAGGACAGGGGTTGCG	

Table 14. Primers used for RT-qPCR in Aeromonas gene expression (study 4.7.).

3.9.6.2. Immune-related genes expression in monocytes

In the study 4.9., the total RNA was extracted after THP-1 infection (4h) by using the GenElute[™] Mammalian Total RNA Miniprep Kit (Sigma-Aldrich) to remove genomic DNA. The cDNA was transcribed from RNA by using the iScript cDNA Synthesis Kit (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc. Hercules, CA, USA). As explained in 3.8.6.1., the RT-qPCR was performed in duplicate by using Power SYBR® green PCR Mastermix (Applied Biosystems®, Life Technologies) on a StepOnePlus[™] Real Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems), to establish the

Materials and methods

expression of immune related genes, using GAPDH gene as a housekeeping gene. The primers are listed in Table 15.

Gene	Sequence (5'-3')
	Forward CATGAGAAGTATGACAACAGCCT
GAPDH	Reverse AGTCCTTCCACGATACCAAAGT
TI DA	Forward AGTTGATCTACCAAGCCTTGAGT
1 LK4	Reverse GCTGGTTGTCCCAAAATCACTTT
IIIN	Forward TGCCTCCAAGTGCCGAAAAA
JUN	Reverse TGACTTTCTGTTTAAGCTGTGCC
DELA	Forward ATGTGGAGATCATTGAGCAGC
KELA	Reverse CCTGGTCCTGTGTAGCCATT
TNE a	Forward GAGGCCAAGCCCTGGTATG
1 /vr - a	Reverse CGGGCCGATTGATCTCAGC
CCL2	Forward CCCCAGTCACCTGCTGTTAT
0012	Reverse TGGAATCCTGAACCCACTTC
CCL20	Forward GCAAGCAACTTTGACTGCT
	Reverse ATTTGCGCACACAGACAACT
CASP3	Forward GAAATTGTGGAATTGATGCGTGA
CALLY U	Reverse CTACAACGATCCCCTCTGAAAAA
BAX	Forward CCCGAGAGGTCTTTTTCCGAG
	Reverse CCAGCCCATGATGGTTCTGAT
<i>TP</i> 53	Forward CAGCACATGACGGAGGTTGT
1100	Reverse TCATCCAAATACTCCACACGC
NLRP3	Forward CAGCACATGACGGAGGTTGT
	Reverse TCATCCAAATACTCCACACGC
IL-18	Forward CAGCACATGACGGAGGTTGT
11-1р	Reverse TCATCCAAATACTCCACACGC

Table 15. Primers used for RT-qPCR in monocytes gene expression (study 4.9.).

Ana Fernández Bravo

3.9.7. Dynamic of mixed infections

In the study 4.8., the strains were grown overnight and mixed in LB broth at a ratio of 1:1 or 5:1, and spotted in nonselective LB plates for 4 h. The growth of the strains in the mixture was determined by serial dilution and plated on the selective plates with the appropriate antibiotic or on nonselective LB plates.

3.10. *In vivo* studies

3.10.1. Animal model

For the *in vivo* studies (study 4.2. and 4.8.), male OF-1 mice (Charles River, Criffa S.A., Barcelona) and female Swiss-Webster mice (Taconic Farms) weighting 30 grams were used. All the studies carried out were approved by the Ethical Committee of the Rovira i Virgili University and by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee protocol at the University of Texas Medical Branch. The animals were maintained under standard conditions with free access to food and drink, controlling daily the progress of the infection until the last day of the experiment. Euthanasia due to suffering of the animals was carried out by inhalation of CO₂. This same procedure was used at the end of the study to sacrifice the surviving animals. To monitor the welfare of the animals, different parameters were observed:

- •Coat: smooth and shiny or piloerection
- •Weight changes: notorious loss of body weight is a sign of suffering
- Postural changes: normal or stooped posture
- Secretions
- Seizures
- Alterations in locomotion: sudden and rapid movements or ataxia.
- Unprovoked behavior: vocalizations and self-mutilations
- •Response to stimuli: aggressiveness, comatose state

Materials and methods

3.10.2. Immunosuppression

For the study 4.2., the mice were administered with cyclophosphamide (200 mg / kg) (Genoxal® Baxter, Halle / Westfalen, Germany) intraperitoneally two days before infection (day -2) and the administration of this dose was repeated every five days until the end of the experiment (Sanchis et al., 2015).

3.10.3. Immunization

In the study 4.8., the mice were immunized with 100 ng of ExoA mixed with alum at ratio 1:1. Boosters with the same dose were given every two weeks for a total of 6 immunizations and control mice received only alum. The blood of the mice was collected after three and six immunizations to evaluate the anti-ExoA antibody.

3.10.4. Infection

To establish the inocula, the concentration of bacterial cells was determined by plating 10-folds-serial dilutions onto TSA plates, and then by counting the number of CFU after 24h (Ponnusamy et al., 2016). Different inocula were prepared depending on the experiment (studies 4.2. and 4.8.). In the study 4.8., for the mixed infections, the doses represented equal numbers of CFU for each of the mixed strains.

Female Swiss-Webster mice (Taconic Farms, Albany) were infected intramuscularly (i.m.) and intraperitoneally (i.p.) with the mixed and single strains in the study 4.8., while in the study 4.2., male OF-1 mice (Charles River, Criffa S.A., Barcelona) were infected intravenously. The inocula used for the studies 4.2., and 4.8., was 0.1 or 0.2 mL, respectively (usually between 3 and 10 animals per group).

3.10.5. Survival curves

After intravenous, intraperitoneal or intramuscular infection, depending on the experiment (single or mixed infection), the animals were observed for disease

Ana Fernández Bravo

progression over a period of 20 days, and the mortality rate was recorded daily (studies 4.2. and 4.8.).

3.10.6. Bacterial dissemination

After 24 h post-infection with mixed infections in the study 4.8., the spleen and the 200-300 g of muscle tissue (site of infection) of three or seven animals depending on the experiment were homogenized in PBS. A serial dilution was plated on LB agar with the appropriate antibiotic. After incubation for 24h and 37°C, colonies were counted to calculate the bacterial load per organ or gram of tissue.

3.10.7. Bacterial quantification by qPCR

In the study 4.2., the liver and kidney from infected mice were collected on day 10 post-infection. The DNA was extracted by using the Easy-DNATM Kit (Invitrogen, CA). Real-time qPCR was performed on the purified DNA by using the DNA TargetSpecies dtec-qPCR Test for *Aeromonas* spp. (Genetic PCR solutions, Orihule, Spain), and the SteponePlusTM Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems) equipment. The number of copies was calculated on the basis of the standard curve and the corresponding amplification cycle threshold (Ct).

3.10.8. Histopathological analysis

In the study 4.2., the liver and kidney were collected on day 10 postinfection and fixed in 10% buffered formalin to detect lesions. After fixation, the tissues were embebed in paraffin and sectioned. For the evaluation by microscopy (CX 33, Olympus) the tissues were stained with hematoxylin, eosin and Giemsa, previously described (Sanchis et al., 2015).

3.11. Water samples

Aeromonas was analyzed for one year, in a total of 47 samples, coming from raw sewage, ground water near a pig farm, water from the Fluvià River, and ground water from a tank. In parallel, these bacteria were also studied in concentrates of

Materials and methods

these samples by flocculation used for the detection of viruses and that corresponded to a mix of the season samples, with a total of 12 concentrated samples (Table 16) (study 4.1.)

 Table 16. Samples obtained from different waters.

Samples (n)	Flocculation (n)	Origin
11	4	Raw sewage
12	-	Ground water tank
12	4	Ground water pig farm
12	4	River water

3.11.1. Quantification by plate count method

For the non-concentrated samples, a serial dilution was performed from the direct sample, as well as from 100 and 200 mL filtered. The dilutions were plated in ADA for 24 h at 37° C. After 24 h the colonies were counted (study 4.1.)

3.11.2. Quantification by "Most Probable Number"

For the non-concentrated samples, a serial dilution was performed from the direct sample, as well as from 100 and 200 mL filtered. 500 ml of these serial dilutions were inoculated in a tube with 2.5 mL of APA-A (three times for dilution). Each tube was plated in ADA for 24 h at 37° C. After 24 h a number of positives was counted, and the most probably number was obtained with the most probable number calculator as for example in the Figure 8 (study 4.1).



Figure 8. MPN tubes. The number used in the calculator would be 120.

Ana Fernández Bravo

3.11.3. Quantification by qPCR

For the 47 samples, 25 ml of water was filtered, and the DNA was extracted by using the FastDNATM SPIN Kit for Soil (MP Biomedicals), while the DNA of the concentrates by flocculation was extracted by FastPrep® lysing matrix A with the FastDNA Spin kit for soil (MP Biomedicals). The qPCR was performed with the StepOnePlusTM Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystem), using a DNA TargetSpecies dtec-qPCR Test for *Aeromonas* spp. (Genetic PCR solutions, Orihuela, Spain) (study 4.1).

4. RESULTS



4.1. Presence of *Aeromonas* in different aquatic environments and validation of flocculation method of viruses for bacteria.

Fernández-Bravo A., Pérez-Cataluña A, Martínez-Murcia A., Rusiñol M., Girones R., Figueras MJ. (In preparation/Results will be included in a publication pending to be submitted to "Water Research").

Results

Presence of *Aeromonas* in different aquatic environments and validation of flocculation method of viruses for bacteria.

Ana Fernández-Bravo^a., Alba Pérez-Cataluña^a, Antonio Martínez-Murcia^b., Marta Rusiñol^c., Rosina Girones^c., Maria José Figueras^a.

^aUnitat de Microbiologia, Departament de Ciènces Médiques Bàsiques, Facultat de Medicina i Ciències de la Salut, IISPV, Universitat Rovira i Virgili, Reus, Spain.

^bArea de Microbiología, EPSO, Universidad Miguel Hernández, Orihuela E-03300, Alicante, Spain.

^cDepartment of Microbiology, Faculty of Biology, University of Barcelona, Diagonal Ave., 643, 08028, Barcelona, Spain.

* Corresponding author
Maria José Figueras
Tel: +34 977759321; fax: +34 977759322.
E-mail address: mariajose.figueras@urv.cat

Author's contribution: MR, RG and MJF conceived the idea; AFB and APC performed research; AMM contributed new reagents; AFB and MJF wrote the results for the publication.

Doctoral thesis

Ana Fernández Bravo

A total of 47 samples from four sampling points: raw sewage, ground water near a pig farm, water from the Fluvià river, and ground water from a tank for irrigation were analyzed for Aeromonas during one year. In parallel, 12 concentrates of these samples made by flocculation were pooled by season and were also analyzed, except the ground water from a tank for irrigation, to examine if this method of concentration used for the study of viruses was also useful for the study of Aeromonas. For the 47 samples, serial dilution was performed from the direct sample, as well as after concentrating 100 and 200 mL of water by filtration. After 24 h, the number of positive samples was counted. Additionally, the serial dilutions were inoculated in tubes containing enrichment media, and were incubated for 24 h. Then, the concentration was counted by using the most probable number (MPN). In parallel, 25 ml of water were filtered, and the DNA was extracted by using FastDNATM Spin Kit for Soil (MP Biomedicals), while the DNA of the concentrates by flocculation was extracted with the FastPrep® lysing matrix (MP Biomedicals) following the manufacturer's instructions. The DNA was quantified and checked for quality by using the NanoDrop instrument (NanoDrop Products, Wilmington, Delaware, USA). A real-time PCR (qPCR) was performed to quantify the Aeromonas spp. by using the StepOnePlusTM Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystem, using a DNA TargetSpecies specific dtec-qPCR Test (Genetic PCR solutions, SP) for Aeromonas spp. The threshold cycle (CT) was determined by the StepOne software v2.3. The results showed that all the samples were positive for Aeromonas with qPCR (Figure 1). Similarly, the concentration found was higher with this method in comparison with the plate count method and the MPN. The highest concentration of Aeromonas was found in the raw sewage (Figure 2). The year average concentration at this site was 5.72 x 10^{11} GC/100mL in filtered samples, while the year average concentration was 1.45 X 10¹¹ GC/100mL in concentrated samples by flocculation (Figure 3).

Despite, in the sewage water, the concentration of these bacteria was relatively similar, higher concentration was found in flocculated concentrates in the water of the Fluvià River. In the latter the year average concentration of *Aeromonas*

Results

spp. was 7.79 x 10^9 GC/100mL in flocculation concentrates, and 4.41 x 10^8 GC/100mL in the filtered samples (Figure 3). In some samples of raw sewage this is an exception, and this could be due to the presence of inhibition or to the extraction method. The flocculation concentration method used for viruses showed to be a good method for the detection of the bacteria that we studied.





Figure 1. Detection and quantificacion (geometric mean/100ml) of Aeromonas by three methods

Doctoral thesis

Ana Fernández Bravo





Figure 1 continued. Detection and quantificacion (geometric mean/100ml) of *Aeromonas* by three methods



Figure 2. Aeromonas quantification by qPCR

```
Results
```



Figure 3. Aeromonas quantification (geometric mean/100ml) in filtered samples and concentrated by flocculation.
4.2. Investigation of the virulence and genomics of *Aeromonas* salmonicida strains isolated from human patients.

Vincent AT*., Fernández-Bravo A*., Sanchis M., Mayayo E.,

Figueras MJ., Charette SJ. (2018). Infection, Genetics and Evolution. 68: 1-9.

* These authors contributed equally to this work.

Infection, Genetics and Evolution 68 (2019) 1–9



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Infection, Genetics and Evolution



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/meegid

Research paper

Investigation of the virulence and genomics of *Aeromonas salmonicida* strains isolated from human patients



Antony T. Vincent^{a,1}, Ana Fernández-Bravo^{b,1}, Marta Sanchis^b, Emilio Mayayo^{b,c}, María Jose Figueras^{b,**}, Steve J. Charette^{a,*}

^a Université Laval, Quebec City, QC, Canada

^b Universitat Rovira i Virgili, IISPV, Reus, Spain

^c University Hospital Joan XIII, Tarragona, Spain

ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Aeromonas salmonicida Infection Necrotizing fasciitis Pathogenicity Type III secretion systems Whole genome sequencing

ABSTRACT

The bacterium *Aeromonas salmonicida* is known since long time as a major fish pathogen unable to grow at 37 °C. However, some cases of human infection by putative mesophilic *A. salmonicida* have been reported. The goal of the present study is to examine two clinical cases of human infection by *A. salmonicida* in Spain and to investigate the pathogenicity in mammals of selected mesophilic *A. salmonicida* strains. An evaluation of the pathogenicity in a mouse model of clinical and environmental *A. salmonicida* strains was performed. The genomes of the strains were sequenced and analyzed in order to find the virulence determinants of these strains. The experimental infection in mice showed a gradient in the virulence of these strains and that some of them can cause necrotizing fasciitis and tissue damage in the liver. In addition to demonstrating significant genomic diversity among the strains studied, bioinformatics analyses permitted also to shed light on crucial elements for the virulence of the strains, like the presence of a type III secretion system in the one that caused the highest inclusion of *A. salmonicida* in diagnosis tests since it is now clear that some mesophilic strains are also pathogens for humans.

1. Introduction

The Gram-negative bacterium Aeromonas salmonicida has been well known for decades to be a fish pathogen (Austin and Austin 2016). Officially, A. salmonicida has five subspecies (Martin-Carnahan and Joseph 2005): salmonicida, smithia, achromogenes, masoucida and pectinolytica. Although the taxonomy of A. salmonicida has always been subject to debate (Austin 2011), it was only in 2000, with the publication of the discovery of the subspecies pectinolytica (Pavan et al. 2000) that the diversity of this bacterium was truly revealed. While the other defined A. salmonicida subspecies grow only at temperatures below 25 °C, pectinolytica strains can grow efficiently at 37 °C and are thus considered to be mesophilic (Pavan et al. 2000). This dichotomy in the maximum growth temperatures of A. salmonicida was reported before the official publication of the subspecies pectinolytica (Altwegg et al. 1990; Guérin-Faublée et al. 1997; Janda et al. 1996; Rouf and Rigney 1971). However, at that time, the intra-species delineation of *A. salmonicida* into subspecies was not systematically used and genome sequences were not available, making conclusions difficult. Moreover, classification of *A. salmonicida* based on biochemical characteristics or 16S rRNA gene sequence has been extremely difficult and many times impossible (Beaz-Hidalgo et al. 2010).

Recently, four mesophilic A. salmonicida strains isolated from food in India were sequenced and characterized to shed light on genomic signatures that could explain why some evolutionarily close subspecies have such large differences in their maximum growth temperatures (Vincent et al. 2017, 2016). In accordance with previous experimental evidence based on the *salmonicida* subspecies (Tanaka et al. 2012), investigation of these genomes revealed that insertion sequences could be one of the major genomic determinants between the mesophilic and the

E-mail addresses: mariajose.figueras@urv.cat (M.J. Figueras), Steve.Charette@bcm.ulaval.ca (S.J. Charette).

¹ These authors contributed equally to this article.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meegid.2018.11.019

Received 4 July 2018; Received in revised form 22 October 2018; Accepted 27 November 2018 Available online 28 November 2018 1567-1348/ © 2018 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

^{*} Correspondence to: S. J. Charette, Institut de Biologie Intégrative et des Systèmes, Charles-Eugène-Marchand, 1030 avenue de la Médecine, Université Laval, Quebec City, QC G1V 0A6, Canada.

^{**} Correspondence to: M. J. Figueras, Unitat de Microbiología, Departament de Ciències Mèdiques Bàsiques, Facultat de Medicina i Ciències de la Salut, IISPV, Universitat Rovira i Virgili, Reus, Spain.

A.T. Vincent et al.

psychrophilic strains (Vincent et al. 2017, 2016).

Although our knowledge about *A. salmonicida* has increased significantly during recent years, the infectious potential of mesophilic strains remained unknown. While psychrophilic *A. salmonicida* subspecies are known to infect various fish species (Austin and Austin 2016), no host is certainly known for mesophilic strains. Early studies found that mesophilic *A. salmonicida* strains (known as hybridization group 3 [HG3]) could be isolated from human and animal hosts (Abbott et al. 1992; Altwegg et al. 1990; Aravena-Román et al. 2011; Janda et al. 1996; Janda and Abbott 2010). Although rigorous, these studies were made before the democratization of DNA sequencing and the recent advances in the taxonomy of *A. salmonicida* based on core genome sequence analysis. In addition, no clinical background was available for the isolates mentioned above, letting difficult to draw conclusions on the medical importance of *A. salmonicida* for humans.

In 2008, a first case of human infection by *A. salmonicida* with clear clinical background was reported (Yang et al. 2008). More precisely, a 68-year-old diabetic woman on continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis was diagnosed as infected by *A. salmonicida* after having been admitted for abdominal pain and cloudy peritoneal fluid. Unfortunately, there is no indication on how the strain was identified as *A. salmonicida*. Recently, in India, *A. salmonicida* was reported to have been recovered from: (i) the blood of a 34-year-old female patient (Tewari et al. 2014), (ii) a skin infection of a 67-year-old immunocompetent male (Kamble 2015) and (iii) the right eye of 55-year-old female who had recovered from a cataract surgery (Varshney et al. 2017). However, although interesting for clinical backgrounds, the taxonomic identification of these strains is putative given the inherent complexity of *A. salmonicida*.

In 2017, a study reported the isolation of a multidrug-resistant strain, ASG1, from a 15-year-old boy who had recovered from a finger surgery (Ruppé et al. 2017). This time, the strain was clearly identified as belonging to *A. salmonicida* species. Although it demonstrated once for all that mesophilic *A. salmonicida* could infect humans, the pathogenicity of these isolates and specific mechanisms that allow such infections are still unknown.

Here, we investigate two mesophilic *A. salmonicida* strains isolated from human patients in Spain, one that suffered from an acute gastroenteritis and the other that had a cellulitis in a foot after a trauma. These two clinical strains, in addition to four environmental mesophilic *A. salmonicida* strains, were tested for pathogenicity in an immunosuppressed rodent model. The complete genomes of the strains were also investigated to figure out the putative determinants implicated in the virulence of the strains.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Isolation of the clinical strains

The strain AJ83 and 947C were isolated at a hospital in Guadalajara (Spain) (Table 1). The strain AJ83 was recovered from a cellulitis in the right foot of a 49-year-old man that also suffered of fasciitis due to

Table 1						
Mesophilic	strains of A.	salmonicida	used in	the	present	study

trauma. The strain 947C came from the faeces of an 8-year-old girl that had an acute gastroenteritis. Both strains were first identified at the hospital as *Aeromonas hydrophila* using MicroScan W/A identification system (Dade MicroScan, Inc., Sacramento, Calif). Using the same equipment and based on the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute guidelines of 2015, the resistance to various antibiotics was assessed for each strain. Both strains were re-identified more thoroughly as *A. salmonicida* by sequencing the *rpoD* gene using primers and condition used in another study (Beaz-Hidalgo et al. 2010).

2.2. In vivo experiments

All *A. salmonicida* strains included in this study (Table 1) were grown on tryptic soy agar (TSA) plates and incubated at 30 °C for 24 h. The colonies were then scraped off with a sterile loop and were suspended in sterile phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) solution. For each strain, the concentration of bacterial cells was determined by plating 10-fold dilutions onto TSA plates and then by counting the number of CFU after 24 h.

Four-week-old male OF1 mice weighing approximately 30 g each (Charles River, Criffa S.A., Barcelona, Spain) were used to perform the experiments. All animals were maintained under standard conditions. The designed experiments and care procedures were supervised and approved by the Universitat Rovira i Virgili Animal Welfare and Ethics Committee. Mice were immunosuppressed 2 days prior to infection by intraperitoneal injection of 200 mg/kg body weight of cyclophosphamide (Genoxal*; Laboratories Funk S.A., Barcelona, Spain) and thereafter the same procedure was performed once every 5 days (Sanchis et al. 2016).

Groups of 8 animals were infected intravenously at the tail with 0.2 mL of sterile PBS containing 1×10^7 or 1×10^9 CFU/mouse of the respective A. salmonicida strains. Parameters were selected based on previous experiments of mouse infections with Aeromonas (Romero et al. 2016). In all experiments, a control group of 8 mice injected with only 0.2 mL of PBS was used. At the end of the experiment, mice were euthanized by anoxia in a CO₂ chamber, followed by cervical dislocation.

The Kaplan-Meier function was used through the R package survival to verify if the survival curves were significantly different from each other. The *p*-values from the log-rank test were adjusted with the Bonferroni method ($\alpha = 0.05$).

2.3. Bacteria quantification from the different organs and histopathological analysis

The liver and kidney from the mice infected at both concentrations were directly aseptically collected when the animal died on day 10 post-infection. Each organ was divided in two parts: one part was directly frozen at -80 °C and was used for bacterial DNA quantification by real time PCR (qPCR), and the other half was directly fixed in 10% buffered formalin for histopathological studies.

The DNA was extracted using the Easy-DNA™ Kit (Invitrogen, CA),

Mesophine strain	is of A. saimoniciau used in th	ie present study.			
Strain	Source	Country	Year	Accession number	Reference
34mel ^T Y47 A527 A308 ^b AJ83 947C	River Chicken ^a Giant river prawn ^a Fresh water Human Human	Argentina India India France Spain Spain	1988 2006 2007 1962 2007 2008	NZ_CP022426.1 JZTF0000000 CP022550 PSZJ00000000 PSZI00000000 PSZK00000000	(Pavan et al. 2000) (Nagar et al. 2011) (Nagar et al. 2011; Vincent et al. 2017) Present study Present study
		- P			,

^a Isolated in food markets in India (Nagar et al. 2011). The real hosts are considered unknown.

^b Strain A308 = Popoff C316 = CDC 0434-84 = CECT 5171 = LMG 13451. This strain is considered as a reference for mesophilic *A. salmonicida* (Abbott et al. 1992; Altwegg et al. 1990; Martínez-Murcia et al. 2005).

according to the manufacturer's instructions. Real-time PCR was performed on the purified DNA using the kit DNA TargetSpecies dtec-qPCR Test for *Aeromonas* sp. (Genetic PCR solutions, SP) and the StepOnePlus[™] Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems) equipment. The number of copies was calculated on the basis of the standard curve and the corresponding amplification cycle threshold (Ct). At the time of collection of the liver and kidney, the organs were examined to detect any macroscopic lesions. After fixation, the tissues were embedded in paraffin and sectioned before staining with hematoxylin, eosin, and Giemsa. The sections were evaluated with microscopy (CX 33, Olympus).

2.4. DNA extraction, sequencing and analysis

The strains AJ83, 947C and A308 were grown on TSA at 30 °C for 24 h and the genomic DNA extracted using Easy-DNA^m Kit (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA), according to the manufacturer's instructions. The DNA of strain A308 (=Popoff C316), was also sequenced since this environmental strain is considered to be a reference of the mesophilic *A. salmonicida* (known as hybridization group 3 [HG3]) by several studies (Abbott et al. 1992; Altwegg et al. 1990; Martínez-Murcia et al. 2005).

The purified DNA was used to prepare sequencing libraries using a KAPA Hyper Prep kit. The resulting libraries were sequenced using Illumina MiSeq technology (IBIS, Université Laval). The final reads were *de novo* assembled using A5-miseq version 20160825 (Coil et al. 2015). The resulting sequences were annotated using the Prokaryotic Genome Annotation Pipeline (PGAP) of the NCBI and were deposited in GenBank (Table 1).

All the genome sequences of mesophilic A. salmonicida strains (including AJ83, 947C and A308 that are from the present study), the ones of selected psychrophilic A. salmonicida strains and finally the ones of 30 other Aeromonas were annotated using Prokka version 1.12 (Seemann 2014) (see Supplementary Table S1). Homologous links between the translated coding sequences were defined using GET HOM-OLOGUES version 20180103 (Contreras-Moreira and Vinuesa 2013) with two algorithms: COG and OMCL (see Supplementary Fig. S1). The 2026 gene sequences (excluding paralogs) corresponding to the softcore, defined as the sequences present in > 95% of the genomes, were recovered and aligned by codons using TranslatorX version 1.1 (Abascal et al. 2010). The resulting alignments were filtered using BMGE version 1.12 (Criscuolo and Gribaldo 2010) and concatenated in a partitioned supermatrix using AMAS (Borowiec 2016). The best-fit model of each partition was determined using ModelFinder (Kalyaanamoorthy et al. 2017) through IQ-TREE version 1.6.1 (Nguyen et al. 2015). The maximum-likelihood phylogeny was itself done using IQ-TREE by performing 10,000 ultrafast bootstraps (Hoang et al. 2017). The Average Nucleotide Identity (ANI) values were computed for genome sequences of A. salmonicida using pyani (https://github.com/widdowquinn/ pyani).

The antibiotic resistance genes were predicted using ABRicate version 0.8.7 (https://github.com/tseemann/abricate) and the CARD database (Jia et al., 2017). A gene sequence had to have a minimum of 80% identity on at least 70% of the length in order to annotate it as an antibiotic resistance gene. Annotation of the genes was then manually curated.

3. Results

3.1. Clinical pictures

In 2007, a 49-year-old man was hospitalized at the Guadalajara University Hospital for cellulitis and fasciitis in the right foot after trauma. The clinical background of the patient includes diabetes mellitus and Reiter syndrome, being treated with prednisone. The patient was treated by piperacillin/tazobactam and surgical debridement. The patient healed without complications. A microbial investigation at the wound exudate revealed a polymicrobial infection of *Aeromonas hydrophila, Staphylococcus aureus and Klebsiella oxytoca*, after MicroScan identification. No stool or blood culture was performed, since the patient did not have a fever. The *rpoD* sequence of the *Aeromonas* strain, named AJ83, revealed that this strain does not belong to the *hydrophila* species, but surprisingly to the *salmonicida* species (data not shown). This strain is resistant to three antibiotics: cefazolin, ampicillin and ticarcillin, while sensitive to piperacillin/tazobactam (see Supplementary Table S2).

One year later, at the same hospital, an 8-year-old girl without a clinical background was hospitalized for an acute gastroenteritis. The patient had bloody stools with mucus. The stool culture revealed the presence of *Campylobacter jejuni* in addition to *Aeromonas hydrophila*. A blood culture was not performed since the young girl had no fever. She had a treatment with hydration and no antibiotic was administered. Like strain AJ83, the *rpoD* sequence of the *Aeromonas* strain (named here 947C) revealed that it belongs to the species *salmonicida*. Strain 947C was shown to be resistant to cefazolin, ampicillin and cotrimoxazole (see Supplementary Table S2).

3.2. Taxonomic validation of the strains

The genome of the clinical strains AJ83 and 947C was sequenced, *de novo* assembled and used to perform a robust molecular phylogeny based on 2026 gene sequences (Fig. 1). Without any doubt, the clinical strains AJ83 and 947C are belonging to the *salmonicida* species as they clustered with the type strain of the subspecies *pectinolytica* (34mel^T) and with the other already known *A. salmonicida* mesophilic strains. Moreover, they cluster along other mesophilic strains, as strain A308. Interestingly, strain 947C cluster with strain A308, which is environmental. On its side, strain AJ83 form a group with Y567 and Y47, two strains isolated from food in Mumbai (India) and for which no host is known (Fig. 1). The ANI values revealed that available genomes of mesophilic strains are distant in terms of nucleotide sequences, although they come from strains of the same species (ANI \ge 0.96) (Fig. 1). Only strains AJ83 and Y567 were more closely related comparatively to other strains (ANI value of 99%).

3.3. Pathogenicity of strains

The pathogenicity of six mesophilic A. salmonicida strains was evaluated by infecting mice (Fig. 2). Two doses were tested, 1×10^7 and 1×10^9 CFU/mouse. At 1×10^7 , a clear dichotomy in the survival rate of mice can be observed between strains (Fig. 2-A). The most virulent strain is the clinical one 947C followed by strain A308, which has been isolated from fresh water. There is no statistical significant difference in the mortality caused by both strains (see Supplementary Table S3), which are in the same phylogenetic cluster (Fig. 1). The less virulent strains include A527, Y47, AJ83 and 34mel^T (subspecies *pectinolytica*). Here again, there is no significant statistical difference in the mortality caused by those strains.

Three groups of strains based on virulence can be observed at the dose of 1×10^9 CFU/mouse (Fig. 2-B). The pathogenicity of 947C is striking, with all mice being death after only three days post-infection. As seen in the test at the dose of 1×10^7 CFU/mouse, strains A527, Y47 and 34mel^T are the less virulent and without significant difference in the mortality caused by them (see Supplementary Table S4). At this dose, the environmental strain A308 showed to have an intermediate virulence, along with strain A308 and AJ83 killed all mice before the end of the experiment.

Interestingly, both clinical strains 947C and AJ83 and the Indian strain Y47 produced lesions on the mouse tails, at the injection site (Fig. 2-C). This cutaneous infection that is typical of necrotizing fasciitis was only seen at the lowest dose (1×10^7 CFU/mouse) for 947C, likely because mice died too quickly at the dose of 1×10^9 CFU/mouse.

Infection, Genetics and Evolution 68 (2019) 1-9



Fig. 1. Phylogenetic tree of 51 strains of *Aeromonas*. The tree is based on 2026 gene sequences using the methodology described in the Materials and Methods section. For the sake of clarity, the focus is on mesophilic (red) and psychrophilic (blue) strains of the species *salmonicida*. Bootstrap values are only shown if they are < 100. The heatmap represents the ANI values. (For interpretation of the references to colour in this figure legend, the reader is referred to the web version of this article.)

Strains A308, A527 and $34\text{mel}^{\mathrm{T}}$ did not produce visible cutaneous infections.

3.4. Bacteria quantification from the different organs and histopathological studies

quantified by qPCR (Fig. 3). Significantly higher amounts of DNA (p < .05) were found in both organs for the clinical strains (947C and AJ83), than for the environmental strains. A higher amount of *Aeromonas* DNA was detected in liver than in kidney. It is interesting to note that the DNA of the environmental strain A308 was present in larger quantities than other environmental strains, in both organs. In liver and at a higher dose, more DNA of strain A308 was detected than clinical

The presence of bacterial DNA in the liver and kidney of mice was

EPIDEMIOLOGY AND PATHOGENIC CHARACTERIZATION OF SPECIES OF THE GENUS AEROMONAS

Ana Fernández Bravo

A.T. Vincent et al.



Infection, Genetics and Evolution 68 (2019) 1-9

Fig. 2. Virulence tests in a mouse model. Survival rate of mice at doses of (A) 1×10^7 and (B) 1×10^9 CFU/mouse of six mesophilic *A. salmonicida* strains. (C) Pictures showing the lesions at the infection site caused by strains 947C, AJ83 and Y47. The pictures of the mouse tail infected with A308 provides a negative control for the lesions observed with the other strains.

strain AJ83 (Fig. 3A). The results obtained with the clinical strains showed a significantly greater amount of DNA of strain 947C, the most pathogenic one, at a lower dose (1×10^7) than for strain AJ83 at both doses.

Histopathological examination with hematoxylin and eosin or Giemsa staining showed no damage in the kidney (see Supplementary Fig. S2). However, the liver revealed various levels of multifocal and diffuse necrotic changes and infiltration of polymorphonuclear cells (PMNs), with inflammatory response as shown in Fig. 4. Specifically, tissues collected from animals infected with strain 947C at dose 1×10^7 showed more PMN infiltration and necrotic cells (Fig. 4A), than for strain AJ83 at dose 1×10^9 (Fig. 4B). In addition, the Giemsa staining confrimed the observation of PMN cells and the inflammatory response (Fig. 4C).

3.5. Genomic investigation

When checking the genome of strain 947C, the most virulent one, several genes involved in a type III secretion system (T3SS) were found (see Supplementary Table S5). However, it is unclear what make strains AJ83 and A308 virulent. A high number of genes that encode for hypothetical proteins were predicted to be encoded in their genomes and we cannot rule out that some of them are implied in virulence.

When looking for the presence of CDSs that encode known virulence factors (Rasmussen-Ivey et al. 2016), the gene *ast* (cytotonic enterotoxin) was found exclusively in the genomes of clinical strains 947C and AJ83 (see Supplementary Table S6). Finally, the mouse infections clearly demonstrated that strains 947C, AJ83 and Y47 can cause ne-crotizing fasciitis (Fig. 2). Only five orthologous genes, not yet associated with virulence in *Aeromonas salmonicida*, were found to be present in the genomes of these three strains and absent from those of strains 34mel^T, A308 and A527 (Table 2). Interestingly, four of these five genes were already listed in the literature as virulence factors in human pathogens such as *A. hydrophila*, *Helicobacter pylori*, *Leptospira*

sp. and Salmonella enterica (Table 2).

It was also interesting to investigate the genes that could be involved in antibiotic resistance for the mesophilic strains of *A. salmonicida* (see Supplementary Table S7). All strains have genes predicted to be involved in antibiotic resistance (from 2 to 12 genes). Two genes were predicted to be encoded in the genome of all strains: *OXA-12* (resistance to cephalosporin and penam) and *cphA5* (resistance to carbapenem) genes. The two strains with the most antibiotic resistance genes are ASG1 (12 genes), isolated from a human patient, and ECFood + 05 (10 genes) for which little information is available. The most virulent strain in the mouse model (Fig. 2), 947C, is predicted to have genes involved in resistance to several compounds: aminoglycoside, cephalosporin, penam and carbapenem. The second strain isolated from a human patient for the present study, AJ83, presents almost the same antibiotic resistance pattern as 947C, only differing by the absence of the gene involved in resistance to aminoglycoside compounds.

4. Discussion

Earlier studies on human cases of *A. salmonicida* infections lack clinical metadata or are taxonomically uncertain (Abbott et al. 1992; Altwegg et al. 1990; Aravena-Román et al. 2011; Janda et al. 1996; Kamble 2015; Ruppé et al. 2017; Tewari et al. 2014; Varshney et al. 2017) compared to what can be done now with core genome phylogeny (Vincent et al. 2016). Recently, the strain ASG1, clearly identified as *A. salmonicida*, was isolated from a 15-year-old boy that recovered from a finger surgery (Ruppé et al. 2017). Unfortunately, another pathogen, *Stenotrophomonas maltophilia*, was co-isolated with strain ASG1, making it impossible to draw firm conclusions on clinical aspects of the ASG1 strain. The present study clearly demonstrated for the first time by combining experimental infection essays and whole genome analyses that some mesophilic *A. salmonicida* strains are able to infect mammals.

It is not surprising that T3SS seems to be a major virulence factor, as shown by the striking mortality caused by strain 947C. T3SS is known

Infection, Genetics and Evolution 68 (2019) 1-9



Fig. 3. Concentration of *Aeromonas* DNA determined by qPCR in mice liver (A) and kidney (B) tissues 10 days after intravenous infection at doses 1×10^7 and 1×10^9 . *Statistical significance (p < .05). Tissue = non-infected tissue, Water = only water without tissue; both used as negative controls.

to be an important virulence factor in several Gram-negative bacteria, including the human pathogens *A. hydrophila* and *Aeromonas veronii* (Chacón et al. 2004; Vilches et al. 2004) and the fish pathogen *A. sal-monicida* subsp. *salmonicida* (Frey and Origgi 2016).

Interestingly, some A. salmonicida strains have the ability to cause cutaneous infections that look like necrotizing fasciitis. In addition to the pathogenicity tests done in the present study, ASG1 was isolated from a finger that recovered from surgery (Ruppé et al. 2017) and AJ83 isolated from the right foot of 49-year-old man that suffered of fasciitis due to trauma. Investigation of the genomes revealed five genes that are candidates to explain why only three strains cause necrotizing fasciitis (Table 2). In addition to these genes, which may help explain the ability of some strains to cause necrotizing fasciitis, it was observed that even a low level of virulence can cause this type of infection. Strain 947C, which is the most virulent, causes a necrotizing fasciitis only at the lowest dose (Fig. 2). The other two strains that can cause this skin infection, AJ83 and Y47, cause a low or intermediate mortality level. It is possible to postulate some similarities with the subspecies *salmonicida*, which causes two forms of furunculosis in salmonids (Austin and Austin

2016). The chronic form of the disease causes a low mortality rate and is often characterized by a cutaneous appearance known as furuncles, hence the name of the disease. The acute form of the disease causes a high mortality rate (2 to 3 days) due to septicaemia and does not manifest cutaneously.

A significant amount of *Aeromonas* DNA was found in the livers of fish (more than in their kidneys) by qPCR (Fig. 3). Similar results were described with *A. hydrophila* in channel catfish, where the bacterium was detected only in the liver > 48 h post-infection and was eliminated from the other organs, including the kidney, of the fish (Zhang et al. 2016). The quantification obtained from the clinical strains correlated with the results of the histopathological examination, which showed important pathological changes in the liver while no damage was observed in the kidney (Fig. 4 and Supplementary Fig. S2). The fact that bacterial DNA was detected in the kidney at relatively low levels could be related to the process of their elimination with the urine.

Although preliminary, the degree of pathogenicity does not seem to be associated with strains of a specific phylogenetic group. However, the study of the pathogenicity of mesophilic *A. salmonicida* is still in its



Fig. 4. Histopathological examination of mouse liver tissue 10 days after intravenous infection with two *Aeromonas* strains (AJ83 and 947C) of clinical origin. (A) Strain AJ83 at dose 1×10^9 CFU with hematoxylin/eosin staining. (B) Strain 947C at dose 1×10^7 CFU with hematoxylin/eosin staining (C) Strain 947C at dose 1×10^7 CFU with Giemsa staining. Bars represent 100 µm.

infancy and strains from various hosts will be needed to clarify the evolutionary links between these strains. The fact that the genomes of only two out of ten mesophilic *A. salmonicida* strains are similar at the nucleotide level demonstrates a great diversity in the mesophilic strains of this bacterium (Fig. 1). One of these two strains, AJ83, has a clinical origin while the second, Y567, was isolated from food.

The psychrophilic strains of *A. salmonicida* are officially divided into different subspecies: *salmonicida, smithia, achromogenes* and *masoucida,* whereas there is only one official mesophilic subspecies, *pectinolytica.*

However, according to the molecular phylogeny and ANI values, the mesophilic strains of *A. salmonicida* characterized so far have greater genetic diversity than the psychrophilic strains of the same species. This fact rises, as mentioned before (Vincent et al. 2017), a certain taxonomic dilemma. It is obvious that it will be necessary to review the taxonomy of *A. salmonicida* in order to unify in a cohesive manner the mesophilic and psychrophilic strains of this species. A first scenario could be to classify mesophilic strains into different subspecies.

Table 2

CDSs	present	only	in	strains	947C,	AJ83	and	Y47.

Protein	Virulence trait	Ref
Two pore domain potassium channel family protein	N/A ^a	N/A
Hemerythrin	A. hydrophila survival in host macrophages	(Zeng et al. 2016)
Pseudaminic acid cytidylyltransferase	Colonisation of H. pylori	(Wahid 2017)
Catalase Katt ^b	Virulence of Leptospira spp. in animal models	(Eshghi et al. 2012)
UDP-N-acetylglucosamine-1-phosphate transferase ^c	Production of enterobacterial antigen in S. enterica	(Gilbreath et al. 2012)

^a N/A, none-applicable.

^b The catalase was annotated as KatE by PATRIC (Wattam et al. 2017).

 $^{\rm c}\,$ The CDS in strain Y47 appears to be divergent compared to those of strains 947C and AJ83.

the mesophilic strains and the other all the psychrophilic strains. In any case, before considering one of these scenarios, it will be necessary to continue to isolate new mesophilic and psychrophilic strains of *A. sal-monicida* in order to obtain a broader view of the different genetic and phenotypic characteristics, thus making it possible to establish a robust and representative taxonomy of this bacterium. Also, it is crucial to take into account that the mesophilic *A. salmonicida* strains can be easily misidentified as *A. hydrophila* and that the use of molecular methods such as the sequence of the *rpoD* gene are required to correctly assign the taxonomy of these strains (Beaz-Hidalgo et al. 2010).

The two clinical strains investigated in the present study were shown to be resistant to some antibiotics (see Supplementary Table S2) and also to harbor genes known to be involved in resistance (see Supplementary Table S7). In fact, the resistance gene repertoires of strains 947C and AJ83 differ only in that 947C has a gene that causes resistance to aminoglycoside antibiotics. It is surprising that strain AJ83 is resistant to ticarcillin, belonging to the penem drug class, while strain 947C is sensitive to this antibiotic (see Supplementary Table S2). Similarly, strain 947C is resistant to cotrimoxazole, belonging to sulphonamide/diaminopyrimidinedrug class, while strain AJ83 is sensitive. It is still unclear why strains 947C and AJ83 differ in their resistance to these antibiotics. Other species of the genus Aeromonas are known to harbor genes involved in antibiotic resistance (Piotrowska and Popowska 2015). This is the case, for example, of the fish pathogen A. salmonicida subsp. salmonicida, for which several strains are multiresistant to all antibiotic approved in aquaculture in Canada (Trudel et al. 2016; Vincent et al. 2014). A similar pattern of multiple resistance seems to be apparent in mesophilic strains of the salmonicida species where some strains, such as ASG1 and ECFood + 05, were predicted to harbor > 10 genes involved in resistance to antibiotic compounds. This is even more interesting given the context that these two strains cluster together in the phylogenetic tree (Fig. 1), suggesting that some mesophilic A. salmonicida strains that arise from a particular common ancestor could be more prone to having antibiotic resistance genes. Given that both ASG1 and ECFood + 05 only share four genes (OXA-12, cphA5, aadA and tet(E)), it is reasonable to believe that the other genes could have been acquired by horizontal gene transfers. Moreover, the multiple resistance to antibiotics of ASG1 strain was confirmed experimentally (Ruppé et al. 2017). Closely monitoring mesophilic A. salmonicida will be essential to effectively treat cases of infection by strains of this bacterium.

4.1. Concluding remarks

In this study, it was possible to demonstrate robustly that the mesophilic strains of *A. salmonicida* can infect mammals, with varying levels of pathogenicity between strains. It will be essential in the future to isolate new mesophilic *A. salmonicida* strains and to verify their geographical distribution. The clinical strains AJ83 and 947C investigated in the present study come from Spain. However, several clinical studies have documented cases in India of infections in humans from putatively mesophilic *A. salmonicida* strains (Kamble 2015; Tewari et al. 2014; Varshney et al. 2017). Moreover, environmental strains from India have clearly been identified as mesophilic *A. salmonicida* (Vincent et al. 2017, 2016).

Funding

This work was supported by the Natural Sciences and Engineering Research Council of Canada (NSERC) (RGPIN-2014-04595), MINECO (Spain) JPIW2013-69095-C03-03 and grant agreement 311846 of the AQUAVALENS Project, Seventh Framework Program from European Union. ATV received an Alexander Graham Bell Canada Graduate Scholarship from NSERC. AF thanks the University Rovira i Virgili for the Pere Virgili PhD fellowship. SJC is a research scholar of the Fonds de Recherche du Québec - Santé (FRQS).

Conflicts of interest

The authors have no conflicts of interest to declare.

Acknowledgments

The authors want to thank Dr. Daniel Tena (Guadalajara University Hospital, Spain) for the strains AJ83 and 947C.

Appendix A. Supplementary data

Supplementary data to this article can be found online at https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meegid.2018.11.019.

References

- Abascal, F., Zardoya, R., Telford, M.J., 2010. TranslatorX: Multiple alignment of nucleotide sequences guided by amino acid translations. Nucleic Acids Res. 38, W7–13. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gka291.
- Abbott, S.L., Cheung, W.K.W., Kroske-Bystrom, S., Malekzadeh, T., Janda, J.M., 1992. Identification of Aeromonas strains to the genospecies level in the clinical laboratory. J. Clin. Microbiol. 30, 1262–1266.
- Altwegg, M., Steigerwalt, A.G., Altwegg-Bissig, R., Luthy-Hottenstein, J., Brenner, D.J., 1990. Biochemical identification of *Aeromonas* genospecies isolated from humans. J. Clin. Microbiol. 28, 258–264.
- Aravena-Román, M., Harnett, G.B., Riley, T.V., Inglis, T.J.J., Chang, B.J., 2011.
 - Aeromonas aquariorum is widely distributed in clinical and environmental specimens and can be misidentified as Aeromonas hydrophila. J. Clin. Microbiol. 49, 3006–3008. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.00472-11.
- Austin, B., 2011. Taxonomy of bacterial fish pathogens. Vet. Res. 42, 20. https://doi.org/ 10.1186/1297-9716-42-20.
- Austin, B., Austin, D.A., 2016. Aeromonadaceae representative (Aeromonas salmonicida). In: Austin, B., Austin, D.A. (Eds.), Bacterial Fish Pathogens: Disease of Farmed and Wild Fish. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 215–321. https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-3-319-32674-0_5.
- Beaz-Hidalgo, R., Alperi, A., Buján, N., Romalde, J.L., Figueras, M.J., 2010. Comparison of phenotypical and genetic identification of *Aeromonas* strains isolated from diseased fish. Syst. Appl. Microbiol. 33, 149–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.syapm.2010.02. 002.
- Borowiec, M.L., 2016. AMAS: a fast tool for alignment manipulation and computing of summary statistics. PeerJ 4, e1660. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.1660.
- Chacón, M.K., Soler, L., Groisman, E.A., Guarro, J., Figueras, M.J., 2004. Type III secretion system genes in clinical Aeromonas isolates. J. Clin. Microbiol. 42, 1285–1287. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.42.3.1285-1287.2004.
- Coil, D., Jospin, G., Darling, A.E., 2015. A5-miseq: an updated pipeline to assemble microbial genomes from Illumina MiSeq data. Bioinformatics 31, 587–589. https:// doi.org/10.1093/binformatics/btub61.
- Contreras-Moreira, B., Vinuesa, P., 2013. GET_HOMOLOGUES, a versatile software package for scalable and robust microbial pangenome analysis. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 79, 7696–7701. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.02411-13.
- Criscuolo, A., Gribaldo, S., 2010. BMGE (Block Mapping and Gathering with Entropy): a new software for selection of phylogenetic informative regions from multiple sequence alignments. BMC Evol. Biol. 10, 210. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2148-10-210.
- Eshghi, A., Lourdault, K., Murray, G.L., Bartpho, T., Sermswan, R.W., Picardeau, M., Adler, B., Snarr, B., Zuerner, R.L., Cameron, C.E., 2012. *Leptospira interrogans* catalase is required for resistance to H2O2 and for virulence. Infect. Immun. 80, 3892–3899. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.00466-12.
- Frey, J., Origgi, F.C., 2016. Type III secretion system of Aeromonas salmonicida undermining the host's immune response. Front. Mar. Sci. 3, 130. https://doi.org/10.3389/ FMARS.2016.00130.
- Gilbreath, J.J., Dodds, J.C., Rick, P.D., Soloski, M.J., Merrell, D.S., Metcalf, E.S., 2012. Enterobacterial common antigen mutants of Salmonella enterica serovar typhimurium establish a persistent infection and provide protection against subsequent lethal challenge. Infect. Immun. 80, 441–450. https://doi.org/10.1128/IAI.05559-11.
- Guérin-Faublée, V., Charles, S., Chomarat, M., Flandrois, J.P., 1997. Reappraisal of the effect of temperature on the growth kinetics of *Aeromonas salmonicida*. Lett. Appl. Microbiol. 25, 363–366.
- Hoang, D.T., Chernomor, O., von Haeseler, A., Minh, B.Q., Le, S.V., 2017. UFBoot2: improving the ultrafast bootstrap approximation. Mol. Biol. Evol. 35, 518–522. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msx281.
- Janda, J.M., Abbott, S.L., 2010. The Genus Aeromonas: Taxonomy, Pathogenicity, and Infection. Clin. Microbiol. Rev. 23, 35–73. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00039-09.
- Janda, J.M., Abbott, S.L., Khashe, S., Kellogg, G.H., Shimada, T., 1996. Further studies on biochemical characteristics and serologic properties of the genus Aeromonas. J. Clin. Microbiol. 34, 1930–1933.
- Jia, B., Raphenya, A.R., Alcock, B., Waglechner, N., Guo, P., Tsang, K.K., Lago, B.A., Dave, B.M., Pereira, S., Sharma, A.N., Doshi, S., Courtot, M., Lo, R., Williams, L.E., Frye, J.G., Elsayegh, T., Sardar, D., Westman, E.L., Pawlowski, A.C., Johnson, T.A., Brinkman, F.S.L., Wright, G.D., McArthur, A.G., 2017. CARD 2017: expansion and model-centric curation of the comprehensive antibiotic resistance database. Nucleic

UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI

EPIDEMIOLOGY AND PATHOGENIC CHARACTERIZATION OF SPECIES OF THE GENUS AEROMONAS

Ana Fernández Bravo

A.T. Vincent et al.

Acids Res. 45, D566–D573. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gkw1004.

Kalyaanamoorthy, S., Minh, B.Q., Wong, T.K.F., Von Haeseler, A., Jermiin, L.S., 2017. ModelFinder: Fast model selection for accurate phylogenetic estimates. Nat. Methods 14, 587–589. https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.4285.

Kamble, R., 2015. Aeromonas salmonicida furunculosis in an adult male. Int.J.Curr.Microbiol.App.Sci. 4, 59–63.

- Martin-Carnahan, A., Joseph, S., 2005. Aeromonadales ord. nov. In: Brenner, D., Krieg, N., Staley, J., Garrity, G., Boone, D., De Vos, P., Goodfellow, M., Rainey, F., Schleifer, K.-H. (Eds.), Bergey's Manual[®] of Systematic Bacteriology SE - 12. Springer US, pp. 556–587. https://doi.org/10.1007/0-387-28022-7_12.
- Martínez-Murcia, A.J., Soler, L., Saavedra, M.J., Chacón, M.R., Guarro, J., Stackebrandt, E., Figueras, M.J., 2005. Phenotypic, genotypic, and phylogenetic discrepancies to differentiate Aeromonas salmonicida from Aeromonas bestiarum. Int. Microbiol. 8, 259–269. https://doi.org/10.2436/int.v8i4.9534.
- Nagar, V., Shashidhar, R., Bandekar, J.R., 2011. Prevalence, characterization, and antimicrobial resistance of Aeromonas strains from various retail food products in Mumbai, India. J. Food Sci. 76, M486–M492. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-3841. 2011.02303.x.
- Nguyen, L.T., Schmidt, H.A., Von Haeseler, A., Minh, B.Q., 2015. IQ-TREE: a fast and effective stochastic algorithm for estimating maximum-likelihood phylogenies. Mol. Biol. Evol. 32, 268–274. https://doi.org/10.1093/molbev/msu300.
- Pavan, M.E., Abbott, S.L., Zorzópulos, J., Janda, J.M., 2000. Aeromonas salmonicida subsp. pectinolytica subsp. nov., a new pectinase- positive subspecies isolated from a heavily polluted river. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 50, 1119–1124. https://doi.org/10.1099/ 00207713-50-3-1119.
- Piotrowska, M., Popowska, M., 2015. Insight into the mobilome of Aeromonas strains. Front. Microbiol. 6, 494. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2015.00494.
- Rasmussen-Ivey, C.R., Figueras, M.J., McGarey, D., Liles, M.R., 2016. Virulence factors of Aeromonas hydrophila: in the wake of reclassification. Front. Microbiol. 7, 1337. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.01337.
- Romero, A., Saraceni, P.R., Merino, S., Figueras, A., Tomás, J.M., Novoa, B., 2016. The animal model determines the results of *Aeromonas* virulence factors. Front. Microbiol. 7, 1574. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.01574.
- Rouf, M., Rigney, M., 1971. Growth temperatures and temperature characteristics of Aeromonas. Appl. Microbiol. 22, 503–506.
- Ruppé, E., Cherkaoui, A., Wagner, N., La Scala, G.C., Beaulieu, J.-Y., Girard, M., Frey, J., Lazarevic, V., Schrenzel, J., 2017. *In vivo* selection of a multidrug-resistant *Aeromonas* salmonicida during medicinal leech therapy. New Microbes New Infect. 21, 23–27. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mmi.2017.10.005.
- Sanchis, M., Guarro, J., Sutton, D.A., Fothergill, A.W., Wiederhold, N., Capilla, J., 2016. Voriconazole and posaconazole therapy for experimental *Candida lusitaniae* infection. Diagn. Microbiol. Infect. Dis. 84, 48–51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diagmicrobio. 2015.09.010.
- Seemann, T., 2014. Prokka: Rapid prokaryotic genome annotation. Bioinformatics 30, 2068–2069. https://doi.org/10.1093/bioinformatics/btu153.
- Tanaka, K.H., Dallaire-Dufresne, S., Daher, R.K., Frenette, M., Charette, S.J., 2012. An insertion sequence-dependent plasmid rearrangement in Aeromonas salmonicida causes the loss of the type three secretion system. PLoS One 7, e33725. https://doi. org/10.1371/journal.pone.0033725.

- Infection, Genetics and Evolution 68 (2019) 1-9
- Tewari, R., Dudeja, M., Nandy, S., Kumar Das, A., 2014. Isolation of Aeromonas salmonicida from human blood sample: a case report. J. Clin. Diagnostic Res. 8, 139–140. https://doi.org/10.7860/JCDR/2014/6883.4032.
- Trudel, M.V., Vincent, A.T., Attéré, S.A., Labbé, M., Derome, N., Culley, A.I., Charette, S.J., 2016. Diversity of antibiotic-resistance genes in Canadian isolates of Aeromonas salmonicida subsp. salmonicida: dominance of pSN254b and discovery of pAsa8. Sci. Rep. 6, 35617. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep35617.
- Varshney, A., Das, M., Chaudhary, P., Kumari, R., Yadav, K., 2017. Aeromonas salmonicida as a causative agent for postoperative endophthalmitis. Middle East Afr. J. Ophthalmol. 24, 213–215. https://doi.org/10.4103/meajo.MEAJO_238.17.
- Vilches, S., Urgell, C., Merino, S., Chacón, M.R., Soler, L., Castro-Escarpulli, G., Figueras, M.J., Tomás, J.M., 2004. Complete type III secretion system of a mesophilic *Aeromonas hydrophila* strain. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 70, 6914–6919. https://doi. org/10.1128/AEM.70.11.6914-6919.2004.
- Vincent, A.T., Trudel, M.V., Paquet, V.E., Boyle, B., Tanaka, K.H., Dallaire-Dufresne, S., Daher, R.K., Frenette, M., Derome, N., Charette, S.J., 2014. Detection of variants of the pRAS3, pABS59 and pSN254 plasmids in *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. salmonicida: multidrug-resistance, interspecies exchanges, and plasmid reshaping. Antimicrob. Agents Chemother. 58, 7367–7374. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC. 03730-14.
- Vincent, A.T., Trudel, M.V., Freschi, L., Nagar, V., Gagné-Thivierge, C., Levesque, R.C., Charette, S.J., 2016. Increasing genomic diversity and evidence of constrained lifestyle evolution due to insertion sequences in *Aeromonas salmonicida*. BMC Genomics 17, 44. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12864-016-2381-3.
- Vincent, A.T., Rouleau, F.D., Moineau, S., Charette, S.J., 2017. Study of mesophilic Aeromonas salmonicida A527 strain sheds light on the species' lifestyles and taxonomic dilemma. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 364, fnx239. https://doi.org/10.1093/ femsle/fnx239.
- Wahid, S.U.H., 2017. Structural and functional characterization of the *Helicobacter pylori* cytidine 5'-monophosphate-pseudaminic acid synthase PseF: molecular insight into substrate recognition and catalysis mechanism. Adv. Appl. Bioinform. Chem. 10, 79–88. https://doi.org/10.2147/AABC.S139773.
- Wattam, A.R., Davis, J.J., Assaf, R., Boisvert, S., Brettin, T., Bun, C., Conrad, N., Dietrich, E.M., Disz, T., Gabbard, J.L., Gerdes, S., Henry, C.S., Kenyon, R.W., Machi, D., Mao, C., Nordberg, E.K., Olsen, G.J., Murphy-Olson, D.E., Olson, R., Overbeek, R., Parrello, B., Pusch, G.D., Shukla, M., Vonstein, V., Warren, A., Xia, F., Yoo, H., Stevens, R.L., 2017. Improvements to PATRIC, the all-bacterial bioinformatics database and analysis resource center. Nucleic Acids Res. 45, D535–D542.
- Yang, X., Yang, Q.Q., Guo, Q.Y., Yi, C.Y., Mao, H.P., Lin, J.X., Jiang, Z.P., Yu, X.Q., 2008. Aeromonas salmonicida peritonitis after eating fish in a patient undergoing CAPD. Perit. Dial. Int. 28, 316–317.
- Zeng, W.B., Chen, W.B., Yan, Q.P., Lin, G.F., Qin, Y.X., 2016. Hemerythrin is required for Aeromonas hydraphlia to survive in the macrophages of Anguilla japonica. Genet. Mol. Res. 15, gmr8074. https://doi.org/10.4238/gmr.15028074.
- Zhang, D., Moreira, G.S.A., Shoemaker, C., Newton, J.C., Xu, D.H., 2016. Detection and quantification of virulent Aeromonas hydrophila in channel catfish tissues following waterborne challenge. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 363, fnw080. https://doi.org/10.1093/ femsle/fnw080.

Supplementary Materials

Investigation of the virulence and genomics of *Aeromonas salmonicida* strains isolated from human patients

Antony T. Vincent^{1*}, Ana Fernández-Bravo^{2*}, Marta Sanchis², Emilio Mayayo^{2,3}, María Jose Figueras^{2#} and Steve J. Charette^{1#}

1. Université Laval, Quebec City, QC, Canada

2. Universitat Rovira i Virgili, IISPV, Reus, Spain.

3. University Hospital Joan XIII, Tarragona, Spain.

* These authors contributed equally to this article.

Corresponding authors:

Steve J. Charette, Institut de Biologie Intégrative et des Systèmes, Charles-Eugène-Marchand, 1030 avenue de la Médecine, Université Laval, Quebec City, QC, Canada, G1V 0A6.

Steve.Charette@bcm.ulaval.ca

Maria J. Figueras, Unitat de Microbiología, Departament de Ciències Mèdiques Bàsiques, Facultat de Medicina i Ciències de la Salut, IISPV, Universitat Rovira i Virgili, Reus, Spain.

mariajose.figueras@urv.cat

Ana Fernández Bravo



Figure S1. Pan-genome analysis for the 51 *Aeromonas* genome sequences used in the present study. (A) Gene clusters found by the COG (Kristensen et al., 2010) and OMCL (Li et al., 2003) algorithms that were used by the tool GET_HOMOLOGUES (Contreras-Moreira and Vinuesa, 2013) to find homologous links between the coding sequences encoded by the set of genomes (Table S1). (B) Distribution of the pan-genome in four categories.



Figure S2. Histopathological examination of kidney mice tissues 10 days after i.v. infection with two *Aeromonas* strains (AJ83 and 947C) of clinical origin. Both strains showed to have caused no apparent damage in the glomeruli nor in the tubules of the kidney. (A) Strain AJ83 at dose 1 X 10^9 CFU with hematoxylin/eosin staining. (B) Strain 947C at dose 1 X 10^7 CFU. Bars represent $100 \,\mu\text{m}$.

Table S1. Genome sequences of <i>Aeromonas</i> used for the phylogenetic anal
--

Species	Strain	GenBank	Reference
A. allosaccharophila	CECT 4199 ^T	NZ_CDBR00000000	(Colston et al., 2014)
A. aquatica	AE235	NZ_JRGL00000000	(Hossain et al., 2014)
A. australiensis	CECT 8023 ^T	NZ_CDDH00000000	(Colston et al., 2014)
A. bestiarum	CECT 4227 ^T	NZ_CDDA00000000	(Colston et al., 2014)
A. bivalvium	CECT 7113 ^T	NZ_CDBT00000000	(Colston et al., 2014)
A. cavernicola	MDC 2508	NZ_PGGC01000000	(Martínez-Murcia et al., 2013)
A. caviae	429865 Ae_01	NZ_LIIX01000001	(Padilla et al., 2015)
A. dhakensis	AAK1	NZ_BAFL00000000	(Wu et al., 2012)
A. diversa	CDC 2478-85 ^T	NZ_APVG00000000	(Farfán et al., 2013)
A. encheleia	CECT 4342 ^T	NZ_CDDI0000000	(Colston et al., 2014)
A. enteropelogenes	CECT 4255 ^T	NZ_CDDE00000000	(Colston et al., 2014)
A. eucrenophila	CECT 4224 ^T	NZ_CDDF00000000	(Colston et al., 2014)
A. finlandiensis	4287D	NZ_JRGK00000000	(Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2015)
A. fluvialis	LMG 24681 ^T	NZ_CDBO00000000	(Colston et al., 2014)
A. hydrophila	ATCC 7966 ^T	NC_008570.1	(Seshadri et al., 2006)
A. jandaei	CECT 4228 ^T	NZ_CDBV00000000	(Colston et al., 2014)
A. lacus	AE122	NZ_JRGM00000000	(Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2015)
A. lusitana	MDC 2473	PGCP01000000	(Martínez-Murcia et al., 2016)
A. media	WS	NZ_CP007567.1, NZ_CP007568.1	(Chai et al., 2012)
A. molluscorum	848 ^T	NZ_AQGQ00000000	(Spataro et al., 2013)
A. piscicola	LMG 24783 ^T	NZ_CDBL00000000	(Colston et al., 2014)
A. popoffii	CIP 105493 ^T	NZ_CDBI00000000	(Colston et al., 2014)
A. rivuli	DSM 22539 ^T	NZ_CDBJ01000000	(Colston et al., 2014)
A. sanarellii	LMG 24682 ^T	NZ_CDBN00000000	(Colston et al., 2014)
A. schubertii	WL1483	NZ_CP013067.1	(Liu et al., 2016)
A. simiae	CIP 107798	NZ_CDBY00000000	(Colston et al., 2014)
A. sobria	$CECT 4245^{T}$	NZ_CDBW01000000	(Colston et al., 2014)
A. taiwanensis	LMG 24683 ^T	NZ_BAWK00000000	(Wang et al., 2014)
A. tecta	CECT 7082 ^T	NZ_CDCA00000000	(Colston et al., 2014)
A. veronii	B565	NC_015424.1	(Li et al., 2011)
A. salmonicida subsp.	01-B526	AGVO00000000	(Charette et al., 2012)
saimoniciaa A. salmonicida subsp. salmonicida	2004-05MF26	JRYW00000000	(Vincent et al., 2015)
A. salmonicida subsp.	A449	CP000644.1	(Reith et al., 2008)
saimoniciaa A. salmonicida subsp. salmonicida	CIP 103209 ^T	CDDW0000000	(Colston et al., 2014)

Ana Fernández Bravo

Species	Strain	GenBank	Reference
A. salmonicida subsp.	BG	LUHO00000000	(Long et al., 2016)
saimoniciaa A. salmonicida subsp. salmonicida	YK	LUHP00000000	(Long et al., 2016)
A. salmonicida subsp. achromogenes	AS03	AMQG00000000	(Han et al., 2013)
A. salmonicida subsp. smithia	JF4097	JZTI0000000	(Vincent et al., 2016)
A. salmonicida subsp. masoucida	NBRC 13784 ^T	BAWQ01000000	N/A
A. salmonicida subsp. masoucida	RFAS1	NZ_CP017143.1	(Han et al., 2011)
A. salmonicida	M18076-11	NQMJ0000000.1	(Rouleau et al., 2018)
A. salmonicida	Y47	JZTF00000000	(Vincent et al., 2016)
A. salmonicida	Y567	JZTG00000000	(Vincent et al., 2016)
A. salmonicida	Y577	JZTH00000000	(Vincent et al., 2016)
A. salmonicida	A527	CP022550	(Vincent et al., 2017)
A. salmonicida	ECFood+05	NZ_NVQH01000000	N/A
A. salmonicida	ASG1	PRJNA377399	(Ruppé et al., 2017)
A. salmonicida	A308 ^a	PSZJ00000000	Present study
A. salmonicida	947C	PSZK00000000	Present study
A. salmonicida A. salmonicida subsp. pectinolytica	AJ83 34mel ^T	PSZI00000000 NZ_CP022426.1	Present study (Gulla et al., 2016; Pavan et al., 2015)

a: Strain A308 = Popoff C316 = CDC 0434-84 = CECT 5171 = LMG 13451. This strain is considered to be a reference for mesophilic *A. salmonicida* (Abbott et al., 1992; Altwegg et al., 1990; Martínez-Murcia et al., 2005).

Table S2. Sensitivity and resistance to various antibiotics.

			Minimum inhibitor concentration mg/J		
Antibiotic	Class	Accession	947C	AJ83	
Gentamicin	aminoglycoside	ARO ^a	$< 4 \ S^{b}$	< 4 S	
Tobramycin	aminoglycoside	ARO:0000052	< 4 S	< 4 S	
Amikacin	aminoglycoside	ARO:0000013	< 8 S	< 8 S	
Meropenem	carbapenem	ARO:0000073	< 4 S	< 4 S	
Imipenem	carbapenem	ARO:3000170	2 S	< 1 S	
Cefazolin	cephalosporin	ARO:0000058	> 16 R	> 16 R	
Cefuroxime	cephalosporin	ARO:0000063	< 8 S	< 8 S	

Table S2. Continued.

			Minimum inhibitory concentration mg/L		
Antibiotic	Class	Accession	947C	AJ83	
Cefotaxime	cephalosporin	ARO:3000645	< 0.5 S	< 0.5 S	
Ceftazidime	cephalosporin	ARO:0000060	< 1 S	< 1 S	
Cefepime	cephalosporin	ARO:0000059	< 1 S	< 1 S	
Cefoxitin	cephamycin	ARO:0000008	< 8 S	< 8 S	
Ciprofloxacin	fluoroquinolone	ARO:0000036	< 0.12 S	< 0.12 S	
Ofloxacin	fluoroquinolone	ARO:3000663	< 0.5 S	< 0.5 S	
Aztreonam	monobactam	ARO:3000550	< 1 S	< 1 S	
Piperacillin	penam	ARO:0000078	< 16 S	< 16 S	
Piperacillin/tazobactam	penam	ARO:3004021	< 16 S	< 16 S	
Amoxicillin/clavulanate	penam	ARO:3003997	< 4 S	< 4 S	
Ampicillin	penam	ARO:3000637	>16 R	> 16 R	
Ticarcillin	penem	ARO:3003832	< 16 S	64 R	
Cotrimoxazole	sulphonamide/diaminopyrimidine	ARO:3004024	> 2 R	<2 S	

a: gentamicin A = ARO:3004015; gentamicin B = ARO:3000655; gentamicin C = ARO:0000014.

b: S = sensitive; R = resistant.

Table S3. p-values for the pairwise comparisons of mice mortality caused by the strains at 1×10^7 CFU/mouse

Strain	34mel ^T	947C	A308	A527	AJ83
947C	0.0160	-	-	-	-
A308	0.3849	1.0000	-	-	-
A527	1.0000	0.0082	0.3906	-	-
AJ83	1.0000	0.0363	1.0000	1.0000	-
Y47	1.0000	0.0034	0.8064	1.0000	1.0000

Ana Fernández Bravo

Table S4. p-values for the pairwise comparisons of mice mortality caused by the strains at 1×10^9 CFU/mouse

Strains	34mel ^T	947C	A308	A527	AJ83
947C	0.0011	-	-	-	-
A308	0.0100	0.0042	-	-	-
A527	1.0000	0.0011	0.1209	-	-
AJ83	0.0085	0.3835	1.0000	0.0958	-
Y47	1.0000	0.0011	0.0774	1.0000	0.0351

Table S5. Specific genes found in a group of mesophilic A. salmonicida strains.

Family ID	Description	Proteins	Mean	Std Dev
	Present only in the genome of strain 947C			
PGF_0055 7086	17 kDa surface antigen precursor	1	113	0
PGF_0042 6666	5-methylcytosine-specific restriction enzyme A (EC 3.1.21)	1	225	0
PGF_0003 5135	Adenine-specific methyltransferase (EC 2.1.1.72)	1	223	0
PGF_0639 3555	Aminoglycoside 3"-phosphotransferase (EC 2.7.1.87) => APH(3")-I	1	267	0
PGF_0108 2199	Aminoglycoside 6"-phosphotransferase (EC 2.7.1.72) => APH(6")-Ic/APH(6)-Id	1	247	0
PGF_0041 6326	Capsular polysaccharide synthesis enzyme Cap5L	1	346	0
PGF_0041 7450	Chaperone protein YscY (Yop proteins translocation protein Y)	1	114	0
PGF_0599 7426	ClpB-like protein	1	880	0
PGF_0041 8902	Conjugative transfer protein TrbB	1	355	0
PGF_0041 8905	Conjugative transfer protein TrbC	1	127	0
PGF_0041 8908	Conjugative transfer protein TrbD	1	90	0
PGF_0041 8912	Conjugative transfer protein TrbE	1	816	0
PGF_0041 8915	Conjugative transfer protein TrbF	1	234	0

Family ID	Description	Proteins	Mean	Std Dev
	Present only in the genome of strain 947C			
PGF_0041 8918	Conjugative transfer protein TrbG	1	330	0
PGF_0041 8922	Conjugative transfer protein TrbI	1	426	0
PGF_0041 8926	Conjugative transfer protein TrbJ	1	245	0
PGF_0041 8931	Conjugative transfer protein TrbK	1	108	0
PGF_0041 8937	Conjugative transfer protein TrbK	1	91	0
PGF_0307 0810	Conjugative transfer protein TrbL	1	454	0
PGF_0041 9496	CopG domain-containing protein	1	154	0
PGF_0041 9652	Coupling protein VirD4, ATPase required for T-DNA transfer	1	659	0
PGF_0042 1978	DNA-binding protein	1	381	0
PGF_0042 2437	DUF1176 domain-containing protein	1	332	0
PGF_0042 3998	EF hand domain protein	4	318.7	230.2
PGF_0042 5042	Exodeoxyribonuclease VIII (EC 3.1.11)	1	463	0
PGF_0000 0945	FIG00904992: hypothetical protein	1	135	0
PGF_0688 9881	Flagellar motor rotation protein MotA	1	285	0
PGF_0457 2835	Flagellar regulatory protein FleQ	1	419	0
PGF_0000 8924	Glycosidases	1	181	0
PGF_0089 6896	Homology to phage-tail assembly proteins	1	183	0
PGF_0119 6079	IcmF-related protein	1	1165	0
PGF_0055 7082	LPXTG-motif cell wall anchor domain protein	1	472	0
PGF_0081 5743	Long-chain-fatty-acidCoA ligase (EC 6.2.1.3)	1	453	0

Ana Fernández Bravo

Family ID	Description	Proteins	Mean	Std Dev
	Present only in the genome of strain 947C			
PGF_0001 8067	Lysozyme (EC 3.2.1.17)	1	165	0
PGF_0002 2405	Modification methylase EcoRI (EC 2.1.1.72)	1	339	0
PGF_0382 1650	Outer membrane protein ImpK/VasF, OmpA/MotB domain	1	259	0
PGF_0003 2526	Phage protein	1	418	0
PGF_0274 2028	Phage terminase, large subunit	1	618	0
PGF_0259 9114	Plasmid replication initiator protein	1	284	0
PGF_0003 6213	Predicted purine nucleoside transporter, MFS superfamily	1	387	0
PGF_0003 7022	Probable dTDP-4-dehydrorhamnose reductase (EC 1.1.1.133)	1	295	0
PGF_0192 9932	Protein ImpG/VasA	1	588	0
PGF_0003 7960	Protein StbA	1	347	0
PGF_0292 3769	Putative large exoprotein involved in heme utilization or adhesion of ShIA/HecA/FhaA family	1	621	0
PGF_0004 7100	RecT protein	1	350	0
PGF_0102 2609	Resolvase	1	204	0
PGF_0005 6927	Tir chaperone	1	128	0
PGF_0440 2936	Transcriptional regulator, Xre family	1	110	0
PGF_0069 8550	Transposase	1	775	0
PGF_0464 6018	Type III secretion bridge between inner and outer membrane lipoprotein (YscJ,HrcJ,EscJ, PscJ)	1	240	0
PGF_0006 3481	Type III secretion chaperone protein for YopD (SycD)	1	167	0
PGF_0280 8153	Type III secretion chaperone protein for YopE (SycE)	1	131	0

Family ID	Description	Proteins	Mean	Std Dev
	Present only in the genome of strain 947C			
PGF_0006 3488	Type III secretion cytoplasmic ATP synthase (EC 3.6.3.14, YscN,SpaL,MxiB,HrcN,EscN)	1	440	0
PGF_0006 3489	Type III secretion cytoplasmic LcrG inhibitor (LcrV, secretion and targeting control protein, V antigen)	1	272	0
PGF_0006 3492	Type III secretion cytoplasmic protein (YscF)	1	85	0
PGF_0006 3494	Type III secretion cytoplasmic protein (YscI)	1	112	0
PGF_0006 3498	Type III secretion cytoplasmic protein (YscL)	1	212	0
PGF_0006 3508	Type III secretion host injection and negative regulator protein (YopD)	1	298	0
PGF_0006 3511	Type III secretion host injection protein (YopB)	1	394	0
PGF_0006 3525	Type III secretion inner membrane channel protein (LcrD,HrcV,EscV,SsaV)	1	705	0
PGF_0006 3540	Type III secretion inner membrane protein (YscQ,homologous to flagellar export components)	1	308	0
PGF_0006 3543	Type III secretion inner membrane protein (YscR,SpaR,HrcR,EscR,homologous to flagellar export components)	1	217	0
PGF_0006 3548	Type III secretion inner membrane protein (YscS,homologous to flagellar export components)	1	88	0
PGF_0006 3553	Type III secretion inner membrane protein (YscT,HrcT,SpaR,EscT,EpaR1,homologous to flagellar export components)	1	262	0
PGF_0309 7682	Type III secretion inner membrane protein (YscU,SpaS,EscU,HrcU,SsaU, homologous to flagellar export components)	1	352	0
PGF_0006 3566	Type III secretion outer membrane contact sensing protein (YopN,Yop4b,LcrE)	1	293	0
PGF_0006 3575	Type III secretion outer membrane pore forming protein (YscC,MxiD,HrcC, InvG)	1	609	0
PGF_0006 3603	Type III secretion spans bacterial envelope protein (YscG)	1	117	0
PGF_0006 3613	Type III secretion thermoregulatory protein (LcrF,VirF,transcription regulation of virulence plasmid)	1	95	0
PGF_0512 5858	Type IV secretory pathway, VirD2 components (relaxase)	1	660	0

Ana Fernández Bravo

Family ID	Description	Proteins	Mean	Std Dev
	Present only in the genome of strain 947C			
PGF_0393 5134	Type IV secretory pathway, protease TraF	1	199	0
PGF_0006 3807	Type VI secretion lipoprotein/VasD	1	171	0
PGF_0006 3810	Type VI secretion protein VasI	1	201	0
PGF_0006 3969	UDP-N-acetyl-L-fucosamine synthase (EC 5.1.3.28)	1	377	0
PGF_0006 4344	UPF0380 proteins YafZ and homologs	1	276	0
PGF_0606 6221	Uncharacterized protein ImpA	1	481	0
PGF_0006 4962	Uncharacterized protein ImpC	1	492	0
PGF_0297 9767	Uncharacterized protein ImpH/VasB	1	332	0
PGF_0006 4987	Uncharacterized protein ImpI/VasC	1	411	0
PGF_0006 4990	Uncharacterized protein ImpJ/VasE	1	444	0
PGF_0006 5739	Uncharacterized protein similar to VCA0109	1	143	0
PGF_0006 6079	Unknown, probably involved in type III secretion	1	147	0
PGF_0007 1340	flagellin modification protein FlmH	1	174	0
PGF_0040 7860	putative lipoprotein	1	183	0
PGF_0040 8050	putative lipoprotein	1	119	0
PGF_0289 6985	putative lipoprotein	2	219.5	3.5
PGF_0041 0187	putative plasmid stabilization protein	1	688	0
PGF_0017 7460	sigma-54-dependent transcriptional regulator	1	512	0
PGF_0041 4781	y4eB gene in pNGR234a homolog	1	104	0
	122 Hypothetical proteins			

Family ID	Description	Proteins	Mean	Std Dev			
Present only in the genome of strain A308							
PGF_0041 7140	ABC transporter, ATP-binding protein						
PGF_0102 7157	ABC transporter, permease protein	1	236 401	0 0			
PGF_0102 7719	ATP-binding protein	1	457	0			
PGF_0004 6216	Alpha-L-Rha alpha-1,3-L-rhamnosyltransferase (EC 2.4.1)	1	298	0			
PGF_0005 8720	Anticodon nuclease	1	380	0			
PGF_0039 9672	Baseplate assembly protein J	1	293	0			
PGF_0041 5078	CMP-binding factor	1	289	0			
PGF_0041 6106	CRISPR-associated protein, Csy3 family	1	356	0			
PGF_0041 8464	Coenzyme F420-dependent oxidoreductase	1	440	0			
PGF_0042 0893	D-arabinitol 4-dehydrogenase (EC 1.1.1.11)	1	455	0			
PGF_0092 7728	D-arabinitol operon repressor	1	313	0			
PGF_0042 1005	D-mannonate oxidoreductase (EC 1.1.1.57)	1	486	0			
PGF_0227 2288	DNA helicase IV (EC 3.6.4.12)	1	925	0			
PGF_0000 2325	FIG01223779: hypothetical protein	1	350	0			
PGF_0347 9854	Flavodoxin	1	195	0			
PGF_0320 7284	Lipid carrier : UDP-N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferase (EC 2.4.1)	1	185	0			
PGF_0001 9272	Mannonate dehydratase (EC 4.2.1.8)	1	393	0			
PGF_0176 7866	Metal-dependent hydrolases of the beta-lactamase superfamily II	1	292	0			
PGF_0066 7779	Mobile element protein	1	267	0			
PGF_0148 2614	Modulator of drug activity B	1	217	0			

Ana Fernández Bravo

Family ID	Description	Proteins	Mean	Std Dev			
Present only in the genome of strain A308							
PGF_0271 8770	Mu-like prophage FluMu I protein	1	390	0			
PGF_0277 9037	NADH-dependent butanol dehydrogenase A (EC 1.1.1)	1	382	0			
PGF_0305 9183	Outer membrane protein romA	1	367	0			
PGF_0003 1706	Phage baseplate assembly protein	1	123	0			
PGF_0003 1742	Phage capsid scaffolding protein	1	273	0			
PGF_0003 2032	Phage major capsid protein	1	350	0			
PGF_0003 2231	Phage protein	1	524	0			
PGF_0333 6619	Phage replication protein	1	795	0			
PGF_0003 2787	Phage terminase, ATPase subunit	1	570	0			
PGF_0003 2790	Phage terminase, endonuclease subunit	1	227	0			
PGF_0312 2294	Phage-related capsid packaging protein	1	358	0			
PGF_0003 6218	Predicted pyrophosphatase	1	378	0			
PGF_0004 0787	Putative exported protein precursor	1	353	0			
PGF_0427 4853	Putative phage-encoded peptidoglycan binding protein	1	274	0			
PGF_0307 8435	RND efflux system, membrane fusion protein	1	383	0			
PGF_0004 7450	RelB/StbD replicon stabilization protein (antitoxin to RelE/StbE)	1	74	0			
PGF_0285 3126	Repair of Iron Centers di-iron protein	1	221	0			
PGF_0004 8740	Ribose ABC transporter, periplasmic ribose-binding protein RbsB (TC 3.A.1.2.1)	1	319	0			
PGF_0005 0723	Sensor protein copS (EC 2.7.3)	1	482	0			
PGF_0005 5454	TPR domain protein	1	246	0			

Table S5. Continued.

Family ID	Description	Proteins	Mean	Std Dev				
Present only in the genome of strain A308								
PGF_0411 1601	TRAP-type C4-dicarboxylate transport system, large permease component	1	433	0				
PGF_0613 7558	TRAP-type C4-dicarboxylate transport system, periplasmic component	1	326	0				
PGF_0005 5872	TRAP-type C4-dicarboxylate transport system, small permease component	1	168	0				
PGF_0562 0245	Thiosulfate:cyanide sulfurtransferase PspE (EC 2.8.1.1)	1	107	0				
PGF_0162 6418	TnpA transposase	2	500.5	3.5				
PGF_0112 1714	Transcriptional regulator	1	254	0				
PGF_0006 1764	Transposon Tn21 resolvase	1	208	0				
PGF_0006 3471	Type III restriction-modification system methylation subunit (EC 2.1.1.72)	1	706	0				
PGF_0006 4885	Uncharacterized protein AF_1681	1	214	0				
PGF_0006 6263	Uronate isomerase (EC 5.3.1.12)	1	474	0				
PGF_0006 6310	Usg protein	1	477	0				
PGF_0006 6371	Uxu operon transcriptional regulator	1	256	0				
PGF_0166 7392	Xylulose kinase (EC 2.7.1.17)	1	487	0				
PGF_0329 4113	alkylhydroperoxidase like protein, AhpD family	1	113	0				
PGF_0385 4940	putative flippase	1	485	0				
PGF_0040 9842	putative nuclease	1	233	0				
	128 Hypothetical proteins							

Present only in the genome of strain AJ83

PGF_0228 2781	Acetyltransferase (isoleucine patch superfamily)			
DCE 0005		1	216	0
0752	Amidohydrolase family protein	1	465	0

Ana Fernández Bravo

Family ID	Description	Proteins	Mean	Std Dev				
Present only in the genome of strain AJ83								
PGF_0006 6715	Aspartate aminotransferase (EC 2.6.1.1)	1	396	0				
PGF_0177 1319	Bacteriocin/lantibiotic efflux ABC transporter, permease/ATP-binding protein	1	685	0				
PGF_0499 1091	Bipolar DNA helicase HerA	1	587	0				
PGF_0041 7608	Chitinase (EC 3.2.1.14)	1	783	0				
PGF_0041 8006	Chromosome segregation ATPase	2	425	19				
PGF_0041 8879	Conjugative transfer ATP-dependent DNA helicase	1	667	0				
PGF_0041 9582	Copper tolerance protein	1	177	0				
PGF_0624 3817	Cytochrome c551/c552	1	105	0				
PGF_0137 0898	D-glycero-D-manno-heptose 1-phosphate guanosyltransferase	1	350	0				
PGF_0610 2630	DNA primase, phage associated	1	754	0				
PGF_0427 6033	Fimbriae usher protein StfC	1	834	0				
PGF_0055 2044	Helix-turn-helix domain protein	1	113	0				
PGF_0001 4121	Inner membrane protein YbcI	1	180	0				
PGF_0303 3306	Integral membrane protein	1	157	0				
PGF_0001 6826	Legionaminic acid biosynthesis protein PtmG	1	368	0				
PGF_0804 1143	MaoC family protein	1	138	0				
PGF_0367 2087	Nitrous oxide reductase maturation protein, outer membrane lipoprotein NosL	1	181	0				
PGF_0002 6086	Nitrous oxide reductase maturation transmembrane protein NosY	1	276	0				
PGF_0633 1579	O-antigen export system permease protein RfbD	1	269	0				
PGF_0002 7601	OsmC/Ohr family protein	1	162	0				

Table S5. Continued.

Family ID	Description	Proteins	Mean	Std Dev
	Present only in the genome of strain AJ83			
PGF_0003 6518	Predicted transporter component	1	148	0
PGF_0003 6619	Prevent host death protein, Phd antitoxin	2	70.5	24.5
PGF_0003 7709	Prophage Lp2 protein 6	1	363	0
PGF_0309 8502	Putative DNA processing chain A	1	444	0
PGF_0004 3825	Putative ribosomal-protein-serine acetyltransferase	1	181	0
PGF_0040 1204	Subclass B3 beta-lactamase (EC 3.5.2.6)	1	337	0
PGF_0005 6192	Tellurite resistance protein-related protein	1	222	0
PGF_0648 7367	UDP-N,N'-diacetylbacillosamine 2-epimerase (hydrolyzing) (EC 3.2.1.184)	1	380	0
PGF_0675 0368	beta-glycosyl hydrolase	1	892	0
PGF_0739 7007	gluconolactonase family protein	1	293	0
PGF_0040 4750	prophage CP4-like integrase	1	402	0
	126 Hypothetical proteins			

Present only in the genome of strains 947C and A308

	4 Hypothetical proteins			
PGF_0251 6485	Protein containing aminopeptidase domain	2	451.5	1.5
PGF_0003 2298	Phage protein	2	504.5	0.5
PGF_0055 7102	Lactoylglutathione lyase, YQJC B.subtilis ortholog	2	133	1
PGF_0440 0245	GDP-4-amino-4,6-dideoxy-alpha-D-acetylglucosamine N-acetyltransferase	2	254	0

PGF_0324 4749	Bis-ABC ATPase SPy1206	2	519

0

Ana Fernández Bravo

Family ID	Description	Proteins	Mean	Std Dev					
Present only in the genome of strains A308 and AJ83									
PGF_0194 9586	Chloramphenicol O-acetyltransferase (EC 2.3.1.28) => CatB family	2	211	0					
PGF_0343 8544	DNA or RNA helicase of superfamily II	2	1047	0					
PGF_0295 5071	Mu-like prophage FluMu protein gp29	2	532	0					
PGF_0002 5736	Nitrate/nitrite transporter NarK	2	470	0					
PGF_0811 7723	Phage integrase	2	481	5					
PGF_0003 2042	Phage major capsid protein	2	302	0					
PGF_0003 2839	Phage terminase, small subunit	2	191	0					
PGF_0004 5452	Putative transposase	2	737	0					
PGF_0296 7959	Putative transposase	2	626	3					
PGF_0004 7563	Replication initiation ATPase; bacteriophage DNA transposition B protein	2	240	0					
PGF_0004 7728	Respiratory nitrate reductase alpha chain (EC 1.7.99.4)	2	1256	0					
PGF_0004 7730	Respiratory nitrate reductase beta chain (EC 1.7.99.4)	2	512	0					
PGF_0004 7732	Respiratory nitrate reductase delta chain (EC 1.7.99.4)	2	238	0					
PGF_0004 7734	Respiratory nitrate reductase gamma chain (EC 1.7.99.4)	2	225	0					
PGF_0055 7133	Ribonuclease Z (EC 3.1.26.11) (RNase Z) (tRNase Z) (tRNA 3 endonuclease)	2	342	0					
PGF_0074 8608	Transcriptional regulator, LysR family	2	299	0					
PGF_0375 2321	Transposase, mutator type	3	302	97.8					
PGF_0040 4789	prophage MuSo1, transcriptional regulator, Cro/CI family	2	248	0					
PGF_0040 4790	prophage MuSo2, portal protein, putative	2	523	0					
PGF_0055 7065	putative lipoprotein	2	59.5	17.5					

Family ID	Description	Proteins	Mean	Std Dev
	Present only in the genome of strains A308 and AJ83			
PGF_0041 1276	putative transposition protein	2	335	0
	43 Hypothetical proteins			
	Present only in the genome of strains 947C, A308 and AJ83			
PGF_0303 3259	Serine/threonine protein phosphatase (EC 3.1.3.16)	3	261	0
PGF_0149 3148	TPR repeat	3	394	0
	4 Hypothetical proteins			

Table S5. Continued.

Table S6. Presence and absence of known virulence genes in six mesophilic A. salmonicida strains.

		Strain						
Gene	Function	947C	AJ83	A308	34mel	A527	Y47	
aerA	Aerolysin	+	+	+	+	+	+	
ahh1	Extracellular hemolysin	+	+	+	+	+	+	
ahpB	Serine Protease	+	+	+	+	+	+	
alt	Cytotonic enterotoxin (lipase)	+	+	+	+	+	+	
ast	Cytotonic enterotoxin	+	+	-	-	-	-	
dam	DNA adenine methyltransferase	+	+	+	+	+	+	
eno	Enolase (surface-expressed)	+	+	+	+	+	+	
eprA1	EprA1 (extracellular protease)	+	+	+	+	+	+	
gidA	Glucose-inhibited division protein	+	+	+	+	+	+	
rtxA	RTX toxin (repeat in toxin A)	-	+	*	+	*	+	
ser	Serine protease	+	+	+	+	+	+	
tagA	ToxR-regulated lipoprotein (TagA)	+	+	+	+	+	+	
vacB	Exoribonuclease R	+	+	+	+	+	+	
AHA_1741	Collagenase	+	+	+	+	+	+	
AHA_3147	Invasin	+	+	+	+	+	+	
AHA_3217	Thermostable hemolysin	+	+	+	+	+	+	
AHA_3493	Hemolysin III	+	+	+	+	+	+	

* Truncated gene

Ana Fernández Bravo

Table S7. Antibiotic resistance genes predicted from the genome sequences of mesophilic *A*. *salmonicida* strains.

								S	train				
Gene	AMR Gene Family	Drug Class	Accessi on #	34mel ^T	A527	Y577	ASG1	ECFood+05	947C	A308	AJ83	Y567	Y47
AAC(3)-IIc	AAC(3)	aminoglycoside antibiotic	ARO:3 002535	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-
AAC(6')-Ia	AAC(6')	aminoglycoside antibiotic	ARO:3 002545	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-
ANT(2")-Ia	ANT(2")	aminoglycoside antibiotic	ARO:3 000230	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-
APH(3")-Ib	APH(3")	aminoglycoside antibiotic	ARO:3 002639	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-
APH(3')-Ia	APH(3')	aminoglycoside antibiotic	ARO:3 002641	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-
APH(6)-Id	APH(6)	aminoglycoside antibiotic	ARO:3 002660	-	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-
CTX-M-3	CTX-M beta-lactamase	cephalosporin	ARO:3 001866	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-
FOX ^a	FOX beta-lactamase	cephamycin, cephalosporin	ARO:3 002156	-	+	-	-	-	-	+	+	+	-
OXA-12	OXA beta-lactamase	cephalosporin, penam	ARO:3 001407	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
TEM-1	TEM beta-lactamase	penem, cephalosporin, monobactam, penam	ARO:3 000873	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-
VEB-1	VEB beta-lactamase	cephalosporin, monobactam	ARO:3 002370	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-
aadA	ANT(3")	aminoglycoside antibiotic	ARO:3 002601	-	-	-	+	+	-	-	-	-	-
catII	chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (CAT)	phenicol antibiotic	ARO:3 002684	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-
cmlA5	major facilitator superfamily (MFS) antibiotic efflux pump	phenicol antibiotic	ARO:3 002695	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-
cphA5	CphA beta-lactamase	carbapenem	ARO:3 003101	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
dfrA12	trimethoprim resistant dihydrofolate reductase dfr	diaminopyrimidine antibiotic	ARO:3 002858	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-
dfrA14	trimethoprim resistant dihydrofolate reductase dfr	diaminopyrimidine antibiotic	ARO:3 002859	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-

Table S7. Continued.

			Strain										
Gene	AMR Gene Family	Drug Class	Accessi on #	34mel ^T	A527	YS77	ASG1	ECFood+05	947C	A308	AJ83	Y567	Y47
dfrA15	trimethoprim resistant dihydrofolate reductase dfr	diaminopyrimidine antibiotic	ARO:3 003013	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-
qacH	small multidrug resistance (SMR) antibiotic efflux pump	fluoroquinolone antibiotic	ARO:3 003836	-	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-
sul1	sulfonamide resistant sul	sulfonamide antibiotic, sulfone antibiotic	ARO:3 000410	-	-	-	+	-	-	-	-	-	-
tet(E)	major facilitator superfamily (MFS) antibiotic efflux pump	tetracycline antibiotic	ARO:3 000173	-	-	-	+	+	-	-	-	-	+
			Total	2	3	2	12	10	4	3	3	3	3

a. May be FOX-2, FOX-3, FOX-4 or FOX-5

References

Abbott, S.L., Cheung, W.K.W., Kroske-Bystrom, S., Malekzadeh, T., Janda, J.M., 1992. Identification of *Aeromonas* strains to the genospecies level in the clinical laboratory. J. Clin. Microbiol. 30, 1262–1266.

Altwegg, M., Steigerwalt, A.G., Altwegg-Bissig, R., Luthy-Hottenstein, J., Brenner, D.J., 1990. Biochemical identification of *Aeromonas* genospecies isolated from humans. J. Clin. Microbiol. 28, 258–264.

Beaz-Hidalgo, R., Latif-Eugenín, F., Hossain, M.J., Berg, K., Niemi, R.M., Rapala, J., Lyra, C., Liles, M.R., Figueras, M.J., 2015. *Aeromonas aquatica* sp. nov., *Aeromonas finlandiensis* sp. nov. and *Aeromonas lacus* sp. nov. isolated from Finnish waters associated with cyanobacterial blooms. Syst. Appl. Microbiol. 38, 161–168. doi:10.1016/j.syapm.2015.02.005

Chai, B., Wang, H., Chen, X., 2012. Draft genome sequence of high-melaninyielding *Aeromonas media* strain WS. J. Bacteriol. 194, 6693–6694. doi:10.1128/JB.01807-12

Ana Fernández Bravo

Charette, S.J., Brochu, F., Boyle, B., Filion, G., Tanaka, K.H., Derome, N., 2012. Draft genome sequence of the virulent strain 01-B526 of the fish pathogen *Aeromonas salmonicida*. J. Bacteriol. 194, 722–3. doi:10.1128/JB.06276-11

Colston, S.M., Fullmer, M.S., Beka, L., Lamy, B., Gogarten, J.P., 2014. Bioinformatic genome comparisons for taxonomic and phylogenetic assignments using *Aeromonas* as a test case. MBio 5, e02136. doi:10.1128/mBio.02136-14

Contreras-Moreira, B., Vinuesa, P., 2013. GET_HOMOLOGUES, a versatile software package for scalable and robust microbial pangenome analysis. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 79, 7696–7701. doi:10.1128/AEM.02411-13

Farfán, M., Spataro, N., Sanglas, A., Albarral, V., Lorén, J.G., Bosch, E., Fusté, M.C., 2013. Draft genome sequence of the *Aeromonas diversa* type strain. Genome Announc. 1, 6–7. doi:10.1128/genomeA.00330-13

Gilbreath, J.J., Dodds, J.C., Rick, P.D., Soloski, M.J., Merrell, D.S., Metcalf, E.S., 2012. Enterobacterial common antigen mutants of *Salmonella enterica* serovar *typhimurium* establish a persistent infection and provide protection against subsequent lethal challenge. Infect. Immun. 80, 441–450. doi:10.1128/IAI.05559-11

Gulla, S., Lund, V., Kristoffersen, A.B., Sørum, H., Colquhoun, D.J., 2016. *vapA* (A-layer) typing differentiates *Aeromonas salmonicida* subspecies and identifies a number of previously undescribed subtypes. J. Fish Dis. 39, 329–342. doi:10.1111/jfd.12367

Han, H.-J., Kim, D.-Y., Kim, W.-S., Kim, C.-S., Jung, S.-J., Oh, M.-J., Kim, D.-H., 2011. Atypical *Aeromonas salmonicida* infection in the black rockfish, *Sebastes schlegeli* Hilgendorf, in Korea. J. Fish Dis. 34, 47–55. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2761.2010.01217.x

Han, J.E., Kim, J.H., Shin, S.P., Jun, J.W., Chai, J.Y., Park, S.C., 2013. Draft genome sequence of *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *achromogenes* AS03, an atypical strain isolated from crucian carp (*Carassius carassius*) in the Republic of Korea. Genome Announc. 1, e00791-13. doi:10.1128/genomeA.00791-13

Hossain, M.J., Beaz-Hidalgo, R., Figueras, M.J., Liles, M.R., 2014. Draft genome sequences of two novel *Aeromonas* species recovered in association with cyanobacterial blooms. Genome Announc. 2, e01181-14. doi:10.1128/genomeA.01181-14

Kristensen, D.M., Kannan, L., Coleman, M.K., Wolf, Y.I., Sorokin, A., Koonin, E. V., Mushegian, A., 2010. A low-polynomial algorithm for assembling clusters of orthologous groups from intergenomic symmetric best matches. Bioinformatics 26, 1481–1487. doi:10.1093/bioinformatics/btq229

Li, L., Stoeckert, C.J., Roos, D.S., 2003. OrthoMCL: Identification of ortholog groups for eukaryotic genomes. Genome Res. 13, 2178–2189. doi:10.1101/gr.1224503

Li, Y., Liu, Y., Zhou, Z., Huang, H., Ren, Y., Zhang, Y., Li, G., Zhou, Z., Wang, L., 2011. Complete genome sequence of *Aeromonas veronii* strain B565. J. Bacteriol. 193, 3389–3390. doi:10.1128/JB.00347-11

Liu, L., Li, N., Zhang, D., Fu, X., Shi, C., Lin, Q., Hao, G., 2016. Complete genome sequence of the highly virulent *Aeromonas schubertii* strain WL1483, isolated from diseased snakehead fish (*Channa argus*) in China. Genome Announc. 4, e01567-15. doi:10.1128/genomeA.01567-15

Long, M., Nielsen, T.K., Leisner, J.J., Hansen, L.H., Shen, Z.X., Zhang, Q.Q., Li, A., 2016. *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida* strains isolated from Chinese freshwater fish contain a novel genomic island and possible regional-specific mobile genetic elements profiles. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 363, fnw190. doi:10.1093/femsle/fnw190

Martínez-Murcia, A., Beaz-Hidalgo, R., Navarro, A., Carvalho, M.J., Aravena-Román, M., Correia, A., Figueras, M.J., Saavedra, M.J., 2016. *Aeromonas lusitana* sp. nov., isolated from untreated water and vegetables. Curr. Microbiol. 72, 795– 803. doi:10.1007/s00284-016-0997-9

Martínez-Murcia, A., Beaz-Hidalgo, R., Svec, P., Saavedra, M.J., Figueras, M.J., Sedlacek, I., 2013. *Aeromonas cavernicola* sp. nov., isolated from fresh water of a

Ana Fernández Bravo

brook in a cavern. Curr. Microbiol. 66, 197-204. doi:10.1007/s00284-012-0253-x

Martínez-Murcia, A.J., Soler, L., Saavedra, M.J., Chacón, M.R., Guarro, J., Stackebrandt, E., Figueras, M.J., 2005. Phenotypic, genotypic, and phylogenetic discrepancies to differentiate *Aeromonas salmonicida* from *Aeromonas bestiarum*. Int. Microbiol. 8, 259–269. doi:10.2436/im.v8i4.9534

Padilla, J.C.A., Bustos, P., Castro-Escarpulli, G., Sánchez-Varela, A., Palma-Martinez, I., Arzate-Barbosa, P., García-Pérez, C.A., López-López, M. de J., González, V., Guo, X., 2015. Draft genome sequence of *Aeromonas caviae* strain 429865 INP, isolated from a Mexican patient. Genome Announc. 3, e01240-15. doi:10.1128/genomeA.01240-15

Pavan, M.E., Pavan, E.E., López, N.I., Levin, L., Pettinari, M.J., 2015. Living in an extremely polluted environment: clues from the genome of melanin-producing *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *pectinolytica* 34melT. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 81, 5235–48. doi:10.1128/AEM.00903-15

Picardeau, M., 2017. Virulence of the zoonotic agent of leptospirosis: Still terra incognita? Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 15, 297–307. doi:10.1038/nrmicro.2017.5

Reith, M.E., Singh, R.K., Curtis, B., Boyd, J.M., Bouevitch, A., Kimball, J., Munholland, J., Murphy, C., Sarty, D., Williams, J., Nash, J.H., Johnson, S.C., Brown, L.L., 2008. The genome of *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida* A449: insights into the evolution of a fish pathogen. BMC Genomics 9, 427. doi:10.1186/1471-2164-9-427

Rouleau, F.D., Vincent, A.T., Charette, S.J., 2018. Genomic and phenotypic characterization of an atypical *Aeromonas salmonicida* strain isolated from a lumpfish and producing unusual granular structures. J. Fish Dis. 41, 673–681. doi:10.1111/jfd.12769

Ruppé, E., Cherkaoui, A., Wagner, N., La Scala, G.C., Beaulieu, J.-Y., Girard, M., Frey, J., Lazarevic, V., Schrenzel, J., 2017. *In vivo* selection of a multidrug-resistant *Aeromonas salmonicida* during medicinal leech therapy. New Microbes New Infect. 21, 23–27. doi:10.1016/j.nmni.2017.10.005

Seshadri, R., Joseph, S.W., Chopra, A.K., Sha, J., Shaw, J., Graf, J., Haft, D., Wu, M., Ren, Q., Rosovitz, M.J., Madupu, R., Tallon, L., Kim, M., Jin, S., Vuong, H., Stine, O.C., Ali, A., Horneman, A.J., Heidelberg, J.F., 2006. Genome sequence of *Aeromonas hydrophila* ATCC 7966T: Jack of all trades. J. Bacteriol. 188, 8272–8282. doi:10.1128/JB.00621-06

Spataro, N., Farfán, M., Albarral, V., Sanglas, A., Lorén, J.G., Fusté, M.C., Bosch, E., 2013. Draft genome sequence of *Aeromonas molluscorum* strain 848TT, isolated from bivalve molluscs. Genome Announc. 1, e00382-13. doi:10.1128/genomeA.00382-13

Vincent, A.T., Rouleau, F.D., MOIneau, S., Charette, S.J., 2017. Study of mesophilic *Aeromonas salmonicida* A527 strain sheds light on the species' lifestyles and taxonomic dilemma. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 364, fnx239. doi:10.1093/femsle/fnx239

Vincent, A.T., Tanaka, K.H., Trudel, M. V, Frenette, M., Derome, N., Charette, S.J., 2015. Draft genome sequences of two *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida* isolates harboring plasmids conferring antibiotic resistance. FEMS Microbiol. Lett. 362, fnv002.

Vincent, A.T., Trudel, M. V, Freschi, L., Nagar, V., Gagné-Thivierge, C., Levesque, R.C., Charette, S.J., 2016. Increasing genomic diversity and evidence of constrained lifestyle evolution due to insertion sequences in *Aeromonas salmonicida*. BMC Genomics 17, 44. doi:10.1186/s12864-016-2381-3

Wahid, S.U.H., 2017. Structural and functional characterization of the *Helicobacter pylori* cytidine 5'-monophosphate-pseudaminic acid synthase PseF: molecular insight into substrate recognition and catalysis mechanism. Adv. Appl. Bioinform. Chem. 10, 79–88. doi:10.2147/AABC.S139773

Wang, H.-C., Ko, W.-C., Shu, H.-Y., Chen, P.-L., Wang, Y.-C., Wu, C.-J., 2014. Genome sequence of *Aeromonas taiwanensis* LMG 24683T, a clinical wound isolate from taiwan. Genome Announc. 2, e00579-14. doi:10.1128/genomeA.00579-14

Wattam, A.R., Davis, J.J., Assaf, R., Boisvert, S., Brettin, T., Bun, C., Conrad, N.,
Doctoral thesis

Ana Fernández Bravo

Dietrich, E.M., Disz, T., Gabbard, J.L., Gerdes, S., Henry, C.S., Kenyon, R.W., Machi, D., Mao, C., Nordberg, E.K., Olsen, G.J., Murphy-Olson, D.E., Olson, R., Overbeek, R., Parrello, B., Pusch, G.D., Shukla, M., Vonstein, V., Warren, A., Xia, F., Yoo, H., Stevens, R.L., 2017. Improvements to PATRIC, the all-bacterial bioinformatics database and analysis resource center. Nucleic Acids Res. 45, D535– D542.

Wu, C.-J., Wang, H.-C., Chen, C.-S., Shu, H.-Y., Kao, A.-W., Chen, P.-L., Ko, W.-C., 2012. Genome sequence of a novel human pathogen, *Aeromonas aquariorum*. J. Bacteriol. 194, 4114–5. doi:10.1128/JB.00621-12

Zeng, W.B., Chen, W.B., Yan, Q.P., Lin, G.F., Qin, Y.X., 2016. Hemerythrin is required for *Aeromonas hydraphlia* to survive in the macrophages of *Anguilla japonica*. Genet. Mol. Res. 15, gmr8074. doi:10.4238/gmr.15028074

4.3. *Vibrio alginolyticus* infections: Two cases from Spain and literature review

Fernández-Bravo A., Ballester F., Pujol I., Gomez-Bertomeu F., Martí C., Rezusta A., Ferrer Cerón I., Aspiroz C., Puyod MJ., Figueras MJ. (2019). Journal of Medical Microbiology & Diagnosis. 8:1



Case Report

Journal of Medical Microbiology & Diagnosis Fernández-Bravo et al., J Med Microb Diagn 2019, 8:1 DOI: 10.4172/2161-0703.1000298

Open Access

Vibrio alginolyticus Infections: Report of Two Cases from Spain with Literature Review

Ana Fernández-Bravo¹, Frederic Ballester², Isabel Pujol^{1,2}, Frederic Gomez-Bertomeu^{1,2}, Cristina Martí², Antonio Rezusta³, Isabel Ferrer-Cerón³, Carmen Aspiroz⁴, Maria Jesús Puyod⁵ and Maria José Figueras^{1*}

¹Unidad de Microbiología, Departamento de Ciencias Médicas Básicas, Facultad de Medicina y Ciencias de la Salud, IISPV, Universidad Rovira i Virgili, Reus, Spain ²Hospital Universitari Sant Joan de Reus-Laboratori de Referència del Camp de Tarragona i Terres de l'Ebre, Reus, Spain

³Servicio Microbiología, Hospital Universitario Miguel Servet, Zaragoza, Spain

⁴Departamento de Microbiología, Hospital Royo Villanova, Zaragoza, Spain

⁵Centro de Salud Parque Goya, Zaragoza, Spain

Abstract

Vibrio alginolyticus is rarely reported as a human pathogen. However, we report two cases from Spain. The first case involved a 69-year-old male with a rectum adenocarcinoma that developed enterocolitis and septic shock. The second case was associated with a previously healthy 37-year-old male patient with a pretibial ulcer exposed to the Mediterranean Sea. The isolates were identified as *V. alginolyticus* by MALDI-TOF MS and *rpoD* gene sequencing. The strain from the first patient was incorrectly attributed to *Aeromonas* sp. in the preliminary identification by API 20E and API 20NE. The antibiotic susceptibility against 13 antibiotics was tested and both strains were resistant to penicillin and ampicillin. This study is intended to raise awareness about the increasing incidence of *V. alginolyticus* can be confused with *Aeromonas* based on the used identification method.

Keywords: Vibrio alginolyticus, Aeromonas, MALDI-TOF, rpoD gene, API 20E.

Introduction

Vibrio alginolyticus is a Gram-negative halophilic bacterium found in the aquatic environment, especially in temperate oceans but also able to grow in extremely high salty environments [1-5]. The virulence of this bacterium is directly related to its capacity to produce hemolysis, hemagglutination and proteases [2,5,6]. This microorganism is considered a rare human pathogen causing mainly diarrhea. However, it has been etiologically associated with otitis and wound infections, producing occasionally life-threatening infections in immunocompromised individuals [2,5,7,8]. The majority of isolates are resistant to penicillin, ampicillin and second-generation cephalosporins by the acquisition of resistance genes that are present in mobile elements [3,9,10]. Recent studies in USA, indicate that in 2011 the incidence of V. alginolyticus infections was only 0.048 cases per million [11]. However, the description of several new cases confirms that a rising incidence has occurred in the last years [1-3,8]. Therefore, a better knowledge about this infectious agent and its resistance to antibiotics is needed. This study is intended to contribute describing in detail two cases of infection produced by V. alginolyticus from Spain, providing a review of the literature and alerting of the potential confusion with Aeromonas depending on the employed identification method.

Case Presentation

Case presentation 1

A 69-year-old male patient visited his doctor complaining of watery diarrhea with a duration of 24 hours, abdominal pain, nausea and vomiting, with no fever. He had a previous history of hyperuricemia, osteoporosis, Widal syndrome, a right femur prosthesis and a proximal rectum adenocarcinoma that was treated with chemotherapy and surgical exercises. The patient was referred to the Emergency Department of University Hospital Sant Joan de Reus (Catalonia, Spain). Upon arrival the patient exhibited hypoxemia (pO₂ 31.7 mmHg, oxygen saturation 43.4%) and hypotension (blood pressure 85/65 mmHg).

Laboratory data showed a white blood cell count of 16.8×10^{9} /L with a relative reduction in lymphocytes (5.3%) and an increase in neutrophils (91.1%). A computer axial tomography showed dilatation of the gut with internal fluid accumulation compatible with acute enterocolitis. The patient was admitted to the intensive care unit where he developed a septic shock with acute renal insufficiency, metabolic acidosis and high levels of lactate (8.75%) and then an intravenous treatment with imipenem (500 mg/6 h) was empirically initiated.

A stool sample was obtained and examined for intestinal parasites and for several bacteria i.e., Escherichia coli, Salmonella spp., Shigella spp., Yersinia enterocolitica, Aeromonas spp., Plesiomonas spp., Vibrio spp. and Campylobacter spp. Investigation of intestinal parasites was negative. However, the stool yielded a positive culture in Thiosulfate Citrate Bile Salts Sucrose Agar (TCBS) medium (Becton Dickinson Diagnostics, USA) after 24 h of incubation in aerobiosis at 37°C. The recovered isolate, labeled 1182C, was identified based on the biochemical test API 20E (BioMérieux, Marcy l'Etoile, France), and the 7-digit code obtained after three repetitions were: 0046126, identifying this strain as: 50% Aeromonas spp./43% V. fluvialis/5% V. alginolyticus; 1046126: 70% Aeromonas spp./29% V. fluvialis and 1045126: 99% Aeromonas spp. However, with the API 20NE (BioMérieux, Marcy l'Etoile, France) the result of the 7-digit code without repetition was 6030444, identifying the strain: 71% V. vulnificus/27% V. alginolyticus. Also, based on the MALDI-TOF MS Biotyper v. 3.1, the isolate was identified as V.

*Corresponding author: Maria José Figueras, Unidad de Microbiología, Departamento de Ciencias Médicas Básicas, Facultad de Medicina y Ciencias de la Salud, IISPV, Universidad Rovira i Virgili, Reus, Spain, Tel: +34977759321; E-mail: mariajose.figueras@urv.cat

Received March 07, 2019; Accepted March 27, 2019; Published March 31, 2019

Citation: Fernández-Bravo A, Ballester F, Pujol I, Gomez-Bertomeu F, Martí C, et al. (2019) *Vibrio alginolyticus* Infections: Report of Two Cases from Spain with Literature Review. J Med Microb Diagn 8: 298. doi:10.4172/2161-0703.1000298

Copyright: © 2019 Fernández-Bravo A, et al. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Page 2 of 6

alginolyticus with a score >2.0. The antibiotic susceptibility of the strain 1182C was tested with MicroScan Walkaway and the results were analyzed according to the CLSI guidelines [12]. The results showed that the strain was resistant to ampicillin and susceptible to amoxicillin/ clavulanic acid, ciprofloxacin and imipenem (Table 1). Considering these results and the good clinical status of the patient, the oral diet was restarted progressively. Also, on day 7 imipenem was changed to oral ciprofloxacin 500 mg/12 h until discharge from the hospital 9 days after admission, but treatment was continued at home for an additional period of 5 days. The strain 1182C was sent to the Unit of Microbiology at the University Rovira i Virgili for the re-identification using the sequences of the rpoD gene. The DNA extraction, amplification and sequencing were performed using the primers and the conditions previously described [13]. Nucleotide Blast (Blastn) analysis with the obtained rpoD sequence revealed a 99% similarity with V. alginolyticus (GenBank accession number JF930400). Considering these results, a Neighbour-joining phylogenetic tree was constructed adding also the rpoD sequences (479 bp) of the type strains using the MEGA 6 software. The phylogenetic tree showed that the isolate 1182C clustered with the sequence of the type strain of V. alginolyticus (Figure 1). In addition the antibiotic-susceptibility against 13 antibiotics was tested again using the disk diffusion method and interpretation was again done following the CLSI guidelines [12]. The strain 1182C was susceptible to all antibiotics tested except for penicillin and ampicillin (Table 2).

Case presentation 2

A 37-year-old male patient with no previous history of disease was

attended at the University Hospital Miguel Servet (Zaragoza, Spain) in September 2016, because he had an apparently infected left pretibial ulcer, after swimming in the Mediterranean Sea in August. The wound occurred in January after the patient fell down the stairs. However, the wound was still not completely cured, when he noticed that the aspect of the wound had worsened. A sample of the wound exudate was collected and cultured in Blood Agar (BA). The culture was positive after 24 h of incubation in aerobiosis at 37°C and the strain recovered was named I53834 and was identified as *V. alginolyticus / V. parahaemolitycus* with MALDI-TOF MS Biotyper v 3.1 with a final score of 1.967 and 1.949, respectively for each microbe (Table 3). With Etest (BioMérieux, Marcy I'Etoile, France) the strain was susceptible to cefotaxime, ceftazidime, ciprofloxacin and tetracycline. An empiric antibiotic treatment was initiated with vibriamycin (doxycycline) 100 mg/12 h.

The isolate I53834 was sent to the Unit of Microbiology at the University Rovira i Virgili for re-identification using the sequences of *rpoD* gene that was performed as described above for the other case. The Blastn analysis of the obtained sequence showed a 99% similarity with a *V. alginolyticus* sequence (GenBank accession number JQ015344). In the phylogenetic tree, constructed as indicated above, the sequence of the strain I53834 clustered with the sequence of the type strain of *V. alginolyticus* and with the other sequence of this species (strain 1182C) from the other case (Figure 1). The antibiotic susceptibility against 13 antibiotics was additionally tested using the disk diffusion method and results were interpreted following the CLSI guidelines [12]. The strain I53834 showed to be susceptible to all tested antibiotics except to



Antimicrobial agent	MIC (µg/ml)	Pattern
Amikacin	≤8	S
Ampicillin	≤8	R
Amox/Clavulat K	≤8/4	S
Aztreonam	≤1	S
Ceftazidime	≤1	S
Cefalotine	≤8	
Cefotaxime	≤1	S
Cefoxitin	≤8	S
Cefazolin	≤8	S
Ciprofloxacin	≤0.5	S
Cefepime	≤1	S
Cefuroxime	8	S
Ertapenem	≤0.5	I
Gentamicin	≤2	S
Imipenem	≤1	S
Nalidixic acid	≤16	I
Piperacillin tazobactam	≤8	S
Trimet/Sulfa	≤2/38	S
Tigecycline	≤1	S
Tobramycin	≤2	

Table 1: Response of strain 1182C to several antimicrobial agents obtained with the MicroScan Walkaway at the University Hospital Sant Joan de Reus. Susceptible (S), resistant (R) or intermediate (I).

Antimicrobial agente	Zone Diam	eter (mm)	Breakpoints		
Antimicrobial agents	1182C	153834	Sensitive	Intermediate	Resistance
Amikacin	S (19)	S (18)	≥ 17	15-16	≤ 14
Ampicillin	R (12.5)	R (13)	≥ 17	14-16	≤ 13
Amoxicillin-clavulanate	S (21)	S (22)	≥ 18	14-17	≤ 13
Cefotaxime	S (29)	S (29.5)	≥ 26	23-25	≤ 22
Ciprofloxacin	S (22)	S (23)	≥ 21	16-20	≤ 15
Cefepime	S (27)	S (26)	≥ 25	19-24	≤ 18
Penicillin*	R (17)	R (17)	≥ 21	19-20	≤ 18
Gentamicin	S (17)	S (17.5)	≥ 15	13-14	≤ 12
Imipenem	S (25)	S (26)	≥ 23	20-22	≤ 19
Piperacillin	S (23)	S (23.5)	≥ 21	18-20	≤ 17
Piperacillin-tazobactam	S (23.5)	S (≤ 22)	≥ 21	18-20	≤ 17
Tetracycline	S (16)	S (17)	≥ 15	12-14	≤ 14
Trimetoprim-sulfamethoxazole	S (17)	S (17)	≥ 16	11-15	≤ 10
*This antibiotic does not appear in the CLSI guideline	S				

Table 2: Susceptibility profile of strains 1182C and I53834 to 13 antibiotics evaluated with the disk diffusion method at the University Rovira i Virgili (results expressed in mm).

S No		First option	Second option		
3 NU	Score	Specie	Score	Specie	
1	1.998	V. alginolyticus	1.992	V. parahaemolyticus	
2	1.713	V. parahaemolyticus	1.708	V. alginolyticus	
3	1.985	V. alginolyticus	1.896	V. parahaemolyticus	
4	1.967	V. alginolyticus	1.949	V. parahaemolyticus	

Table 3: Results of the preliminary identification of the strain I53834 with MALDI-TOF MS Biotype. The method was performed four times and the two higher scores are presented.

Page 3 of 6

Page 4 of 6

Patient age (years)	Country	Presentation	Condition	References
M/22	United States	Leg ulcer	Anemia and chronic leg ulcers	[14]
N/A	United States	Wound infection in the right calf	None	[14]
M/42	United States	Trauma (ulcer) in the right leg	Chronic venous insufficiency in the leg	[7]
F/55	Japan	Abdominal pain and diarrhea	Therapy of submandibular cyst	[22]
M/20	United States	Headache and fever (intracranial infection)	None	[24]
M/26	United States	Respiratory distress and dehydration (bacteremia)	Osteogenic sarcoma	[26]
M/65	United States	Cellulitis in the right leg	None	[15]
F/40	United Kingdom	Laceration in the left leg	None	[16]
M/17	Portugal	Nausea, fever and frontal headache (sphenoiditis)	None	[25]
M/31	China	Necrotizing Fasciitis in the leg	Cirrhosis and hepatitis B	[27]
M/38	United States	Watery non-bloody stool	Odynophagia and dysphagia	[23]
F/23	South Korea	Abdominal pain and diarrhea	Hepatitis B	[21]
F/52	South Korea	Abdominal pain, vomit and diarrhea	Treatment for pulmonary tuberculosis 30 years ago	[21]
F/48	Colombia	Necrotizing Fasciitis in the leg	Exacerbation of her Asthma (steroids)	[28]
M/57	Turkey	Otitis	None	[17]
M/37	Japan	Wound infection in replanted fingers	Amputation and replantation of two fingers	[18]
M/59	Korea	Shock septic with pain in the legs	Hepatitis B	[5]
M/50	Italy	Painful cutaneous ulceration	None	[19]
M/70	Italy	Wound in the right leg	None	[20]
F/70	United Kingdom	Infected wound on her lower leg	None	[1]
M/66	Spain	Painful ulcer in the left foot	Chronic radiation-induced dermatitis	[8]
F/47	Turkey	Meningitis	None	[2]
M/14	Egypt	Wound on the left foot	None	[3]

Table 4: Different cases associated to Vibrio alginolyticus reported at the literature. Male (M), female (F) and not available (N/A).

Characteristics	Number	Percentage
Patient	%	
Gender	n= 1307	
Male	913	70
Female	392	30
Age	n=1276	
<1-9	213	17
10-19	250	20
20-29	135	10
30-39	149	12
40-49	156	12
50-59	130	10
>60	243	19
Clinical features		%
Infection	n=1331	
Gastrointestinal	62	5
Blood	56	4
Skin	1162	87
Unknown	51	4
Outcomes	n=variable	
Hospitalization	235/1202	20
Death	12/1170	1
Antibiotics	1047/1156	91
Transmission	%	
Foodborne	101/1331	8
Non-foodborne	1141/1331	86
Water	829/998	83
Sea water	706/802	88
Other	89/1331	6

Table 5: Characteristics of Vibrio alginolyticus infections in USA between 1988-2012 (adapted from Jacobs Slikfa et al.[29]).

Citation: Fernández-Bravo A, Ballester F, Pujol I, Gomez-Bertomeu F, Martí C, et al. (2019) Vibrio alginolyticus Infections: Report of Two Cases from Spain with Literature Review. J Med Microb Diagn 8: 298. doi:10.4172/2161-0703.1000298

Page 5 of 6

penicillin and ampicillin (Table 2).

Discussion

A review of the literature of infections produced by V. alginolyticus showed that the most common presentations were superficial wound and ear infections [1-3,7,8,14-20]. These were followed by cases of diarrhea [21-23]. Sphenoiditis, intracranial infections, necrotizing fasciitis, bacteremia and even septic shock were the other infections [5,24-29]. The case reports found at the literature are summarized in Table 4. In addition, an epidemiological study on V. alginolyticus infections that occurred in USA between 1988-2012 and that included 1331 cases was performed by Jacobs Slikfa et al. [29]. The main data obtained in the Jacobs Slikfa et al. study are listed in Table 5. As shown in the Tables 4 and 5, the majority of the cases occurred in patients that showed no undelaying diseases and were associated with wound infections or ulcers that have occurred in contact with seawater [5,8,19,24,28,29]. The latter infections occurred in coastal waters of temperate and tropical regions [2,3,29,30]. In addition, in the summer months, the incidence of these infections increased significantly [2,28,31]. The impact of climate change in water temperature observed in recent years had led to an increased incidence of V. alginolyticus both in tropical waters and in the otherwise colder waters of northern Europe [20,29].

One of the cases reported in this study involved a patient that was immunocompromised as occurred in other cases described in the literature [5,26-29]. Therefore, it is important to consider this condition, because this agent is an emerging pathogen that in immunocompromised individuals can cause important infections. Interestingly, the patient of our second case had a wound that was exposed to seawater of the Mediterranean Sea, considered, as commented, an important risk factor in this type of infections [2,8,15,17,28].

The V. alginolyticus infections usually respond well to appropriate antibiotics and only occasionally causes life-threatening infections as shown in Table 5 [2,4,29]. Recent literature reported that V. alginolyticus is generally resistant to penicillin, ampicillin and vancomycin but susceptible to ciprofloxacin, chloramphenicol, aminoglycosides and some beta-lactams [32]. The antimicrobial profiles in this study were analyzed with an automatized system, MicroScan Walkaway and with the disk diffusion method. The results of the antimicrobial profile obtained in this study are in agreement with the resistance to ampicillin and penicillin obtained in other studies and the susceptibility to trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole, tetracycline and gentamicin [32-35]. Regarding the identification of Vibrio, many clinical microbiology laboratories still routinely rely on the use of phenotypic methods, such as API 20E system that is a biochemical panel for identification and differentiation of members of the Enterobacteriaceae family. The results of twenty mini-test chambers provide a 7-digit code, that is introduced in the API catalog or apiweb to get an identification of the bacteria strain with a determined probability (%). In our first case the strain was incorrectly identified by API 20E as Aeromonas sp. This result confirms that an accurate phenotypic identification of Vibrio species is problematic, largely because of the great variability in biochemical characteristics [36-38]. O'Hara et al. evaluated six commercial systems for the ability to identify the 12 species of Vibrio found in clinical samples and the results showed that one strain of V. cholerae was also identified as Aeromonas hydrophila with API 20E [36-38]. Confusion between Aeromonas and Vibrio spp. occur approximately in 6% of the biochemical identifications, therefore a genus probe to avoid this problem have been developed at our laboratory [38-42].

MALDI-TOF MS is a mass spectrometry technique, that provides the determination of molecular weights of biomolecules, mostly of the proteins associated with the 16S rRNA gene from a bacteria isolate in a few minutes [43,44]. The profiles or protein spectra are specific to each bacteria genus and species [43,44]. The identification is obtained comparing the profiles or spectra with the ones available at the database of the system and providing a score value that describes the degree of accuracy i.e., >2.0, indicates accuracy at species level [45]. If the reference database doesn't contain sufficient spectra from all the Vibrio spp., the accuracy of the identification is poor (score <2.0). Furthermore, considering that V. alginolyticus and V. parahaemolyticus are very closely related species that show a 16S rRNA similarity of 99.4%, the probability that they can be correctly identified on the basis of the MALDI-TOF MS is low, because as indicated above the system relay on the proteins associated to the 16S rRNA gene [46]. These are the reasons that explains the ambiguous results obtained with MALDI-TOF MS in our second case where the strain could not be assigned either to V. alginolyticus or to V. parahaemolyticus giving for both a score <2.0.

Conclusion

Our two reports on human infections by *V. alginolyticus* is intended to raise awareness about the infections caused by this bacterium. It is essential to consider this emerging pathogen in patients with cancer or with other immunosuppressed conditions and in healthy patients with skin or soft tissue lesions that have been in contact with seawater. Furthermore, there is a need to report new cases to determine if the incidence in our country and in other regions is also increasing.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank all staff in the University Hospital Sant Joan de Reus (Reus) and in University Hospital Miguel Servet (Zaragoza).

Funding

The work was supported by the projects JPIW2013-095-C03-03 of MINECO (Spain) and AQUAVALENS of the Seventh Framework Program (FP7/2007-2013) grant agreement 311846 from the European Union, but they did not have any influence in the design of the study and collection, analysis, and interpretation of data and in writing the manuscript. AFB thanks University Rovira I Virgili for the Martí i Franquès grant.

References

- Reilly GD, Reilly CA, Smith EG, Baker-Austin C (2011) Vibrio alginolyticusassociated wound infection acquired in British waters, Guernsey, July 2011. Euro Surveill 16:19994.
- Citil BE, Derin S, Sankur F, Sahan M, Citil MU (2015) Vibrio alginolyticus associated chronic myringitis acquired in mediterranean waters of Turkey. Case Rep Infect Dis 2015:187212.
- Bultmann CA, Steiss JO, Langner C, Benkert B, Havener M, et al. (2016) Complicated sea urchin-induced wound infection caused by *Vibrio alginolyticus* and *Staphylococcus lugdunensis* in a 14-year-old boy. JMM Case Rep 3: e005074.
- Neill MA, Carpenter CC (2015) Other pathogenic vibrios. (Eighth edn). Mandell, Douglas and Bennett's Principles and Practice of Infectious Diseases pp. 2480-2484.
- Lee DY, Moon SY, Lee SO, Yang HY, Lee HJ, et al. (2008) Septic shock due to *Vibrio alginolyticus* in a cirrhotic patient: the first case in Korea. Yonsei Med J 49: 329-332.
- Zanetti S, Deriu A, Volterra L, Falchi MP, Molicotti P, et al. (2000) Virulence factors in *Vibrio alginolyticus* strains isolated from aquatic environments. Ann Ig 12: 487-491.
- Pezzlo M, Valter PJ, Burns MJ (1979) Wound infection associated with Vibrio alginolyticus. Am J Clin Pathol 71: 476-478.
- 8. Escudero MM, del Pozo LJ, Jubert E, Riera M (2015) Cutaneous ulcer at the

Page 6 of 6

site of radiation-induced dermatitis caused by infection with *Vibrio alginolyticus*. Actas Dermosifiliogr 106: 774-775.

- Li J, Yie J, Fu W, Foo RW, Hu Y, et al. (1999) Antibiotic resistance and plasmid profiles of *Vibrio* isolates from cultured *Sparus sarba*. Wei Sheng Wu Xue Bao 39: 461-468.
- French GL, Woo ML, Hui YW, Chan KY (1989) Antimicrobial susceptibilities of halophilic vibrios. J Antimicrob Chemother 24: 183-194.
- Conrad (2013) Trends in vibriosis transmission among the top four Vibrio species. United States, 1988-2012. MPH thesis, Georgia State University, Atlanta, GA, USA.
- CLSI (2015a) Methods for antimicrobial dilution and disk susceptibility testing of infrequently isolated or fastidious bacteria; 3rd edn, M45. PA: Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute.
- Soler L, Yanez MA, Chacon MR, Aguilera-Arreola MG, Catalan V, st al. (2004) Phylogenetic analysis of the genus *Aeromonas* based on two housekeeping genes. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol 54: 1511-1519.
- 14. Rubin SJ, Tilton RC (1975) Isolation of Vibrio alginolyticus from wound infections. J Clin Microbiol 2: 556-558.
- Patterson TF, Bell SR, Bia FJ (1988) Vibrio alginolyticus cellulitis following coral injury. Yale J Biol Med 61: 507-512.
- Hartley JW, West E, Gothard WP, Hanan HW (1991) Vibrio alginolyticus in the U.K. J Infect 23: 223.
- Ardic N, Ozyurt M (2004) Case report: Otitis due to Vibrio alginolyticus. Mikrobiyol Bul 38: 145-148.
- Horii T, Morita M, Muramatsu H, Monji A, Miyagishima D, et al. (2005) Antibiotic resistance in *Aeromonas hydrophila* and *Vibrio alginolyticus* isolated from a wound infection: a case report. J Trauma 58: 196-200.
- Campanelli A, Sanchez-Politta S, Saurat JH (2008) Cutaneous ulceration after an octopus bite: infection due to *Vibrio alginolyticus*, an emerging pathogen. Ann Dermatol Venereol 135: 225-227.
- Sganga G, Cozza V, Spanu T, Spada PL, Fadda G (2009) Global climate change and wound care: case study of an off-season *Vibrio alginolyticus* infection in a healthy man. Ostomy Wound Manage 55: 60-62.
- Uh Y, Park JS, Hwang GY, Jang IH, Yoon KJ, et al. (2001) Vibrio alginolyticus acute gastroenteritis: report of two cases. Clin Microbiol Infect 7: 104-106.
- Hiratsuka M, Saitoh Y, Yamane N (1980) The isolation of Vibrio alginolyticus from a patient with acute entero-colitis. Tohoku J Exp Med 132: 469-472.
- Caccamese SM, Rastegar DA (1999) Chronic diarrhea associated with Vibrio alginolyticus in an immunocompromised patient. Clin Infect Dis 29: 946-947.
- Opal SM, Saxon JR (1986) Intracranial infection by Vibrio alginolyticus following injury in salt water. J Clin Microbiol 23: 373-374.
- Lopes CM, Rabadao EM, Ventura C, da Cunha S, Corte-Real R, et al. (1993) A case of Vibrio alginolyticus bacteremia and probable sphenoiditis following a dive in the sea. Clin Infect Dis 17: 299-300.
- Janda JM, Brenden R, Debenedetti JA, Constantino MO, Robin T (1986) Vibrio alginolyticus bacteriemia in an immunocompromised patient. Diagn Infect Dis 5: 337-340.
- Ho PL, Tang WM, Lo KS, Yuen KY (1998) Necrotizing fasciitis due to Vibrio alginolyticus following an injury inflicted by a stingray. Scand J Infect Dis 30: 192-193.
- Gomez JM, Fajardo R, Patino JF, Arias CA (2003) Necrotizing fasciitis due to Vibrio alginolyticus in an immunocompetent patient. J Clin Microbiol 41: 3427-3429.

- Jacobs Slifka KM, Newton AE, Mahon BE (2017) Vibrio alginolyticus infections in the USA, 1988-2012. Epidemiol Infect 145: 1491-1499.
- Chakraborty S, Nair GB, Shinoda S (1997) Pathogenic vibrios in the natural aquatic environment. Rev Environ Health 12: 63-80.
- Morris JG Jr, Black RE (1985) Cholera and other vibrioses in the United States. N Engl J Med 312: 343-350.
- 32. Liu H, Gu D, Sheng L, Wang Q, Zhang Y (2012) Investigation of the roles of T6SS genes in motility, biofilm formation, and extracellular protease Asp production in *Vibrio alginolyticus* with modified Gateway-compatible plasmids. Lett Appl Microbiol 55: 73-81.
- Hernandez-Robles MF, Alvarez-Contreras AK, Juarez-Garcia P, Natividad-Bonifacio I, Curiel-Quesada E, et al. (2016) Virulence factors and antimicrobial resistance in environmental strains of *Vibrio alginolyticus*. Int Microbiol 19: 191-198.
- Ottaviani D, Bacchiocchi I, Masini L, Leoni F, Carraturo A, et al. (2001) Antimicrobial susceptibility of potentially pathogenic halophilic vibrios isolated from seafood. Int J Antimicrob Agents 18: 135-140.
- 35. Lajnef R, Snoussi M, Romalde JL, Nozha C, Hassen A (2012) Comparative study on the antibiotic susceptibility and plasmid profiles of *Vibrio alginolyticus* strains isolated from four Tunisian marine biotopes. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 28: 3345-3363.
- Thompson FL, lida T, Swings J (2004) Biodiversity of vibrios. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 68: 403-431.
- O'Hara CM, Sowers EG, Bopp CA, Duda SB, Strockbine NA (2003) Accuracy of six commercially available systems for identification of members of the family *Vibrionaceae*. J Clin Microbiol 41: 5654-5659.
- Chacon MR, Castro-Escarpulli G, Soler L, Guarro J, Figueras MJ (2002) A DNA probe specific for Aeromonas colonies. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis 44: 221-225.
- Abbott SL, Seli LS, Catino M Jr, Hartley MA, Janda JM (1998) Misidentification of unusual Aeromonas species as members of the genus Vibrio: a continuing problem. J Clin Microbiol 36: 1103-1104.
- Soler L, Marco F, Vila J, Chacon MR, Guarro J, et al. (2003) Evaluation of two miniaturized systems, MicroScan W/A and BBL Crystal E/NF, for identification of clinical isolates of *Aeromonas* spp. J Clin Microbiol 41: 5732-5734.
- Lamy B, Laurent F, Verdier I, Decousser JW, Lecaillon E, et al (2010) Accuracy of six commercial systems for identifying clinical *Aeromonas* isolates. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis 67: 9-14.
- Latif-Eugenin F, Beaz-Hidalgo R, Figueras MJ (2016) A culture independent method for the detection of *Aeromonas* sp. from water samples. Ital J Food Saf 5: 5489.
- 43. Donohue MJ, Smallwood AW, Pfaller S, Rodgers M, Shoemaker JA (2006) The development of a matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization mass spectrometry-based method for the protein fingerprinting and identification of *Aeromonas* species using whole cells. J Microbiol Methods 65: 380-389.
- Murray PR (2010) Matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry: usefulness for taxonomy and epidemiology. Clin Microbiol Infect 16: 1626-1630.
- 45. Almuzara M, Barberis C, Velazquez VR, Ramirez MS, Famiglietti A, et al. (2016) Matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization-time-of-flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS) as a reliable tool to identify species of catalase-negative ram-positive Cocci not belonging to the *Streptococcus* genus. Open Microbiol J 10: 202-208.
- 46. Erler R, Wichels A, Heinemeyer EA, Hauk G, Hippelein M, et al. (2015) VibrioBase: A MALDI-TOF MS database for fast identification of *Vibrio* spp. that are potentially pathogenic in humans. Syst Appl Microbiol 38: 16-25.

4.4. A case of *Aeromonas trota* in an immunocompromised patient with diarrhea

(In preparation, pending to be submitted to BMC Infectious Diseases)

Results

A case of Aeromonas trota in an immunocompromised patient with diarrhea.

Ana Fernández-Bravo¹, Isabel Fort-Gallifa², Frederic Ballester-Bastaride², Isabel Pujol^{1,2}, Frederic Gòmez-Bertomeu^{1,3}, Mariola Domínguez⁴, Miquel Micó⁵, Eva Alcoceba⁵, Josep Maria Simó-Sisó², Maria José Figueras¹.

¹Unidad de Microbiología, Departamento de Ciencias Médicas Básicas, Facultad de Medicina y Ciencias de la Salud, IISPV, Universidad Rovira i Virgili, Reus, Spain

²Hospital Universitari Sant Joan de Reus-Laboratori de Referència de Tarragona i Terres de l'Ebre, Reus, Spain

³Hospital Universitari Joan XXIII-Hospital Universitari Sant Joan de Reus-Laboratori de Referència de Tarragona i Terres de l'Ebre- Facultat de Medicina i Ciències de la Salut, IISPV, Universitat Rovira i Virgili, Reus, Spain

⁴Hospital de la Santa Creu i Jesús, Tortosa, Spain

⁵Laboratori de Referència de Catalunya, Barcelona, Spain

* Corresponding author

Maria José Figueras

Tel: +34 977759321; fax: +34 977759322.

E-mail address: mariajose.figueras@urv.cat

Doctoral thesis

Ana Fernández Bravo

Abstract

According to the recent literature 96.5% of the Aeromonas strains associated to clinical cases correspond to 4 species: Aeromonas caviae, Aeromonas dhakensis, Aeromonas veronii, and Aeromonas hydrophila. However, other less prevalent species such as Aeromonas trota, are also described from clinical samples. On the basis of its low incidence the latter species can be regarded as rare and it is the only Aeromonas species susceptible to ampicillin. From the taxonomic point of view A. trota is considered a synonym of the species Aeromonas enteropelogenes. The objective of this study is to present a new clinical case associated with A. trota in order to increase the knowledge about this species. The strain was recovered from the feces of a 69-year-old patient with a diarrheal syndrome and peritoneal psamocarcinoma. The preliminary identification as Aeromonas sp. was obtained with the API 20E, but it was characterized as Aeromonas jandei and also as Aeromonas enteropelogenes with different scores with the Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption Ionization Time of Flight (MALDI-TOF). On the basis of the sequence of the rpoD gene it was confirmed to be A. trota. The antimicrobial resistance pattern showed that the strain was susceptible to ampicillin, penicillins in with beta-lactamase inhibitors, quinolones, combination carbapenems, aminoglycosides and cephalosporins, except cephalothin. In conclusion, the recognition of an Aeromonas strain susceptible to ampicillin should alert the clinical microbiologist of the possible involvement of this rare species. Furthermore, the MALDI-TOF database should be updated indicating that the species A. enteropelogenes, is a synonym of A. trota.

Keywords: Aeromonas trota, Aeromonas enteropelogenes, ampicillin, MALDI-TOF.

Results

Introduction

The genus Aeromonas includes more than 32 species, some of which are distributed in the environment and are considered autochthonous of aquatic systems (Janda and Abbott, 2010; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2015; Figueras and Ashbolt, 2019). Aeromonas are considered emerging pathogens that cause a wide spectrum of diseases in humans, mainly gastroenteritis, bacteremia and wound infections, being able to infect both immunocompromised and immunocompetent patients (Janda and Abbott, 2010; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2015; Teunis and Figueras, 2016). Recent literature showed that 96.5% of the strains associated to clinical cases correspond to 4 species: Aeromonas caviae (29.9%), Aeromonas dhakensis (26.3%), Aeromonas veronii (24.8%) and Aeromonas hydrophila (15.5%) (Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015), but other less prevalent species, such as Aeromonas trota (0.5%), are also described from clinical samples. Therefore, on the basis of the low incidence, A. trota can be regarded as a rare species. This species is considered a synonym of the species Aeromonas enteropelogenes and both have been isolated from feces of patients with diarrhea, and are the only Aeromonas species susceptible to ampicillin (Schubert et al. 1990; Carnahan et al., 1991; Collins et al., 1993; Huys et al 2002).

This study describes a case of diarrhea produced by a strain of *A. trota* and provides the results of the antimicrobial pattern determined with the MicroScan WalkAway. The isolate was first identified with API 20E and re-identified with Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption Ionization Time of Flight (MALDI-TOF), and on the basis of the sequences of the *rpoD* gene phylogeny (Soler et al., 2004).

Case Report

69-year old female with a previously peritoneal psamocarcinoma and a colostomy performed a few years ago was hospitalized on January at the emergency department of University Hospital Sant Joan de Reus in Spain, with an episode of deterioration of her general condition and abdominal pain with bleeding soft stools and without fever. In addition, her skin was pale, but hydration was correct, and the abdomen

Doctoral thesis

Ana Fernández Bravo

examination showed normal findings. The blood test performed at the moment of hospitalization revealed an acute renal failure with creatinine values of 4.5 mg/dL and 157 mg/dL, pH values were in the normal range, and she did not present anemia. With all the data the patient was diagnosed with a diarrheal syndrome and a stool sample was collected for the analysis of bacteria, viruses and parasites. An intravenously treatment with imipenem ciprofloxacin 200 mg /100 mL every twelve hours was empirically initiated, during eleven days. After this time, the patient seemed recovered from her abdominal episode.

The analysis of viruses and parasites showed to be negative but a cultured on Xilose Lysine Deoxycholate agar (XLD) (BioMerieux ®, Marc l'Etoile, France) after 24 hours at 37°C was positive. The isolate 1183C was identified as Aeromonas sp. based on phenotypic tests as oxidase production and the API 20E (BioMerieux®, Marc l'Etoile, France). Considering these results, a second identification with the MALDI-TOF Biotyper (Bruker®) was performed in two independent laboratories (four replicates in each laboratory) with different versions of the Biotyper database (V4 and V5) and the results are shown in Table 1. One result of MALDI-TOF showed a lower score than 2.0 (V4), and a higher score than 2.0 (V5) for A. jandaei, while three results presented a higher score than 2.0 (V4 and V5) for A. enteropelogenes (Table 1). The antibiotic susceptibility was performed with MicroScan Walkaway (Siemens®) and the results were analyzed according to the CLSI guidelines (CLSI, 2015). This strain was susceptible to ampicillin and penicillin in combination with beta-lactamase inhibitors, quinolones, carbapenems, aminoglycosides and cephalosporins, with the exception of cephalothin (Table 2). The resistance pattern of the strain was compatible with A. trota, the only species of the genus along with its synonym A. enteropelogenes susceptible to ampicillin (Janda and Abbott, 2010; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2015). Similarly, the MicroScan WalkAway (Siemens®) could not define the species, but the isolate was identified at genus level as Aeromonas sp.

The isolate 1183C was sent to the Unit of Microbiology at the University Rovira i Virgili for re-identification by using the sequences of *rpoD* gene, as it was carried

Results

out routinely for all isolates identified as *Aeromonas* sp. at the hospital. The DNA extraction, amplification and sequencing were performed by using primers and conditions previously described (Soler et al., 2004). A BlastN analysis with the obtained *rpoD* sequence revealed 99% similarity with a strain of *A. enteropelogenes*. Likewise, the phylogenetic tree constructed with the *rpoD* gene of the strain 1183C and the sequences of the type strains of all the *Aeromonas* spp. with a Neighbor-Joining (NJ) algorithm revealed that the sequence of the isolated strain clustered with the sequences of the type strain of *A. enteropelogenes* and the one of *A. trota* demonstrating that the strain belongs to these species, as indicated before they are synonyms (Figure 1).

Discussion

Species of the genus Aeromonas are considered opportunistic emerging pathogens that cause diarrhea, bacteremia and wound infections (Janda and Abbott, 2010; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015). This bacterium is mainly an enteric pathogen that affects with higher frequency children. elderly people. and immunocompromised individuals. The incidence of diarrhea caused by Aeromonas in children range from 2% to 13%, and in adults from 2% to 7% when the individuals are immunocompetent, however, it rises to 13% in immunocompromised individuals (Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015). The species A. trota, has been isolated in association with diarrhea with a prevalence of 0.5% and it is considered a rare species (Carnahan et al., 1991; Collins et al., 1993; Reina and Lopez, 1996; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015). Other data that support the enteropathogenicity of A. trota is the capacity to develop diarrhea in a healthy laboratory worker after and accidental ingestion of a pure culture suspension or the results of an experimental infection in a murine animal model (Singh and Sanyal 1997; Teunis and Figueras, 2016) Nevertheless, the description of cases associated with A. trota are rare. The first case report published due to A. trota associated with diarrhea, after the species description in 1991, dates back to 1996, and corresponded to a 3-yearold boy that presented a mucous diarrhea not associated with other clinical manifestations (Reina and Lopez, 1996). Our case report is important since it

Doctoral thesis

Ana Fernández Bravo

represents, according to our knowledge, the second case of diarrhea due to *A. trota*, and it is the first one reported in adults.

Previous studies described *A. trota* as a rare species, being, as mentioned before, the only species of the genus susceptible to ampicillin (Carnahan, 1991; Overman and Janda, 1999; Huys et al., 2002; Abbott et al., 2003; Lai et al., 2007; Dallagassa et al., 2018). Also, it has been described as resistant to cephalotin (Carnahan et al., 1991; Abbott et al., 2003). The strain isolated from our patient showed a similar resistant pattern to ampicillin and cephalotin.

In 1993 Collins et al. demonstrated based on the 16S rRNA gene sequence analysis that *A. trota* (Carnahan et al., 1991) and *A. enteropelogenes* (Schubert et al., 1990) were identical, with a similarity of 100% between the sequences of the type strains. The first species was isolated from feces collected in south-eastern Asia and the second was isolated from human feces in India. In addition, Huys et al. (2002) confirmed with the DNA-DNA hybridization studies, as well as with phenotypic data that these strains represented the same species. The DNA-DNA hybridization values between the strains of the two species was 81%-99%, clearly above the 70% cut-off established to delimit different species, showing values of 40%-49% when comparing these two species with other non-related species as *A. caviae* and *A. sobria* (Huys et al., 2002). In addition, none of the 60 different phenotypical tests enabled to discriminate the type strain of *A. trota* and *A. enteropelogenes* which also showed the same antibiotic susceptibility pattern (Huys et al., 2002).

On the basis of the Judicial Commission, *A. enteropelogenes* has nomenclatural priority, since this species was previously described (Schubert et al., 1990; Carnahan et al., 1991). The name *A. enteropelogenes* was included in the Validation List no.38 (Schubert et al., 1990), while the name of *A. trota* was announced in the Validation List no. 40 (Carnahan et al., 1991). However, *A. trota* has been more used by the scientific community (Nair and Holmes, 1999; Nair and Holmes, 2002; Huys et al., 2002; Holmes and Farmer, 2009). A recent PubMed search (04/21/2019) using "*Aeromonas trota*" yielded 55 citations, while a similar request using "*Aeromonas*

Results

enteropelogenes" produced only 20 records. A Request for an Opinion is necessary to change the nomenclature.

The MALDI-TOF is a fast and useful tool employed in many hospitals for the fast identification of bacteria, including those of the genus Aeromonas and it showed to be more precise than the phenotypic methods (Lamy et al., 2010; Pérez-Sancho et al., 2018). The validation of MALDI-TOF carried out by comparing the obtained results with those of molecular reference methods for the *Aeromonas* identification. such as the sequences of housekeeping genes (Lamy et al., 2010: Pérez-Sancho et al., 2018). The fact that the Biotyper database have few representatives of just a single representative of each species, can hinder the correct identification of the species (Lamy et al., 2010; Pérez-Sancho et al., 2018). Aeromonas have changed continuously with the description of new taxa and reclassifications, synonyms, such as "Aeromonas punctata" for A. caviae, "Aeromonas trota" for Aeromonas enteropelogenes, and "Aeromonas ichthiosmia" for A. veronii are examples. However, the names of species not used, such as A. ichthiosmia, A. punctata or A. enteropelogenes are included in the Biotyper database (Vávrová et al., 2014) in parallel with the correct names without advising that they are synonyms. This is a problem in the clinical field, because the clinicians do not work with taxonomy and might think that these synonyms represent different species. On the basis of these observations we believe that it is important that the Biotyper database updates the taxonomic information indicating that the species A. enteropelogenes, is similar to A. trota.

Conclusion

The study intends to alert clinicians that the recognition of an *Aeromonas* strain susceptible to ampicillin may represent a strain of *A. trota* and advise a need for updating the MALDI-TOF database indicating that the species *A. enteropelogenes*, is similar to *A. trota*.

Doctoral thesis

Ana Fernández Bravo

Funding

The projects JPIW2013-095-C03-03 of MINECO (Spain) and AQUAVALENS of the Seventh Framework Program (FP/2007-2013) gran agreement 311846 from the European Union supported the study.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank all staff in the University Hospital Joan XXII (Tarragona/Spain).

Conflict of interests

The author(s) declare that they have no competing interests.

Author's contribution

IFG, FBB, IP, FGB, MD, MM, EA and JMSS obtained the data of the patient, as well as worked with the strain for the preliminary identification. AFB and MJF, reidentified the strain ans wrote the manuscript.

References

Janda, J. M., & Abbott, S. L. (2010). The genus *Aeromonas*: taxonomy, pathogenicity, and infection. *Clinical microbiology reviews*, 23(1), 35-73.

Figueras, M. J., & Beaz-Hidalgo, R. (2015). *Aeromonas* infections in humans. *Aeromonas*, 65-108.

Figueras Salvat, M. J. & Ashbolt, N. (2019). *Aeromonas*. In: J.B. Rose and B. Jiménez-Cisneros, (eds) *Global Water Pathogen Project*.

Teunis, P., & Figueras, M. J. (2016). Reassessment of the enteropathogenicity of mesophilic *Aeromonas* species. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 7, 1395.

Schubert, R. H. W., Hegazi, M., & Wahlig, W. (1990). Aeromonas enteropelogenes species nova. Hyg Med, 15(47), 1-472.

Carnahan, A. M., Chakraborty, T., Fanning, G. R., Verma, D., Ali, A., Janda, J. M., et al. (1991). *Aeromonas trota* sp. nov., an ampicillin-susceptible species

Results

isolated from clinical specimens. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 29(6), 1206-1210.

Collins, M. D., Martinez-Murcia, A. J., & Cai, J. (1993). Aeromonas enteropelogenes and Aeromonas ichthiosmia are identical to Aeromonas trota and Aeromonas veronii, respectively, as revealed by small-subunit rRNA sequence analysis. International journal of systematic bacteriology, 43(4), 855-856.

Huys, G., Denys R., & Swings, J. (2002). DNA-DNA reassociation and phenotypic data indicate synonymy between *Aeromonas enteropelogenes* Schubert et al. 1990 and *Aeromonas trota* Denys Carnahan et al. 1991. *International journal of systematic and evolutionary microbiology*, 52(6), 1969-1972.

CLSI (2015) Methods for antimicrobial dilution and disk susceptibility testing of infrequently isolated or fastidious bacteria; 3rd edn, M45. PA: Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute.

Soler, L., Yanez, M. A., Chacon, M. R., Aguilera-Arreola, M. G., Catalán, V., Figueras, M. J., & Martínez-Murcia, A. J. (2004). Phylogenetic analysis of the genus *Aeromonas* based on two housekeeping genes. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, *54*(5), 1511-1519.

Reina, J., & Lopez, A. (1996). Gastroenteritis caused by *Aeromonas trota* in a child. *Journal of clinical pathology*, 49(2), 173-175.

Singh, D. V., & Sanyal, S. C. (1997). Enteropathogenicity of *Aeromonas jandaei* and *A. trota. FEMS Immunology & Medical Microbiology*, *17*(4), 243-250.

Overman, T. L., & Janda, J. M. (1999). Antimicrobial Susceptibility Patterns of *Aeromonas jandaei, A. schubertii, A. trota*, and *A. veronii* Biotype *veronii*. *Journal of clinical microbiology*, *37*(3), 706-708.

Abbott, S. L., Cheung, W. K., & Janda, J. M. (2003). The genus *Aeromonas*: biochemical characteristics, atypical reactions, and phenotypic identification schemes. *Journal of clinical microbiology*, *41*(6), 2348-2357.

Doctoral thesis

Ana Fernández Bravo

Lai, C. C., Ding, L. W., & Hsueh, P. R. (2007). Wound infection and septic shock due to *Aeromonas trota* in a patient with liver cirrhosis. *Clinical infectious diseases*, 44(11), 1523-1524.

Dallagassa, C. B., Surek, M., Vizzotto, B. S., Prediger, K. C., Moriel, B., Wolf,
S., et al. (2018). Characteristics of an *Aeromonas trota* strain isolated from cerebrospinal fluid. *Microbial pathogenesis*, *116*, 109-112.

Nair, G. B., & Holmes, B. (1999). International Committee on Systematic Bacteriology Subcommittee on the taxonomy of *Vibrionaceae*. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, *49*(4), 1945-1947.

Nair, G. B., & Holmes, B. (2002). International committee on systematic bacteriology: subcommittee on the taxonomy of *Vibrionaceae*. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, *52*(6), 2331-2333.

Holmes, B., & Farmer III, J. J. (2009). International Committee on Systematics of Prokaryotes; Subcommittee on the taxonomy of *Aeromonadaceae*, *Vibrionaceae* and related organisms. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, *59*(10), 2638-2640.

Lamy, B., Laurent, F., Verdier, I., Decousser, J. W., Lecaillon, E., Marchandin,
H., et al. (2010). Accuracy of 6 commercial systems for identifying clinical *Aeromonas* isolates. *Diagnostic microbiology and infectious disease*, 67(1), 9-14.

Pérez-Sancho, M., Cerdá, I., Fernández-Bravo, A., Domínguez, L., Figueras, M. J., Fernández-Garayzábal, J. F., et al. (2018). Limited performance of MALDI-TOF for identification of fish *Aeromonas* isolates at species level. *Journal of fish diseases*, *41*(10), 1485-1493.

Vávrová, A., Balážová, T., Sedláček, I., Tvrzová, L., & Šedo, O. (2015). Evaluation of the MALDI-TOF MS profiling for identification of newly described *Aeromonas* spp. *Folia microbiologica*, *60*(5), 375-383.

Results

Species	V5 Score	V4 Score
A. enteropelogenes	2.182	2.400
A. enteropelogenes	2.118	2.360
A. enteropelogenes	2.049	2.170
A. jandaei	0.035	1.991

Table 1. Results obtained with MALDI-TOF Biotyper in two independent laboratories with different versions of the Biotyper database (V5 and V4).

Table 2. Antibiotic resistance pattern determined with the MicroScan WalkAway

Antibiotimicrobial agents	Result
Penicillins ^a	Susceptible
Quinolones	Susceptible
Carbapenems	Susceptible
Amynoglycosides	Susceptible
Cephalosporins ^b	Susceptible

^aIn combination with beta-lactamase inhibitors;

^bExcept cephalotin

Doctoral thesis



Figure 1. Phylogenetic tree based on *rpoD* gene (397 bp). Numbers at nodes indicate bootstrap values (percentage of 1000 replicates). Bar 0.01 estimated nucleotide substitutions per site.

4.5. Limited performance of MALDI-TOF for identification of fish *Aeromonas* isolates at species level

Pérez-Sancho M., Cerdá I., Fernández-Bravo A., Domínguez L., Figueras MJ., Fernández-Garayzábal JF., Vela AI. (2018). Journal of Fish Diseases. 41:1485-1493.

DOI: 10.1111/jfd.12837

ORIGINAL ARTICLE



WILEY Journal of Fish Diseases

Limited performance of MALDI-TOF for identification of fish Aeromonas isolates at species level

M Pérez-Sancho¹ | I Cerdá¹ | A Fernández-Bravo² | L Domínguez^{1,3} | M J Figueras² | J F Fernández-Garayzábal^{1,3} | A I Vela^{1,3}

¹VISAVET Health Surveillance Centre, Universidad Complutense Madrid, Madrid, Spain

²Facultad de Medicina y Ciencias de la Salud, Unidad de Microbiología, IVSPV, Universitat Rovira i Virgili. Reus. Spain

³Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Animal Health Department, Universidad Complutense Madrid, Madrid, Spain

Correspondence

Jose Francisco Fernández-Garayzábal, Animal Health Department, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Universidad Complutense Madrid 28040 Madrid, Spain. Email: garayzab@vet.ucm.es

Funding information

Regional Government of Madrid structural funds and European Union, Grant/Award Number: S2013/ABI-2747 (TAVS-CM)

Abstract

The aim of this study was to evaluate the usefulness of the MALDI-TOF MS to identify 151 isolates of Aeromonas obtained mostly from diseased fish. MALDI-TOF MS correctly identified all isolates to the genus level but important differences in the percentage of isolates correctly identified depending on the species were observed. Considering exclusively the first identification option. Aeromonas bestiarum. Aeromonas hydrophila. Aeromonas salmonicida. Aeromonas veronii and Aeromonas sobria were the best identified with results >95%. However, considering the first and second identification options, the only species that showed values >90% was A. hydrophila. Overall, when the database was supplemented with 14 new spectra, the number of accurate identifications increased (41% vs. 55%) and the number of inconclusive identifications decreased (45% vs. 29%), but great differences in the success of species-level identifications were found. Species-distinctive mass peaks were identified only for A. hydrophila and A. bestiarum (5003 and 7360 m/z in 95.5% and 94.1% of their isolates, respectively). This work demonstrates the utility of MALDI-TOF MS for Aeromonas identification to the genus level, but there is no consistency for the accurate identification of some of the most prevalent species implicated in fish disease.

KEYWORDS

Aeromonas, bacterial identification, diagnostic performance, fish, MALDI-TOF

1 | INTRODUCTION

Aeromonas are well-known fish pathogens (Beaz-Hidalgo & Figueras, 2013). The species with the highest clinical significance is *Aeromonas salmonicida*, the causative agent of furunculosis, a major disease with high mortality rates that causes great economic losses in aquaculture, particularly affecting salmonids (Beaz-Hidalgo, Alperi, Bujan, Romalde & Figueras, 2010; Khor, Puah, Tan, Puthucheary & Chua, 2015; Menanteau-Ledouble & El-Matbouli, 2016). Other species, such as *A hydrophila, Aeromonas bestiarum, A. veronii* and *Aeromonas sobria* have also been associated with diseases in fish (Beaz-Hidalgo & Figueras, 2013; Kozinska, 2007; Orozova, Barker, Austin & Austin, 2009; Rasmussen-Ivey et al., 2016; Yi et al., 2013).

The identification of *Aeromonas* isolates in clinical microbiological laboratories has been mostly based on different biochemical tests or the use of commercially identification kits or automatic or semiautomatic systems (Lamy et al., 2010; Ormen, Granum, Lassen & Figueras, 2005; Soler et al., 2003). Both approaches may give inconsistent results, confusing different species of the genus or misidentifying *Aeromonas* as members of the genus *Vibrio* (Deng et al., 2014; Janda & Abbott, 2010; Lamy et al., 2010; Rychert et al., 2015). The 16S rRNA sequencing is a not conclusive identification method (Soler et al., 2004), although correct identification can be achieved by sequencing other housekeeping genes (Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2010; Martinez-Murcia et al., 2005; Soler et al., 2004). Nonetheless, sequencing approach can be costly and time-consuming

being not available for routine diagnosis in many clinical laboratories. Several species-specific polymerase chain reaction (PCR) assays have been developed for most of the *Aeromonas* with clinical relevance (Beaz-Hidalgo, Latif-Eugenin & Figueras, 2013) but the diversity of species of this genus associated with disease in fish and the difficulty for an etiological presumptive diagnosis based on the clinical symptoms (Bunnajirakul, Pavasutthipaisit & Steinhagen, 2015) might impair their routine use.

Matrix-Assisted Laser Desorption Ionization-Time of Flight Mass Spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS) has been successfully implemented for the identification of different bacterial genera of relevance in aquaculture (Regecova et al., 2014). Several studies have also shown that MALDI-TOF MS could presumably efficiently identify *Aeromonas* species (Benagli et al., 2012; Chen et al., 2014; Deng et al., 2014; Donohue, Smallwood, Pfaller, Rodgers & Shoemaker, 2006; Donohue et al., 2007; Lamy, Kodjo, Laurent & Col, 2011; Rychert et al., 2015). Most of these studies have included environmental or human strains but no specific studies including a relatively large number of isolates from diseased fish are available. Thus, the aim of this study was to evaluate the utility of MALDI-TOF MS for the identification of a collection of clinical isolates belonging to different species of the genus *Aeromonas*, including the most prevalent and clinical relevant species in aquaculture.

2 | MATERIAL AND METHODS

2.1 | Bacterial isolates and identification

The study included 151 Aeromonas isolates mostly recovered from diseased animals in different fish farms from different countries (Spain, USA, Italy, Mexico, and Norway), as part of routine bacteriological analysis between 1999 and 2015. The isolates belonged to the species A. veronii (n = 31), A. salmonicida (n = 29), A. sobria (n = 27), A. hydrophila (n = 22), A. bestiarum (n = 17), Aeromonas popoffii (n = 13), Aeromonas media (n = 4), A. dhakensis (n = 3), Aeromonas piscicola (n = 2), Aeromonas allosaccharophila, Aeromonas encheleia, and A. caviae (n = 1/each). Isolates were identified to the genus level using API 20E system (bioMérieux, Marcy l'Etoile, France). Most isolates were recovered from European eel (Anguilla Anguilla) and rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) but also from other fish species such asgilthead seabream (Sparus aurata), Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar), Koi carp (Cyprinus carpio) or tench (Tinca tinca). Identification to the species level was achieved by rpoD sequencing (Soler et al., 2004), which has been considered the gold standard technique in the present study. The sequences were compared with those of other Gram-negative catalase-positive species available in the GenBank database, using the BLAST program (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/BLAST).

2.2 | MALDI-TOF MS analysis: sample preparation

Isolates were grown on blood agar plates (bioMérieux, Marcy l'Étoile, France) and incubated at 25°C for 24 hr in aerobic conditions. Bacterial proteins were extracted using an acetonitrile/formic acid extraction protocol performed in accordance with the manufacturer's instructions (Bruker Daltonik, Bremen, Germany). Briefly, cells from representative bacterial colonies were resuspended in 300 μ l of HPLC-grade water and mixed vigorously prior to 900 μ l of HPLC-grade ethanol being added. Tubes with inactivated cells were centrifuged (16,000 g for 2 min), the supernatant was discarded and bacterial pellets were centrifuged again (16,000 g for 2 min). Ethanol was removed allowing pellet to dry at room temperature. Formic acid (30 μ l, 70%) was added and mixed by vortexing. After this, the same volume of pure acetronitrile was added and mixed by vortexing. Centrifugation at 16,000 g for 2 min was performed. Immediately after protein extraction, one microlitre of each extract was spotted onto a 384-spot polished steel target plate, allowed dry at room temperature and overlaid with one microlitre of 10 mg/ml of HCCA (α -cyano-4-hydroxycinnamic acid) matrix solution (Standard Solvent, Sigma Aldrich).

2.3 | MALDI-TOF MS data acquisition and Biotyper classification

Samples were analysed using a Bruker Daltonics UltrafleXtreme MALDI-TOF/TOF equipment and the FlexControl software v. 3.0 (Brucker Daltonics, Bremen, Germany) for the acquisition of mass spectra, within a mass range from 2 to 20 kDa. The Biotyper Real Time Classification software v3.1 (Brucker Daltonics) was used for microbial identification by comparison of the spectra with the corresponding database provided by the manufacturer (MALDI Biotyper database, 5989 entries, Bruker Daltonics). This software generates a score, ranging from 0 to 3, showing the similarity between sample and reference spectra, and displays the top 10 matching results with the highest scores. The reliability of the identification was evaluated according to the standard manufacture interpretative criteria: \geq 2.000: identification at species level with high confidence; 1.999-1.800: identification with low confidence and ≤1.799: nonreliable identification. When the score value obtained was <2.300, the extraction protocol and MALDI-TOF MS analysis were repeated twice.

In this study, we have evaluated the consistency of MALDI-TOF identification results considering the two best matches identification results provided by MALDI-TOF Biotyper establishing the following categories: A, the correct species is the unique species with score value \geq 2.000, B) the correct species is first ranked but a different species in the second rank is also with score value \geq 2.000; C) first and second matches have score values \geq 2.000 but the correct species is second ranked; D), first and second matches have score values \geq 2.000 but the correct species is not first neither second ranked. Those isolates within consistence categories A are considered inconclusively identified and those within the D category are considered misidentified.

2.4 Supplementation of MALDI database

A set of randomly selected isolates (n = 14) belonging to the species A. bestiarum, A. dhakensis, A. hydrophila, A. piscicola, A. popoffii,

A. salmonicida, A. sobria, A. veronii were used to create Main Spectra (MSP) for supplementation of the Bruker MALDI-TOF MS database (version 3.4: 5989 entries). Two new entries per species were included except in the case of A. dhakensis and A. piscicola in which only one entry was included due to the limitation in the number of isolates available (n = 3 and n = 2, respectively). The MSP were generated using 20-24 spectra for each Aeromonas isolate (three subsequent measurements at 8 different spots) according to manufacturer's instructions. These MSP contain the average mass/charge and intensity of more representative peaks of each species, in addition to the prevalence of these ions. After MSP creation, the remaining isolates of these species (n = 137) were identified using the in-house database (entries of BDAL Biotyper Database plus 14 new Aeromonas MSP) as described above for the external validation of the new MSP and to assess the suitability of MALDI-TOF MS technique for the differentiation of Aeromonas species potentially present on clinical samples of fish.

2.5 Identification of species-specific biomarkers and cluster analysis

Visual inspection of three spectra for each isolate was performed using the FlexAnalysis software (version 3.0, Bruker Daltonics) between 4,000 and 8,000 Da because most of the differential mass ions were detected within this spectra range. Spectra were grouped according to species they belonged in order to facilitate the comparison between species. After performing smoothing, baseline subtraction and peak picking, an in depth-evaluation of the spectra was carried out to detect the presence of differential species biomarkers. A peak shift of 500 ppm was accepted in the present study. Peaks were considered potential species-specific candidates when they showed an intensity of at least 500 arbitrary units (a.u.), and when they were present in at least 80% of the species spectra. Finally, a 2D peak distribution was performed using ClinProTools software (version 3.0, Bruker Daltonics) in order to assess the association between MALDI profiles of different test Aeromonas species.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION 3

All isolates were correctly identified to the genus level, but important differences in the percentage of isolates correctly identified were detected among the different species (Table 1). Identification of Aeromonas has been usually based exclusively in the first score of the identification-ranking list provided by Biotyper (Chen et al., 2014; Vavrova, Balazova, Sedlacek, Tvrzova & Sedo, 2015). Considering exclusively the first match in the identification, the best results (ranging from 89.7% to 100%) were obtained for the species A. encheleia, A. bestiarum, A. hydrophila, A. salmonicida and A. sobria. For instance, the single isolate of A. encheleia was correctly identified while the percentage of correct identification was 94.1%, 95.5%, 89.7% and 96.3% for isolates of A. bestiarum, A. hydrophila, A. salmonicida and A. sobria, respectively (score values >2.0). These

rates of accurate identification are similar to those reported previously for these species (Benagli et al., 2012; Chen et al., 2014; Donohue et al., 2006; Lamy et al., 2011). However, the percentage of accurate identification for isolates of A. media. A. popoffii and A. veronii were 50%, 38.5% and 71.0%, respectively (Table 1). These percentages were slightly lower to those reported by other authors (Benagli et al., 2012; Chen et al., 2014; Donohue et al., 2006; Lamy et al., 2011). The three A. dhakensis isolates were misidentified as A. hydrophila and the two isolates of A. piscicola were identified as A. salmonicida and A. bestiarum, all of them with scores >2.0.

Previous studies indicate that identification results considering exclusively in the first identification option provided by Biotyper is not the best approach for an accurate identification, being necessary to evaluate also at least the score value of the second identification option (Lamy et al., 2011; Perez-Sancho et al., 2017). For this reason, we have evaluated the consistency of MALDI-TOF identification results taking into consideration the 2 best scores provided by MALDI-TOF Biotyper (consistence categories A-D, see M&M and Tables 1 and 3). Thus, those isolates within consistence categories A were considered accurately identified, those within categories B and C were considered inconclusively identified and those within the D category were considered misidentified (see Table 2). Following this criterion, the 91% and 65.5% of the A. hydrophila and A. salmonicida isolates, respectively, were accurately identified, while most isolates of A veronii. A sobria and A bestiarum gave inconclusive identifications (Table 2). The small differences in the latter three species between the first and second identification scores (averaged differences of 0.094), that in most cases were >2.0 (Table 1; categories B-C), hindering their unambiguous identification. Most isolates of A. popoffii (8/13) were misidentified with different species of Aeromonas (Tables 1 and 2). Overall, the more stringent identification criterion used in this study significantly reduced the correct identification rates compared with the results reported by other authors (Benagli et al., 2012; Chen et al., 2014; Donohue et al., 2007; Lamy et al., 2011) but increases the identification reliability.

The detection and identification of genus- and species-specific mass peaks can be useful for bacterial identification (Holland et al., 1999, 2000). A single peak analysis was performed in the range of 4,000-8,000 Da, that included most of the potential biomarkers, and the peak list of each species (Table 3) compared with previous studies. A number of peak masses (4,256, 4,700, 5,049, 6,304 and 6,480 m/z) were found in all the Aeromonas species included in this study and most of them were also identified by Donohue et al. (2006). Moreover, in those species with higher number of isolates (A. hydrophila, A. popofii, A. bestiarum, A. sobria, A. veronii and A. salmonicida; Table 3), these mass peaks were consistently present in the great majority (>80%) of their isolates. Therefore, these peaks could be considered potential genus-characteristic ions. Additionally, some specific mass ions were observed only in the spectra of a particular species (Supporting Information Table S1). However, in those species with more than 10 isolates, only some of these peaks were consistently identified among the isolates of the corresponding species. The mass peaks 5,003 and 7,360 m/z were present in the

TABLE 1 Identification results using the Biotyper database for a total of 151 Aeromonas isolates mostly recovered from diseased fish

Species	N	1rst Identification ^a	2nd Identification ^a	Consistency ^b
A. allosaccharophila	1	A. allosaccharophila (2.238)	A. veronii (2.291)	В
A. bestiarum	5	A. bestiarum (2.125–2.300)	A. bestiarum (2.066–2.234)	А
	1	A. bestiarum (2.013)	A. salmonicida (1.990)	A
	4	A. bestiarum (2.110–2.261)	A. salmonicida (2.049–2.196)	В
	6	A. bestiarum (2.215–2.329)	A. eucrenophila (2.176–2.271)	В
	1	A. salmonicida (2.286)	A. bestiarum (2.255)	С
A. caviae	1	A. cavie (2.252)	A. hydrophila (2.159)	В
A. dhakensis	3	A. hydrophila (2.219–2.267)	A. veronii (2.078–2.213)	D
A. encheleia	1	A. encheleia (2.219)	A. encheleia (2.010)	A
A. hydrophila	20	A. hydrophila (2.244–2.482)	A. hydrophila (2.168–2.435)	А
	1	A. hydrophila (2.351)	A. veronii (2.329)	В
	1	A. salmonicida (2.259)	A. salmonicida (2.200)	D
A. media	1	A. media (2.227)	A. cavie (2.127)	В
	1	A. media (2.167)	A. veronii (2.166)	В
	1	A. eucrenophila (2.016)	A. hydrophila (1.999)	D
	1	A. hydrophila (2.173)	A. veronii (2.170)	D
A. piscícola	1	A. salmonicida (2.131)	A. bestiarum (2.072)	D
	1	A. bestiarum (2.263)	A. salmonicida (2.184)	D
A. popoffii	4	A. popoffii (2.174–2.344)	A. salmonicida (2.121–2.269)	В
	1	A. popoffii (2.335)	A. bestiarum (2.272)	В
	3	A. bestiarum (2.256–2,346)	A. salmonicida (2.090–2.250)	D
	2	A. bestiarum (2.212–2.332)	A. bestiarum (2.072–2.108)	D
	2	A. bestiarum (2.213–2.288)	A. eucrenophila (2.186–2.230)	D
	1	A. salmonicida (2.131)	A. bestiarum (2.072)	D
A. salmonicida	19	A. salmonicida (2.178–2.440)	A. salmonicida (2.097–2.350)	A
	5	A. salmonicida (2.141–2.403)	A. bestiarum (2.053–2.249)	В
	1	A. salmonicida (2.351)	A. popoffii (2,306)	В
	1	A. salmonicida (2.286)	A. hydrophila (2.188)	В
	2	A. bestiarum (2.226–2.318)	A. salmonicida (2.221–2.281)	с
	1	A. bestiarum (2.181)	Aeromonas sp. (2.145)	D
A. sobria	1	A. sobria (2.171)	A. sobria (2.021)	A
	2	A. sobria (2.204–2.259)	A. hydrophila (1.913–1.937)	A
	3	A. sobria (2.270–2.368)	A. eucrenophila (1.956–1.990)	A
	2	A. sobria (2.352–2.376)	A. media (2.030–2.049)	В
	1	A. sobria (2.305)	A. caviae (2.044)	В
	6	A sobria (2.283–2.385)	A eucrenophila $(2.073-2.242)$	B
	11	A sobria (2.218–2.411)	A hydrophila (2.047–2.257)	B
	1	A encheleia (2.371)	A encheleia (2 206)	D
A veronii	10	A veronii (2.114, 2.400)	A veronii (2.044, 2.344)	۸
	11	A veronii (2 271-2 443)	A hydrophila (2 244-2 350)	B
	1	A veronii (2.446)	$\Delta \text{ichthiosmin} (2.364)$	B
	1	A hydrophila (2,174,2,262)		C
	1	A. interprint $(2.1/4-2.303)$	A. veronii (2.130–2.330)	C
	1	A. $continue (2.199)$	A. covice (2.190)	
	1	A. Luviae (2.107)	A. $cuviue (2.100)$	D
	1	A. nyarophila (2.326)	A. ICHIMIOSMIA (2.271)	U

Note: "First and second identification best matches with their respective score values provided by the Byotyper identification list.

^bFor interpretation of the identification results, two variables were considered: (i) score values following the MALDI Biotyper Compass (\geq 2.000: identification at species level with high confidence; 1.999–1.800: identification with low confidence and \leq 1,799: non-reliable identification) and (ii) consistency ranking list of the first 2 best matches: A, the correct species is the unique species with score value \geq 2.000, B) the correct species is first ranked but a different species in the second rank is also with score value \geq 2.000; C) first and second matches have score values \geq 2.000 but the correct species is second ranked; D), first and second matches have score values \geq 2.000 but the correct species within consistence categories A are considered accurately identified, those within categories B and C are considered inconclusively identified and those within the D category are considered misidentified.

TABLE 2 Overview of the identification results for the different species of Aeromonas

	N° isolates	Identification with Byotyper database N° isolates ^a (%) ^b		Nº isolates	Identification ^a with Byotyper database plus the 14 additional MSP ^c N° isolates (%) ^b			
Species	(n = 151)	Accurate	Inconclusive	Missidentified	(n = 137)	Accurate	Inconclusive	Missidentified
A. allosaccharophila	1		1		1		1	
A. caviae	1		1		1		1	
A. encheleia	1	1			1	1		
A. piscicola	2			2	1			1
A. dhakensis	3			3	2		1	1
A. media	4		2	2	4		1	3
A. bestiarum	17	6 (35.3)	10 (58.8)	1 (5.9)	15	3 (20)	10 (66.7)	2 (13.3)
A. hydrophila	22	20 (91)	1 (4.5)	1 (4.5)	20	14 (70)	5 (25)	1 (5)
A. popoffii	13		5 (38.5)	8 (61.5)	11	2 (18.2)	3 (27.3)	6 (54.5)
A. salmonicida	29	19 (65.5)	9 (31)	1 (3.4)	27	13 (48.1)	9 (33.3)	5 (18.5)
A. sobria	27	6 (22.2)	20 (74.1)	1 (3.7)	25	22 (88)	2 (8)	1 (4)
A. veronii	31	10 (32.3)	19 (61.3)	2 (6.4)	29	21 (72.4)	7 (24.1)	1 (3.4)

Note: ^aFor interpretation of the identification results, two variables were considered: (i) score values following the MALDI Biotyper Compass (\geq 2.000: identification at species level with high confidence; 1.999-1.800: identification with low confidence and \leq 1,799: nonreliable identification) and (ii) consistency ranking list of the first two best matches: A, the correct species is the unique species with score value \geq 2.000, B) the correct species is first ranked but a different species in the second rank is also with score value \geq 2.000; C) first and second matches have score values \geq 2.000 but the correct species is second ranked; D) first and second matches have score values \geq 2.000 but the correct species is not first neither second ranked. Those isolates within consistence category A are considered accurately identified, those within categories B and C are considered inconclusive identified and those within the D category are misidentified.

^bPercentages were calculated only for those species with more than 10 isolates. ^cOne isolate of A. *dhakensis* and A. *piscicola* and two isolates of A. *bestiarum*, A. *hydrophila*, A. *popoffii*, A. *salmonicida*, A. *sobria* and A. *veronii* were used to generate their respective MSP (n = 14) that were included in the Bruker database.

95.5% and 94.1% of the A. hydrophila and A. bestiarum isolates, respectively (Supporting Information Table S1). The mass peaks 4,460 and 4,490 characteristic of the species A. sobria and A. veronii, respectively, were detected in 65% of their isolates. All other potential species-specific peaks were detected in less than 50% of the isolates of the respective species (Supporting Information Table S1). For the remaining species with low number of isolates (n < 5) some specific mass ions were also identified (Supporting Information Table S1). The low consistency of most of these peaks among isolates of the same species suggest a strong variability in their MALDI-TOF MS proteome, in line with their high intra-species variability (Mandrell et al., 2005) that would limit their use as species-characteristic mass peaks. Moreover, most of the species-distinctive mass peaks identified in the present study were not observed by Donohue et al. (2006) and Benagli et al. (2012). Experimental parameters such as bacterial culture conditions, protein extraction protocol or sample preparation protocol and the equipment used may affect the reproducibility of MALDI results, hindering the comparison of the mass spectra and mass lists obtained (Jackson, Edwards-Jones, Sutton & Fox, 2005; Williams, Andrzejewski, Lay & Musser, 2003), when examining very closely related microorganisms like Aeromonas. Differences in the inoculation method of sample wells, type of matrix or matrix solvent used in this study compared with those used by Donohue et al. (2006) and Benagli et al. (2012) could explain the absence of concordance in the mass peaks identified in the three

studies. Therefore, further studies with standardized experimental protocols will be necessary before well-defined potential species-specific peaks for *Aeromonas* can be assigned.

MALDI-TOF MS bacterial identification can be improved using a Biotyper database supplemented with locally produced MSPs (Christensen et al. 2012, Sogawa et al. 2012). Thus, in an attempt to improve the accurate identifications rates, two isolates of those species with more than 10 isolates as well as one isolate of A. dhakensis and A. piscicola (not included in the commercial Biotyper database) were used to generate additional MSP (n = 14) that were incorporated into the Bruker database. No additional MSP of A. allosaccharophila. A. caviae. A. media and A. encheleia were created because the low number of isolates of these species included in the study. The remaining 137 fish isolates were identified again against the supplemented Biotyper database and the results obtained are shown in Tables 2 and 3. Overall, the inclusion of the new 14 MSP increased the number of isolates with accurate identifications (41% vs. 55%) and decreased the number of isolates with inconclusive identifications (45% vs. 29%, Table 2). Nevertheless, there were great differences in the success of species-level identifications. Thus, there was an increase in the number of isolates of A. veronii (32.3% vs. 72.4%), A. sobria (22.2% vs. 88%) and A. popoffii (0% vs. 18.2%) with accurate identifications, while decrease in the number of isolates of the two former species with inconclusive identifications (Table 2). In contrast, decrease in the number of A. hydrophila (91% vs. 70%), A. bestiarum (35.3% vs. 20%) and A. salmonicida (65.5% vs.

TABLE 3 Identification^a results using the Biotyper database plus 14 additional MSP^a for a total of 137 Aeromonas isolates mostly recovered from diseased fish

Species	N	1st Identification ^b	2nd Identification ^b	Consistency ^c
A. allosaccharophila	1	A. allosaccharophila (2.328)	A. veronii (2.294)	В
A. bestiarum	3	A. bestiarum (2.252–2.553)	A. bestiarum (2.218–2.503)	А
	2	A. bestiarum (2.484–2.574)	A. hydrophila (2.484–2.571)	В
	4	A. bestiarum (2,485–2.606)	A. piscicola (2.423–2.601)	В
	2	A. piscicola (2.512–2.557)	A. bestiarum (2.453–2.519)	С
	1	A. piscicola (2.384)	A. popoffii (2.331)	D
	1	A. popoffii (2.458)	A. bestiarum (2.220)	С
	1	A. popoffii (2.329)	A. piscicola (2.276)	D
	1	A. salmonicida (2.516)	A. bestiarum (2.514)	С
A. caviae	1	A. cavie (2.252)	A. hydrophila (2.159)	В
A. dhakensis	1	A. hydrophila (2.267)	A. veronii (2.128)	D
	1	A. dhakensis (2.401)	A. hydrophila (2.219)	В
A. encheleia	1	A. encheleia (2.219)	A. encheleia (2.010)	А
A. hydrophila	14	A. hydrophila (2.244–2.439)	A. hydrophila (2.168–2.435)	А
	1	A. hydrophila (2.361)	A. dhakensis (2.318)	В
	4	A. dhakensis (2.325–2.557)	A. hydrophila (2.325–2.483)	С
	1	A. dhakensis (2.474)	A. veronii (2.420)	D
A. media	1	A. media (2.227)	A. cavie (2.127)	В
	1	A. bestiarum (2.332)	A. bestiarum (2.127)	D
	1	A. dhakensis (2.365)	A. sobria (2,350)	E
	1	A. sobria (2.302)	A. dhakensis (2.269)	D
A. piscicola	1	A. bestiarum (2.263)	A. popoffii (2.261)	D
A. popoffii	2	A. popoffii (2.254–2.371)	A. popoffii (2.174–2.235)	А
	2	A. popoffii (2.489–2.520)	A. piscicola (2.476–2.492)	В
	1	A. popoffii (2.441)	A. salmonicida (2.436)	В
	1	A. bestiarum (2.332)	A. bestiarum (2.127)	D
	1	A. bestiarum (2.293)	A. salmonicida (2.090)	D
	1	A. bestiarum (2.620)	A. piscicola (2.618)	D
	1	A. piscicola (2.357)	A. bestiarum (2.212)	D
	2	A. piscicola (2.418–2.642)	A. popoffii (2.409–2.626)	D
A. salmonicida	13	A. salmonicida (2.178–2.440)	A. salmonicida (2.097–2.407)	A
	3	A. salmonicida (2.519–2.610)	A. hydrophila (2.506–2.597)	В
	2	A. salmonicida (2.141–2.403)	A. bestiarum (2.053–2.235)	В
	2	A. salmonicida (2.370–2.543)	A. piscicola (2.333–2.532)	В
	2	A. piscicola (2.477–2,580)	A. bestiarum (2.279–2.563)	D
	1	A. piscicola (2.446)	A. hydrophila (2.419)	D
	1	A. piscicola (2.483)	A. salmonicida (2.352)	С
	1	A. bestiarum (2.394)	A. salmonicida (2.303)	С
	1	A. bestiarum (2.181)	Aeromonas sp. (2.145)	D
	1	A. hydrophila (2.682)	A. bestiarum (2.610)	D
A. sobria	22	A. sobria (2.244–2.606)	A. sobria (2.076–2.411)	A
	2	A. sobria (2.424–2.466)	A. bestiarum (2.260–2.298)	В
	1	A. encheleia (2.371)	A. piscicola (2.220)	D
A. veronii	21	A. veronii (2.328–2.701)	A. veronii (2.231–2.588)	А
	4	A. veronii (2.271–2.447)	A. hydrophila (2.244–2.350)	В

(Continues)

TABLE 3 (Continued)

Species	N	1st Identification ^b	2nd Identification ^b	Consistency ^c
	1	A. veronii (2.587)	A. ichthiosmia (2.341)	В
	2	A. hydrophila (2.174–2.354)	A. veronii (2.156–2.294)	С
	1	A. piscicola (2.323)	A. bestiarum (2.279)	D

Note: ^aOne isolate of A. *dhakensis* and A. *piscicola* and two isolates of A. *bestiarum*, A. *hydrophila*, A. *popoffii*, A. *salmonicida*, A. *sobria* and A. *veronii* and were used to generate their respective MSP (n = 14) that were included in the Bruker database. ^bFirst and second identification best matches with their respective score values provided by the Biotyper identification list. ^cFor interpretation of the identification results, two variables were considered: (i) score values following the MALDI Biotyper Compass (≥ 2.000 : identification at species level with high confidence; 1.999–1.800: identification with low confidence and ≤ 1.799 : nonreliable identification) and (ii) consistency ranking list of the first two best matches: A, the correct species is the unique species with score value ≥ 2.000 ; B) the correct species is first ranked but a different species in the second rank is also with score value ≥ 2.000 ; but the correct species is second ranked; D), first and second matches have score values ≥ 2.000 but the correct species within consistence categories A are considered accurately identified, those within categories B and C are considered inconclusively identified and those within the D category are considered misidentified.





48.1%) isolates with accurate identifications, but increasing the number of isolates of these species with inconclusive identifications (Tables 2 and 3). No differences were observed for the other species of Aeromonas, but the limited number of isolates of these species preclude reaching any conclusion. The close-similarity among MALDI-TOF profiles of main fish pathogenic species of Aeromonas was reflected by 2D peak distribution diagram (Figure 1) showing an overlapping among isolates of different species. This overlapping is likely related with the strong phylogenetic relatedness within the genus *Aeromonas* (Martin-Carnahan & Joseph, 2005) and in line the limited discrimination power of MALDI Biotyper to separate closely related species observed in other microorganisms (Alispahic, Christensen, Bisgaard, Hess & Hess, 2014; Frey & Kuhnert, 2015).

In conclusion, this work demonstrates the utility of MALDI-TOF MS for the identification of *Aeromonas* to the genus level, but its poor performance for an accurate identification of some of the most prevalent species implicated in fish disease, such as *A. salmonicida*, *A. hydrophila* or *A. bestiarum*.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was supported by Regional Government of Madrid structural funds and European Union [S2013/ABI-2747 (TAVS-CM)]. Marta Pérez-Sancho and Irene Cerdá contributed equally to this work. The authors thank Almudena Casamayor and Elisa Pulido for their invaluable technical assistance and Sergio González for his kind help with the design of Figure 1.

ORCID

J F Fernández-Garayzábal b http://orcid.org/0000-0003-1597-0643 A J Vela b http://orcid.org/0000-0001-5004-3103

REFERENCES

- Alispahic, M., Christensen, H., Bisgaard, M., Hess, M., & Hess, C. (2014). MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry confirms difficulties in separating species of the Avibacterium genus. Avian Pathology, 43, 258–263. https://doi.org/10.1080/03079457.2014.916038
- Beaz-Hidalgo, R., Alperi, A., Bujan, N., Romalde, J. L., & Figueras, M. J. (2010). Comparison of phenotypical and genetic identification of *Aeromonas* strains isolated from diseased fish. *Systematic and Applied Microbiology*, 33, 149–153. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.syapm.2010.02. 002
- Beaz-Hidalgo, R., & Figueras, M. J. (2013). Aeromonas spp. whole genomes and virulence factors implicated in fish disease. Journal of Fish Diseases, 36, 371–388. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.12025
- Beaz-Hidalgo, R., Latif-Eugenin, F., & Figueras, M. J. (2013). The improved PCR of the fstA (ferric siderophore receptor) gene differentiates the fish pathogen Aeromonas salmonicida from other Aeromonas species. Veterinary Microbiology, 166, 659–663. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.vetmic.2013.06.028
- Benagli, C., Demarta, A., Caminada, A., Ziegler, D., Petrini, O., & Tonolla, M. (2012). A rapid MALDI-TOF MS identification database at genospecies level for clinical and environmental *Aeromonas* strains. *PLoS ONE*, 7, e48441. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0048441
- Bunnajirakul, S., Pavasutthipaisit, S., & Steinhagen, D. (2015). Pathological alterations due to motile Aeromonas infection in red swordtail fish (Xiphophorus helleri). Tierarztl Prax Ausg K Kleintiere Heimtiere, 43, 434–438. https://doi.org/10.15654/TPK-141104
- Chen, P. L., Lee, T. F., Wu, C. J., Teng, S. H., Teng, L. J., Ko, W. C., & Hsueh, P. R. (2014). Matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization-time of flight mass spectrometry can accurately differentiate Aeromonas

dhakensis from A. hydrophila, A. caviae, and A. veronii. Journal of Clinical Microbiology, 52, 2625–2628. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM. 01025-14

- Christensen, J.J., Dargis, R., Hammer, M., Justesen, U.S., Nielsen, X.C., Kemp, M., & Danish MALDI-TOF MS Study Group. (2012). Matrixassisted laser desorption ionization-time of flight mass spectrometry analysis of Gram-positive, catalase-negative cocci not belonging to the Streptococcus or Enterococcus genus and benefits of database extension. Journal of Clinical Microbiology, 50, 1787–1791. https:// doi.org/10.1128/JCM.06339-11
- Deng, J., Fu, L., Wang, R., Yu, N., Ding, X., Jiang, L., ... Che, X. (2014). Comparison of MALDI-TOF MS, gene sequencing and the Vitek 2 for identification of seventy-three clinical isolates of enteropathogens. *Journal of Thoracic Disease*, 6, 539–544. https://doi.org/10.3978/j. issn.2072-1439.2014.02.20
- Donohue, M. J., Best, J. M., Smallwood, A. W., Kostich, M., Rodgers, M., & Shoemaker, J. A. (2007). Differentiation of *Aeromonas* isolated from drinking water distribution systems using matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization-mass spectrometry. *Analytical Chemistry*, 79, 1939– 1946. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac0611420
- Donohue, M. J., Smallwood, A. W., Pfaller, S., Rodgers, M., & Shoemaker, J. A. (2006). The development of a matrix-assisted laser desorption/ ionization mass spectrometry-based method for the protein fingerprinting and identification of *Aeromonas* species using whole cells. *Journal of Microbiol Methods*, 65, 380–389. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. mimet.2005.08.005
- Frey, J., & Kuhnert, P. (2015). Identification of animal Pasteurellaceae by MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry. *Methods in Molecular Biology*, 1247, 235–243. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4939-2004-4_18
- Holland, R. D., Duffy, C. R., Rafii, F., Sutherland, J. B., Heinze, T. M., Holder, C. L., ... Lay, J. O. Jr (1999). Identification of bacterial proteins observed in MALDI TOF mass spectra from whole cells. *Analytical Chemistry*, 71, 3226–3230. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/ 10450164.
- Holland, R. D., Rafii, F., Heinze, T. M., Sutherland, J. B., Voorhees, K. J., & Lay, J. O. Jr (2000). Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization timeof-flight mass spectrometric detection of bacterial biomarker proteins isolated from contaminated water, lettuce and cotton cloth. *Rapid Communications in Mass Spectrometry*, 14, 911–917.
- Jackson, K. A., Edwards-Jones, V., Sutton, C. W., & Fox, A. J. (2005). Optimisation of intact cell MALDI method for fingerprinting of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. Journal of Microbiol Methods, 62, 273–284. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mimet.2005.04.015
- Janda, J. M., & Abbott, S. L. (2010). The genus Aeromonas: Taxonomy, pathogenicity, and infection. Clinical Microbiology Reviews, 23, 35–73. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00039-09
- Khor, W. C., Puah, S. M., Tan, J. A., Puthucheary, S. D., & Chua, K. H. (2015). Phenotypic and genetic diversity of *Aeromonas* species isolated from fresh water lakes in Malaysia. *PLoS ONE*, 10, e0145933. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0145933
- Kozinska, A. (2007). Dominant pathogenic species of mesophilic aeromonads isolated from diseased and healthy fish cultured in Poland. Journal of Fish Diseases, 30, 293–301. https://doi.org/10. 1111/j.1365-2761.2007.00813.x
- Lamy, B., Kodjo, A., Laurent, F., & Col, B. V. H. S. G. (2011). Identification of Aeromonas isolates by matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization timeof-flight mass spectrometry. *Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Dis*ease, 71, 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diagmicrobio.2011.04.014
- Lamy, B., Laurent, F., Verdier, I., Decousser, J. W., Lecaillon, E., Marchandin, H., ... Kodjo, A. (2010). Accuracy of 6 commercial systems for identifying clinical Aeromonas isolates. Diagnostic Microbiology and Infectious Disease, 67, 9–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diagmicrobio. 2009.12.012
- Mandrell, R. E., Harden, L. A., Bates, A., Miller, W. G., Haddon, W. F., & Fagerquist, C. K. (2005). Speciation of *Campylobacter coli*, C. jejuni, C.

helveticus, C. lari, C. sputorum, and C. upsaliensis by matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization-time of flight mass spectrometry. Applied and Environment Microbiology, 71, 6292–6307. https://doi.org/10. 1128/AEM.71. doi:10.6292-6307.2005

- Martin-Carnahan, A., & Joseph, S. W. (2005). Genus I. Aeromonas Stanier 1943. In N. R. K. D. J. Brenner, J. T. Staley, & G. M. Garrity (Eds.), Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology (pp. 557–578). New York: Springer.
- Martinez-Murcia, A. J., Soler, L., Saavedra, M. J., Chacon, M. R., Guarro, J., Stackebrandt, E., & Figueras, M. J. (2005). Phenotypic, genotypic, and phylogenetic discrepancies to differentiate Aeromonas salmonicida from Aeromonas bestiarum. International Microbiology, 8, 259–269. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16562378.
- Menanteau-Ledouble, S., & El-Matbouli, M. (2016). Antigens of Aeromonas salmonicida subsp. salmonicida specifically induced in vivo in Oncorhynchus mykiss. Journal of Fish Diseases, 39, 1015–1019. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.12430
- Ormen, O., Granum, P. E., Lassen, J., & Figueras, M. J. (2005). Lack of agreement between biochemical and genetic identification of Aeromonas spp. APMIS, 113, 203–207. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0463.2005.apm1130308.x
- Orozova, P., Barker, M., Austin, D. A., & Austin, B. (2009). Identification and pathogenicity to rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum), of some aeromonads. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 32, 865–871. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2761.2009.01065.x
- Perez-Sancho, M., Vela, A. I., Wiklund, T., Kostrzewa, M., Domínguez, L., & Fernández-Garayzábal, J. F. (2017). Differentiation of Flavobacterium psychrophilum from Flavobacterium psychrophilum-like species by MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry. Research in Veterinary Science, 115, 345–352. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rvsc.2017.06.022
- Rasmussen-Ivey, C. R., Hossain, M. J., Odom, S. E., Terhune, J. S., Hemstreet, W. G., Shoemaker, C. A., ... Liles, M. R. (2016). Classification of a hypervirulent Aeromonas hydrophila pathotype responsible for epidemic outbreaks in warm-water fishes. Frontiers in Microbiology, 18, 1615. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2016.01615
- Regecova, I., Pipova, M., Jevinova, P., Maruskova, K., Kmet, V., & Popelka, P. (2014). Species identification and antimicrobial resistance of coagulase-negative staphylococci isolated from the meat of sea fish. *Journal of Food Science*, 79, M898–M902. https://doi.org/10. 1111/1750-3841.12429
- Rychert, J., Creely, D., Mayo-Smith, L. M., Calderwood, S. B., Ivers, L. C., Ryan, E. T., ... Harris, J. B. (2015). Evaluation of matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization-time of flight mass spectrometry for identification of Vibrio cholerae. Journal of Clinical Microbiology, 53, 329–331. https://doi.org/10.1128/JCM.02666-14

Sogawa, K., Watanabe, M., Sato, K., Segawa, S., Miyabe, A., Murata, S., Saito, T., & Nomura, F. (2012). Rapid identification of microorganisms by mass spectrometry: improved performance by incorporation of inhouse spectral data into a commercial database. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 403, 1811–1822. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-011-5656-1. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/22200929

-WILEY

- Soler, L., Marco, F., Vila, J., Chacon, M. R., Guarro, J., & Figueras, M. J. (2003). Evaluation of two miniaturized systems, MicroScan W/A and BBL Crystal E/NF, for identification of clinical isolates of Aeromonas spp. Journal of Clinical Microbiology, 41, 5732–5734. http://www.ncbi. nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/14662969.
- Soler, L., Yanez, M. A., Chacon, M. R., Aguilera-Arreola, M. G., Catalan, V., Figueras, M. J., & Martinez-Murcia, A. J. (2004). Phylogenetic analysis of the genus Aeromonas based on two housekeeping genes. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, 54, 1511–1519. https://doi.org/10.1099/ijs.0.03048-0
- Vavrova, A., Balazova, T., Sedlacek, I., Tvrzova, L., & Sedo, O. (2015). Evaluation of the MALDI-TOF MS profiling for identification of newly described Aeromonas spp. Folia Microbiologica, 60, 375–383. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s12223-014-0369-4
- Williams, T. L., Andrzejewski, D., Lay, J. O., & Musser, S. M. (2003). Experimental factors affecting the quality and reproducibility of MALDI TOF mass spectra obtained from whole bacteria cells. *Journal* of the American Society for Mass Spectrometry, 14, 342–351. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S1044-0305(03)00065-5
- Yi, S. W., You, M. J., Cho, H. S., Lee, C. S., Kwon, J. K., & Shin, G. W. (2013). Molecular characterization of Aeromonas species isolated from farmed eels (Anguilla japonica). Veterinary Microbiology, 164, 195–200. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vetmic.2013.02.006

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of the article.

How to cite this article: Pérez-Sancho M, Cerdá I, Fernández-Bravo A, et al. Limited performance of MALDI-TOF for identification of fish *Aeromonas* isolates at species level. *J Fish Dis*. 2018;00:1–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfd.12837

4.6. First record and genome sequencing of *Aeromonas lusitana* ESV-351 isolated from rainbow trout in Mexico.

Fernández-Bravo A., Vega-Sánchez V., Pérez-Cataluña A., Latif-Eugenín F., Beaz-Hidalgo R., Martínez-Murcia A., Soriano-Vargas E., Palma-Martínez I., Castro-Escarpulli G., Figueras MJ. (In preparation, pending to be submitted to Jounal of Fish Diseases).
UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI EPIDEMIOLOGY AND PATHOGENIC CHARACTERIZATION OF SPECIES OF THE GENUS AEROMONAS Ana Fernández Bravo

First record and genome sequencing of *Aeromonas lusitana* ESV-351 isolated from rainbow trout in Mexico.

Ana Fernández-Bravo^a, Vicente Vega-Sánchez^b, Alba Pérez- Cataluña^a, Fadua Latif-Eugenín^a, Roxana Beaz-Hidalgo^a, AntonioMartínez-Murcia^c, Edgardo Soriano-Vargas^d,Ingrid Palma Martínez^e, Graciela Castro-Escarpulli^e, Maria José Figueras^a.^{*}

^aUnitat de Microbiologia, Departament de Ciènces Médiques Bàsiques, Facultat de Medicina i Ciències de la Salut, IISPV, Universitat Rovira i Virgili, Reus, Spain.

^b Universidad Autónoma del Estado de Hidalgo, Instituto de Ciencias Agropecuarias, Tulancingo 43600, Hidalgo, México

^cArea de Microbiología, EPSO, Universidad Miguel Hernández, Orihuela E-03300, Alicante, Spain.

^d Centro de Investigación y Estudios Avanzados en Salud Animal, Facultad de Medicina Veterinaria y Zootecnia, Universidad Autónoma del Estado de México, Toluca, México.

 ^e Laboratorio de Investigación Clínica y Ambiental, Escuela Nacional de Ciencias Biológicas (ENCB), Instituto Politécnico Nacional (IPN), México.

* Corresponding author

Maria José Figueras

Tel: +34 977759321; fax: +34 977759322.

E-mail address: mariajose.figueras@urv.cat

UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI EPIDEMIOLOGY AND PATHOGENIC CHARACTERIZATION OF SPECIES OF THE GENUS AEROMONAS Ana Fernández Bravo

Doctoral tesis

Ana Fernández Bravo

Abstract

Aeromonas lusitana, was described in 2016 with five isolates recovered from untreated water and vegetables from Portugal, and since then no further records exits of this species. Interestingly in the course of a study about the prevalence of Aeromonas in fish farms in Mexico, a strain (ESV-351) isolated from rainbow trout clustered phylogenetically with A. lusitana by using the sequences of the rpoD gene. In the present study, the phenotypic characteristics, antimicrobial resistance, and presence of the putative virulence genes of the new strain (ESV-351) were studied in parallel to the five isolates included in the species description. In addition, the genome of the new strain (ESV-351) was sequenced and compared with the one of the type strain of this species and with the ones of other Aeromonas spp. The phenotypic differential characteristics of A. lusitana showed to be highly conserved. However, the new strain was positive for the indole production when using conventional methods while the rest of the strains including the type strain were negative. Furthermore, an intermediate resistance to ampicillin, amoxicillinclavulanic acid and cephalothin was found in both strains. Five different virulence gene profiles were observed among the strains, and the type strain showed the highest number of virulence genes. Genome analysis showed that A. tecta is the closest species to A. lusitana with a highly similar number of predicted proteins. The genome size, the number of genes encoding proteins, the number of tRNAs, among other characteristics suggests that the new strain ESV-351 could have the capacity to adapt to different environments. The comparison of the genome of strain ESV-351 with the one of the type strain revealed that both strains possesses a very similar sequence of the citrate synthase gene. Additionally, the chromosomal region containing the citrate synthase locus of the new strain showed to be relatively similar to that of the type strain of A. hydrophila, and other important human pathogens (Vibrio cholera, etc), suggesting the possible role of this gene in the virulence of A. lusitana (ESV-351). The draft genome sequence of this novel A. lusitana strain is a valuable addition to the genomic database and can contribute to the understanding of the role of this species in the environment.

Keywords: Aeromonas lusitana, isDDH, ANI, virulence genes, citrate synthase.

Introduction

The genus *Aeromonas* resides within the family *Aeromonadaceae* that belongs to the *Gamma-proteobacteria* class (Martin-Carnahan and Joseph, 2005), and includes species found in water environments and some associated with fish and human diseases (Janda and Abbott, 2010; Beaz-Hidalgo and Figueras, 2013; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2015; Figueras and Ashbolt, 2019).

The virulence genes in pathogenic *Aeromonas* strains are acquired from their common ancestor or by lateral gene transfer (Hossain et al., 2013). However, the virulence of *Aeromonas* is multifactorial and related with the different structures implicated in adhesion (flagella, fimbria, outer membrane proteins (OMPs), and capsule responsible for the first contact between host and pathogen and evasion of the immune response (Beaz-Hidalgo and Figueras, 2013; Romero et al, 2016). The extracellular secreted proteins including cytotoxic and cytotonic enterotoxin, hemolysin, proteases, and lipases play a role during the bacteria invasion and in the establishment of the infection (Galindo et al., 2006; Beaz-Hidalgo and Figueras, 2013; Tomás, 2012). In addition, four of the six secretion systems (TSS) have been detected in the genus *Aeromonas* (type II, III, IV and VI). The type III (T3SS) is considered very important in the pathogenesis and virulence of the *Aeromonas* strains that generate fish and human diseases (Dallaire-Dufresne et al., 2014; Janda and Abbott, 2010).

The taxonomy of the genus *Aeromonas* has evolved very quickly in recent years with the addition of new species. Nowadays, the genus includes 32 species, and 4 are pending to be described. *Aeromonas lusitana* was described in 2016, and was described based on 5 isolates recovered from untreated water and vegetables from Portugal (Martínez-Murcia et al., 2016). In addition, to increase the knowledge about this recent species, the genome of the type strain of *A. lusitana* CECT 7828^T was recently sequenced (Colston et al., 2018).

Ana Fernández Bravo

In a previous study that investigated the prevalence of *Aeromonas* in fish farms in Mexico, a strain (ESV-351) isolated from the gills of rainbow trout, and that phylogenetically clustered with *A. lusitana* was identified. In the present study we analyzed the characteristics of this new strain ESV-351 in parallel with the five already known strains of this species, comparing the biochemical features, antimicrobial activity, and the presence of virulence genes. In addition, we compared the obtained genome with the one already available of the type strain. The final aim is to obtain a better knowledge of this rare species.

Materials and Methods

Bacterial strains

A cultured juvenile rainbow trout sourced from a pond located in "Huasca de Ocampo" in the state of Hidalgo in Mexico, was examined for bacterial presence in the previous study (Vega-Sánchez et al., 2014a). Samples from gills, intestine, spleen, liver, and kidney were plated on Tryptic Soy Agar (TSA) and were incubated at 30 °C for 24 h. Colonies were identified by using the 16S rDNA RFLP technique and a second identification was performed by Vega-Sánchez et al. (2014b) with a phylogenetic analysis based on *gyrB* and *rpoD* gene sequences that were obtained from all the strains. Among the strains, one named ESV-351, was clustered in the phylogenetic analysis with the type strain of *Aeromonas lusitana* (GeneBank accession number *gyrB*: KJ743554; *rpoD*: KJ743565).

For the comparative analysis in our study the strain ESV-351 was evaluated in parallel with the 5 strains used for the description of *A. lusitana* recovered from water and vegetables in Portugal (Martinez-Murcia et al., 2016). Three strains (A.11/6T, A.136/15 and A.28/6), were isolated from water (Carvalho et al., 2012), and the other two strains (L8-3 and L10-4) were later isolated from vegetables but unpublished.

Phenotypic characteristic and susceptibility to antimicrobial agents

Phenotypic tests of the Mexican strain ESV-351 were evaluated by using conventional biochemical tests, as reported on previous studies (Abbott et al., 2003; Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2010) and were compared with the five strains used for the description (Martínez-Murcia et al., 2016). Additionally, a comparison between the results obtained with the conventional biochemical tests and with the MicroScan WalkAway-40 system, was performed by using the Mexican strain ESV-351. Furthermore, the antimicrobial susceptibility test against 23 antibiotics was tested by MicroScan WalkAway-40 system, as well as, by disc diffusion. The results were interpreted according to the Clinical Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI) Guidelines (CLSI 2005, 2012). The phenotypic test and the antimicrobial susceptibility were performed in triplicate.

Fingerprinting

An enterobacterial repetitive intergenic consensus PCR (ERIC-PCR) was performed with the primers and conditions previously described by Versalovic et al. (1991).

Detection of putative virulence genes

The Mexican strain ESV-351 and the five strains described by Martínez-Murcia et al. (2016) were evaluated for the presence of nine putative virulence genes by PCR with three replicates. The specific gene studied was the one involved in the synthesis of the lateral flagellum *lafA* (Merino et al., 2003), aerolysin/haemolysin *aerA* (Soler et al., 2002), cytotoxic enterotoxin *act* (Kimgombe et al., 1999), heat stable enterotoxin *ast* (Aguilera-Arreola et al., 2005), heat-labile cytotonic enterotoxin *alt* (Chopra et al., 1996), lipase genes *lip*, *lip*H3, *pla*, *plc* (Chacón et al., 2003), aerolysin/haemolysin *aerA*, serine protease *aspA*, *ahe2* (Chacón et al., 2003), T3SS *ascF-G* and *ascV* (Chacón et al., 2004),the effectors protein *aexT* (Braun et al., 2002) and *aopP* (Fehr et al., 2006) and the Shiga toxins *stx1*(Wang et al., 2002) and *stx2* (Muniesa et al., 2003).

Ana Fernández Bravo

Genome sequencing, assembling and annotation

Genomic DNA of the Mexican strain ESV-351 was extracted by using the Easy-DNATM gDNA purification kit (Invitrogen, Madrid, Spain). The integrity of the extracted DNA was ensured by electrophoresis in 1.5% agarose gel, and it was quantified by using Qubit TM with the Broas Range Assay kit (Invitrogen). Genomic libraries for paired-end sequencing was performed with the Nextera DNA Library Preparation kit (Illumina, Lisbon, Portugal) and sequenced by using the Miseq platform (Illumina). Clean reads were assembled *de novo* by using the CGE Assembler 1.2 (Larsen et al., 2012). Annotation of the contigs was accomplished using the Rapid Automated Annotation with the Subsystem Technology (RAST) server using the *classic RAST* scheme http://rast.nmpdr.org/ (Aziz et al., 2008; Overbeek et al., 2014).

Phylogenetic analysis based on the genome

The phylogenetic analysis was performed to verify if the ESV-351 strain was clustered with the type strain of *A. lusitana* CECT 7828^{T} and to analyze the phylogenetic relation with other species. A total of 7 housekeeping genes (*rpoD*, *gyrB*, *recA*, *gyrA*, *atpD*, *dnaJ* and *dnaX*) were extracted from the ESV-351 genome performing a search by using the Basic Local Alignment Search Tool (from the NCBI web interface) for a Multilocus Phylogenetic Analysis (MLPA). A phylogenetic tree was constructed with the concatenated sequences (MLPA) of these genes.

Genome information and comparison

The genome-derived information of *Aeromonas lusitana* ESV-351 (GenBank accession in process) was obtained with the SEED viewer from RAST http://rast.nmpdr.org/seedviewer.cgi (Aziz et al., 2008; Overbeek et al., 2014) and tRNAscan-SE http://lowelab.ucsc.edu/tRNAscan-SE/ (Lowe and Chan., 2016). In addition, other genomes were used to compare this information, i.e. the genome of *A. lusitana* CECT 7828^T type strain (Genbank Whole-Genome Shotgun project no. PRJNA417247) from untreated water (Martínez-Murcia et al., 2016), as well as

the genomes of the closest species A. eucrenophila CECT 4224^T (GenBank Whole-Genome Shotgun project no. CDDF00000000.1) from freshwater fish (Colston et al., 2014), A. tecta CECT 7082^T (Genbank Whole-Genome Shotgun project no. CDCA00000000.1) from children feces, A. aquatica CECT 8025^T (Genbank Whole-Genome Shotgun project no. JRGL00000000.1) from Finnish water associated with cyanobacterial blooms (Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2015) and A. encheleia CECT 4342^{T} (GenBank Whole-Genome Shotgun project no. CDDI00000000.1) from European eel (Colston et al., 2014). These genomes were annotated in the SEED viewer from RAST to obtain the information, and the tRNAscan-SE was used to obtain the predicted tRNA. Moreover, the complete previously described genomes were also used, i.e., A. hydrophila ATCC 7966^T (GenBank accession no. CP000462.1), from a tin of milk with a fishy odor (Seshadri et al., 2006), A. salmonicida A449 (GenBank no. CP000644.1), from a brown trout (Reith et al., 2008), A. salmonicida 01-B526 isolated from infected brook trout (GenBank Whole-Genome Shotgun project no. AGVO00000000.1) (Charette et al., 2012), A. aquariorum AAK1 (GenBank Whole-Genome Shotgun project no. BAFL00000000.1), recently reclassified as A. *dhakensis* sp. nov. comb. nov., from the blood of a patient with septicemia and NF (Wu et al., 2012), A. veronii B565 (GenBank accession no. CP002607.1), from aquaculture pond sediment (Li et al, 2011) and A. caviae Ae398 (GenBank Whole-Genome Shotgun project no. CACP00000000.1) from feces of a child with diarrhoea (Beatson et al., 2011).

Genomic indexes

The genomes sequences of *A. lusitana* ESV-351 and the one of the type strain CECT 7828^T were uploaded to the Genome-to-Genome Distance Calculator GGDC 2.0 Web server (http://ggdc.dsmz.de/distcalc2.php), for the in silico DNA-DNA hybridization (**is**DDH) calculation using formula 2 (Meier-Kolthoff et al., 2014). In addition, the Average Nucleotide Identity (ANI) values between *A. lusitana* ESV-351, the *A. lusitana* CECT 7828^T and the closest species were calculated by using the Orthologous Average Nucleotide Identity Tool (Lee et al., 2016).

UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI EPIDEMIOLOGY AND PATHOGENIC CHARACTERIZATION OF SPECIES OF THE GENUS AEROMONAS Ana Fernández Bravo

Doctoral thesis

Ana Fernández Bravo

Core-Pan Genome analysis

Pan genome represents the entire gene set of all strains of a species. It includes genes present in all strains (core genome) and genes present only in some strains of a species (dispensable genome), and their analysis may reveal genes involved in specific functions like pathogenicity, stress, resistance, among others. (Hassan et al., 2016). To estimate the number of genes, present in the pan and core genomes, the pan- and core- genome plot method was used as previously described with other pathogens (Lukjancenko et al., 2010; Hassan et al., 2016). The core-pan genome was calculated with the genome annotations performed with Prodigal (Hyatt et al., 2010) by using the program *pancoreplot* from CMG Biotools which is dependent on BLAST (Vesth et al., 2013).

Two genes producing the best hits must be representative of the same gene family. Gene families with at least one gene in common in the genomes compared, were plotted in the core genome. The cutoff was previously established at 50/50%, indicating that two genes belong to a gene family if their amino acids are 50% identical over 50% of the length of the longest gene (50% identity/ 50% coverage). The rest of the total genes not included in the core genome was plotted in the pan genome (Ussery et al., 2009; Vesth et al., 2013).

Comparison of predicted protein

Assembled genomes in FASTA format annotated in RAST were compared by using the SEED viewer http://rast.nmpdr.org/seedviewer.cgi. (Aziz et al., 2008; Overbeek et al., 2014). The SEED viewer was used to compare the sequence identity of the annotated predicted proteins of the new *A. lusitana* strain ESV-351 and the closest species based on the sequence of *A. lusitana* type strain (CECT 7828^T), using the "Sequence based comparison" in the comparative tools.

Distribution and counts of proteins in subsystems

A search of proteins associated to different functional and structural pathways was performed with the new strain ESV-351 and the type strain of *A. lusitana* CECT 7828^{T} to increase the knowledge about this species. In addition, the type strain of the

closest species *A. tecta* CECT 7082^T was used as control for comparison with a different species. These proteins were evaluated after the annotation in the RAST server with the SEED viewer http://rast.nmpdr.org/seedviewer.cgi (Aziz et al., 2008; Overbeek et al., 2014).

Citrate synthase in A. lusitana

Citrate synthase gene in the genomes of *A. lusitana* ESV-351 and CECT 7828^T was searched, through the RAST server with the SEED viewer. Based on the nucleotide sequence of the *A. lusitana* type strain (CECT 7828^T), a search in all genomes of *Aeromonas* was performed, by using the basic local alignment search tool (BLAST) https://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi. Subsequently, a phylogenetic tree was constructed with the protein sequences of citrate synthase, by using the Neighbor-Joining method. To compare the possible function as virulence factor in *A. lusitana*, the tool "Function based sequence" in the SEED viewer from RAST was used. We compared the locus of the citrate synthase gene in *A. lusitana* ESV-351 and the region surrounding this gene with the similar organisms that exist in the database of the SEED viewer http://theseed.org/wiki/Main_Page.

Results and Discussion

Fingerprinting

The ERIC-PCR analysis used to determine the genetic similarity of the six studied strains showed that all isolates presented different fingerprints, indicating that they were not clonally related (Figure 1).

Phenotypic characteristic and susceptibility to antimicrobial agents

All phenotypic characteristics of the new strain ESV-351 and those of the already know strains of *A. lusitana* obtained by conventional biochemical and the MicroScan WalkAway-40 methods are shown in Table 1 and the Supplementary Table 1. The positive indole production was the only discordant phenotypic characteristic of the new isolate ESV-351 in relation with the results obtained with the other *A. lusitana* strains (Table 1). In fact, the four isolates and the type strain of

Ana Fernández Bravo

A. lusitana (CECT 7828^T) showed to be negative for indole production as described by Martínez-Murcia et al. (2016). However, the indole production showed to be positive by using the MicroScan WalkAway-40 identification system. Therefore, this should be taken into consideration when trying to identify strains of *Aeromonas*, since the negative indole production was considered a key test for the phenotypic differentiation of *A. lusitana* from other species (Martínez-Murcia et al., 2016). Other discordant results were observed between conventional biochemical tests and MicroScan WalkAway-40 with the ADH test, LDC, ONPG and citrate utilization (Supplementary Table 1). Previous studies have indicated that the MicroScan WalkAway confuses the genus *Aeromonas* with other genera, such as *Pasteurella*, *Pseudomonas*, and *Vibrio* (Soler et al., 2003).

The susceptibility to 23 antimicrobial agents evaluated showed only an intermediate resistance to ampicillin, amoxicillin-clavulanic acid and cephalothin (Table 2). These results agree with the classical resistance to ampicillin defined as a typical characteristic of the majority of the species of the genus *Aeromonas* (Abbott et al., 2003; Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2012; Dias et al., 2012). A comparative study by Aravena-Román et al. (2012) with isolates of *Aeromonas* spp. obtained from environmental and clinical samples showed that 83% (161/193) of the strains were resistant to amoxicillin-clavulanate, 94% (135/144) from clinical samples, 53% (26/49) from environmental samples, and 73% (140/ 193) showed also resistance to cephalothin (79% (114/144) from clinical samples, and 53% (26/49) from environmental samples).

Detection of putative virulence genes

The six strains of the new species *A. lusitana* showed five different virulence gene profiles (Table 3) and the type strain CECT7828^T showed the higher number of virulence genes $(laf^+/lipase^+/serine^+/ascF-G^+/ascV^+/aexT^+)$. Lye (2011) demonstrated that strains of *Aeromonas* isolated from environmental samples were pathogenic and contained virulence abilities similar to those observed in clinical isolates in a mouse model.

The lipase genes (pla/lip/lipH3/apl-1/lip) were detected in all strains included (Table 3). These genes have a hydrolytic effect on the lipids of the membrane of the host cells, and the lipase genes have been shown to be highly prevalent in clinical (93%) and environmental isolates (96%) (Chacon et al., 2003). In fact, Merino et al. (1999) reported that insertion mutants for the lipase gene in all strains reduced the lethal dose in mice and fish models. The aerolysin gene, *aerA* gene, was present in all strains. This gene has been reported in 96% (74/77) of Aeromonas spp. isolates from fish (Castro-Escarpulli et al., 2003), ranging from 76%-81% in clinical isolates and from 68%-78% in environmental samples (Chacon et al., 2003; Aravena-Román et al., 2014). The serine protease genes were detected in 83% (5/6) of the strains (Table 3). These genes play an important role in the pathogenicity of Aeromonas, because they mediate tissue damage and facilitate bacterial invasion into the host cell (Beaz-Hidalgo and Figueras, 2013). The species A. taiwanensis and A. sanarelii isolated from chironomid egg masses showed low presence or absence of this gene (25% and 0%) (Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2012). In our study, the prevalence of lateral flagellum (laf) was 67% (Table 4), this is an important structure involved in the adherence and biofilm formation, expressed during bacterial growth on viscous surfaces (Beaz-Hidalgo and Figueras, 2013). The *fla* gen has been detected in 100% of the Aeromonas spp. isolates from drinking water in Spain (Pablos et al., 2009). Recently, Aravena-Román et al. (2014) observed that the presence of laf gene was more prevalent in clinical isolates than in environmental isolates. The cytotoxic enterotoxin gene (act) was detected in 50% of the six strains studied, this prevalence is similar to the one reported (43% to 62%) in other studies (Figueras et al., 2009; Puthucheary et al., 2012; Wu et al 2007). The genes that form part of the T3SS (ascF-G and ascV) were detected in three of the six strains (CECT 7828^T, MDC 2467, MDC 2468), however, only in the type strain, the effector protein axeT was simultaneously detected (Table 3). Nevertheless, none of the six strains bared the gene encoding the *aop-P* toxin, also delivered by the T3SS. The T3SS is considered an important virulence factor because it injects effector toxins directly into the cytoplasm of host cells (Beaz-Hidalgo and Figueras 2013). Different studies that generate mutant strains for structural genes of the T3SS showed that the T3SS is

Ana Fernández Bravo

essential for the toxicity and virulence (Burr et al., 2005; Dacanay et al., 2006). In addition, mutant strains for the effector proteins also showed to be less virulent (Dacanay et al., 2006). None of the six strains showed the genes encoding the heat-stable enterotoxin (*ast*), heat-labile cytotonic enterotoxin (*alt*) or the Shiga toxins (stx1 and stx2) (Table 4).

Phylogenetic analysis with 7 housekeeping genes extracted from the genomes

The use of phylogenetic analysis based on concatenated housekeeping genes has been recommended (Martínez-Murcia et al., 2016). The neighbor-joining phylogenetic tree constructed with the complete concatenation of 7 housekeeping genes (*gyrB*, *rpoD*, *recA*, *dnaJ*, *gyrA*, *dnaX* and *atpD*) obtained from the ESV-351 genome to those from other type strains of *Aeromonas*, ratified that ESV-351 belongs to the *A. lusitana* species. This result confirmed the ones obtained with the concatenation of *rpoD* and *gyrB* in the previous study (Vega-Sánchez et al., 2014b). The MLPA showed that *A. lusitana* formed a clade of the species *A. encheleia* CECT 4342^T, *A. eucrenophila* CECT 4224^T, *A. aquatica* CECT 8025^T and *A. tecta* CECT 7082^T (Figure 2). Apart from *A. aquatica* CECT 8025^T that was described after *A. lusitana*, the other three were previously reported as the closest species to *A. lusitana* (Vega-Sánchez et al., 2014b; Martínez-Murcia et al., 2016). All genomes of these closely related species were evaluated with some of the tools used to compare genomes.

Comparison of ANI and *is*DDH values obtained between *A. lusitana* and the closest species

In general, for the separation of species, an ANI below 96 % (Lee et al., 2016) and *is*DDH below 70 % (Meier-Kolthoff et al., 2014) have been recommended. The values of ANI and *is*DDH between *A. lusitana* ESV-351 and the closest species were <40 % and <90, respectively (Figure 3), being similar to previous results reported among *Aeromonas* species (Colston et al., 2014; Beaz- Hidalgo et al., 2015). As shown in Figure 3A the ANI value obtained between the genome of the ESV-351 and the type strain of *A. lusitana* was higher than >96 % (96.3 %).

However, the *is*DDH between these strains was less than 70% (68.90 %) (Figure 3B). An explanation of this borderline result could be that these strains are the same species but with some higher differences between both. In a study by Colston et al., (2014), the results showed a similar *is*DDH with strains belonging to *A. allosaccharophila*, describing the taxonomy of this species as controversial. For this reason, it is possible that *A. lusitana* species can be a controversial species like *A. allosaccharophila*, and it is important to sequence the genome of more strains of *A. lusitana* species to clarify the cutoff of the *is*DHH. However, the results of ANI are more reliable; it has been proposed as a new standard for defining microbial species, and it is gaining wide acceptance (Konstantinidis and Tiedje, 2005; Colston et al., 2014).

Genome information and comparative with other related and unrelated species

Figure 4 compares the genome of A. lusitana ESV-351 with the one of the type strain CECT 7828^T and with the published genomes of the closest species i.e. A.tecta, A. eucrenophila, A. encheleia and A. aquatica and with six additional genomes of other Aeromonas species (Seshadri et al., 2006; Reith et al., 2008; Beatson et al., 2011; Li et al., 2011; Charette et al., 2012; Wu et al., 2012). As shown in the Figure 4, the strain ESV-351 showed a slightly bigger genome size (4.74 Mb) than the type strain (4.55 Mb), and similarity with the one of the closest species A. tecta (4.75 Mb) and with the ones of several other species (Figure 4). Moreover, the G+C content of strain ESV-351 (60.7%) was within the range (57 to 63 mol%) that has been reported for the genus (Beaz-Hidalgo and Figueras et al., 2013). The numbers of predicted tRNAs of strain ESV-351 were 110, being the same as the ones present in the complete genome of A. salmonicida A449 (Reith et al., 2008), and higher than the 98 found in the type strain CECT 7828^{T} and the closest species, that ranges between 82-101. A study that compared the A. hydrophila genomes by Pang et al., (2015), showed that A. hydrophila ATCC 7996^T possessed a higher number of tRNAs than the other strains, and suggested that the increasing number of tRNAs may be useful to increase the protein synthesis on the basis of previous information (Lee et al., 2008). Considering this explanation, we

Ana Fernández Bravo

could suggest that, A. lusitana ESV-351 could synthesize a higher number of tRNAs than A. lusitana CECT 7828^T or the closest species. In relation to the protein-coding genes, A. lusitana ESV-351 showed a higher number of these (4251) than the type strain CECT 7828^T (4069) (Figure 3). The first described genomes corresponded to A. salmonicida A449 and A. hydrophila ATCC 7966^T, that are considered the first an important pathogen in fish, and the second an important pathogen in humans and fish. The latter genomes showed both a higher number of protein-coding genes, 4388 and 4128, respectively. The large number of genes, encoded by A. salmonicida A449, were related to the potential virulence of this species, with an abundance of insertions and pseudogenes, that suggested an evolution and adaptation of these bacteria to different hosts (Reith et al., 2008; Beaz-Hidalgo and Figueras 2013). In the case of A. hydrophila ATCC 7966^T, the genes encode several metabolic pathways that allow these bacteria to live in different environments (Seshadri et al., 2006; Beaz-Hidalgo and Figueras 2013). This information leads us to believe that A. lusitana could also adapt to different environments due to the high number of protein-coding genes. Furthermore, it is important to observe that A. lusitana ESV-351 possessed a higher number of these proteins than A. lusitana CECT 7828^T (Figure 3). An explanation of this could be that the higher number of protein-coding genes would be related to the origin of the strain. The ESV-351 (Vega-Sánchez et al., 2014b) isolated from a rainbow trout in Mexico, would have a higher number of protein-coding genes, while the CECT 7828^T (Martínez-Murcia et al., 2016) isolated from untreated water would have less protein-coding genes. In comparison with A. salmonicida A499 and A. hydrophila ATCC 7966^T, A. lusitana ESV-351 could be an important fish pathogen due to the high number of proteins. However, more studies of these proteins are needed to clarify if these proteins could encode virulence genes as well as different metabolic pathways that increase the pathogenicity of the strain in fish.

Core and Pan-genome analysis

The pan- and core- genome of the *A. lusitana* strains (ESV-351 and CECT 7828^T) and of both strains with the closest species (*A. aquatica* CECT 8025^T, *A.*

eucrenophila CECT 4224^T, A. encheleia CECT 4342^T and A. tecta CECT 7082^T) were analyzed to obtain more information about the A. lusitana ESV-351. We identified a pan-genome of 4356 genes and a core- genome of 3727 genes by using both A. lusitana genomes (Figure 5A). Taking into consideration the average gene numbers, 4160 for these two strains, the 3727 represent approximately 89% of the total genome. In other words, a higher part of the genomic regions is conserved. In addition, A. lusitana ESV-351 presented a higher number of unique genes (strainspecific) than A. lusitana CECT 7828^T, 392 and 237 genes, respectively. In addition, we identified a pan-genome of 6583 genes and a core-genome of 3229 by using six genomes (both A. lusitana strains and the closest species). The average of the gene number was 4138 for the six strains, the 3229 represent approximately 78%, an indicative of the highly conserved genomic features. As shown in Figure 5B, A. *tecta* CECT 7082^T (Demarta et al., 2008) showed a higher number of unique genes (947), an explanation of this higher number could be the contribution in the survival and the adaptation in the environment as previously reported (Fu et al., 2018). This strain was isolated from feces of a child with diarrhea (Demarta et al., 2008), and an analysis of this could be interesting to elucidate if these genes would encode virulence factors contributing to the survival.

Predicted protein sequences identity

The comparison of protein sequences of all predicted ORF's in the genomes of *A*. *lusitana* CECT 7828^T (used a reference sequence for the comparison) with *A*. *lusitana* ESV-351, *A. aquatica* CECT 8025^T, *A. eucrenophila* CECT 4224^T, *A. encheleia* CECT 4342^T, and *A. tecta* CECT 7082^T are shown in Figure 6. As expected, *A. lusitana* CECT 7828^T and *A. lusitana* ESV-351 were highly similar to each other with around 2538 proteins sharing more than 98% similarity between them. The comparison of the type strain of *A. lusitana* CECT 7828^T with the closest species *A. tecta* CECT 7082^T showed 629 proteins with a higher similarity than 98%. In the other three species the number of proteins with higher similarity than 98% in comparison with *A. lusitana* CECT 7828^T were 531 compared with *A. eucrenophila*

Ana Fernández Bravo

CECT 4224^T, 444 with *A. aquatica* CECT 8025^{T} and 304 with *A. encheleia* CECT 4342^T, as expected.

Distribution and counts of proteins in subsystems

A simple comparison between the genome of A. lusitana ESV-351 and A. lusitana CECT 7828^T with the closest species A. tecta CECT 7082^T was performed based on subsystems. The subsystems represent a group of functional roles including metabolic pathways, multisubunit complex or a specific class of proteins. A total of 4251 protein-coding genes were distributed in 523 subsystems in A. lusitana ESV-351, while 521 systems corresponding to the 4069 protein-coding genes of A. *lusitana* CECT 7828^T. In the case of A. *tecta* CECT 7082^T a total of 4267 proteincoding genes were classified in 525 subsystems. As shown in Figure 7 the three strains A. lusitana ESV-351, A. lusitana CECT 7828^T and A. tecta CECT 7082^T showed a similar distribution associated with different functional or structural systems, for example, the relation between the cell wall and capsule, membrane transport, amino acids and derivatives and carbohydrates among them. The two strains of A. lusitana showed almost the same amount of proteins belonging to the different subsystems, and those, as could be expected, were more similar than the number of proteins found in the closest species A. tecta CECT 7082^T (Figure 7). The predicted catabolic pathways for the strain A. lusitana ESV-351 included the use of mannose, deoxyribose, ketogluconates, fructose, D-glycerate, and D-ribose. Proteins required for using glycerol-3-phosphate, mannitol, and citrate were also detected. The latter could be responsible for the growth capacity with the presence of citrate as a carbon source found for these species, which is a differential phenotypic characteristic (Martínez-Murcia et al., 2016). Considering this observation, we decided to screen all the genomes for the presence of the citrate synthase gene.

Citrate synthase

The citrate synthase gene was found in all genomes of the *Aeromonas* genus, but this gene could not be associated with the use of the citrate as a phenotypic characteristic. Martínez-Murcia et al. (2016) demonstrated that the phenotypic test

for citrate was negative in A. eucrenophila, but in our study the citrate synthase was found in the genome. In the case of A. lusitana ESV-351, the phenotypic character was positive (Martínez-Murcia et al., 2016); however, in our study the gene of citrate synthase was found in the genome. In relation with the conservation of the gene among all the 32 Aeromonas spp., the phylogenetic analysis of the sequences of the 32 species showed the formation of two main clusters, that grouped each of them in 12 and 20 of the species, however, no pattern related to the phenotypic test was observed. Also, the phylogenetic analysis showed a distance of 85-97% between species (Figure 8). In addition, as shown in Figure 9 based on the SEED database, four important pathogens were compared with A. lusitana ESV-351, being this gene identical. Figure 9 shows these pathogens including one strain of Aeromonas (A. hydrophila ATCC 7996^T), which is an important pathogen in humans and fish (Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2015), Vibrio cholerae O1 biovar eltor strain 16961 that has been the dominant strain in the seventh global cholera pandemic (Barua and Cvjetanovic, 1972), Vibrio vulnificus CMCP16, which causes fatal septicemia and necrotizes wound infections (Duong-Nu et al., 2016), and Yersinina pestis KIM, the etiologic agent of bubonic and pneumonic plague (Deng et al., 2002). However, as shown the phylogenetic analysis, the gene was found in the type strain, but was different from the ESV-351 strain. Furthermore, the citrate synthase was described as a virulence factor in other bacteria such as Agrobacterium tumefaciens and Escherichia coli (Suksomtip et al., 2005; Quandt et al., 2015). Also, citrate synthase activated a protein that increases the survival of the Staphylococcus aureus (Ding et al., 2014). Considering all this information, it is possible that the citrate synthase gene could also act as an important virulence factor in A. lusitana ESV-351, but in contraposition of what could be expected the strain was negative using the citrate utilization test.

Conclusions

This study demonstrated that the phenotypic differential characteristics were highly conserved among the *A. lusitana* strains. However, the indol production was

Ana Fernández Bravo

different between the new strain and the type strain. The genomic characterization of *Aeromonas lusitana* ESV-351 showed a slightly bigger genome size than the type strain with more protein coding genes and tRNAs and these could facilitate the survival and adaptation of this strain in the environment. Also, the chromosomal region surrounding the conserved citrate synthase locus in the new strain was relatively similar to that of four pathogenic bacteria, suggesting that this gene could play a role in the virulence of this new strain.

Acknowledgements

The projects JPIW2013-095-C03-03 of MINECO (Spain), AQUAVALENS of the Seventh Framework Program (FP7/2007-2013) grant agreement 311846 from the European Union, as well as the CONACYT project CB-2008-01-103142 (UAEM1900/2010C) and Secretaria de Investigación y Posgrado (SIP-IPN) project 20180060 supported the study. AFB thanks the University Rovira i Virgili for her PhD fellowship.

Conflict of interest

The author(s) declare that they have no competing interests.

Author's contribution

AFB, VVS and MJF designed research; AFB, VVS, APC, FLE, performed research; AFB, VVS, APC, FLE, RBH, AMM, ESV, IPM, GCE, MJF analyzed the data and wrote the paper.

References

Abbott, S. L., Cheung, W. K., & Janda, J. M. (2003). The genus *Aeromonas*: biochemical characteristics, atypical reactions, and phenotypic identification schemes. *Journal of Clinical Microbioly*, 41, 2348-2357

Aguilera-Arreola, M. G., Hernández-Rodríguez, C., Zúñiga, G., Figueras, M. J., & Castro-Escarpulli, G. (2005). *Aeromonas hydrophila* clinical and environmental ecotypes as revealed by genetic diversity and virulence genes. *FEMS Microbioly Letters*, 242, 231-240.

Aravena-Román, M., Inglis, T. J. J., Henderson, B., Riley, T. V., & Chang, B. J. (2012). Antimicrobial susceptibilities of *Aeromonas* strains isolated from clinical and environmental sources to 26 antimicrobial agents. *Antimicrobial and Agents Chemotherapy*, 56, 1110-1112.

Aravena-Román, M., Inglis, T. J. J., Riley, T. V., & Chang, B. J. (2014). Distribution of 13 virulence genes among clinical and environmental *Aeromonas* spp. in Western Australia. *European Journal of Clinical Microbioliology* & *Infectious Diseases*, 33, 1889-1895.

Aziz, R. K., Bartels, D., Best, A. A., DeJongh, M., Disz, T., Edwards, R. A., et al. (2008). The RAST Server: rapid annotations using subsystems technology. *BMC genomics*, 9(1), 75.

Barua, D., & Cvjetanovic, B. (1972). The seventh pandemic of cholera. *Nature*, 239(15), 137-8.

Beatson, S. A., de Luna, M. D. G., Bachmann, N. L., Alikhan, N. F., Hanks, K.R., Sullivan, M. J., et al. (2011). Genome sequence of the emerging pathogen *Aeromonas caviae*. Jornal of Bacteriology. 193, 1286-1287.

Beaz-Hidalgo, R., Alperi, A., Buján, N., Romalde, J. L., & Figueras, M. J. (2010). Comparison of phenotypical and genetic identification of *Aeromonas* strains isolated from diseased fish. *Systematic Applied Microbiology*, 33,149-153.

Beaz-Hidalgo, R., & Figueras, M. J. (2013). *Aeromonas* spp. whole genomes and virulence factors implicated in fish disease. *Journal of Fish Diseases*, 36, 371-388.

Beaz-Hidalgo, R., Latif-Eugenín, F., Hossain, M. J., Berg, K., Niemi, R. M., Rapala, J., et al. (2015). *Aeromonas aquatica* sp. nov., *Aeromonas finlandiensis* sp. nov. and *Aeromonas lacus* sp. nov. isolated from Finnish waters associated with cyanobacterial blooms. *Systematic Applied Microbiology*, 38, 161-168.

Beaz-Hidalgo, R., Shakèd, T., Laviad, S., Halpern, M., & Figueras, M. J. (2012). Chironomid egg masses harbour the clinical species *Aeromonas taiwanensis* and *Aeromonas sanarellii*. *FEMS Microbiology Letters*, 337, 48-54.

Braun, M., Stuber, K., Schlatter, Y., Wahli, T., Kuhnert, P., & Frey, J. (2002). Characterization of an ADP- ribosyltransferase toxin (Aext) from *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida*. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 184, 1851-1858.

Burr, S. E., Pugovkin, D., Wahli, T., Segner, H., & Frey, J. (2005). Attenuated virulence of an *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida* type III secretion mutant in a rainbow trout model. *Microbiology*, 151, 2111-2128.

Cahill, M. M. (1990). Bacterial flora of fishes: A review. *Microbial Ecology*, 19, 21-41.

Carvalho, M. J., Martínez-Murcia, A., Esteves, A. C., Correia, A., & Saavedra, M. J. (2012). Phylogenetic diversity, antibiotic resistance and virulence traits of *Aeromonas* spp. from untreated waters for human consumption. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 159(3), 230-239.

Castro-Escarpulli, G., Figueras, M. J., Aguilera-Arreola, G., Soler, L., Fernández-Rendón, E., Aparicio, G. O., et al. (2003). Characterisation of *Aeromonas* spp. isolated from frozen fish intended for human consumption in Mexico. *International Journal of Food Microbiology*, 84(1), 41-49.

Chacón, M. R., Figueras, M. J., Castro-Escarpulli, G., Soler, L., Guarro, J. (2003). Distribution of virulence genes in clinical and environmental isolates of *Aeromonas* spp. *Antonie van Leeuwenhoek*, 84,269-278.

Chacón, M. R., Soler, L., Groisman, E. A., Guarro, J., & Figueras, M.J. (2004). Type III secretion system genes in clinical *Aeromonas* isolates. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 42, 1285-1287.

Charette S.J., Brochu F., Boyle B., Filion G., Tanaka K.H. & Derome N. (2012). Draft genome sequence of the virulent strain 01-B526 of the fish pathogen *Aeromonas salmonicida. Journal of Bacteriology*, 194, 722–723.

Chopra, A. K., Peterson, J. W., Xu, X. J., Coppenhaver, D. H., & Houston, C.
W. (1996). Molecular and biochemical characterization of a heat-labile cytotonic enterotoxin from *Aeromonas hydrophila*. *Microbial Pathogenesis*, 21, 357-377.

Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute. (2005). Methods for Antimicrobial Dilution and Disk Susceptibility Testing of Infrequently Isolated or Fastidious Bacteria; Proposed Guideline, M45-P. *Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute*, Wayne.

Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute. (2012). Performance Standards for antimicrobial Disk Susceptibility Tests; Approved Standard-Eleventh Edition, M02-A11. *Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute*, Wayne.

Colston, S. M., Fullmer, M. S., Beka, L., Lamy, B., Gogarten, J. P., & Graf, J. (2014). Bioinformatic genome comparisons for taxonomic and phylogenetic assignments using *Aeromonas* as a test case. *MBio*, 5(6), e02136-14.

Colston, S. M., Navarro, A., Martinez-Murcia, A. J., & Graf, J. (2018). Draft genome sequence of *Aeromonas lusitana* sp. nov. strain DSM 24905T, isolated from a hot spring in Vila-Real, Portugal. *Genome Announcements*, 6(15), e00226-18.

Dacanay, A., Knickle, L., Solanky, K.S., Boyd, J. M., Walter, J. A., Brown, L. L., et al. (2006). Contribution of the type III secretion system (TTSS) to virulence of *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida*. *Microbiology*, 152, 1847-1856.

Ana Fernández Bravo

Dallaire-Dufresne, S., Tanaka, K. H., Trudel, M. V., Lafaille, A., & Charette, S. J. (2014). Virulence, genomic features, and plasticity of *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida*, the causative agent of fish furunculosis. *Veterinary Microbiology*, 169, 1-7.

Demarta, A., Küpfer, M., Riegel, P., Harf-Monteil, C., Tonolla, M., Peduzzi, R., et al. (2008). *Aeromonas tecta* sp. nov., isolated from clinical and environmental sources. *Systematic Applied Microbiology*, 31, 278-286.

Deng, W., Burland, V., Plunkett III, G., Boutin, A., Mayhew, G. F., Liss, P., et al. (2002). Genome sequence of *Yersinia pestis* KIM. *Jornal of Bacteriology*. 184, 4601-4611.

Dias, C., Mota, V., Martinez-Murcia, A., & Saavedra, M. J. (2012). Antimicrobial resistance patterns of *Aeromonas* spp. isolated from ornamental fish. Jornal of Aquaculture Research and Development, 3(3).

Ding, Y., Liu, X., Chen, F., Di, H., Xu, B., Zhou, L., et al. (2014). Metabolic sensor governing bacterial virulence in *Staphylococcus aureus*. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of United States of America*, 111(46), E4981-E4990.

Duong-Nu, T. M., Jeong, K., Hong, S. H., Nguyen, H. V., Ngo, V. H., Min, J. J., et al. (2015). All three TonB systems are required for *Vibrio vulnificus* CMCP6 tissue invasiveness by flagellum expression. *Infection and Immunity*, 84, 254–265

Esteve, C., Gutiérrez, M. C., & Ventosa, A. (1995). *Aeromonas encheleia* sp. nov., isolated from European eels. International Journal Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 45, 462-466.

Fehr, D., Casanova, C., Liverman, A., Blazkova, H., Orth, K., Dobbelaere, D., et al. (2006). AopP, a type III effector protein of *Aeromonas salmonicida*, inhibits the NF-kappaBsignalling pathway. *Microbiology*, 152, 2809-2818.

Figueras, M. J., & Ashbolt, N. (2019). *Aeromonas*. In: J.B. Rose and B. Jiménez-Cisneros, (eds) *Global Water Pathogen Project*. Figueras, M. J., Alperi, A., Saavedra, M. J., Ko, W. C., Gonzalo, N., Navarro, M., et al (2009). Clinical relevance of the recently described species *Aeromonas* aquariorum. Journal of Clinical Microbiology, 47, 3742–3746.

Figueras, M.J., & Beaz-Hidalgo, R. (2015). *Aeromonas* infections in humans. In: *Aeromonas*. Ed. Graf J. *Caister Academic Press*. EEUU. pp. 65-108.

Fu, X., Lai, Q., Dong, C., Wang, W., & Shao, Z. (2018). Complete genome sequence of *Alcanivorax xenomutans* P40, an alkane-degrading bacterium isolated from deep seawater. *Marine genomics*, *38*, 1-4.

Galindo, C. L., Sha, J., Fadl, A. A., Pillai, L. L., & Chopra, A. K., (2006). Host immune responses to *Aeromonas* virulence factors. *Current Immunology*, Rev.2, 13-26.

Hassan, A., Naz, A., Obaid, A., Paracha, R. Z., Naz, K., Awan, F. M., et al. (2016). Pangenome and immuno-proteomics analysis of *Acinetobacter baumannii* strains revealed the core peptide vaccine targets. *BMC genomics*, 17, 732.

Hossain, M. J., Waldbieser, G. C., Sun, D., Capps, N. K., Hemstreet, W. B., Carlisle, K., et al. (2013). Implication of lateral genetic transfer in the emergence of *Aeromonas hydrophila* isolates of epidemic outbreaks in channel catfish. *PloS One*, 8,e80943.

Hyatt, D., Chen, G. L., LoCascio, P. F., Land, M. L., Larimer, F. W., & Hauser, L. J. (2010). Prodigal: prokaryotic gene recognition and translation initiation site identification. *BMC bioinformatics*, 11(1), 119.

Janda, J. M., & Abbott, S. L. (2010). The genus *Aeromonas*: taxonomy, pathogenicity, and infection. *Clinical Microbiology Reviews*, 23, 35–73.

Kingombe, C. I., Huys, G., Tonolla, M., Albert, M. J., Swings, J., Peduzzi, R., et al. (1999). PCR detection, characterization, and distribution of virulence genes in *Aeromonas* spp. *Applied Environmental Microbiology*, 65, 5293-5302.

Ana Fernández Bravo

Konstantinidis, K. T., & Tiedje, J. M. (2005). Genomic insights that advance the species definition for prokaryotes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of United States of America*, 102, 2567-2572.

Larsen, M. V., Cosentino, S., Rasmussen, S., Friis, C., Hasman, H., Marvig, R.
L., et al. (2012). Multilocus sequence typing of total-genome-sequenced bacteria. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 50(4), 1355-1361.

Lee, I., Kim, Y. O., Park, S. C., & Chun, J. (2016). OrthoANI: an improved algorithm and software for calculating average nucleotide identity. *International Journal of Systematic Evolutionary Microbiology*, 66, 1100-1103.

Lee, Z. M. P., Bussema III, C., & Schmidt, T. M. (2008). rrn DB: Documenting the number of rRNA and tRNA genes in bacteria and archaea. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 37 (suppl_1), D489-D493.

Li Y., Liu Y., Zou Z., Huang H., Ren Y., Zhang Y., et al. (2011a). Complete genome sequence of *Aeromonas veronii* strain B565. *Journal of Bacteriology*. 193, 3389–3390

Lowe, T. M., & Chan, P. P. (2016). tRNAscan-SE On-line: integrating search and context for analysis of transfer RNA genes. *Nucleic acids research*, 44(W1), W54-W57.

Lukjancenko, O., Wassenaar, T. M., & Ussery, D. W. (2010). Comparison of 61 sequenced *Escherichia coli* genomes. *Microbial Ecology*, 60, 708-720.

Lye, D. J. (2011). Gastrointestinal colonization rates for human clinical isolates of *Aeromonas veronii* using a mouse model. *Current Microbiology*, 63(4), 332.

Martin-Carnahan, & A., Joseph, S. W. 2005. *Aeromonadaceae*, In: Garrity GM (Ed.), 2nd ed. *Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology*, vol. 2. Springer-Verlag, New York, NY, pp. 556-580.

Martínez-Murcia, A., Beaz-Hidalgo, R., Navarro, A., Carvalho, M. J., Aravena-Román, M., Correia, A., et al. (2016). *Aeromonas lusitana* sp. nov., isolated from untreated water and vegetables. *Current Microbiology*, 72, 795-803.

Martinez-Murcia, A., & Saavedra, M. J. (2012). Antimicrobial resistance patterns of *Aeromonas* spp. isolated from ornamental fish. *Journal of Aquaculture Research* and Development, 3, 131

Meier-Kolthoff, J. P., Klenk, H. P., & Göker, M. (2014). Taxonomic use of DNA G+ C content and DNA–DNA hybridization in the genomic age. *International Journal of Systematic Evolutionary Microbiology*, 64, 352-356.

Merino, S., Aguilar, A., Nogueras, M. M., Regue, M., Swift, S., & Tomás, J. M. (1999). Cloning, sequencing, and role in virulence of two phospholipases (A1 and C) from mesophilic *Aeromonas* sp. serogroup O:34. Infection and Immunology, 67, 4008-4013.

Merino, S., Gavín, R., Vilches, S., Shaw, J. G., & Tomás, J. M. (2003). A colonization factor (production of lateral flagella) of mesophilic *Aeromonas* spp. is inactive in *Aeromonas salmonicida* strains. *Applied Environmental Microbiology*, 69, 663-667.

Muniesa, M., de Simon, M., Prats, G., Ferrer, D., Pañella, H., & Jofre, J. (2003). Shiga toxin 2-converting bacteriophages associated with clonal variability in *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 strains of human origin isolated from a single outbreak. Infection and Immunology, 71, 4554-4562.

Overbeek, R., Olson, R., Pusch, G. D., Olsen, G. J., Davis, J. J., Disz, T., et al. (2013). The SEED and the Rapid Annotation of microbial genomes using Subsystems Technology (RAST). *Nucleic Acids Research*, 42(D1), D206-D214.

Pablos, M., Rodríguez-Calleja, J. M., Santos, J. A., Otero, A., García-López, M.
L. (2009). Occurrence of motile *Aeromonas* in municipal drinking water and distribution of genes encoding virulence factors. International Journal of Food Microbiology. 135, 158-164.32.

Pang, M., Jiang, J., Xie, X., Wu, Y., Dong, Y., Kwok, A. H., et al. (2015). Novel insights into the pathogenicity of epidemic *Aeromonas hydrophila* ST251 clones from comparative genomics. *Scientific Reports*, 5, 9833.

Ana Fernández Bravo

Puthucheary, S. D., Puah, S. M., Chua, K. H. (2012). Molecular characterization of clinical isolates of *Aeromonas* species from Malaysia. *PloS One*, 7, e30205

Quandt, E. M., Gollihar, J., Blount, Z. D., Ellington, A. D., Georgiou, G., & Barrick, J. E. (2015). Fine-tuning citrate synthase flux potentiates and refines metabolic innovation in the Lenski evolution experiment. *Elife*, 4, e09696.

Reith, M.E., Singh, R.K., Curtis, B., Boyd, J.M., Bouevitch, A., Kimball, J., et al. (2008). The genome of *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. salmonicida A449, insights into the evolution of a fish pathogen. *BMC Genomics*, 9, 427.

Romero, A., Saraceni, P. R., Merino, S., Figueras, A., Tomás, J. M., & Novoa,
B. (2016). The animal model determines the results of *Aeromonas* virulence factors. *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 7, 1574.

Seshadri, R., Joseph, S.W., Chopra, A.K., Sha, J., Shaw, J., Graf, J., et al. (2006). Genome sequence of *Aeromonas hydrophila* ATCC 7966T, jack of all trades. Journal of Bacteriology, 188, 8272–8282.

Soler, L., Figueras, M. J., Chacón, M. R., Vila, J., Marco, F., Martínez-Murcia, A. J., et al. (2002). Potential virulence and antimicrobial susceptibility of *Aeromonas popoffii* recovered from freshwater and seawater. FEMS Immunology and Medical Microbiology, 32, 243-247.

Soler, L., Marco, F., Vila, J., Chacón, M. R., Guarro, J., & Figueras, M. J. (2003). Evaluation of two miniaturized systems, MicroScan W/A and BBL Crystal E/NF, for identification of clinical isolates of *Aeromonas* spp. Journal of Clinical Microbiology, 41, 5732-5734.

Suksomtip, M., Liu, P., Anderson, T., Tungpradabkul, S., Wood, D. W., & Nester, E. W. (2005). Citrate synthase mutants of *Agrobacterium* are attenuated in virulence and display reduced vir gene induction. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 187, 4844-4852.

Tomás, J. M. (2012). The main *Aeromonas* pathogenic factors. ISRN Microbiology, 2012.

Ussery, D. W., Kiil, K., Lagesen, K., Sicheritz-Ponten, T., Bohlin, J., & Wassenaar, T. M. 2009. The genus Burkholderia: analysis of 56 genomic sequences. In: *Microbial Pathogenomics* (Vol. 6, pp. 140-157). Karger Publishers.

Vega-sánchez, V., Acosta-Dibarrat, J., Vega-Castillo, F., Castro-Escarpulli, G., Aguilera-Arreola, M. G., & Soriano-Vargas, E. (2014a). Phenotypical characteristics, genetic identification, and antimicrobial sensitivity of *Aeromonas* species isolated from farmed rainbow trout (*Onchorynchus mykiss*) in Mexico. *Acta Tropica*, 130, 76-79.

Vega-Sánchez, V., Latif-Eugenín, F., Soriano-Vargas, E., Beaz-Hidalgo, R., Figueras, M. J., Aguilera-Arreola, M. G., et al. (2014b). Re-identification of *Aeromonas* isolates from rainbow trout and incidence of class 1 integron and β -lactamase genes. Veterinary Microbiology, 172, 528-533.

Versalovic, J., Koeuth, T., & Lupski, R. (1991). Distribution of repetitive DNA sequences in eubacteria and application to finerpriting of bacterial enomes. *Nucleic Acids Research*, 19, 6823-6831.

Vesth, T., Lagesen, K., Acar, Ö., & Ussery, D. (2013). CMG-biotools, a free workbench for basic comparative microbial genomics. *PloS one*, 8, e60120.

Wang, G., Clark, C. G., Rodgers, F. G. (2002). Detection in *Escherichia coli* of the genes encoding the major virulence factors, the genes defining the O157:H7 serotype, and components of the type 2 Shiga toxin family by multiplex PCR. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, 40, 3613-3619.

Wu C.J., Wang H.C., Chen C.S., Shu H.Y., Kao A.W., Chen P.L., et al. (2012) Genome sequence of a novel human pathogen, *Aeromonas aquariorum*. *Journal of Bacteriology*, 194, 4114

Wu, C. J., Wu, J. J., Yan, J. J., Lee, H. C., Lee, N. Y., Chang, C. M., et al. (2007). Clinical significance and distribution of putative virulence markers of 116 consecutive clinical *Aeromonas* isolates in southern Taiwan. *Journal of Infection*, 54, 151-158.

Ana Fernández Bravo

Table 1. Comparative phenotypic characteristic between the Mexican strain (ESV-351) and the five strains including the type strain of the original description of *Aeromonas lusitana* (Martinez-Murcia et al., 2016)

	ESV-351	CECT 7020 ^T	Isolates		
	E3V-331	CECT /828	(4)		
β-haemolisis	+	+	+		
Indole	+	-	-		
MR	+	+	+		
LDC	+	+	+		
Glucose (gas)	+	+	+		
Citrate	+	+	+		
Hydrolysis of					
SDS	-	-	V		
Aesculin	+	+	+		
Starch	+	+	+		
Elastase	ND	+	+		
Acid from					
Glycerol	+	+	+		
L-arabinose	-	-	-		
Salicin	+	+	+		
Utilization of					
DL-lactate	-	-	-		
L-arabinose	-	-	-		
Growth at		±	L		
4.5% NaCl	т	т	Т		

MR: Methyl Red; LCD: Lysine descarboxylase; ND: not done; -: < 15% positive; V: between 15 to 85% positive; +: \geq 85% of strains positive.

Table 2. Susceptibility profile of strain ESV-351 and the type strain reported by Martínez-Murcia et al., 2016 to 23 antimicrobial agents.

	Results	s (MIC)	Breakpoints			
Antimicrobial agents	ESV-351	CECT 7828 ^T	S	Ι	R	
Amikacin	S (≤8)	S (≤8)	≤16	32	≥64	
Ampicillin	I (>16)	I (>16)	≤ 8	16	≥32	
Amoxicillin-clavulanic acid	I (>16/8)	I (>16/8)	≤8/4	16/8	≥32/16	
Aztreonam	S (≤1)	S (≤1)	≤8	16	≥32	
Ceftazidime	S (≤1)	S (≤1)	≤8	16	≥32	
Ceftriaxone (30 µg)	S (33) ^a	S (33) ^a	≥21	14-20	≤13	
Cephalothin	I (>16)	I (>16)	≤8	16	≥32	
Ciprofloxacin (5µg)	S (42) ^a	S (42) ^a	≥21	16-20	≤15	
Cefotaxime	S (≤1)	S (≤1)	≤8	16-32	≥64	
Cefoxitin	S (≤8)	S (≤8)	≤8	16	≥32	
Ciprofloxacino	S (≤0.5)	S (≤0.5)	≤1	2	≥4	
Cefepime	S (≤1)	S (≤1)	≤ 8	16	≥32	
Cefuroxime	S (8) ^a	S (8) ^a	≤ 8	16	≥32	
Ertapenem	S (≤0.5)	S (≤0.5)	≤2	4	≥ 8	
Gentamicin	S (≤2)	S (≤2)	≤4	8	≥16	
Imipenem	S (≤1)	S (≤1)	≤4	8	≥16	
Nalidixic acid	S (≤16)	S (≤16)	≤8	16	≥16	
Piperacillin (100µg)	S (29) ^a	S (29) ^a	≥21	18-20	≤17	
Piperacillin-tazobactam	S (≤8)	S (≤8)	≤16/4	32/4-64/4	≥128/4	
Tetracycline (30µg)	S (27) ^a	S (27) ^a	≥19	15-18	≤14	
Trimetoprim-sulfamethoxazole	S (≤2/38)	S (≤2/38)	≤2/38	-	≥4/76	
Tigecycline	S (≤1)	S (≤1)	≤1	2	≥2	
Tobramycin	S (≤2)	S (≤2)	≤2	4	≥4	

^aAntimicrobial susceptibility test was performed by agar disk diffusion (results expressed in mm).

Ana Fernández Bravo

Table 3. Distribution of virulence genes studied by PCR in the six trains of Aeromonas lusitana

Strain	Origen	laf	act	ast	alt	aerA	Lipase genes	Serine protease genes	ascF-G	ascV	aexT
ESV- 351	Rainbow trout	-	+	-	-	+	+	+	-	-	-
CECT 7828 ^T	Thermal water	+	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	+
MDC 2467	Drinking water	+	-	-	-	+	+	+	+	+	-
MDC 2468	Vegetable	+	-	-	-	+	+	-	+	+	-
MDC 2469	Vegetable	+	+	-	-	+	+	+	-	-	-
MDC 2472	Thermal water	-	+	-	-	+	+	+	-	-	-



Figure 1. ERIC-PCR profile of the six strains of *Aeromonas lusitana* included in the present study. C1: $11/6^{T}$ (=MDC 2473^T =DSM 24095^T = CECT 7828^T); C2: A.136/15 (MDC 2467); C3: L8-3 (MDC 2468); C4: L10-4 (MDC 2469); C5: A.28/6 (MDC 2472); C6: ESV-351; M: Molecular weight. C1, C2 and C5 were recovered from water; C3 and C4 were isolated from vegetables. C6, was recovered from rainbow trout.



Figure 2. Phylogenetic tree derived from the MLPA of the concatenated 3849 bp sequence of 7 housekeeping genes from the genome (gyrB, rpoD, recA, dnaJ, gyrA, dnaX and atpD), showing the relationships of cluster containing the type strain of *Aeromonas lusitana* CECT 7828^T, *A. lusitana* ESV-351 and type strains of other *Aeromonas* species. Numbers at nodes indicate bootstrap values (percentage of 1000 replicates). Bar 0.01 estimated nucleotide substitutions per site.

Ana Fernández Bravo



Figure 3. Comparative results of the Average Nucleotide Identity obtained between the genomes of the strains of *Aeromonas lusitana* isolated from Mexico (ESV-351) and the type strain recovered from Portugal (CECT 7827^T) and the closest *Aeromonas* species (A) and of the results of the *is*DDH (B).

Species	Size (Mb)	Protein- coding genes	tRNA	G+C (%)				
A. lusitana ESV-351	4.74	4251	110	60.7				
A. lusitana CECT 7828 [⊤]	4.55	4 4069 41	98	61.0				
	Closest sp	ecies						
<i>A. tecta</i> CECT 7082 [⊤]	4.75	4267	96	60.1				
A. eucrenophila CECT 4224 [⊤]	4.54	4098	101	61.2				
A. aquatica CECT 8025 [⊤]	4.58	⁶ 4091 40	82 9	⁵ 61.2 61.2				
A. encheleia CECT 4342 [⊤]	4.47	4051	94	62.0				
Closed genomes availabes at the NCBI								
A. salmonicida A449	4.70	4388	110	58.5				
A. hydrophila ATCC 7966 [⊤]	4.74	4128	128	61.5				
A. caviae Ae398	4.43	3960	ND	61.4				
A. veronii B565	4.55	4057	153 102	58.7 60.0				
A. salmonicida 01-B526	4.75	4179	111	58.5				
A. dhakensis AAK1	4.81	4214		61.8				

Figure 4. Comparison of the main characteristics of the genomes of *Aeromonas lusitana* strains ESV-351 and CECT 7828^T, the genomes of the closest species and of the six species that have closed genomes available at the NCBI database.

```
Results
```



Figure 5. Core and Pan genome comparison between the strains of *Aeromonas lusitana* isolated from Mexico (ESV-351) and the type strain recovered from Portugal (CECT7827^T) (**A**) and the the closest related *Aeromonas* species (**B**).



Figure 6. Comparison of Predicted Proteins. Protein sequences were compared by using the Rapid Annotation System Technology (RAST)-SEED viewer sequenced-based comparison tool with *Aeromonas lusitana* CECT 7828^T used as the reference sequence. Percent protein sequence identity is expressed by color coding provided in the legend. A threshold of 98% sequence identity was used to identify sequences highly conserved.



Figure 7. Subsystem category distribution of major protein coding genes of the strains of *Aeromona lusitana* isolated from Mexico (ESV-351) and the type strain recovered from Portugal (CECT 7827^T) and the closest species *Aeromonas tecta* CECT 7082^T as annotated by Rapid Annotation System Technology (RAST) server.



Figure 8. Phylogenetic tree derived from the citrate synthase gene, showing the relationships of cluster containing the strains of *Aeromonas lusitana* isolated from Mexico (ESV-351) and the type strain.


Figure 9. Comparison of the chromosomal region surrounding the conserved citrate synthase locus of *A. lusitana* Mexican strain ESV-351 with the four more similar loci of different bacteria included in the database of the SEED viewer. Orthologous genes are grouped with the same number and color. The number one in red is the citrate synthase gene. Genes whose relative position is conserved in at least four other species are functionally coupled and share gray background boxes. *Aeromonas hydrophila* is the only species of *Aeromonas* included in the database.

Supplementary Table 1. Comparative phenotypic characteristic of the Mexican strain (ESV-351)
isolated from rainbow trout by using a conventional biochemical test and the MicroScan (W/A)
identification system.

	Biochemie	cal results		Biochemic	al results
	Conventional	MicroScan	_	Conventional	MicroScan
Test			Test		
Motility	+	ND	Acid from:		
Oxidase	+	ND	D-adonitol	ND	-
Catalase	+	ND	D-cellobiose	-	ND
ADH	+	-	D-mannitol	+	ND
LDC	+	-	D-sorbitol	-	-
ODC	-	-	Glucose	ND	+
Tryptophan deaminase	ND	-	Glycerol	+	ND
Indole	+	a	L- Arabinose	-	ND
ONPG	+	-	L- Rhamnose	-	ND
Urea	-	-	D-lactose	-	ND
H ₂ S	-	-	D-mellobiose	ND	-
VP	-	-	<i>m</i> -Inositol	-	-
MR	+	ND	D-raffinose	ND	ND
Gelatin	+	ND	D-sacarose	+	ND
DNase	+	ND	Salicin	+	ND
Glucose (gas)	+	ND	Sucrose	-	-
Nitrate reduction	+	+			
β–Hemolysis	+		Hydrolysis of:		
			Aesculin	+	-
Utilization of:			SDS	-	ND
Citrate	+	-	Starch	+	ND
DL-Lactate	-	ND			
Malonate	ND	-	Resistance to :		
Acetamide	ND	-	Chepalothin	ND	+
Tartrate	ND	-	Colistin	ND	-
			Kanamycin	ND	+
Growth in:			Nitrofurantoin	ND	-
0% NaCl	+	ND	O /129 ^b (150 µg)	+	ND
4.5% NaCl	+	ND	Penicillin	ND	+
6% NaCl	-	ND	Tobramycin	ND	-
Cetridime	ND	-	-		
Growth at 42°C	-	ND			

ADH: Arginine dihydrolase; LDC: Lysine decarboxylase; ODC: Ornithine decarboxylase; ONPG: *o*-nitrophenyl- β -D-galactopyranoside; VP: Voges-Proskauer; MR: Methyl Red. ^a Negative in two of three repetitions; ^b Vibriostatic agent (2,4-diamino-6,7diisopropylpteridine) (150 µg / disk); ND: Not Done.

4.7. Characteristics and potential role in infection of the metallochaperone HypA in species of the human emerging pathogen genus *Aeromonas*

Fernández-Bravo A., López-Fernández L., Figueras MJ. (Submitted/ Under review in BMC Microbiology)

Cecilia Devoto Editor BMC Microbiology

Reus, February 15, 2019

Dear Editor,

We respectfully request that you consider the enclosed manuscript entitled "Characteristics and potential role in infection of the metallochaperone HypA in species of the human emerging pathogen genus *Aeromonas*" for publication in *BMC Microbiology*. The importance of this research resides in the interest of the metal ions role in virulence of the emerging pathogen *Aeromonas* spp. This is the first time that HypA metallochaperone, involved in different mechanisms, is reported as a new potential virulence factor in this genus. All the material included in the manuscript is original and unpublished, and does not infringe any personal or other copyright or property rights. All the authors have read and comply with the instructions and stated conditions provided in the instructions to authors. We are confident that *BMC Microbiology* is the most appropriate journal to share this important information to the suitable readership.

Sincerely yours,

Prof. Maria José Figueras

Dr Loida López-Fernández

Characteristics and potential role in infection of the metallochaperone HypA in species of the human emerging pathogen genus *Aeromonas*.

Ana Fernández-Bravo, Loida López-Fernández*, Maria José Figueras*.

Unit of Microbiology, Department of Basic Health Sciences, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, IISPV, University Rovira i Virgili, Reus, Spain.

Corresponding authors:

- *Dr. Maria José Figueras, mariajose.figueras@urv.cat
- *Dr. Loida López-Fernández, loida.lopez@urv.cat

Ana Fernández Bravo

ABSTRACT

Background: Metallochaperones are essential proteins that insert metal ions or metal cofactors into specific enzymes that after maturation will become metalloenzymes. One of the most studied metallochaperones is the nickel-binding protein HypA, involved in the maturation of the nickel dependent hydrogenases and ureases. The HypA was previously described in the human pathogens *Escherichia coli* and *Helicobacter pylori*, considering it a key virulence factor in this latter. However, nothing is known about this metallochaperone in the species of the emerging pathogen genus *Aeromonas*. These bacteria are autochthonous inhabitants of the aquatic environments often associated with cases of diarrhea and wound infections.

Results: In this study, we performed an *in silico* study with 36 *Aeromonas* genome sequences to identify the presence of *hypA* gene, that showed to be present in 69.4 % (25/36) of the *Aeromonas* genomes. The similarity of the *Aeromonas* HypA proteins with the orthologous protein of *H. pylori* ranged from 21 to 23 %, while with *E. coli* it was 41-45 %. However, despite this low percentage, *Aeromonas* HypA proteins exhibited the same conserved characteristic metal-binding domains found in the other pathogens. The transcriptional analysis enabled to determine *hypA* expression levels under acidic and alkaline conditions and after macrophage phagocytosis. The transcriptional regulation of *hypA* resulted to be pH-dependent, showing upregulation at acidic pH. A higher upregulation occurred after macrophages infection.

Conclusions: This is the first study that provided evidence that HypA metallochaperone in *Aeromonas* might play a role in the acid tolerance and in the defense against macrophages.

Keywords: metallochaperone, *Aeromonas*, macrophages, acid, alkaline, ROS, hydrogenases, ureases

BACKGROUND

Metal ions are essential for the correct functioning of microbial biological processes [1]·[2]. In fact, many proteins contain metal ions bound directly to their amino acid chains by histidine or cysteine residues as cofactors. Particularly, metalloenzymes such as nitrogenases, ureases or hydrogenases are an abundant type of metalloproteins that catalyze numerous metabolic and enzymatic reactions [3-5]. The synthesis of these metalloenzymes consists of complex processes that require a set of accessory proteins. In this context metallochaperones play a key role in bacterial metal homeostasis "metallostasis", since they are involved in the acquisition and transfer of metals [5-7]. Many evidences indicate an important role of metallostasis in the host-pathogen interaction ^{1,7,8}. For instance, during infection the host limits the availability of essential metals, inactivating metal-dependent processes of the bacterial pathogen that compensates this limitation producing metallochaperones, among other proteins [1, 7, 8].

Metallochaperones act directly inserting metal ions into specific enzymes that will become metalloenzymes after maturation [5-7]. One of the best studied regulation mechanism by metallochaperones in bacteria is the maturation of hydrogenases, which are enzymes that catalyze the interconversion of hydrogen (H_2) into protons and electrons, playing a vital role in anaerobic metabolism and oxidative stress response[9]. There are three types of hydrogenases based on the metal attached to their active site: [FeFe] hydrogenase, [NiFe] hydrogenase and [Fe]-only hydrogenase [10, 11]. The [NiFe]-hydrogenases are heterodimeric proteins consisting of two subunits, a small (~ 26 kDa) and a large (~ 62 kDa) which possesses in its active site the metallic cofactor NiFe(CN)₂CO responsible for catalyzing the reversible production of molecular H_{2 [10]}. Several accessory proteins encoded by genes present in the hyp operon are required for the NiFe(CN)₂CO biosyntesis[12, 13]. In fact, the HypC, HypD, HypE and HypF proteins are considered hydrogenase maturation factors and are responsible for the synthesis and transfer of the $Fe(CN)_2$ complex to the hydrogenase precursor. After delivery of the Fe(CN)₂CO complex to the hydrogenase, the metallochaperone HypA and the

Ana Fernández Bravo

GTPase HypB participate in its correct maturation by transferring a nickel ion into the large subunit of the hydrogenase [12, 14].

The nickel-binding HypA metallochaperone has been well studied in the human pathogens Helicobacter pylori and Escherichia coli, in which it has been related to virulence [12, 15-18]. Although the function of this metallochaperone is mainly associated to the maturation of hydrogenases, recent studies have demonstrated that HypA is also involved in the urease maturation [18-20]. Both metalloenzymes are relevant in the adaptation to several redox conditions in pathogenic bacteria. Previous studies demonstrated that the hydrogenases participate in the defense against oxidative stress [21], as well as in acid resistance in E. coli [18, 22, 23]. The data showed that in E. coli K-12 hydrogenase mutant exhibit an impaired acid resistance [18, 22, 23]. Moreover, previous works revealed that ureases facilitates the survival of *H. pylori* in the human gastric mucosa by protecting it from the acid environment of the stomach [18-20]. The ureases neutralize the gastric acids by catalyzing the conversion of urea into ammonia and carbon dioxide. The latter studies demonstrated that the modification of the zinc- and nickel- binding sites in HypA affect its urease activity and consequently impairs acid resistance in these bacteria [18-20].

An earlier study investigated the redox potentials of facultative aerobic and obligate anaerobic bacteria that produce H₂ along the gut of earthworms by analyzing the [NiFe]- and [FeFe]-hydrogenase gene transcripts [24]. The results showed that 21 % of the detected [NiFe]-hydrogenase-affiliated sequences corresponded to bacteria of the genus *Aeromonas* [24]. Therefore, these findings evidence the fermentative capacity of these bacteria as great hydrogen producers. Despite the presence of hydrogenases has been described in *Aeromonas*, nothing is known about the function of the metallochaperone HypA in this genus [24]. *Aeromonas* species are considered opportunistic emergent pathogens producing mainly gastroenteritis and 96.5 % of the clinical strains correspond to 4 species: *Aeromonas caviae* (29.9 %), *Aeromonas dhakensis* (26.3 %), *Aeromonas veronii* (24.8 %) and *Aeromonas hydrophila* (15.5 %) [25-27]. Hence, it is of interest to investigate whether the HypA

metallochaperone could be considered a new potential virulence factor of these bacteria. Therefore, the objective of this study was to search for the presence of the *hypA* gene in the genomes of the species of the genus *Aeromonas*, as well as to evaluate if HypA participates in their adaptive molecular response to acidic conditions and oxidative stress.

RESULTS

Identification of hypA gene in Aeromonas species

The results of the *in silico* search using the *hypA* sequence (339 bp) of *A. hydrophila* KN-Mc-1R2 (CP027804.1) as template showed that the gene was present in 69.4 % (25/36) of investigated genomes belonging to the *Aeromonas* species (Table 1). In addition, *hypA* was present in sixteen additional genomes (eight of *A. hydrophila* and eight of *A. dhakensis*) screened for determining whether the presence of the *hypA* was a strain or species-specific character (data not shown).

Sequence analyses of HypA proteins shows specific motifs associated to metal binding

The specific metal-binding motifs consisting of N-terminal MHE motif for Nibinding and two consecutive cysteine motifs CxxCnCPxC for Zn-binding, previously reported in the HypA proteins of *E. coli* and *H. pylori*, were also observed in the *Aeromonas* spp. protein sequences Figure 1A. The threedimensional predicted structures of HypA proteins of *A. hydrophila* CECT 7996^T and *E. coli* were very similar (Figure 1A). Indeed, the monomeric and dimeric predicted proteins of the latter species displayed the characteristic α -helices (α 1 and α 2) and a β -sheet (long β 1, β 2, and β 6 and short β 3, β 4, and β 5) (Figure 1B).

Conservation and phylogenetic relationships of HypA in Aeromonas

The similarity of the *in silico*-translated amino acid sequences of HypA between the *Aeromonas* species ranged between 86 % and 100 %. As expected, when comparing the *Aeromonas* HypA with those of *E. coli* and *H. pylori* the similarity was significantly lower, 41-45 % and 21-26 % respectively (Figure 1A). As observed in the phylogenetic tree, HypA proteins were highly conserved among the 25

Ana Fernández Bravo

Aeromonas species. Two groups of species, one formed by *A. aquatilis*, *A. sobria* and *A. saranellii* and the other with the species *A. encheleia* and *A. aquatica* showed to have identical hypothetical protein sequence (Figure 2). Thus, in conclusion we can state that HypA was highly conserved within the genus *Aeromonas*.

Transcriptional regulation of *hypA* under different pH-condition and macrophage

The expression patterns of hypA determined under stressful pH conditions in the most prevalent clinical species (A. hydrophila, A. caviae, A. dhakensis and A. veroni) and in two environmental species (A. salmonicida and A. piscicola) by gRT-PCR are shown in Figure 3A. All Aeromonas species displayed similar relative expression of hypA in alkaline condition (pH 8) (Figure 3A). Nevertheless, the expression of hypA was significantly higher (p<0.05) under acid condition (pH 4) in comparison to alkaline condition (pH 8), displaying a greater up-regulation in the most prevalent clinical species (Figure 3A and 3B). Furthermore, given that the phagosome of macrophages becomes acid upon phagocytosis of pathogens, we evaluated the expression of hypA during Aeromonas infection. The results showed that *Aeromonas* up-regulates *hypA* in response to phagocytosis, displaying significantly higher expression of the metallochaperone during infection than in control (alkaline media) or *in vitro* acid exposure (p<0.05) (Figure 3A and 3C). Although transcriptional regulation of *hypA* seems to depend on pH or infection condition, the statistical analysis revealed strain-related differences. The most clinically prevalent species showed significant higher upregulation of hypA under acid exposure and during infection than species considered environmental or more related with fish disease (Figure 3B and 3C). Significant differences in gene induction under acid exposure were observed among the most prevalent clinical species, except between A. hydrophila and A. veronii (Figure 3B). Additionally, there were significant differences in the group of clinically prevalent species, showing A. veronii notably lower induction of hypA when compared with A. hydrophila, A. caviae and A. dhakensis during macrophage infection (p<0.05) (Figure 3C).

With the purpose of understanding how *Aeromonas* adapts at low pH environments, we determined the pH variations of the medium during *in vitro* growth or during the infection of macrophages with the species under study. No significant changes in pH were observed when strains where grown in DMEM at pH 4 or pH 8 with the only exception of *A. hydrophila* (CECT 839^T). When the latter strain was incubated in DMEM at pH 4 there was an increase of pH that reached up to 7.5 and that was visually evident by the changing color of the DMEM media that functions as a pH indicator (Figure 4A and 4C). This basification of the medium or other pH changes were not observed for other species, neither for the infected or uninfected macrophages (Figure 4C).

Urease activity and urease genes in Aeromonas species

The HypA is also involved in the urease maturation which facilitates the survival of bacteria in the human gastric mucosa neutralizing the acid environment. Therefore, we have evaluated the ability of *Aeromonas* to hydrolase urea determining the urease activity by a biochemical method. None of the strains produced ureases because no color change of the slant in the media from light orange to magenta was observed when compared with the positive urease control (*Proteus sp.*). In addition, the battery of proteins associated with urease activity was not found in the genome of the six strains under study. This is consistent with the absence of the urease genes in *Aeromonas* sp., which is inferred from our *in silico* search in all available genomes of the *Aeromonas* genus.

DISCUSSION

The relevance of bacterial metal homeostasis is related to the essential role of metals for bacterial life and survival in different environments, including the context of host-pathogen interaction during the infection processes [28]. In the last years there has been a significant increase in the knowledge about metallochaperones, specially on how they bind metal ions, recognize the target proteins and facilitate metal transfer [5, 7]. The HypA metallochaperone has been associated with [NiFe] hydrogenases and ureases maturation and is considered a relevant protein for

Ana Fernández Bravo

adaptation to acidic environments of pathogenic bacteria like *H. pylori* and *E. coli* [18-20]. Furthermore, HypA metallochaperone participate in the defense against oxidative environments [21].

The present work is the first to address the study of the HypA metallochaperone in the genus *Aeromonas*. Our results suggest that the presence of *hypA* gene is a species-specific character, since not all the species from the genus *Aeromonas* contained the gene sequence in their genomes. However, an extended analysis that investigates more genomes from each species would be necessary to confirm the accuracy of our hypothesis. The *Aeromonas* HypA protein sequences showed to be moderately similar to those described in *E. coli* and *H. pylori*. However, they presented as the latter two human pathogenic bacteria the characteristic conserved N-terminal MHE motif for Ni-binding and two consecutive cysteine motifs CXXCnCPXC for Zn-binding [14, 15, 17, 18]. In addition, the three-dimensional structure predicted for all proteins showed to be highly similar among the *Aeromonas* species and the other two human pathogenic bacteria, confirming that it is a metallochaperone [16, 17, 29].

Although the principal role of HypA has been typically associated with the maturation of hydrogenases, in the last years it has been demonstrated that HypA could play a role in the maturation of ureases. These metalloenzymes are involved in the survival of pathogenic bacteria in acidic environment. For instance, bacterial ureases are involved in the survival of *H. pylori* in of the human stomach at acidic pH [18-20]. In *E. coli* this function is carried out by other enzymes i.e. hydrogenases [18, 22, 23]. The fact that 80 % of infections caused by *Aeromonas* are gastrointestinal diseases indicates an adaptation of these bacteria to acid environments of the gastrointestinal tract [26, 27]. Additionally, a previous study hypothesized that urease activity may contribute to acid tolerance in some *A. caviae* strains, facilitating bacterial survival during infection, as occurs in *Yersinia enterocolitica* [30]. However, *Aeromonas* has usually been described as urease negative [31]. Consistent with these previous data we observed in our study that all strains were urease negative. However, the expression study demonstrates that *hypA*

is upregulated in acidic pH. A reasonable explanation could be that hydrogenases, but not ureases, would be involved in acid resistance in *Aeromonas*, as occurs in *E. coli*^{18, 22, 23}. In addition, our results showed that *A. hydrophila* CECT 839^T alkalinize the medium during acid exposure. One feasible explanation for this phenomenon would be that *A. hydrophila* has higher tolerance to acids as a consequence of an enzymatic pH shifting, which allows a better survival. Although additional analysis including more strains should be performed to determine if this is a specific characteristic of this species. Therefore, it would seem plausible to affirm that HypA could be associated with acid tolerance in *Aeromonas* species.

Numerous studies provide insights into the relevance of redox signaling and reactive oxygen species (ROS) production as defense mechanisms against pathogens [32, 33]. Moreover, bacterial infections also can induce oxidative stress contributing to increase DNA mutations rates. For instance, H. pylori produce superoxide anion in order to counteract the toxic effect of the ROS produced in the human stomach, which contributes even more in the development of the gastric cancer [34]. Considering that the immune system generates ROS as defense mechanism against pathogens after phagocytosis by macrophages [35, 36], resistance to acidic environments can be of great advantage for pathogens. Indeed, some studies have emphasized a strong relationship between deficiency of ROS production and susceptibility to microbial infection [37]. In these context, discovery of the chaperone Hsp33 and its role in protecting cells against the deleterious effects of reactive oxygen species [38-40], reinforces the hypothesis of the important role of redox regulation during bacterial colonization [41]. In our study, the results showed that the Aeromonas metallochaperone HypA was upregulated after phagocytosis of macrophages, which is in line with the previous works [38-40]⁵. Therefore, considering that hydrogenases participate in oxidative stress defense [21] it is very possible that *HypA* also contributes to the defense against ROS produced by macrophages in the phagocytic process. In conclusion, our results suggest that HypA could play a role in the survival of Aeromonas in acid environment and in the defense against macrophages, although the exact mechanism remains unclear, but

Doctoral thesis

Ana Fernández Bravo

the possible role of this metallochaperone in *Aeromonas* sp. virulence is relatively evident.

CONCLUSIONS

This study reports for the first time the distribution of orthologous sequences coding for the metallochaperone HypA in the bacterial genomes of the genus *Aeromonas* and their deduced protein structure. Interestingly, HypA was present in 69.4% of the *Aeromonas* species showing a high similarity among the species (%). Metallochaperones are relevant in the host-pathogen interaction and for this reason this preliminary study demonstrates the possible role of HypA in bacterial survival in acid environment, as well as the possible role in defense against ROS produced by macrophages. In addition, it may promote future studies to confirm and better understand the function of this metallochaperone in the survival of species from the genus *Aeromonas*.

METHODS

Bacterial strains and culture conditions

Aeromonas dhakensis CECT 5744^T, Aeromonas caviae CECT 838^T, Aeromonas veronii CECT 4257^T, Aeromonas hydrophila CECT 839^T Aeromonas salmonicida CECT 894^T and Aeromonas piscicola CECT 7443^T type strains were used in this study and stored at -80 °C in TSB (Tryptic Soy broth) with 20 % of glycerol. Bacteria were grown in Tryptone Soya agar (TSA) at 30 °C for 24 h. Prior to infection, bacteria were grown at 37 °C in serum and antibiotic-free Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM, PAA Laboratories) for 18 h.

For evaluation of urease activity, the bacteria were grown in Urea Agar Base media (with a yellow-orange color) at 37 °C for 24 h and the change of color of the slant indicated a positive reaction. A strain of *Salmonella* sp. was used as a negative control and one of *Proteus* sp. as positive control.

In silico search of hypA and ure genes in the Aeromonas genomes

For identification of hypA sequences in Aeromonas species an initial in silico search was conducted on UniParc from Uniprot database (https://www.uniprot.org/uniparc/). As result the deduced amino acid sequence of HypA from Aeromonas hydrophila KN-Mc-1R2 (UPI0005A60C51) was obtained. The corresponding nucleotide sequence of this strain (CP027804.1) was used as query on BLAST searches in 36 genomes of Aeromonas spp. type strains deposited in the NCBI database (https://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi) to identify hypA orthologues sequences. To investigate whether the presence of hypA could be a strain or a species-specific characteristic, we extended our analysis to other available genomes of non-type strains[42] from the species A. hydrophila (n=8) and A. dhakensis (n=8). For identification of urease genes in the Aeromonas genomes an in silico search was performed using as query the sequences of the genes: ureA, ureB, *ureI*, *ureE*, *ureF*, *ureG* and *ureH* from *H*. *pylori*.

Protein sequence analysis and 3D-structure prediction

To determine sequence conservation of hypA in *Aeromonas*, a comparison of HypA proteins among the 25 *Aeromonas* species and the one of *E. coli* (strain EA4377A) and *H. pylori* (strain HPGA1) was assessed by multiple alignment, using CLUSTALW algorithm on MegAlign software. Phylogenetic relationships among sequences were depicted in a phylogenetic tree constructed on MEGA6 Software using the Neighbor-joining method. In addition, the prediction of 3D monomeric and dimeric HypA protein structure and the comparative analyses of this protein between the one of *A. hydrophila* (CECT 839^T) and *E. coli* (EA4377A), was done using Swiss-model online tool (https://swissmodel.expasy.org/).

Cell line culture, infection and induction experiments

The cell line J744A.1 from mouse BALB/C monocyte macrophages was used for the infection experiments with the six *Aeromonas* type strains. The macrophages cells were maintained in adhesion in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM, PAA Laboratories) (pH=8) supplemented with 10 % FBS (fetal bovine

Ana Fernández Bravo

serum, PAA Laboratories) plus 1 % P/S solution (penicillin-streptomycin stock, PAA Laboratories) at 37 °C and 5 % CO₂. Prior to infection, cells were seeded in tissue culture plates $(1 \times 10^6 \text{ cells/ml})$ containing serum-free DMEM without antibiotics (serum-starvation conditions) for 18 h. The macrophages J774A.1 were infected with the six *Aeromonas* type strains grown in serum-free DMEM without antibiotics at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 5. In addition, bacteria were seeded onto tissue culture plates in serum-free DMEM without antibiotics at alkaline pH (pH=8) or acidic pH (pH=4.5) adjusted with HCl solution followed by filtration to remove any precipitate. Co-cultures were incubated at 37 °C and 5 % CO₂ up to 4 h for gene expression analyses.

RNA extraction and quantitative RT-PCR

Total RNA was isolated from logarithmic-phase Aeromonas cultures using TRIzol Reagent (Invitrogen) as previously described [43]. RNA quality and integrity was confirmed spectrophotometrically using Nanodrop 2000, calculating the 260/280 and 260/230 ratios. The cDNA was transcribed from RNA using iScript cDNA Synthesis Kit (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc. Hercules, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instruction. Quantitative Real time PCR was performed in duplicate using Real-Power SYBR® green PCR Mastermix (Applied Biosystems®, Life Technologies) in 10 µl total PCR reaction mixture on a StepOnePlus[™] Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems). The thermal cycling conditions were: 94 °C for 5 min, followed by 45 cycles of 30 s at 94 °C, 30 s at 60 °C, 30 s at 72 °C, and finally 20 s at 80 °C. The threshold cycle (Ct) was automatically determined by the StepOne Software v2.0 (Applied Biosystems) to calculate the relative expression of the tested gene (hypA) using as reference the 16S rRNA housekeeping gene, as previously described [44]. Relative gene expression levels and fold change expression were estimated using $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method [45]. The specific primers of hypA and 16S rRNA gene were designed with Oligo Primer Analysis Software v. 7 (Table 2). Experiments were performed in triplicate using three independently prepared bacterial growth cultures obtained on three different days.

Results

Statistical analysis

All experiments were performed in triplicates and significant differences were determined using Student's two-tailed *t*-test calculated on Graph Pad Prism 6.0 (GraphPad Software, CA, USA) P values ≤ 0.05 were considered statistically significant (*).

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ROS: Reactive oxygen species

TSB: Tryptic Soy broth

TSA: Tryptone Soya agar

DMEM: Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium

FBS: Fetal bovine serum

P/S: Penicillin-Streptomycin

DECLARATIONS

Ethics approval and consent to participate

Not applicable.

Consent for publication

Not applicable.

Availability of data and materials

The data generated and/or analyzed during the current study are not publicly available due to the patient's individual privacy. All relevant data to this case is reported in the manuscript.

Competing interests

The authors declare that they have no competing interests.

Ana Fernández Bravo

Funding information

The projects JPIW2013-095-C03-03 of MINECO (Spain) and AQUAVALENS of the Seventh Framework Program (FP7/2007-2013) grant agreement 311846 from the European Union supported the study.

Authors' contributions

AFB, LLF and MJF designed the research, performed research and wrote the project.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank the staff in the Microbiology Unit at the University Rovira I Virgili (URV), Carme Sanmartí Solé. AFB thank URV for the Martí Franqués PhD fellowship.

REFERENCES

1.O'Halloran TV, Culotta VC: Metallochaperones, an intracellular shuttle service for metal ions. J Biol Chem 2000; 275(33):25057-25060.

2.Chandrangsu P, Rensing C, Helmann JD: Metal homeostasis and resistance in bacteria. Nat Rev Microbiol 2017; 15(6):338-350.

3.Lu Y, Yeung N, Sieracki N, Marshall NM: Design of functional metalloproteins. Nature 2009; 460(7257):855-862.

4.Aschner M, Syversen T, Souza DO, Rocha JB: Metallothioneins: mercury speciesspecific induction and their potential role in attenuating neurotoxicity. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 2006; 231(9):1468-1473.

5.Rosenzweig AC: Metallochaperones: bind and deliver. Chem Biol 2002; 9(6):673-677.

6.Waldron KJ, Rutherford JC, Ford D, Robinson NJ: Metalloproteins and metal sensing. Nature 2009; 460(7257):823-830.

7.Capdevila DA, Edmonds KA, Giedroc DP: Metallochaperones and metalloregulation in bacteria. Essays Biochem 2017; 61(2):177-200.

8.Palmer LD, Skaar EP: Transition metals and virulence in bacteria. Annu Rev Genet 2016; 50:67-91.

9.Flanagan LA, Parkin A: Electrochemical insights into the mechanism of NiFe membrane-bound hydrogenases. Biochemical Society transactions 2016; 44(1):315-328.

10. Winter G, Buhrke T, Lenz O, Jones AK, Forgber M, Friedrich B: A model system for [NiFe] hydrogenase maturation studies: Purification of an active site-containing hydrogenase large subunit without small subunit. FEBS Lett 2005; 579(20):4292-4296.

11. Lubitz W, Ogata H, Rudiger O, Reijerse E: Hydrogenases. Chem Rev 2014; 114(8):4081-4148.

Ana Fernández Bravo

12. Chan KH, Lee KM, Wong KB: Interaction between hydrogenase maturation factors HypA and HypB is required for [NiFe]-hydrogenase maturation. PLoS One 2012; 7(2):e32592.

13. Liebgott PP, Leroux F, Burlat B, Dementin S, Baffert C, Lautier T, Fourmond V, Ceccaldi P, Cavazza C, Meynial-Salles I *et al*: Relating diffusion along the substrate tunnel and oxygen sensitivity in hydrogenase. Nat Chem Biol 2010; 6(1):63-70.

14. Watanabe S, Kawashima T, Nishitani Y, Kanai T, Wada T, Inaba K, Atomi H, Imanaka T, Miki K: Structural basis of a Ni acquisition cycle for [NiFe] hydrogenase by Ni-metallochaperone HypA and its enhancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2015; 112(25):7701-7706.

15. Lacasse MJ, Douglas CD, Zamble DB: Mechanism of selective nickel transfer from HypB to HypA, *Escherichia coli* [NiFe]-hydrogenase accessory proteins. Biochemistry 2016; 55(49):6821-6831.

16. Atanassova A, Zamble DB: *Escherichia coli* HypA is a zinc metalloprotein with a weak affinity for nickel. J Bacteriol 2005; 187(14):4689-4697.

17. Xia W, Li H, Sze KH, Sun H: Structure of a nickel chaperone, HypA, from *Helicobacter pylori* reveals two distinct metal binding sites. J Am Chem Soc 2009; 131(29):10031-10040.

18. Blum FC, Hu HQ, Servetas SL, Benoit SL, Maier RJ, Maroney MJ, Merrell DS: Structure-function analyses of metal-binding sites of HypA reveal residues important for hydrogenase maturation in *Helicobacter pylori*. PLoS One 2017; 12(8):e0183260.

19. Hu HQ, Johnson RC, Merrell DS, Maroney MJ: Nickel ligation of the N-terminal amine of HypA is required for urease maturation in *Helicobacter pylori*. Biochemistry 2017; 56(8):1105-1116.

20. Johnson RC, Hu HQ, Merrell DS, Maroney MJ: Dynamic HypA zinc site is essential for acid viability and proper urease maturation in *Helicobacter pylori*. Metallomics 2015; 7(4):674-682.

21. Vignais PM, Billoud B: Occurrence, classification, and biological function of hydrogenases: an overview. Chemical reviews 2007; 107(10):4206-4272.

22. Hayes ET, Wilks JC, Sanfilippo P, Yohannes E, Tate DP, Jones BD, Radmacher MD, BonDurant SS, Slonczewski JL: Oxygen limitation modulates pH regulation of catabolism and hydrogenases, multidrug transporters, and envelope composition in Escherichia coli K-12. BMC microbiology 2006; 6:89.

23. Noguchi K, Riggins DP, Eldahan KC, Kitko RD, Slonczewski JL: Hydrogenase-3 contributes to anaerobic acid resistance of Escherichia coli. PloS one; 5(4):e10132.

24. Schmidt O, Wust PK, Hellmuth S, Borst K, Horn MA, Drake HL: Novel [NiFe]and [FeFe]-hydrogenase gene transcripts indicative of active facultative aerobes and obligate anaerobes in earthworm gut contents. Appl Environ Microbiol 2011; 77(17):5842-5850.

25. Janda JM, Abbott SL: The genus *Aeromonas*: taxonomy, pathogenicity, and infection. Clin Microbiol Rev 2010; 23(1):35-73.

26. Figueras MJ, Beaz-Hidalgo R: *Aeromonas* infections inhumans. In: *Aeromonas*. Edited by Graf J. Norfolk, UK: Caister Academic Press; 2015: 65-108.

27. Teunis P, Figueras MJ: Reassessment of the enteropathogenicity of mesophilic *Aeromonas* species. Front Microbiol 2016; 7:1395.

28. Weiss G, Carver PL: Role of divalent metals in infectious disease susceptibility and outcome. Clin Microbiol Infect; 24(1):16-23.

29. Mehta N, Olson JW, Maier RJ: Characterization of *Helicobacter pylori* nickel metabolism accessory proteins needed for maturation of both urease and hydrogenase. J Bacteriol 2003; 185(3):726-734.

Ana Fernández Bravo

30. Abbott SL, Cheung WK, Janda JM: The genus Aeromonas: biochemical characteristics, atypical reactions, and phenotypic identification schemes. Journal of clinical microbiology 2003; 41(6):2348-2357.

31. Parker JL, Shaw JG: Aeromonas spp. clinical microbiology and disease. The Journal of infection 2011; 62(2):109-118.

32. James SJ, Cutler P, Melnyk S, Jernigan S, Janak L, Gaylor DW, Neubrander JA: Metabolic biomarkers of increased oxidative stress and impaired methylation capacity in children with autism. The American journal of clinical nutrition 2004; 80(6):1611-1617.

33. Hwang O: Role of oxidative stress in Parkinson's disease. Experimental neurobiology; 22(1):11-17.

34. Handa O, Naito Y, Yoshikawa T: Redox biology and gastric carcinogenesis: the role of Helicobacter pylori. Redox Rep 2011; 16(1):1-7.

35. Segal AW: How neutrophils kill microbes. Annual review of immunology 2005; 23:197-223.

36. Shiloh MU, Nathan CF: Reactive nitrogen intermediates and the pathogenesis of Salmonella and mycobacteria. Current opinion in microbiology 2000; 3(1):35-42.

37. Deffert C, Schappi MG, Pache JC, Cachat J, Vesin D, Bisig R, Ma Mulone X, Kelkka T, Holmdahl R, Garcia I *et al*: Bacillus calmette-guerin infection in NADPH oxidase deficiency: defective mycobacterial sequestration and granuloma formation. PLoS pathogens 2014; 10(9):e1004325.

38. Graumann J, Lilie H, Tang X, Tucker KA, Hoffmann JH, Vijayalakshmi J, Saper M, Bardwell JC, Jakob U: Activation of the redox-regulated molecular chaperone Hsp33--a two-step mechanism. Structure 2001; 9(5):377-387.

39. Wholey WY, Jakob U: Hsp33 confers bleach resistance by protecting elongation factor Tu against oxidative degradation in Vibrio cholerae. Molecular microbiology; 83(5):981-991.

40. Kang HJ, Heo DH, Choi SW, Kim KN, Shim J, Kim CW, Sung HC, Yun CW: Functional characterization of Hsp33 protein from Bacillus psychrosaccharolyticus; additional function of HSP33 on resistance to solvent stress. Biochemical and biophysical research communications 2007; 358(3):743-750.

41. Kumsta C, Jakob U: Redox-regulated chaperones. Biochemistry 2009; 48(22):4666-4676.

42. Rasmussen-Ivey CR, Hossain MJ, Odom SE, Terhune JS, Hemstreet WG, Shoemaker CA, Zhang D, Xu DH, Griffin MJ, Liu YJ *et al*: Classification of a hypervirulent *Aeromonas hydrophila* pathotype responsible for epidemic outbreaks in warm-water fishes. Front Microbiol 2016; 7:1615.

43. Canals R, Altarriba M, Vilches S, Horsburgh G, Shaw JG, Tomas JM, Merino S: Analysis of the lateral flagellar gene system of Aeromonas hydrophila AH-3. Journal of bacteriology 2006; 188(3):852-862.

44. Menanteau-Ledouble S, Kattlun J, Nobauer K, El-Matbouli M: Protein expression and transcription profiles of three strains of Aeromonas salmonicida ssp. salmonicida under normal and iron-limited culture conditions. Proteome science 2014; 12:29.

45. Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD: Analysis of relative gene expression data using realtime quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. Methods (San Diego, Calif 2001; 25(4):402-408.

Ana Fernández Bravo

TABLES

 Table 1. Presence or absence of hypA gene in the genomes of 36 Aeromonas species described until now.

Species	Strain	Source	Presence of hypA gene	Protein accession number (NCBI)		
A. hydrophila	CECT 839 ^T	Milk	Yes	ABK37593.1		
A. salmonicida	CECT 894 ^T	Salmon	Yes	WP_005315136.1		
A. sobria	CECT 4245 $^{\mathrm{T}}$	Fish	Yes	WP_005301911.1#		
A. media	CECT 4232 ^T	Fisheries water	Yes	AUU20677.1		
A. veronii	CECT 4257 ^T	Sputum	Yes	WP_005351492.1		
A. caviae	CECT 838 ^T	Guinea pig	Yes	WP_017786826.1		
A. eucrenophila	CECT 4224 ^T	Fresh water fish	Yes	WP_042642402.1		
A. schubertii	CECT 4240 ^T	Skin abscess	No	-		
A. jandaei	CECT 4228 ^T	Human feces	Yes	WP_042029441.1		
A. trota	CECT 4255 ^T	Human feces	Yes	WP_026458218.1		
A. allosaccharophila	CECT 4199 ^T	Eel	Yes	ABK37593.1		
A. encheleia	CECT 4342 ^T	Eel	Yes	WP_033130233.1¥		
A. bestiarum	CECT 4227 ^T	Sick fish	Yes	WP_043555398.1		
A. popoffi	CECT 5176 ^T	Drinking water	Yes	WP_042034298.1		
A. simiae	IBS S-6874 $^{\rm T}$	Monkey feces	No	-		
A. molluscorum	CECT 5864 ^T	Shellfish	No	-		
A. bivalvium	CECT 7113 ^T	Shellfish	No	-		
A. tecta	CECT 7082 ^T	Children feces	Yes	WP_050720085.1		
A. piscicola	CECT 7443 ^T	Sick fish	Yes	WP_021140355.1		
A. fluvialis	CECT 7401 T	River water	No	-		
A. taiwanensis	CECT 7403 ^T	Wound infection	No	-		
A. sanarelli	СЕСТ 7402 т	Wound infection	Yes	WP_005301911.1#		
A. diversa	CECT 4254 $^{\mathrm{T}}$	Wound infection	No	-		
A. rivuli	CECT 7518 T	River water	No	-		
A. cavernicola	CECT 7862 T	Cavern creek water	No	-		
A. australiensis	CECT 8023 T	Irrigation water	No	-		
A. dhakensis	CECT 5744 $^{\rm T}$	Children feces	Yes	WP_042008198.1		
A. finlandensis	CECT 8028 ^T	Cyanobacterial bloom	Yes	WP_033136932.1		
A. aquatica	CECT 8025 $^{\rm T}$	Cyanobacterial bloom	Yes	WP_033130233.1 [¥]		
A. lacus	CECT 8024 $^{\mathrm{T}}$	Cyanobacterial bloom	Yes			
A. rivipollensis*	KN-Mc-11N1	River water	Yes	AVP94562.1		
A. lusitana	CECT 7828^{T}	Untreated water/Vegetables	Yes	WP_100861683.1		
A. intestinalis ^{π}	CECT 8980 ^T	Human feces	Yes	-		
A. enterica ^{π}	CECT 8981 ^T	Human feces	Yes	-		
A. crassostreae ^{π}	CECT 8982 ^T	Shellfish	No	-		
A. aquatilis ^{π}	CECT 8026 ^T	Lake water	Yes	-		

*The genome of the type strain is not deposited. ^{#,¥} Protein accession number is the same because it was deposited as multispecies. ^{π} Species pending to be described.

Primers	Sequence 5'-3'
hypA	
Forward	ATGCACGAAATGTCTCTGGC
Reverse	TCGTAATTTGTACCCGCCAC
16S rRNA	
Forward	TGTGTCCTTGAGACGTGGC
Reverse	ACAAAGGACAGGGGTTGCG

Table 2. Oligonucleotides used in this study for transcriptional analysis.

FIGURE LEGENDS

Figure 1. (A) Sequence alignment of the *in silico*-translated amino acid sequences of the HypA proteins from 36 *Aeromonas* species, *E. coli* and *H. pylori*. The alignment was constructed with MegAlign. The MHE correspond to the motif of the Nickel binding domain (green) and CxxCnCPxP to the Zinc binding domain (red). Sequences from Uniprot database of *A. hydrophila* (*). (B) Predicted monomeric and dimeric structure of HypA proteins from *A. hydrophila* type strain and *E. coli* constructed with Swiss Model online tool, the α -helices and the stranded β -sheet motifs are indicated.

Figure 2. Phylogenetic tree constructed with the *in silico*-translated amino acid sequences of the HypA proteins (113 aa) of the 36 *Aeromonas* species type strains (the only sequence not belonging to the type strain corresponds to *A. rivipollensis* KN-Mc-11N1). The phylogenetic analysis was constructed with MEGA6, using Neighbor-joining algorithm. Numbers at nodes represent bootstrap percentages (> 50 %) obtained by repeating analysis 1000 times.

Figure 3. Expression of *hypA* in *Aeromonas* species determined by RT-qPCR. (A) Relative expression of *hypA* during phagocytosis by macrophages and under acidic and alkaline culture conditions. Transcript levels of *hypA* were normalized to the

Ana Fernández Bravo

expression of 16S rRNA. B) Expression fold change of *hypA* on bacteria grown on acid media respect to the cultured in alkaline media and (C) expression fold change on bacteria phagocytized by macrophages after 4 h of infection respect to control condition on culture alkaline media calculated using the comparative $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method. Error bars indicate standard deviations calculated from three independent experiments.

Figure 4. Culture plates with different *Aeromonas* species at 0 h and 4 h. (A) Bacteria culture in alkaline medium DMEM. (B) Bacteria culture in acid DMEM with HCl. (C) Macrophages in alkaline DMEM infected by different *Aeromonas*. Yellow indicates acid pH and pink indicates alkaline pH.

Figure 1

A

	α1	β1	α2	β2	β3	β4	β5	β6	
	MHEQQQQQQQQQ	—	000000000			CPXC		+	
A. bestiarum	MHEMSLAMAAI DLAAEQAAQRGF	NKVTALWLEVGSFSC	DPDTI AFCFEAAAKG-	TAVEGAQL HEQHOA	EAWCYDCNOTVT	- LTERGOACPECGGY	KLRVAQGDSL	RITDIEVS -	- 113
A. aquatilis	MHEMSLAMAAI DLAAEQATQRGF	NKVTALWLEVGSFSC	DPDTI AFCFEAAAKG-	TAVEGAQLHEQHQA	AEAWCYDCNQTVT	- LTERGOACPECOGY	KLRVAQGDSL	RITDIEVS -	- 113
A. aquatica	MHEMSLAMAAI DLAAEQASQRGF	TRYTALWLEVGSFSC	DPDTI AFCFEAAAKG-	TAVEGASLHFQHQA/	EGWCYDCSKTVT	- LTERGOACPLCGGY	KERVAQGDSE	RITDIEVS -	- 113
A. intestinalis	MHEMSLAMAAI DLAAEQATORGE	SKVTALWLEVGSFSC	DPDTI AFCFEAAAKG-	TPVEGARL HEQHQA/	EGWOYDOSOTVY	- LTERGOPCPHCGGY	KLRVAQGDSL	RITDIEVS -	- 113
A. hydrophila *	MHEMSLAMAAI DLAAEQATORGE	TKVTALWLEVGSFSC	DPDTIAFCFEAAAKG-	TAVEGAGLHEQHOA	AEAWCYDCSKTVT	- LTERGOACPECGGY	KLRVAQGDSL	RITDIEVS -	- 113
A. hydrophila	MHEMSLAMAAI DLAAEQATORGE	TKVTALWLEVGSFSC	DPDTI AFCFEAAAKG-	TAVEGAGEHEGHGA	AEAWOYDONKTVT	- LTERGOACPECGGY	KLRVAQGDSL	RITDIEVS -	- 113
A. finlandensis	MHEMSLAMAAI DLAAEQATORGE	TKVTALWLEVGSFSC	DPDTI AFCFEAAAKG-	TAVEGAGEHEGHGAA	EAWCYDONKTVT	- LTERGOACPGCGGY	KLRVAQGDSL	RITDIEVS -	- 113
A. eucrenophila	MHEMSLAMAAI DLAADQAAQRGF	SKVTAI WLEVGSFSC	DPDTI AFCFEAAAKG-	TAVEGANL HE OHOT /	EGWCYDCSKTVA	-LSERGOACPECGGY	KLRVAQGDSL	RITDIEVS -	- 113
A. enterica	MHEMSLAMAAI DLAAEQATORGE	NKVTALWLEVGSFSC	DPDTI AFCFEAAAKG-	TAVEGAGEYEGHOAA	AEAWOYDONKTVT	- LTERGOACPECGGY	KLRVAQGNSL	RITDIEVS -	- 113
A. encheleia	MHEMSLAMAAI DLAAEQASORGE	TRYTALWLEVGSFSC	DPDTI AFCFEAAAKG-	TAVEGASLHFOHOAA	EGWCYDCSKTVT	- LTERGOACPLCGGY	KLRVAQGDSL	RITDIEVS -	- 113
A. veronii	MHEMSLAMAAI DLAAEQATORGE	TKVTAL WLEVGSFSC	DPDTI AFCFEAAAKG-	TAVEGAQLHEQHQAA	EAWCYDONGTVS	- LTERGOACPGCGGY	KLRVAQGDSL	RITDIEVS -	- 113
A. trota	MHEMSLAMAAI DLAAEQATORGE	HKVTAL WLEI GSFSC	DOSTI AFCFEAAAKG-	TVVEGARLHEOHKT	EGWCYDCSKTVC	- LTERGOPCPDCGGY	KLRVAQGDSL	RITDIEVS -	- 113
A. tecta	MHEMSLAMAAI DLATEQAAORGE	SKVTAI WLEVGSFSC	OPDTI AFCFEAAAKG-	TAAEGASLHEGHOTA	EGWCYDCSKTVA	- LTERGOACPECGGY	KLRVAQGDSL	RITDIEVS -	- 113
A. sobria	MHEMSLAMAAI DLAAEQATORGE	NKYTALWLEVGSESC	DPDTI AFCFEAAAKG-	TAVEGAGEHEGHOAA	EAWOYDONOTYT	-LTERGOACPECGGY	KLRVAQGDSL	RITDIEVS -	- 113
A. sanarellii	MHEMSLAMAAI DLAAEQATQRGF	NKVTALWLEVGSFSC	DPDTI AFCFEAAAKG-	TAVE GAOL HE OHOAA	AEAWOYDONQTVT	- LTERGOACPECGGY	KLRVAQGDSL	RITDIEVS -	- 113
A. salmonicida	MHEMSLAVAAI DLAAEQATORGE	NKVTAL WLEVGSFSC	DPDTI AFCFEAAAKG-	TVVEGAGEHEGHGAA	EAWCYDCDKTVT	- LTERGOACPECGGY	KLRVAQGDSL	RITDIEVS -	- 113
A. rivipollensis	MHEMSLAMAAI DLAAEQATORGE	TKVTALWLEVGSFSC	DPDTI AFCFEAAAKG-	TVAQGAQL HEQHQA	AEAWCYDCNQTVT	-LTERGOACPECGGY	KLRVAQGNSL	RITDIEVS -	- 113
A. popoffii	MHEMSLAMAAI DLAAEQATORGE	NKVTALWLEVGSFSC	DPDTI AFCFEAAAKG-	TAVEGAGEHEGHOM	AEAWCYDCNOTVT	-LTERGOACPECGGY	KLRVAQGNSL	RITDIEVS -	- 113
A. dhakensis	MHEMSLAMAAI DLAAEQATORGE	TRVTALWLEVGSFSC	DPNTI AFCFEAAAKG-	TAVEGAGEHEGHGA	AEAWCYDCNOTVT	-LTERGOACPECOGY	KLRVAQGNSL	RITDIEVS -	- 113
A. caviae	MHEMSLAMAAI DLAAEQATORGE	TKYTALWLEVGSFSC	DPDTI AFCFEAAAKG-	TAVEGAGE HE OHOA	EAWCYDENQTYT	-LTERGOACPECGGY	KLRVAQGNSL	RITDIEVS -	- 113
A. lacus	MHEMSLAMAAI DLAAEQATORGE	TKVTALWLEVGSFSC	DPDTI AFCFEAAAKG-	TAVE GAOL HE OHOAA	AEAWCYDCNQTVT	- LTERGOACPGCGGY	KLRVAQGDSL	RITDIEVS -	- 113
A. jandaei	MHEMSLAMAAI DLAAEQATORGE	NKVTALWLEVGSFSC	OPDTI AFCFEAAAKG-	TAVE GAOL HEOHKAA	AEAWCYDCNOTVT	- LTERGOACPGCGGY	KLRVAQGDSL	RITDIEVS -	- 113
A. piscicola	MHEMSLAMAAI DLAAEQATORGE	NKVTALWLEVGSFSC	DPDTI AFCFEAAAKG-	TAVE GAOL HEOHOA	AEAWCYDCNKTVT	-LTERGOACPECGGY	KLRVAQGDSL	RITDIEVS-	- 113
A. media	MHEMSLAMAAI DLAAEQATORGE	TKVTALWLEVGSFSC	DPDTI AFCFEAAAKG-	TAVEGAQLHELHQAA	AEAWCYDCNOTVT	- LTERGOACPECGGY	KLRVAQGDSL	RITDIEVS -	- 113
A. lusitana	MHEMSLAMAAI DLAAEQASORGE	SKYTAI WLEVGSFSC	DPDTI AFCFEAAAKG-	TAVEGASLHFOHOSA	EGWCYDCSKTVA	- LTERGOACPECGGY	KLRVAQGDSL	RITDIEVS -	- 113
A. allosaccharophila	MHEMSLAMAAI DLAAEQATORGE	NKVTALWLEVGSESC	DPDTI AFCFEAAAKG-	TAVEGAQLHEQHOA	EAWCYDCNOTVT	- LTERGOACPGCGGY	KLRVAQGDSL	RITDIEVS -	- 113
Helicobacter pylori	MHEYSVVSSLI AL CEEHAKKNOA	HELERVVVGI GERSAL	MDKSLFVSAFETFREES	LVCKDALLDI VDEK	ELECKDOSHVER	PNALDYGVOEKCHSK	NVIITOGNEM	RLLSLEMLA	E 117
Escherichia coli	MHEI TECORALELI EQQAAKHGA	KRVTGVWLKI GAFSCI	ETSSLAFCFDLVCRG-	SVAEGCKLHLEEGE	ECWCET COOYVT	LLTQRVRRCPOCHGD	MLQI VADDGL	QI RRI EI DQI	E 116



Doctoral thesis

Ana Fernández Bravo

Figure 2



0,05



Figure 4



4.8. Role of T6SS and *exoA* gene in the mixed infection caused by *Aeromonas hydrophila* that develop necrotizing fasciitis

Fernández-Bravo A., Sha., J., Figueras MJ., Chopra AK. (In preparation, pending to be submitted to Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America).

Role of T6SS and *exoA* gene in the mixed infection caused by *Aeromonas hydrophila* thet develop necrotizing fasciitis.

Ana Fernández-Bravo^a, Jian Sha^b, Maria José Figueras^a, Ashok K Chopra^b.

^aUnidad de Microbiología, Departamento de Ciencias Médicas Básicas, Facultad de Medicina y Ciencias de la Salud, IISPV, Universidad Rovira i Virgili, Reus, Spain ^bDepartment of Microbiology and Immunology, University of Texas Medical Branch. Texas, USA

* Corresponding author: Ashok K Chopra.

akchopra@utmb.es
Doctoral thesis

Ana Fernández Bravo

Abstract

A recent case of necrotizing fasciitis (NF) infection with two Aeromonas hydrophila strains (NF1 and NF2) in a young immunocompetent patient was described. Different experiments suggested that NF1 possesses a specific Type Six Secretion System (T6SS) that block NF2 in a murine model and that the ExoA toxin, present only in NF2, could play a role in the dissemination of the infection. To increase the knowledge about the complex interactions of these two strains during NF infection we will try to further determine the role of the T6SS and the ExoA toxin performing different experiments using different WT and mutant strains. The mutant strains were the following: two mutants of the T6SS genes vasK (structural gene) and tseC (gene encoding the effector toxin TseC) of the NF1 strain; one for the gene encoding the immunoprotein *tsiC* generated by strain NF2 against the TseC effector toxin as well as mutants of NF1 and NF2 strains positive and negative for ExoA toxin. Taking into account the results, we concluded that the T6SS and the ExoA toxin of A. hydrophila strains (NF1 and NF2) contribute to the development of NF in mice during mono-microbial infections. However, during the mixed infections, the T6SS plays a dominant role in developing of NF.

Keywords: A. hydrophila, necrotizing fasciitis, mixed infection, T6SS, ExoA.

Results

Introduction

Necrotizing fasciitis (NF) is a rapidly progressive, life-threating soft-tissue infection that causes a necrotic inflammation of the fascia and the surrounding tissue (Bellapianta et al., 2009; Tsai et al., 2015; Ponnusamy et al., 2016). The clinical features associated with NF include hypotension, fever, necrosis and gangrene (Tsai et al., 2015). The Streptococcal infection was the most commonly identified in cases (Arif et al 2016) among other bacteria involved in NF as Staphylococcus, Clostridium, Klebsiella, Vibrio vulnificus and Aeromonas (Chen et al., 2017). Two types of NF have been described, the polymicrobial (type I), usually seen in the elderly or in those with underlying illnesses and monomicrobial (type II), that occur in people without underlying illness. (Sarani et al., 2009; Stevens et al, 2017). Aeromonas hydrophila is the Aeromonas species more frequently associated in the reported NF cases and some of them water was considered the source of infection (Furusu et al., 1997; Joseph et al., 1979; Sever et al, 2013; Spadaro et al., 2014; Tsai et al., 2015). The complex interactions among multiple strains of A. hydrophila, called flesh eating bacteria, isolated from an immunocompetent individual who developed NF resulting in amputation almost all the extremities were previously described in two studies (Grim et al., 2014; Ponnusamy et al., 2016). The NF case was originally considered monomicrobial because the different strains belonged to the same species A. hydrophila, but genomic analysis showed that four strains representing two paraphyletic linages of A. hydrophila, one including NF2, NF3, and NF4 that presented a minimal difference in the sequence, and they were all represented by NF2 and another one including NF1 that was distinct. Also, both linages showed differences in the presence of the *exoA* gene that was absent in the NF1 strain and present in the other strains. This gene encodes the ExoA toxin that has been involved in the inhibition of protein synthesis and host cell death (Zdanovsky et al., 1993; Grim et al., 2014). Previous results showed that when NF is caused by mixed infection with this A. hydrophila strains, the progression of NF follows a different course from when the infection is produced with a single strain. In a single infection, the absence of exoA gene in the strain NF1 resulted in the

Ana Fernández Bravo

bacterium remaining at the local site of the infection from were eventually was eliminated by host defense mechanism. However, the secretion of ExoA toxin by strain NF2 allowed the bacterium to disseminate to peripheral organs, destroying the local tissue barriers. Nevertheless, in the mixed infection with both strains, ExoA secreted by NF2 allowed the dissemination of NF1 to the peripheral organs destroying the local tissue barriers. Also, strain NF1 facilitates the direct killing and/or host-mediated elimination of NF2 from the site of infection (Ponnusamy et al., 2016). This antagonistic effect suggested the possible involvement of the Type-Six Secretion System (T6SS) capable of introducing effector toxins like TseC from NF1 to NF2 (Ponnusamy et al., 2016). The T6SS classically considered to be used by bacteria to target eukaryotic cells, have been recently involved in the elimination or inhibition of competitor bacteria, being this 'antibacterial' characteristic essential for the competitive fitness in the case of polymicrobial infections (English et al., 2012). Such a system could provide the pathogen with a large competitive advantage against other bacteria in the host or the environment, enabling it to proliferate and mount a successful infection. The present study pretends to provide more information about the effector molecules produced by NF1 that could block the growth of the strain NF2. For this, we performed the experiments with mutants of the genes vasK (encodes a structural T6SS protein) (Suarez et al., 2008) and tseC (encodes the T6SS effector toxin TseC) as well as the gene tsiC encoding the immunity protein that inhibits the toxin TseC (Liang et al., 2015). Similarly, the present study clarifies the role of the exoA gene in NF infections using WT strains and NF1 and NF2 mutants for this gene.

Material and Methods

Bacterial strains and growth conditions

The bacterial strains and their characteristics are listed in Table 1. Bacteria were routinely grown on Luria-Bertani (LB) broth at 37°C for 24 h with 180 rpm shaking. The cultures were washed twice in sterile PBS and were resuspended in the same buffer before the *in vitro* and *in vivo* assays were performed. All the strains were

stored in LB plus glycerol (90%) at -80°C. Antibiotics were added into the LB as needed, ampicillin (Ap) 250 μ g/mL, kanamycin (Km) 100 μ g/mL, and rifampicin (Rif) 200 μ g/mL. All strains and plasmids used in the study are listed in the Table 1.

Genetic manipulation of the bacterial strains

Construction of bioluminescent mutant A. hydrophila NF2\[Delta exoA-lux]

A conjugation with two strains of *Escherichia coli*, SM10 Apir carrying the pTNS2 plasmid and SM10 Apir harbouring the pUC18-mini-Tn7T:Km-lux was performed (Ponnusamy et al., 2016). The latter minitransposon contains a lux luminescence operon with the native promoter and kanamycin resistance (Km^r) selection marker. This system allows the integration downstream of the *gmlS* gene, which encodes a conserved glucosamine-6-phosphate synthetase, with the pTNS2 helper plasmid providing the transposase complex (Ponnusamy et al., 2016) (Table 1).

Construction of NF1and NF2 mutants related to the T6SS

The mutants NF1 $\Delta tseC$, NF1 $\Delta vasK$ and NF2-*lux*-pBR322-*tsiC* (Table 1) were constructed using crossover PCR and homologous recombination as previously described with other strains. (Suarez et al., 2008; Liang et al., 2015). The insertion and deletion of the genes were confirmed by PCR.

In vitro experiments

Cell line and growth conditions

The cell line RAW 264.7 of murine macrophages was obtained from the Cell Culture facility of the University of Texas Medical Branch. The RAW 264.7 cells were maintained as adherent cells in DMEM (Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium) supplemented with 10% FBS (Fetal Bovine Serum, Biowest Europe) plus 1mM of Napyr (Sodium pyruvate, Biowest Europe), at 37°C and 5% CO₂. Prior to infection, cells were seeded in tissue culture plates.

Ana Fernández Bravo

Phagocytic assays in macrophages RAW 264.7

The wild type and mutant strains (NF1, NF1-exoA, NF2, NF2 $\Delta exoA$, NF1 $\Delta tseC$, NF1 $\Delta vasK$) were grown overnight before the RAW 264.7 macrophages were infected at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 5. They were incubated at 37°C with 5% of CO₂ for 1h. After this time a treatment to kill extracellular bacteria with gentamycin (50µg/mL) was performed for 45 min. The number of the bacteria inside the macrophages was counted after gentamycin treatment (time point 0), by a serial dilution and plating. The percent of phagocytosis was calculated with the number of bacteria at time point 0 in relation to the initial infection dose.

Intracellular survival in macrophages RAW 264.7

The murine RAW 264.7 macrophages were infected with overnight cultures of the wild type and mutant strains (NF1, NF1-exoA, NF2, NF2 $\Delta exoA$, NF1 $\Delta tseC$, NF1 $\Delta vasK$) at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 5 and were incubated at 37°C with 5% of CO₂ for 1h. Thereafter, a treatment to kill extracellular bacteria with gentamycin was performed for 1 h. The number of the bacteria inside macrophages was counted at 4 and 6 hours after gentamycin treatment. The percentage of phagocytosis was calculated with the number of bacteria at 4 and 6 h in relation to the initial infection dose.

Dynamics of A. hydrophila strains in mixed infections

The wild type and mutant strains were grown overnight (NF1/NF2-lux, NF2lux/NF1 Δ tseC, NF2-lux/NF1 Δ vasK, NF1/NF2-lux-pBR322-tsiC and). These strains were mixed in LB broth at a ratio of 5:1 and spotted in nonselective LB plates for 4h. The growth of the strains in the mixture was determined by serial dilution and plating on the selective plates with the appropriate antibiotic or on nonselective LB plates.

In vivo experiments

Mice infection

For-week-old and healthy Swiss-Webster mice (Taconic Farms, NY, USA) were used to perform the experiments. All animals were maintained in standard conditions and the studies were performed and approved by Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of the University of Texas Medical Branch. For the infection studies, the overnight cultures were centrifuged, and the pellets were washed three times in sterile phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) before being suspended in 1/10 of the original culture volume of PBS. Subsequently, the number of cells in each culture was estimated and inocula were prepared in such a way that a 100µl volume contained the intended infectious dose of the organism.

Mouse model of intraperitoneal injection with single infections

Mice, 10 per group, were intraperitoneally infected with single ExoA positive (NF2 and NF1-exoA) and negative strains (NF1 and NF2 $\Delta exoA$) at different doses (5x10⁶, 8x10⁶, 1x10⁷, 5x10⁷ and 8x10⁷). The survival of the mice was observed until 14 days and the percent were plotted.

Mouse model of intramuscular injection with mixed infections

Mice, 7 per group, for ExoA mutants and 10 per group for T6SS mutants were anesthetized with isoflurane, 100µl containing a mixture of WT and mutant strains was injected i.m. into one of the legs at a dose of $5x10^7$ (2.5x10⁷cfu per strain). The mixtures were the following: NF1/NF2-lux, NF1-*lux*/NF2 $\Delta exoA$, NF2-*lux*/NF1 $\Delta tseC$ and NF2-*lux*/NF1 $\Delta vasK$. The animals were observed for the disease progression, and the mortality was recovered daily.

ExoA immunization of mice and bacterial challenge

Mice, 8 per group, were immunized i.m. with 100 ng of ExoA mixed with alum at ratio 1:1. Boosters with the same dose were given every two weeks for a total of 6 immunizations and mice received alum only as a control. The blood of the mice was collected before immunization (pre-immune) and after the third and the sixth

Ana Fernández Bravo

immunization to evaluate the anti-ExoA antibody. After this the mice were injected i.m. with NF2 $(1x10^8)$ and with the mix NF1/NF2 at a dose of $2x10^8$ $(1x10^8 \text{ cfu per strain})$. The survival pattern was recovered for 14 days.

Bacterial dissemination using a murine intramuscular model

The NF2-*lux* strain was mixed at ratio1:1 with NF1 and various T6SS mutants of those strains (NF1/NF2-lux, NF2-*lux*/NF1 Δ *tseC* and NF2-*lux*/NF1 Δ *vasK*). Mice (7 per group) were injected i.m at a dose of 5X10⁷ (2.5X10⁷ cfu per strain). After 24-48 h of the infection, the spleen and around 200-300 mg of muscle tissue at the site of the injection as described above were placed in PBS and homogenized. Mice (7 per group) were i.m. infected with NF1 mixed with NF2, as well as NF1 mixed with the NF2 Δ *exoA* mutant strain (NF1-*lux*/NF2 and NF1-*lux*/NF2 Δ *exoA*) at a dose of 5x10⁷ (2.5x10⁷cfu per strain). The tissues were collected from terminal animals during the experiment. Also, mice (3 per group) were i.m. infected with NF1 and NF2 mixed with their positive and negative ExoA mutant (NF1-*lux*/NF1-*exoA* and NF2/NF2 Δ *exoA*-*lux*) at a dose of 2x10⁸ (1x10⁸cfu per strain). After 24 h post infection, mouse tissues were collected. Subsequently, serial dilutions were plated on LB agar plates with the appropriate antibiotic. After incubation for 24h and 37°C, colonies were counted to calculate bacterial load per organ (spleen) or gram of muscle tissue.

Statistical analysis

Student t-test, one-way ANOVA with Tukey *post hoc* test, two-way ANOVA with Sidak *post hoc* test or Log-rank (Mantel-Cox) test were performed to analyze the data. Wherever applicable, p value is reported, and p values of <0.05; <0.01 and <0.001 were considered significant.

Results

<u>In vitro</u>

Role of T6SS and ExoA in phagocytic elimination and intracellular survival in macrophages of strains NF1 and NF2

Murine macrophages (cell line RAW 264.7) infected with mutants of T6SS of strain NF1, i.e., NF1 $\Delta vasK$ and NF1 $\Delta tseC$ resulted in a significantly higher (p< 0.05) rate of phagocytosis of the mutant strains when compared with the intact strain NF1 (Fig. 1A). Different rates of phagocytosis were observed in the two mutant strains NF1 $\Delta tseC$ and NF1 $\Delta vasK$, showing the strain NF1 $\Delta vasK$ the higher phagocytosis (Fig.1 A). In the case of the NF2 and NF2 $\Delta exoA$, the rate was significantly higher (p< 0.05) compared with NF1 and NF1-*exoA* (Fig. 1B). However, between NF1 and NF1-*exoA* as well as NF2 and NF2 $\Delta exoA$ no differences were found. In relation to the percentage of intracellular survival at 4h and 6h, NF1 showed a significantly higher rate of survival followed by NF1 $\Delta vasK$ and NF1 $\Delta tseC$ (Fig. 2A). However, the intracellular survival was similar between NF1, NF2, NF1-*exoA* and NF2 $\Delta exoA$ and the percentage was approximately of 25% at 4h and 5% at 6h post infection (Fig. 2B).

Role of T6SS in the *in vitro* dynamics: NF2 strain suppression growth by strain NF1

When NF1 and NF2-*lux* were mixed 5:1 and plated on LB agar without antibiotic and with kanamycin, and incubated for 4 h, colony counts for NF2-*lux* were reduced (Fig. 3). This was not observed when both NF1 mutants of the T6SS (NF1 $\Delta vasK$ and NF1 $\Delta tseC$) were mixed with NF2-*lux*, the colony numbers of NF2-*lux* were not reduced so these mutant strains increased the survival of NF2 compared with the first mix (NF1/NF2-*lux*). Also, the survival of NF2-*lux* in the mix with NF1 $\Delta vasK$ was significantly higher than NF2-*lux* in the mix with NF1 $\Delta tseC$ (Fig. 3). The colony counts of the mutant for the protective immunoprotein of T6SS (NF2-*luxpBR322-tsiC*) in the mix with NF1 were significantly higher than NF2-*lux* in the mix with NF1. However, the number of NF2-*lux*-pBR322-*tsiC* was higher than NF2-*lux*

Ana Fernández Bravo

in the mix with the mutant NF1 $\Delta tseC$, but not significantly. Finally, NF2-*lux*-pBR322-*tsiC* mutant showed a lower not significant survival than the wild type strain NF2-*lux* in the mix with the mutant NF1 $\Delta vasK$ (Fig.3).

Role of ExoA on NF1 strain T6SS-mediated NF2 killing in mixed cultures

When strain NF1 and bioluminescent NF2 *exoA* mutant (NF2 Δ *exoA-lux*) were mixed in a ratio of 5:1 and plated on LB agar without antibiotic and with kanamycin, and incubated for 4h, colony counts for NF1 were significantly higher (p < 0.005) in relation to 0h (Fig. 4). In contrast, the number of NF2 Δ *exoA-lux* was inhibited by NF1 at 4h (Fig. 4). Also, a dynamic infection in a ratio of 1:1 was performed and the results were similar (data not shown).

<u>In vivo</u>

Role of ExoA in an intraperitoneal infected mouse model caused by NF1 and NF2 single strains

When NF1 was injected i.p., at higher dose $(1x10^7)$ all animals succumbed to the infection within 24h p.i., while at an infection doses of $5x10^6$ and $8x10^6$ about the 20-25% of animals survived. The mice infected with the strain NF1 that have incorporated the *exoA* gene (NF1-*exoA*) showed the same pattern of mortality than the one caused by the WT NF1 strain Fig. 5A). In contrast, all mice injected with NF2 at dose of $5x10^7$ survived. However, at higher dose ($8x10^7$) the survival percentage of mice was about 90% after NF2 infection, while after NF2 Δ *exoA* the survival was significantly lower (p < 0.05), being about of 10% (Fig. 5B)

Role of T6SS in the pathogenesis caused by mixed infections with NF1 and NF2 strains in an intramuscular mouse model

As shown in the Fig. 6, the mixed infection NF1/NF2-*lux* were 100% lethal to mice at dose 5 x 10⁷ cfu (2.5 x 10⁷ cfu per each strain) within 24 h p.i. However, the mix NF1 $\Delta vasK$ //NF2-*lux* and NF1 $\Delta tseC$ /NF2-*lux* showed a significantly higher percentage of survival (p < 0.05) when compared to the infection with the WT strains (NF1/NF2-*lux*), being about of 60% and 80%, respectively.

Dissemination pattern of infection in an intramuscular mouse model with mixed cultures of *A. hydrophila* T6SS mutants

Mixed infection with NF1 and NF2-*lux* at infective dose 5×10^7 cfu (2.5×10^7 cfu per each strain) resulted in a significant decrease (p < 0.005) of NF2-*lux* in the muscle at 24-48 h p.i. (Fig.7A). Also, the dissemination pattern showed that the strain NF2-*lux* was not detected in the spleen (Fig. 7B). However, the mixed infections between NF2-*lux* with NF1 T6SS mutants (NF1 Δ tseC and NF1 Δ vasK) showed that all strains were detected in the site of the injection (Fig. 7A), while in the spleen the mixed infection between these strains showed a reduced number of bacteria (Fig. 7B).

ExoA immunization of mice before intramuscular infected mouse model with single and mixed infection with NF1 and NF2 strains

The evaluation of the anti-ExoA antibody in mice showed a significantly higher rate of antibodies (p<0.05) after the immunization with the ExoA mixed with alum (1:1) (Doses-ExoA) in comparison with the pre-immune mice, as well as the positive control only with alum (Doses-Alum) (Fig. 8A). Also, the results showed that at 6 doses the rate of antibody was higher than the rate with 3 doses. In relation to the survival pattern after the immunization, the infection with NF2 in mice that received only alum resulted in all mice dead at 72h p.i., while after the infection with NF2 in the mice immunized with ExoA mixed with alum (1:1) resulted in all mice dead at 24 h p.i. and the result with NF1/NF2-ExoA Immun. was similar, being 20% the percentage of the survival (Fig. 8B).

Role of ExoA during mixed infection between NF1 and NF2 strains in an intramuscular infected mouse model

When NF1-*lux* mixed with NF2 were injected i.m., the survival percentage of mice was about 10% and the same result was obtained with the infection NF1-*lux*/NF2 $\Delta exoA$ (Fig. 9A). The bacterial load from terminal mice showed that mixed infection with NF1-*lux* and NF2 resulted in a significant decrease of NF2 in the site

Ana Fernández Bravo

of the injection and in the spleen. The same occurred with the mixed infection with NF1-*lux* and NF2 $\Delta exoA$, in this case the latter strain was not detected in the site of injection and in the spleen (Fig. 9B).

Role of ExoA in NF1 and NF2 strain dissemination in an intramuscular infected mouse model

Mixed infection with NF1 and NF1-*exoA* was injected in mice by i.m at dose $2 \ge 10^8$ cfu (1 x 10^8 cfu per each strain) and resulted in a similar number of bacteria recovered in the site of injection and both strains were localized in the spleen at 24 h p.i. (Fig. 10A). However, when the mice were injected with the mixed of NF2 and NF2 Δ *exoA*, both strains were detected in muscle, but only NF2 disseminated to spleen at 24 h p.i. (Fig. 10B).

Discussion

Necrotizing fasciitis is a rare, life-threatening bacterial infection (Ahn, 2007). Recently, several strains of Aeromonas hydrophila (NF1, NF2, NF3, and NF4) were recovered from the wound and bloodstream of a young immunocompetent girl that developed a NF (Grim et al., 2014). Whole genome sequencing of the isolates showed that isolates NF2 to NF4 were clonal and NF1 was genetically distinct (Grim et al., 2014). The strain NF2 possesses an ExoA toxin, while strain NF1 did not contain the exoA gene. The ExoA toxin has been associated in the inhibition of protein synthesis and host cell death (Zdanovsky et al., 1993; Yates et al., 2005; Grim et al., 2014; Ponnusamy et al., 2016). The ExoA is considered the most toxic virulence factor of the pathogenic bacterium *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (Michalska and Wolf, 2015). Grim et al. (2014) suggested that the presence of the exoA gene in strain NF2 could increase the virulence of this strain in the mouse model. The genomes of strains NF1 and NF2 showed the presence of two clusters of T6SS genes and effectors, (three copies of Hemolysin-coregulated protein (Hcp) and five copies of valine-glycine repeat G proteins (VgrGs). The T6SS has been reported to regulate gene expression involved in bacterial motility, biofilm formation and biofilmantibiotic resistance (Aschtgen et al., 2008; Weber et al., 2009; Zhang et al., 2011).

Suarez et al. (2008) provided evidence that the virulence-associated secretion (*vas*) genes are essential for expression of the genes encoding the T6SS and/or they constituted important components of the T6SS. Also, Liang et al. (2015) identified and characterized the effector toxin TseC and its antagonistic immunity protein TsiC in *A. hydrophila* SSU. In the last years different studies have been suggested that the T6SS plays a role in the competition between strains in the polymicrobial infection (English et al., 2012; Anderson et al., 2017).

Increasing evidence suggests that complex relationships exist between bacteria from distinct species or genera in the setting of a mixed infection (Ramsey et al., 2011; Peters et al., 2012; Korgaonkar et al., 2013). Synergistic or antagonistic effects on virulence cause a complex interaction that influences the progression of the disease. In relation to this complex interaction in *Aeromonas*, it has been reported the virulence for a paired *Aeromonas* strains used to infect the *Caenorhabditis elegans* animal model (Mosser et al., 2015). Mosser et al. (2015), observed a synergy between two *Aeromonas* isolates, producing a higher level of virulence than only one strain. Interestingly, the results obtained by Ponnusamy et al. (2016) showed that when NF is caused by mixed infection with two strains (NF1 and NF2) of *A. hydrophila*, the progression of NF follows a different course from that NF generated by using only a single strain. This previous study suggested that the ExoA toxin of strain NF2 could play a significant role in both local necrotic inflammation and bacterial dissemination to peripheral organs. It was also suggested that the T6SS effector molecule (s) produced by NF1 could block the growth of NF2.

Data from macrophage phagocytosis and intracellular survival of the NF1 and NF2 strains performed by Ponnusamy et al. (2016) suggested that there is a host intervening process in the elimination of NF2 when NF1 is also present at the site of infection. In mixed cultures of NF2 and NF1 strains, the latter strain may favor recruitment and/or activation of macrophages, which would result in rapid elimination of NF2 before this bacterium could enter the systemic circulation. Our data of macrophage phagocytosis showed a higher rate of phagocytosis when the cell line was infected with mutants of T6SS of strain NF1 (NF1 Δ vasK and

Ana Fernández Bravo

NF1 $\Delta tseC$). This result was similar to the one obtained with the *A. dhakensis* SSU strain, because the mutant strain for the constituent protein of the T6SS (SSU $\Delta vasK$) was more easily phagocytosed by murine macrophages (RAW 264.7) compared with the phagocytosis observed for the wild type strain (Suarez et al., 2008). This result suggests that the T6SS protein VasK and the effector TseC, plays an important role in bacterial phagocytosis and intracellular survival within macrophages. However, our results with NF2 mutants for the ExoA toxin (not related with the T6SS) showed that independently of the presence/absence of this toxin the phagocytosis and the intracellular survival were similar, concluding that ExoA has not a role in these processes.

The results of *in vitro* dynamic infections showed that when NF1 and NF2 were in close contact on a solid medium the survival of NF2 decreased, however, this survival increased when the mix was made with mutant strains of the T6SS of strain NF1 (NF1 Δ *vasK* and NF1 Δ *tseC*). The same occurred when the mix included strain NF1 and the mutant strain NF2 for the immunoprotein (NF2-*lux*-pBR322-*tsiC*). In the case of the mixed infection of NF1 with NF2 and the ExoA mutant (NF2 Δ *exoA*), our results demonstrated that NF1 was able to effectively kill both NF2 and NF2 Δ exoA strains. Taking into account these results, T6SS and its effector TseC toxin of *A. hydrophila* NF1 strain could contribute to directly kill or inhibit NF2 strain in an *in vitro* model, and the immunity protein (TsiC) produced from the NF2 strain reverses this effect. However, these data may suggest minimal effect of ExoA on the activity of the NF1 T6SS.

Interestingly, in the present study we have demonstrated that in the mixed infections using intramuscular mouse model the NF1 strain was lethal to NF2 by a T6SS in the site of the injection as Ponnusamy et al., (2016) suggested. Reduction in mortality was observed when NF2-*lux* and mutants of the T6SS (NF1 Δ *vasK* and NF1 Δ *tseC*) were mixed and injected intramuscularly, in comparison with the mixed infection between NF1 and NF2-*lux*. The T6SS and its effector TseC of *A. hydrophila* NF1 strain could contribute significantly to the overall bacterial virulence in a mouse NF model (intramuscular route infection) when NF1 and NF2 were mixed. Also, our

results suggested that the role of TseC is more prominent in a mixed infection *in vivo* compared to its contribution in the *in vitro* phagocytosis and intracellular survival assays when NF1 Δ tseC culture was used singly. In addition, the results to the dissemination pattern showed that the NF2 strain of *A. hydrophila* competed better with the T6SS mutants of NF1 (Δ vasK and Δ tseC) at the injection site and both NF1 T6SS mutants and the NF2 strain poorly disseminated to the peripheral organs. For this reason, it is likely that there are other NF1 T6SS genes that could contribute to the dissemination to the peripheral organs.

In an intraperitoneal infected mouse model, our results demonstrated that *cis* expression of the *exoA* gene in NF1 (NF1-*exoA*) did not further increased its virulence. However, deletion of the *exoA* gene from NF2 strain reduced its virulence significantly. These results suggest that ExoA could play an important role in the pathogenesis of infection caused by *A. hydrophila* NF1 strain in the intramuscular mouse model when the *exoA* gene was inserted in *cis* (NF1-*exoA*) as explained Ponnusamy et al. (2016), but not in the peritoneal infection model in a monomicrobial scenario. In contrast, taking into account the results obtained by Ponnusamy et al. (2016) and our results, ExoA is crucial for *A. hydrophila* NF2 strain in both infection models (intraperitoneal and intramuscularly) under the single strain infections.

The results obtained after the mice immunized intramuscularly with ExoA showed a protection from the single *A. hydrophila* NF2 strain after challenge, but not from the NF1 and NF2 mixed culture infection, concluding that ExoA has a function in the virulence of NF2, but not in the mixed infection between NF1 and NF2. Also, after the study of the immunization, we clarified the role of ExoA during mixed infections in a mouse model. Our results demonstrated that ExoA of NF2 may not further promote pathogenesis and dissemination of NF1 strain during mixed infection in the intramuscular mouse model due to the rapid killing of the NF2 strain. This result was different in comparison with the previous hypothesis that suggested that ExoA secreted by NF2 assists the dissemination of NF1 to peripheral organs in the mixed infections (Ponnusamy et al., 2016). Moreover, during NF1 and NF1-*exoA* mixed

Ana Fernández Bravo

infection using an intramuscular mouse model, both ExoA negative and positive NF1 strains were equally competent in replicating at the injection site as well as in disseminating to the peripheral organs. The lower number of NF2 $\Delta exoA$ in mouse muscle and spleen as compared to its parent (NF2) strains was due to attenuation as the result of *exoA* deletion.

In summary, the T6SS and the ExoA toxin of *A. hydrophila* strains (NF1 and NF2) contribute to the development of NF in mice during mono-microbial infections. However, during the mixed infections, the T6SS plays a dominant role in developing of NF.

Conflict of interest

None declared.

Acknowledgements

Financial support was provided to A.K.C. through Leon Bromberg and Robert E. Shope and John S. Dunn Distinguished Chair in Global Health endowments, University of Texas Medical Branch.

Author's contribution

AFB and JS performed research; AKC conceived the idea; AFB, JS, MJF, AKC wrote the manuscript.

References

Bellapianta, J. M., Ljungquist, K., Tobin, E., & Uhl, R. (2009). Necrotizing fasciitis. *JAAOS-Journal of the American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons*, *17*(3), 174-182.

Tsai, Y. H., Shen, S. H., Yang, T. Y., Chen, P. H., Huang, K. C., & Lee, M. S. (2015). Monomicrobial necrotizing fasciitis caused by aeromonas hydrophila and Klebsiella pneumoniae. *Medical Principles and Practice*, *24*(5), 416-423.

Ponnusamy, D., Kozlova, E. V., Sha, J., Erova, T. E., Azar, S. R., Fitts, E. C., et al. (2016). Cross-talk among flesh-eating Aeromonas hydrophila strains in mixed infection leading to necrotizing fasciitis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *113*(3), 722-727.

Arif, N., Yousfi, S., & Vinnard, C. (2016). Deaths from necrotizing fasciitis in the United States, 2003–2013. *Epidemiology & Infection*, *144*(6), 1338-1344.

Chen, K. C. J., Klingel, M., McLeod, S., Mindra, S., & Ng, V. K. (2017). Presentation and outcomes of necrotizing soft tissue infections. *International journal of general medicine*, *10*, 215.

Sarani, B., Strong, M., Pascual, J., & Schwab, C. W. (2009). Necrotizing fasciitis: current concepts and review of the literature. *Journal of the American College of Surgeons*, 208(2), 279-288.

Stevens, D. L. & Bryant, A. E. (2017). Necrotizing soft-tissue infections. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 377(23):2253-65.

Furusu, A., Yoshizuka, N., Abe, K., Sasaki, O., Miyazaki, K., Miyazaki, M., et al. (1997). Aeromonas hydrophila necrotizing fasciitis and gas gangrene in a diabetic patient on haemodialysis. *Nephrology, dialysis, transplantation: official publication of the European Dialysis and Transplant Association-European Renal Association*, 12(8), 1730-1734.

Joseph, S. W., Daily, O. P., Hunt, W. S., Seidler, R. J., Allen, D. A., & Colwell, R. R. (1979). Aeromonas primary wound infection of a diver in polluted waters. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *10*(1), 46-49.

Sever, R., Goldstein, A. L., Steinberg, E., & Soffer, D. (2013). Trauma with a touch of fresh water: necrotizing fasciitis caused by Aeromonas hydrophilia after a motorcycle accident. *The American Surgeon*, *79*(11), E326.

Spadaro, S., Berselli, A., Marangoni, E., Romanello, A., Colamussi, M. V., Ragazzi, R., et al. (2014). Aeromonas sobria necrotizing fasciitis and sepsis in an

Ana Fernández Bravo

immunocompromised patient: a case report and review of the literature. *Journal of medical case reports*, 8(1), 315.

Grim, C. J., Kozlova, E. V., Ponnusamy, D., Fitts, E. C., Sha, J., Kirtley, M. L., et al. (2014). Functional genomic characterization of virulence factors from necrotizing fasciitis-causing strains of Aeromonas hydrophila. *Applied and environmental microbiology*, *80*(14), 4162-4183.

Zdanovsky, A. G., Chiron, M., Pastan, I., & FitzGerald, D. J. (1993). Mechanism of action of Pseudomonas exotoxin. Identification of a rate-limiting step. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 268(29), 21791-21799.

English, G., Trunk, K., Rao, V. A., Srikannathasan, V., Hunter, W. N., & Coulthurst, S. J. (2012). New secreted toxins and immunity proteins encoded within the T ype VI secretion system gene cluster of Serratia marcescens. *Molecular microbiology*, *86*(4), 921-936.

Suarez, G., Sierra, J. C., Sha, J., Wang, S., Erova, T. E., Fadl, A. A., et al. (2008). Molecular characterization of a functional type VI secretion system from a clinical isolate of Aeromonas hydrophila. *Microbial pathogenesis*, *44*(4), 344-361.

Liang, X., Moore, R., Wilton, M., Wong, M. J., Lam, L., & Dong, T. G. (2015). Identification of divergent type VI secretion effectors using a conserved chaperone domain. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *112*(29), 9106-9111.

Choi, K. H., Gaynor, J. B., White, K. G., Lopez, C., Bosio, C. M., Karkhoff-Schweizer, R. R., et al. (2005). A Tn7-based broad-range bacterial cloning and expression system. *Nature methods*, 2(6), 443.

Ahn, C. (2007). Necrotizing fasciitis: reviewing the causes and treatment strategies. *Advances in skin & wound care*, 20(5), 288-293.

Yates, S. P., Taylor, P. L., Jørgensen, R., Ferraris, D., Zhang, J., Andersen, G.
R., et al. (2005). Structure–function analysis of water-soluble inhibitors of the catalytic domain of exotoxin A from Pseudomonas aeruginosa. *Biochemical Journal*, 385(3), 667-675.

Michalska, M., & Wolf, P. (2015). Pseudomonas Exotoxin A: optimized by evolution for effective killing. *Frontiers in microbiology*, *6*, 963.

Aschtgen, M. S., Bernard, C. S., De Bentzmann, S., Lloubes, R., & Cascales, E. (2008). SciN is an outer membrane lipoprotein required for type VI secretion in enteroaggregative Escherichia coli. *Journal of bacteriology*, *190*(22), 7523-7531.

Weber, B., Hasic, M., Chen, C., Wai, S. N., & Milton, D. L. (2009). Type VI secretion modulates quorum sensing and stress response in Vibrio anguillarum. *Environmental microbiology*, *11*(12), 3018-3028.

Zhang, L., Hinz, A. J., Nadeau, J. P., & Mah, T. F. (2011). Pseudomonas aeruginosa tssC1 links type VI secretion and biofilm-specific antibiotic resistance. *Journal of bacteriology*, *193*(19), 5510-5513.

Anderson, M. C., Vonaesch, P., Saffarian, A., Marteyn, B. S., & Sansonetti, P.
J. (2017). Shigella sonnei encodes a functional T6SS used for interbacterial competition and niche occupancy. *Cell host & microbe*, *21*(6), 769-776.

Ramsey, M. M., Rumbaugh, K. P., & Whiteley, M. (2011). Metabolite cross-feeding enhances virulence in a model polymicrobial infection. *PLoS pathogens*, 7(3), e1002012.

Peters, B. M., Jabra-Rizk, M. A., Graeme, A. O., Costerton, J. W., & Shirtliff,
M. E. (2012). Polymicrobial interactions: impact on pathogenesis and human disease. *Clinical microbiology reviews*, 25(1), 193-213.

Korgaonkar, A., Trivedi, U., Rumbaugh, K. P., & Whiteley, M. (2013). Community surveillance enhances Pseudomonas aeruginosa virulence during polymicrobial infection. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *110*(3), 1059-1064.

Mosser, T., Talagrand-Reboul, E., Colston, S. M., Graf, J., Figueras, M. J., Jumas-Bilak, E., et al. (2015). Exposure to pairs of Aeromonas strains enhances virulence in the Caenorhabditis elegans infection model. *Frontiers in microbiology*, *6*, 1218.

Strai	ins or plasmids	Relevant characteristics	Source
A. hydrophila			
	NF1	Isolated from necrotizing fasciitis patient wound site and spontaneous rifampicin resistance clone (Rif [®])	(Grim et al., 2014)
	NF1-lux	NF1 strain chromosomally integrated with Tn7-luciferase operon (Rif ^R , Km ^R)	(Grim et al., 2014)
	NF1-exoA	NF1 strain chromosomally integrated with Tn7-exoA operon (Rif ^R , Ap ^R)	(Ponnusamy et al., 2016)
	$NF1\Delta vasK$	NF1 strain isogenic deletion mutant for vasK gene (Rif ^R)	This study
	NF1 $\Delta tseC$	NF1 strain isogenic deletion mutant for <i>tseC</i> gene (Rif ^R)	This study
	NF2	Isolated from NF patient wound site following the amputation and surgical debridement and spontaneous rifampicin resistance clone (Rif ^R)	(Grim et al., 2014)
	NF2-lux	NF2 strain chromosomally integrated with Tn7-luciferase operon (Rif ^R , Km ^R)	(Ponnusamy et al., 2016)
	$NF2\Delta exoA$	Isogenic deletion mutation for gene exoA in strain NF2 (Rif ^R)	(Ponnusamy et al., 2016)
	$NF2\Delta exoA$ -lux	NF2ΔexoA chromosomally integrated with Tn7-luciferase operon (Rif ^R , Km ^R)	This study
	NF2-lux-pBR322-tsiC	NF2-lux strain transformed with plasmid pBR322-tsiC (Rif ^R , Km ^R , Tc ^R)	This study
E.coli			
	SM10 \lapir	Strain with λpir for replication of plasmid with R6K ori (Km ^R)	Laboratory stock
	DH5α λpir	Strain with λpir for replication of plasmid with R6K ori	Laboratory stock
Plasmids			
	pTNS2	A mobilizable helper plasmid encoding the TnsABC+D transposase for Tn7 specific transposition pathway (Ap ^R)	Choi et al 2005 (Nature methods)
	pUC18R6K-mini- Tn7::Km- <i>lux</i>	Tn7 based transposon system carries luciferase operon and kanamycin resistance selection marker (Km ^R)	(Ponnusamy et al., 2016)
	pBR322	Cloning vector (Ap ^R , Tc ^R)	Laboratory stock
	pBR322-tsiC	<i>tsiC</i> gene of <i>A. hydrophila</i> NF1 with its putative promoter region, cloned in pBR322 at the HindIII/ PstI sites, Tc ^R .	This study
	pDMS197	A suicide vector, oriT, oriV, sacB, Tc ^R .	Laboratory Stock
	pDMStseC	Suicide vector pDMS197 containing upstream and downstream flanking DNA fragments to the <i>tseC</i> gene of <i>A. hydrophila</i> NF1, Tc ^R .	This study
	pDMSvasK	Suicide vector pDMS197 containing upstream and downstream flanking DNA fragments to the <i>vasK</i> gene of <i>A. hydrophila</i> NF1, Tc ^R .	This study

Table 1. Bacterial strains and plasmids used in this study

Results



Fig. 1. Role of T6SS and ExoA in bacterial phagocytosis by macrophages. Murine macrophages (RAW 264.7) were infected at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 5 with WT or various T6SS mutants of *A. hydrophila* NF1 strain (A) or with various ExoA positive/negative NF1 and NF2 stains of *A. hydrophila* (B). The percentages of engulfed bacteria were determined by plate counting. Results were expressed as the arithmetic mean \pm SD. Data were analyzed by using either Student t-test (NF1 vs NF1 Δ tseC) or by one-way ANOVA with Tukey *post hoc* test. Asterisks indicate statistical significant differences as compared to WT NF1 stain in (A) or indicated by a line comparing designated groups (A and B). *p<0.05; **p<0.01 and ***<0.001.



Fig. 2. Role of T6SS and ExoA in bacterial intracellular survival in macrophages. Murine macrophages (RAW 264.7) were infected at an MOI of 5 with WT or various T6SS mutants of *A. hydrophila* NF1 strain (**A**) or with various ExoA positive/negative NF1 and NF2 stains of *A. hydrophila* (**B**). The intracellular survival of bacteria was evaluated via the gentamycin protection assay after 4h and 6 h of phagocytosis. The percent survival of intracellular bacteria was calculated and expressed as the arithmetic mean \pm SD. Data were analyzed by using two-way ANOVA with Sidak *post hoc* test. Asterisks indicate statistical significant differences as compared to designated groups indicated by a line. **p<0.01 and ****p<0.0001.

Ana Fernández Bravo



Fig. 3. Role of NF1 T6SS in killing NF2 by direct contact. WT NF1 or its T6SS mutants were mixed with the bioluminescent WT NF2 strain (NF2-*lux*) or the NF2 strain that expresses the gene encoding immunity protein (TsiC) of NF1 T6SS effector TseC via pBR322 vector (NF2-pBR322-*tsiC*) in a ratio of 5:1. The mixed cultures were spotted on LB agar plates and incubated at 37 °C for 4 h. The NF2 strains were enumerated in the mixed culture before and after 4h of incubation period. The percent survival of NF2 strains after the incubation period was then calculated and the results plotted as arithmetic means \pm SD. Data were analyzed by using either Student t-test (NF1 Δ tseC/NF2-*lux* vs NF2-pBR322-*tsiC*) or by one-way ANOVA with Tukey *post hoc* test. Asterisks indicate statistical significant differences as compared to the NF1/NF2-*lux* group or between groups as indicated by a line. *p< 0.05; **p<0.01 and ****<0.0001. A similar result was observed when the cultures were mixed in a ratio of 1:1 (data not show).



Fig. 4. Effect of ExoA on NF1 T6SS-medicated NF2 killing. WT NF1 and bioluminescent NF2 *exoA* mutant (NF2 $\Delta exoA$ -lux) were mixed in a ratio of 5:1. The mixed cultures were spotted on LB agar plates and incubated at 37 °C for 4 h. Both NF1 and NF2 $\Delta exoA$ -lux strains were enumerated in the mixed culture at the time of mixing (0 h) and after 4 h incubation on the agar plates. The percent survival of NF strains after the 4 h incubation period was then calculated and the results plotted as arithmetic means \pm SD. Data were analyzed by using two-way ANOVA with Sidak *post hoc* test. Asterisks indicate statistical significant differences as compared to designated groups indicated by a line. ***p<0.001 and ****p<0.0001. A similar pattern was observed when the cultures were mixed in a ratio of 1:1 (data not show).



Fig 5. Role of ExoA in the pathogenesis of infection caused by *A. hydrophila* NF strains in a mouse model of peritonitis. Mice (10 per group) were intraperitoneally infected with various NF ExoA positive- and -negative strains at different doses. The percent survival of mice was then plotted. Data were analyzed by using Log-rank (Mantel-Cox) test. Asterisk indicates statistical significance with a p value for compared groups as indicated by the vertical line.



Fig 6. Role of T6SS in the pathogenesis of infection caused by *A. hydrophila* NF strains in a mouse model of NF. WT bioluminescent NF2-*lux* strain was 1:1 mixed with WT or various T6SS mutants of NF1. Mice (10 per group) were intramuscularly infected with various above mixed cultures at the dose of 5×10^7 CFU (2.5 x 10⁷ CFU per strain). The percent survival of mice was then plotted. Data were analyzed by Log-rank (Mantel-Cox) test. Asterisks indicate statistical significance with p values when indicated groups were compared to the control group (NF1/NF2-*lux*).



Fig 7. Dissemination of bacteria in mice intramuscularly infected with various mixed cultures of *A. hydrophila* **NF1 and NF2 strains.** WT bioluminescent NF2-*lux* strain was 1:1 mixed with WT or various T6SS mutants of NF1. Mice (7 per group) were intramuscularly infected with various above mixed cultures at a dose of 5 x 10⁷ CFU (2.5 x 10⁷ CFU per strain). After 24-48 h post infection, mice spleens and muscles at the injection site were collected, and bacterial loads in the muscles (A) and spleen (B) were enumerated. Results were expressed as arithmetic mean \pm SD. Data were analyzed by using two-way ANOVA with Sidak *post hoc* test. Asterisks indicate statistical significant differences among indicated groups as indicated by lines. **p<0.01 and ****p< 0.0001.



Fig. 8. ExoA immunization of mice and bacterial challenge. Mice were immunized intramuscularly with 100 ng of ExoA mixed with alum (1:1). Boosters with the same dose of ExoA were given every two weeks for a total of 6 immunizations. Mice receiving alum only served as a control. Blood was collected before immunization (pre-immune) and after the third and final immunization to evaluate anti-ExoA antibody titers arithmetic mean \pm SD (A). Mice (8 per group) were then intramuscularly challenged with either *A. hydrophila* NF2 strain alone at the dose of 1 x 10⁸ CFU or with a mixed culture of NF1 and NF2 strains at a dose of 2.0 x 10⁸ CFU (1 x 10⁸ CFU per strain). The percent survival of mice was recorded and plotted (B). Data were either analyzed by using Student t-test for antibody titers or Log-rank (Mantel-Cox) test for mice survival. Asterisks indicate statistical significance for groups in comparison to their respective controls. *p<0.05 and ****p< 0.0001.



Fig 9. Role of ExoA during mixed infection with *A. hydrophila* NF1 and NF2 strains. WT bioluminescent NF1-*lux* strain was 1:1 mixed with WT NF2 or its $\Delta exoA$ mutant. Mice (7 per group) were intramuscularly infected with the above mixed cultures at a dose of 5 x 10⁷ CFU (2.5 x 10⁷ CFU per strain). The survival of mice was recorded and plotted (A). Tissues (spleens and muscles from the injection site) were collected from terminal animals during the course of infection, and bacterial loads in the muscles (B) and spleens (C) were enumerated. Results were expressed as arithmetic mean \pm SD. Data were analyzed by Log-rank (Mantel-Cox) test for mouse survival, while two-way ANOVA with Sidak *post hoc* test was used for analyzing bacterial loads. Asterisks indicate statistical significance for compared groups as indicated by the lines. *p<0.05 and ***p< 0.001



Fig 10. Role of ExoA in bacterial dissemination in mice. Mice (3 per group) were intramuscularly infected with ExoA positive/negative (1:1) pairs of indicated *A. hydrophila* NF1 or NF2 strains at a dose of 2×10^8 (1×10^8 per strain). After 24 h post infection, mouse tissues were collected and bacterial loads for each stain at the injection site muscles (**A**) and spleens (**B**) were evaluated. Results were expressed as arithmetic mean ± SD. Data were analyzed by two-way ANOVA with Sidak *post hoc* test. Asterisks indicate statistical significance for compared groups as indicated by the lines. *p<0.05 and **p< 0.01.

4.9. Evaluation of the immune response in the monocytic cell line THP-1 against *Aeromonas* spp.

Fernández-Bravo A., Figueras MJ. (In preparation, pending to be submitted to Frontiers in Inmunology)

Immune response of the monocytic cell line THP-1 against six Aeromonas spp.

Ana Fernández-Bravo¹, Maria José Figueras¹.

¹Unidad de Microbiología, Departamento de Ciencias Médicas Básicas, Facultad de Medicina y Ciencias de la Salud, IISPV, Universidad Rovira i Virgili, Reus, Spain

* Corresponding author

Maria José Figueras

Tel: +34 977759321; fax: +34 977759322.

E-mail address: mariajose.figueras@urv.cat

Doctoral thesis

Ana Fernández Bravo

Abstract

Aeromonas are autochthonous inhabitants of aquatic environments, that are considered to be emerging pathogen to humans, producing, diarrhea, bacteremia and wound infections. Recent publications show that 96.5% of the strains associated to clinical cases correspond to the species: Aeromonas caviae (29.9%), Aeromonas dhakensis (26.3%), Aeromonas veronii (24.8%) and Aeromonas hydrophila (15.5%). However, few studies have investigated the immune response against Aeromonas and the majority have involved only Aeromonas hydrophila. The aim of the present study was to increase the knowledge about the immune response against six Aeromonas species, using an in vitro infection model with a monocytic human cell line (THP-1) and evaluating the expression of 11 immune-related genes. The species tested were Aeromonas dhakensis, Aeromonas media, Aeromonas veronii, Aeromonas jandaei, Aeromonas piscicola and Aeromonas caviae. Transcriptional analysis showed an up-regulated expression of a variety of immune-related genes in monocytes, with a variable response depending upon the Aeromonas species. The species that showed the highest cell damage were coincidentally the ones that induced a higher expression of immune-related genes and were the more prevalent clinical species A. dhakensis, A. veronii and A. caviae.

Keywords: Aeromonas spp., immune-related genes, LDH.

Introduction

The genus *Aeromonas* includes species considered autochthonous of aquatic systems and emerging pathogen that cause a wide spectrum of diseases in humans, mainly gastroenteritis, septicemia and wound infections (Janda and Abbot, 2010; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015; Graf, 2015). The infection occurs more frequently in children, elderly and immunocompromised individuals as do also cases of bacteremia and extraintestinal infections such as meningitis, pneumonia, keratitis and osteomyelitis (Figueras, 2005; Janda and Abbott, 2010; Igbinosa et al., 2012; Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015; Teunis and Figueras, 2016). *Aeromonas* was the microorganisms more isolated after natural disasters as the tsunami in Thailand (2004), representing about 22.6 % of all isolates from wound infections in the survival patients (Hiransuthikul et al., 2005)

According to the recent literature, 96.5% of the strains associated to clinical cases correspond to four species: *Aeromonas caviae* (29.9%), *Aeromonas dhakensis* (26.3%), *Aeromonas veronii* (24.8%) and *Aeromonas hydrophila* (15.5%) (Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo., 2015). Multiples virulence factors, including aerolysin, hemolysin, lipases, enterotoxins, different types of secretion systems as well as quorum sensing are involved in the colonization, invasion and proliferation of the bacteria during the infectious process (Martin-Carnahan and Joseph, 2005; Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2012, 2013; dos Santos et al., 2015).

The immune response is activated after antigen exposure. Two types have been described, innate and adaptative (Janeway et al., 2001). The innate immune response is activated after recognition of structures associated with the microbes named Pathogen-Associated Molecular Patterns (PAMPs) by receptors named Pattern Recognition Receptors (PRRs) present and expressed in a variety of cells, like neutrophils, monocytes or macrophages (Bergsbaken et al., 2009; Kumar et al., 2011; Mahla et al., 2013). Toll-like receptors (TLRs) are membrane PRRs that induce the phagocytosis of the pathogen and activate the expression of cytokines in the host, initiating the inflammatory response (Kawai and Akira., 2007a). It has also been demonstrated that the TLRs recognition result in the induction of apoptosis or

Ana Fernández Bravo

cell-death (Salaun et al., 2007). The apoptosis is a caspase dependent process that induces nuclear condensation, and the release of cytoplasmic content from the host cell into the extracellular environment, which prevents inflammation (Strasser et al., 2000). Moreover, the NOD-like receptors (NLR) are another type of PRRs, expressed in the cytosol that induces a different type of cell-death called pyroptosis, mediated by the activation of caspase-1 and by the formation of a macromolecular complex called the inflammasome (Bergsbaken et al., 2009, Lopez-Castejon and Brough, 2011). In the last years, several studies have investigated the expression of several immune-related genes against A. hvdrophila, A. veronii and A. salmonicida (Altmann et al., 2016; Gong et al., 2017; Liao et al., 2017). The upregulation of the Toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4), which is a transmembrane receptor that senses molecules such as lipopolysaccharides (LPS) present in the cell walls of Gramnegative bacteria, have been detected after infecting a fish model with A. hvdrophila (Altmann et al., 2016; Gong et al., 2017; Liao et al., 2017). The TLRs also induce the activation of the nuclear factor NF-Kappa-B p65 subunit (RelA) protein, which is a protein involved in the formation of the nuclear factor kappa-light-chainenhancer (NF-kB). After an A. hydrophila infection in fish this factor is activated by inducing the activation of pro-inflammatory cytokines (Zhang et al., 2017). The JUN proto-oncogene (c-Jun) is another transcription factor that binds with the FOS protooncogen (c-Fos) and previous study suggested that changes in the expression of both genes are involved in the virulence of Aeromonas spp. in mice. Aeromonas strains which were pathogenic showed an upregulation of these genes (Hayes et al., 2009). Moreover, the expression of the pro-inflammatory cytokine genes such as $TNF-\alpha$ or interleukin 8 (IL-8), as well as chemokine genes such as the C-C motif ligand 20 (CCL20) involved in the recruitment of lymphocytes and dendritic cells has been studied in this fish model, demonstrating the activation of these genes after A. hydrophila and A. salmonicida infection (Arockiaraj et al., 2015; Rebl et al., 2017; Liao et al., 2018). However, the chemokine CCL2 has not been studied in Aeromonas, however it is an interesting chemokine well studied in other genera such as Vibrio with a role in the recruitment of monocytes, T cells, and dendritic cells (Murciano et al., 2015). Therefore, the chemokine CCL2 will be investigated for the

first time in this study. In relation to the apoptosis several studies demonstrated the capacity of *A. hydrophila*, *A. salmonicida* and *A. veronii* to induce this process by using different cell lines as well as a fish model (Suarez et al., 2010; Shelly et al., 2017). The tumor protein P53 (TP53) is a protein related to the apoptosis that induces the activation of the BCL2 associated X protein (BAX), being an important pro-apoptotic protein. Lü et al. (2015) demonstrated the induction of TP53 after *A. hydrophila* infection in a fish model. However, the expression of the gene encoding the BAX protein has not been studied in *Aeromonas* and will be also investigated in the current study. Another gene associated with apoptosis is the caspase 3 (*CASP3*), a previous study suggested that *A. hydrophila* can cause apoptosis in head kidney-derived macrophages from fish (Banerjee et al., 2012). Otherwise, a study of two proteins associated with the inflammasome such as pyrin domain containing 3 (NLRP3) and IL-1 β after *A. hydrophila* and *A. veronii* were studied in mice and murine macrophages (McCoy et al., 2010a,b).

A study of the host-interaction with *V. vulnificus*, demonstrated that the immune response could vary depending on the investigated cell line (Murciano et al., 2015). In *Aeromonas* the immune response studies have been not done with the human monocytic cell line (THP-1), therefore it is interesting to perform the studies in this cell type, because the monocytes act as the first line of defense at the beginning of the infection process. Moreover, no information exists so far about the immune response generated against other important *Aeromonas* species, that are frequently isolated in clinical cases i.e. *A. dhakensis* or *A. caviae*. This information could help to understand their clinical importance. Additionally, if the capacity to develop an innate-immune response in the host cells is equal for the environmental and the clinical strains is another aspect that has never been studied. This study pretends to investigate *Aeromonas* species that show different frequencies of occurrence in clinical cases, using strains of clinical and environmental origin in order to clarify if there exists a species-specific immune response that could explain their differential prevalence in human infections.
Ana Fernández Bravo

Material and Methods

Bacterial strains

The study was performed with 24 strains (10 clinical and 14 environmental) of six different species (n=6) five of which have not been studied until now as *Aeromonas dhakensis*, *Aeromonas media*, *Aeromonas jandaei*, *Aeromonas piscicola*, *Aeromonas veronii* and *Aeromonas caviae*, by using the strain Vibrio vulnificus CECT 4999, used in previous studies (Murciano et al., 2015; Murciano et al., 2017), as positive control (Table 1). All strains came from a collection that maintained in TSB plus glycerol (20%) at -80°C and from there they were grown in Tryptone Soya agar (TSA) at 30°C for 24 h. Their identity was previously determined on the basis of the sequences of the *rpoD* gene using primers and conditions described previously (Soler et al., 2004). Prior to infection, bacteria were regrown at 37°C in serum-free Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM, PAA Laboratories GmbH, Pasching, Austria) with shaking (100 rpm) for 18 h.

Cell lines and conditions

The human peripheral blood monocytes cell line THP-1 (Tsuchiya et al., 1980) was selected for the experiments. This cell line was maintained as a cell suspension in Roswell Park Memorial Institute Medium (RPMI-1640, PAA Laboratories) supplemented with 10% FBS (fetal bovine serum, PAA Laboratories) plus 1% P/S solution (penicillin-streptomycin, PAA Laboratories) at 37°C and 5% CO2. Before the infection experiments, cells were seeded in tissue culture plates containing DMEM without FBS and P/S at a concentration of 0.5×10^6 cells/mL to obtain 1×10^6 cells/mL after 18 h.

Infection

Cell line THP-1 was infected by using the 24 *Aeromonas* strains from overnight cultures in DMEM without FBS and P/S, at multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 10 and 20. The control, strain of *V. vulnificus* CECT 4999^T was used at MOI 5. The cultures were incubated at 37°C and 5% CO₂ and were sampled at specific times depending on the experiment.

Intracellular survival

Infected monocytes at MOI 10 and 20 (initial dose) were incubated at 37°C with 5% CO_2 for 1 h., followed by gentamicin treatment (50 µg/mL) for 1 h to kill extracellular bacteria (time 0). The percentage of intracellular survival was calculated as a number of bacteria inside the monocyte (time 0) in relation to the initial dose.

Cell damage assay (LDH assay)

After the infection at MOI 10 and 20, supernatants were obtained at different times (t= 3, 4, 5 and 6 h). Cell damage was determined by quantifying the enzyme lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) released into the culture media (supernatants), by using the kit, "Cytox 96 Non-Radioactive Cytotoxicity Assay "(Promega), as described in the manufacturer's instructions. To perform a standard curve a bovine recombinant LDH (Sigma-Aldrich) was used and the LDH levels of the samples were extrapolated from the curve.

Analysis of the expression of the genes related to the immune system

Different genes related to the immune response against pathogens were selected to quantify its transcription in response to the bacteria. The selected genes were genes related to cytokines and chemokines (*TNF- a, CCL2* and *CCL20*) genes related to apoptosis and pyroptosis (*TP53, BAX, CASP3, NLRP3* and *IL-1 β*) as well as genes of the transcription factors (*JUN* and *RELA*). After 4 h of infection at MOI 20, cells were washed twice with PBS, and RNA was isolated from the samples by using the GenEluteTM Mammalian Total RNA Miniprep Kit (Sigma-Aldrich). The cDNA was transcribed from total RNA by using the iScript cDNA Synthesis Kit (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Inc. Hercules, CA, USA). A Real-time PCR was performed with cDNA for quantification by using the Power SYBR® green PCR Mastermix (Applied Biosystems®, Life Technologies) on a StepOnePlusTM Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems). The thermal cycling conditions were: 94 °C for 5 min, followed by 45 cycles of 30s at 94°C, 30s at 60°C, 30s at 72°C, and finally 20s at 80°C. The threshold cycle (CT) values were obtained to establish the relative

Ana Fernández Bravo

RNA levels of the tested genes, using glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate (GAPDH) gene as a housekeeping gene. The relative gene expression was determined by using the $2^{-\Delta\Delta ct}$ method. The primers to evaluate the expression of selected genes were taken from Murciano et al., 2015 and the Primerbank are listed in Table 2.

Statistical analysis

All the experiments were performed in triplicates and the statistical significance was determined by using the Student's two-tailed *t*-test at p < 0.05 on GraphPad Prism 6.0 (GraphPad Software, CA, USA).

Results

Intracellular survival

The intracellular survival of *Aeromonas* strains at MOI 20 resulted to be significantly higher (p <0.05) than MOI 10, except for the species *A. jandaei* and *A. veronii* (Figure 1). As shown in Figure 1, the infection at MOI 10 showed a significant difference (p <0.05) between the most prevalent clinical species in relation to the less prevalent, except between *A piscicola* and *A. veronii*. Additionally, at MOI 20 the most prevalent clinical species showed a higher percentage of intracellular than the others (p < 0.05) (Figure 1).

Cell damage caused by Aeromonas species

The ability of *Aeromonas* to induce cell damage in THP-1 cells was measured as the release of LDH to the cell culture supernatant in THP-1 cells as shown in a Figure 2. All *Aeromonas* strains (24/24), independently of the species were able to induce at MOI 10 and 20 significant dose- and time-dependent cell damage when compared with non-infected cells (p < 0.05). The clinical strains of all the species were able to induce a higher degree (p < 0.05) of THP-1 cell damage than the environmental strains (Figure 2). All six *Aeromonas* species caused a significant cell damage in respect to the resting cells (p < 0.05) at MOI 20, and lower damage in relation to the positive control *V. vulnificus*. Also, the more prevalent clinical

species, *A. dhakensis*, *A. caviae* and *A. veronii* caused a higher cell damage than the rest independently of the origin (p<0.05) as shown in Figure 3.

Gene-expression by monocytic cell line THP-1 against Aeromonas species

Genes for cytokines and chemokines

The infection of the monocytic cell line THP-1 with all strains, independently of the origin and the species studied, induced the expression of cytokine (*TNF-* α) and chemokines (*CCL2, CCL20*) genes, with a significant difference (p<0.05) in the transcription pattern in relation to the non-infected cells (Figure 4).

As shown in Figure 4, the monocytic cell line showed a significant expression (p <0.05) of the pro-inflammatory cytokine gene, TNF- α , in response to A. dhakensis, followed by A. caviae and A. veronii. The less transcriptional levels of TNF- α were induced by A. piscicola, A. jandaei and A. media. Nevertheless, no significant differences in the expression levels of TNF- α were detected after stimulation with the first three species and the same result was obtained between the last three species. Additionally, the pro-inflammatory cytokine gene, *IL*-8, was tested, however, the levels were below detection (data not shown).

In the case of chemokines, the transcriptional levels of *CCL2* and *CCL20* were upregulated after infection with all strains in comparison with the non-infected cells, being higher in the case of *A. dhakensis* and *A. caviae* (p < 0.05) than in the other species (Figure 4). A difference with the *TNF-a* expression, the transcriptional levels of *CCL2* and *CCL20* after *A. veronii* infection showed no significant differences with *A. media* or *A. piscicola*. However, all strains showed a significantly higher expression (p < 0.05) than *A. jandaei* (Figure 4).

Genes involved in apoptosis

The transcriptional level of *TP53* and *CASP3* genes, related to apoptosis, increased after infection with all *Aeromonas* species (p<0.05) in relation to the non-infected cells. Nonetheless, not significant differences in relation to the non-infected cells were observed after *A. piscicola, A. dhakensis* and *A. jandaei* infections for the *BAX* gene (Figure 4). In the case of *A. veronii* the expression of the *BAX, TP53* and

Ana Fernández Bravo

CASP3 were almost undetectable (Figure 4). Additionally, significant differences (p <0.05) in the transcriptional level of the *BAX*, *TP53* and *CASP3* were observed between the most prevalent clinical species and the least prevalent ones (Figure 4).

Genes for transcription factors

The THP-1 cells responded by upregulating the transcriptional levels of the transcriptional factor *RELA* after *Aeromonas* infection (p <0.05). However, the upregulation of the *JUN* was not significant in the case of *A. media* and *A. veronii*. Significant differences (p <0.05) have been detected between the species in the upregulation of *JUN* and in the transcriptional levels of *RELA* (Figure 4).

Gene involved in pathogen recognition (TLR- like receptor)

The transcriptional level of the *TLR4* after *Aeromonas* in the THP-1 showed significant differences (p<0.05) in comparison with the non-infected cells being only significant in *A. caviae*, *A. dhakensis* and *A. veronii*. As shown in Figure 4 at MOI 20, *A. caviae* showed a higher level of *TLR4* expression in relation to the non-infected cells, followed by *A. veronii* and *A. dhakensis*.

Genes related to the inflammasome

The *NLRP3* and *IL1-* β genes which are related to the inflammasome were upregulated in THP-1 cells in response to *A. dhakensis, A. media, A. caviae* and *A. veronii*, independently of the origin of the strains (p<0.05), while the *NLRP3* and *IL-1* β expression was almost undetectable after infection with *A. piscicola* and *A. jandaei* (Figure 4). The upregulation of *NLRP3* and *IL-1* β showed an eightfold increase (p<0.05) when THP-1 cells was infected with *A. veronii* strains. No differences in the level of the *IL-1* β expression were observed after infection with *A. dhakensis, A. media* and *A. caviae* in relation to the non-infected cells. However, significant differences in the over expression of the *NLRP3* were detected (p < 0.05) for the three species (Figure 4).

Discussion

Our results showed that the expression levels of the proinflammatory cytokine TNF- α were upregulated in THP-1 cells after all *Aeromonas* infection. Similar results were found after A. hydrophila infections in macrophages, yellowtail leucocytes and in grass carp intestine (Suarez et al, 2010, Reyes-Becerril et al., 2016, Song et al., 2017), as well as in the monocytic cell line THP-1 after V. vulnificus infection (Murciano et al., 2015). The TNF- α is involved in the inflammation and in the absence of this cytokine the host-defense would be impaired (Peffer et al., 2003). This suggests that independently of the species TNF- α has a role in the immune response against these six Aeromonas spp. However, the IL-8 was below upregulated, unlike the previous studies that demonstrated the upregulated expression of this cytokine in macrophages or in fish model (Zhang et al., 2015; Kong et al., 2017). An explanation of this could be associated to the immune response depending on the infected host-cell (Galindo et al., 2004) as it occurs with Vibrio vulnificus (Murciano et al., 2015). In the case of the chemokine genes CCL2 and CCL20, our data showed an upregulation of the expression after Aeromonas infection, involving both in the chemotaxis of the immune cells (Carr et al., 1996; Xu et al., 1996; Baba et al., 1997). In a previous study with V. vulnificus, the results demonstrated a higher transcriptional level of these genes in the monocytic cell line (THP-1), suggesting that this cell type could be an important role in recruitment of monocytes, T cells, dendritic cells or lymphocytes among other immune cells (Murciano et al., 2015). Thus, our data suggested that the six Aeromonas species would induce the expression of CCL2 and CCL20 playing a role in the development of the strong immune response recruiting other cells. In relation to the pathogen recognition receptors, we tested TLR4 gene, and the results showed that it was upregulated, but the expression was not significantly higher than the non-infected cells. The TLR4 is a transmembrane receptor that recognizes a particular type of molecules from many pathogens and induces the inflammatory response, being in Aeromonas the Lipopolysaccharide (Kawai and Akira, 2007; Rosenzweig and Chopra, 2013; Zhang et al., 2017). Previous studies demonstrated the upregulation

Ana Fernández Bravo

of the *TLR4* gene after *A. hydrophila* infection in catfish (Zhang et al., 2017). However, more TLRs had been described in this previous study (Zhang et al., 2017). For this reason, it is possible that other TLRs could be more related to the activation of the immune response in the *Aeromonas* species tested in our work.

Furthermore, the expression analysis of the transcriptional factors showed an expression of RELA and JUN after *Aeromonas* infection. It has been described that RelA and c-jun are crucial proteins for NF- κ B activation. The NF- κ B allows the expression of genes as cytokines, which contribute to an effective immune response (Lorentz et al., 2003; Tak et al., 2011; Hoesel et al., 2013). Previous studies in fish demonstrated the expression of the RELA after *A. hydrophila* infections by using a fish model that induces the NF-KB pathway inducing the production of several pro-inflammatory cytokines (Zhang et al., 2015; 2017). Also, the data obtained by Hayes et al. (2009), suggested that JUN could be involved in the different virulence caused by *Aeromonas* spp. in epithelial colorectal adenocarcinoma (Caco-2) cells. Our results suggested that the elevated activity of the RelA and c-jun transcriptional factors increased the immune response against these six *Aeromonas* spp. by the induction of the cytokines and chemokines.

In relation to the inflammasome, the *NLRP3* and *IL-1\beta* were upregulated after *A*. *veronii* infection. Previous studies showed the activation of the caspase-1 and the genes related to the pyroptosis in macrophages after *A*. *hydrophila* infection (McCoy et al., 2010a). The results demonstrated that *A*. *hydrophila* induces an inflammatory response via NLRP3 inflammasome, producing the pyroptosis. Additionally, another previous work suggested that NLRP3 and NLRC4 inflammasomes are involved in host defense against *A*. *veronii* in mice (McCoy et al., 2010b). However, the expression of *NLRP3* and *IL-1\beta* were almost undetectable in THP-1 after *A*. *jandaei* and *A*. *piscicola* infection. Additionally, our results showed only an upregulation of IL-1 β after *A*. *dhakensis* and *A*. *caviae* infection. An explanation could be the pathway of cell death; in the case of *A*. *piscicola* and *A*. *jandaei*, the results of the gene expression analysis showed an upregulation of the genes related to the apoptosis (*BAX*, *TP53*, and *CASP3*), while the expression of these proteins after *A*.

veronii infection were undetectable. The apoptosis route seemed to be the only way of producing cell damage and death in the case of *A. piscicola* and *A. jandaei*, while *A. veronii* apparently only used the pyroptosis route. In the case of *A. dhakensis* and *A. caviae, BAX, TP53* and *CASP3* that are related to the apoptosis were upregulated in the THP-1. However, the significant expression of the proinflammatory cytokine gene *IL-1* β could be associated with other processes non-related to the pyroptosis, as has been previously described (Mulder et al., 2006). Further studies with a higher number of strains using additional inflammasome genes are necessary to confirm this hypothesis.

The expression of immune-related genes in this work showed that the selected species caused a different immune response, characterized by a species-specific activation pattern. Independently of the immune-related gene studied in this work, generally the expression was higher in the most prevalent clinical species *A*. *dhakensis, A. caviae* and *A. veronii* (Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo, 2015). An explanation of this could be associated with the cytokines storm, described as a systemic inflammatory response syndrome that increases the severity of the infections (Vidal et al., 2010; Tisoncik et al., 2012; Chousterman et al., 2017) and in this case these species would induce this mechanism and the consequence could be the higher prevalence in clinical cases. This is the first time that a hypothesis is provided to explain the different frequency of occurrence of the *Aeromonas* spp.

Furthermore, *Aeromonas* induce the cell damage in all strains, by measuring the LDH in the supernatant (Epple et al., 2004). The LDH release can be induced by lysing the cells by apoptosis or pyroptosis. Our results demonstrated that this cell damage could be related to these pathways depending on the species. Also, the most prevalent species in clinical showed a higher cell damage than the less prevalent, and this result agrees with the intracellular survival. Also, the cell damage was higher in clinical strains than in environmental strains. Taking into account the expression results, it could be indicated that a cytokine storm that induces a strong immune response would cause more cell damage, as well as an increase in the intracellular survival in the most prevalent clinical species

Doctoral thesis

Ana Fernández Bravo

Conclusions

Independently of the species, the cell damage increased with the bacteria exposure time and the one produced by the clinical strains was higher than the one observed for the environmental strains. Moreover, the more prevalent clinical species: *A. dhakensis, A. caviae* and *A. veronii* seemed to cause more damage than the other less prevalent clinical species. The transcriptional analysis showed an upregulated expression of a variety of THP-1 immune-related genes, with a variable response depending on the *Aeromonas* species, and the species that showed the highest cell damage were coincidentally the ones that induced a higher expression of immune-related genes. The apoptosis route seemed to be the only way of producing cell damage and death in the case of *A. piscicola* and *A. jandaei*. However, *A. veronii* apparently only used the pyroptosis route. Further studies with a higher number of strains using additional inflammasome genes would be necessary to confirm this observation.

Conflict of interest

The author(s) declare that they have no competing interests.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank the staff in the Microbiology Unit at the University Rovira I Virgili (URV), Carme Sanmartí Solé. AFB thank URV for the Martí Franqués PhD fellowship.

Funding

The projects JPIW2013-095-C03-03 of MINECO (Spain) and AQUAVALENS of the Seventh Framework Program (FP7/2007-2013) grant agreement 311846 from the European Union supported the study.

References

Allen, D. A., Austin, B., & Colwell, R. R. (1983). Aeromonas media, a new species isolated from river water. International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology, 33(3), 599-604.

Altmann, S., Korytář, T., Kaczmarzyk, D., Nipkow, M., Kühn, C., Goldammer, T., et al. (2016). Toll-like receptors in maraena whitefish: Evolutionary relationship among salmonid fishes and patterns of response to *Aeromonas salmonicida*. *Fish & shellfish immunology*, *54*, 391-401.

Arockiaraj, J., Palanisamy, R., Arasu, A., Sathyamoorthi, A., Kumaresan, V., Bhatt, P., et al.. (2015). An anti-apoptotic B-cell lymphoma-2 (BCL-2) from Channa striatus: Sequence analysis and delayed and advanced gene expression in response to fungal, bacterial and poly I: C induction. *Molecular immunology*, *63*(2), 586-594.

Baba, M., Imai, T., Nishimura, M., Kakizaki, M., Takagi, S., Hieshima, K., et al. (1997). Identification of CCR6, the specific receptor for a novel lymphocytedirected CC chemokine LARC. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 272(23), 14893-14898.

Banerjee, C., Goswami, R., Verma, G., Datta, M., & Mazumder, S. (2012). *Aeromonas hydrophila* induced head kidney macrophage apoptosis in Clarias batrachus involves the activation of calpain and is caspase-3 mediated. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, *37*(3-4), 323-333.

Beaz-Hidalgo, A. (2010). List of new names and new combinations previously effectively, but not validly, published. *International journal of systematic and evolutionary microbiology*, 60, 1-2.

Beaz-Hidalgo, R., & Figueras, M. J. (2013). *Aeromonas* spp. whole genomes and virulence factors implicated in fish disease. *Journal of fish diseases*, *36*(4), 371-388.

Ana Fernández Bravo

Beaz-Hidalgo, R., Alperi, A., Figueras, M. J., & Romalde, J. L. (2009). Aeromonas piscicola sp. nov., isolated from diseased fish. *Systematic and applied microbiology*, *32*(7), 471-479.

Beaz-Hidalgo, R., Martínez-Murcia, A., & Figueras, M. J. (2013). Reclassification of *Aeromonas hydrophila* subsp. *dhakensis* Huys et al. 2002 and *Aeromonas aquariorum* Martínez-Murcia et al. 2008 as *Aeromonas dhakensis* sp. nov. comb nov. and emendation of the species *Aeromonas hydrophila*. *Systematic and applied microbiology*, *36*(3), 171-176.

Beaz-Hidalgo, R., Shakèd, T., Laviad, S., Halpern, M., & Figueras, M. J. (2012). Chironomid egg masses harbour the clinical species *Aeromonas taiwanensis* and *Aeromonas sanarellii*. *FEMS microbiology letters*, *337*(1), 48-54.

Bergsbaken, T., Fink, S. L., & Cookson, B. T. (2009). Pyroptosis: host cell death and inflammation. *Nature Reviews Microbiology*, 7(2), 99.

Carnahan, A., Fanning, G. R., & Joseph, S. W. (1991). *Aeromonas jandaei* (formerly genospecies DNA group 9 A. sobria), a new sucrose-negative species isolated from clinical specimens. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*, *29*(3), 560-564.

Carr, M. W., Roth, S. J., Luther, E. D., Rose, S. S., & Springer, T. A. (1994). Monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 acts as a T-lymphocyte chemoattractant. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 91(9), 3652-3656.

Chousterman, B. G., Swirski, F. K., & Weber, G. F. (2017). Cytokine storm and sepsis disease pathogenesis. In *Seminars in immunopathology* (Vol. 39, No. 5, pp. 517-528). Springer Berlin Heidelberg.

Dos Santos, P. A., Pereira, A. C. M., Ferreira, A. F., de Mattos Alves, M. A., Rosa, A. C. P., & Freitas-Almeida, A. C. (2015). Adhesion, invasion, intracellular survival and cytotoxic activity of strains of *Aeromonas* spp. in HEp-2, Caco-2 and T-84 cell lines. *Antonie van Leeuwenhoek*, *107*(5), 1225-1236. Epple, H. J., Mankertz, J., Ignatius, R., Liesenfeld, O., Fromm, M., Zeitz, M., et al. (2004). *Aeromonas hydrophila* beta-hemolysin induces active chloride secretion in colon epithelial cells (HT-29/B6). *Infection and immunity*, 72(8), 4848-4858.

Figueras, M. J. (2005). Clinical relevance of *Aeromonas* sM503. *Reviews in Medical Microbiology*, *16*(4), 145-153.

Figueras, M. J., & Beaz-Hidalgo, R. (2015). *Aeromonas* infections in humans. *Aeromonas*, 65-108.

Galindo, C. L., Fadl, A. A., Sha, J., Gutierrez, C., Popov, V. L., Boldogh, I., et al. (2004). *Aeromonas hydrophila* cytotoxic enterotoxin activates mitogen-activated protein kinases and induces apoptosis in murine macrophages and human intestinal epithelial cells. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 279(36), 37597-37612.

Gong, Y., Feng, S., Li, S., Zhang, Y., Zhao, Z., Hu, M., et al. (2017). Genomewide characterization of Toll-like receptor gene family in common carp (Cyprinus carpio) and their involvement in host immune response to *Aeromonas hydrophila* infection. *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology Part D: Genomics and Proteomics*, 24, 89-98.

Graf, J. (Ed.). (2015). Aeromonas. Caister Academic Press.

Hayes, S. L., Waltmann, M., Donohue, M., Lye, D. J., & Vesper, S. J. (2009). Predicting virulence of *Aeromonas* isolates based on changes in transcription of c-jun and c-fos in human tissue culture cells. *Journal of applied microbiology*, *107*(3), 964-969.

Hickman-Brenner, F. W., MacDonald, K. L., Steigerwalt, A. G., Fanning, G. R., Brenner, D. J., & Farmer, J. D. (1987). *Aeromonas veronii*, a new ornithine decarboxylase-positive species that may cause diarrhea. *Journal of clinical microbiology*, 25(5), 900-906.

Hiransuthikul, N., Tantisiriwat, W., Lertutsahakul, K., Vibhagool, A., & Boonma, P. (2005). Skin and soft-tissue infections among tsunami survivors in southern Thailand. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*, *41*(10), e93-e96.

Ana Fernández Bravo

Hoesel, B., & Schmid, J. A. (2013). The complexity of NF- κ B signaling in inflammation and cancer. *Molecular cancer*, *12*(1), 86.

Igbinosa, I. H., Igumbor, E. U., Aghdasi, F., Tom, M., & Okoh, A. I. (2012). Emerging *Aeromonas* species infections and their significance in public health. *The Scientific World Journal*, 2012.

Janda, J. M., & Abbott, S. L. (2010). The genus *Aeromonas*: taxonomy, pathogenicity, and infection. *Clinical microbiology reviews*, 23(1), 35-73.

Janeway, C. A. (2001). How the immune system works to protect the host from infection: a personal view. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 98(13), 7461-7468.

Kawai, T., & Akira, S. (2007, February). TLR signaling. In *Seminars in immunology* (Vol. 19, No. 1, pp. 24-32). Academic Press.

Kong, W., Huang, C., Tang, Y., Zhang, D., Wu, Z., & Chen, X. (2017). Effect of *Bacillus subtilis* on *Aeromonas hydrophila*-induced intestinal mucosal barrier function damage and inflammation in grass carp (Ctenopharyngodon idella). *Scientific reports*, 7(1), 1588.

Kumar, H., Kawai, T., & Akira, S. (2011). Pathogen recognition by the innate immune system. *International reviews of immunology*, *30*(1), 16-34.

Lee, C. T., Pajuelo, D., Llorens, A., Chen, Y. H., Leiro, J. M., Padrós, F., et al. (2013). MARTX of *Vibrio vulnificus* biotype 2 is a virulence and survival factor. *Environmental microbiology*, *15*(2), 419-432.

Liao, Z., Wan, Q., Su, H., Wu, C., & Su, J. (2017). Pattern recognition receptors in grass carp Ctenopharyngodon idella: I. Organization and expression analysis of TLRs and RLRs. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, *76*, 93-104.

Lopez-Castejon, G., & Brough, D. (2011). Understanding the mechanism of IL-1 β secretion. *Cytokine & growth factor reviews*, 22(4), 189-195.

Lorentz, A., Klopp, I., Gebhardt, T., Manns, M. P., & Bischoff, S. C. (2003). Role of activator protein 1, nuclear factor-κB, and nuclear factor of activated T cells in IgE receptor-mediated cytokine expression in mature human mast cells. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, *111*(5), 1062-1068.

Lü, A. J., Hu, X. C., Wang, Y., Zhu, A. H., Shen, L. L., Tian, J., et al. (2015). Skin immune response in the zebrafish, Danio rerio (Hamilton), to *Aeromonas hydrophila* infection: a transcriptional profiling approach. *Journal of fish diseases*, *38*(2), 137-150.

Mahla, R. S., Reddy, C. M., Prasad, D., & Kumar, H. (2013). Sweeten PAMPs: role of sugar complexed PAMPs in innate immunity and vaccine biology. *Frontiers in immunology*, *4*, 248.

Martin-Carnahan, A., & Joseph, S. W. (2005). Aeromonadales ord. nov. In *Bergey's Manual® of Systematic Bacteriology* (pp. 556-587). Springer, Boston, MA.

McCoy, A. J., Koizumi, Y., Higa, N., & Suzuki, T. (2010). Differential regulation of caspase-1 activation via NLRP3/NLRC4 inflammasomes mediated by aerolysin and type III secretion system during *Aeromonas veronii* infection. *The Journal of Immunology*, *185*(11), 7077-7084.

McCoy, A. J., Koizumi, Y., Toma, C., Higa, N., Dixit, V., Taniguchi, S. I., et al. (2010). Cytotoxins of the human pathogen *Aeromonas hydrophila* trigger, via the NLRP3 inflammasome, caspase-1 activation in macrophages. *European journal of immunology*, *40*(10), 2797-2803.

Mulder, I. E., Wadsworth, S., & Secombes, C. J. (2007). Cytokine expression in the intestine of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) during infection with *Aeromonas salmonicida*. *Fish & shellfish immunology*, 23(4), 747-759.

Murciano, C., Hor, L. I., & Amaro, C. (2015). Host–pathogen interactions in *Vibrio vulnificus*: responses of monocytes and vascular endothelial cells to live bacteria. *Future microbiology*, *10*(4), 471-487.

Ana Fernández Bravo

Murciano, C., Lee, C. T., Fernández-Bravo, A., Hsieh, T. H., Fouz, B., Hor, L. I., et al. (2017). MARTX toxin in the zoonotic serovar of *Vibrio vulnificus* triggers an early cytokine storm in mice. *Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology*, *7*, 332.

Pfeffer, K. (2003). Biological functions of tumor necrosis factor cytokines and their receptors. *Cytokine & growth factor reviews*, *14*(3-4), 185-191.

Rebl, A., Rebl, H., Köbis, J. M., Goldammer, T., & Seyfert, H. M. (2017). ST2 from rainbow trout quenches TLR signalling, localises at the nuclear membrane and allows the nuclear translocation of MYD88. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, 67, 139-152.

Reyes-Becerril, M., Ascencio-Valle, F., Hirono, I., Kondo, H., Jirapongpairoj, W., Esteban, M. A., ... & Angulo, C. (2016). TLR21's agonists in combination with *Aeromonas* antigens synergistically up-regulate functional TLR21 and cytokine gene expression in yellowtail leucocytes. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology, 61,* 107-115.

Rosenzweig, J. A., & Chopra, A. K. (2013). The exoribonuclease polynucleotide phosphorylase influences the virulence and stress responses of yersiniae and many other pathogens. *Frontiers in cellular and infection microbiology*, *3*, 81.

Salaun, B., Romero, P., & Lebecque, S. (2007). Toll-like receptors' two-edged sword: when immunity meets apoptosis. *European journal of immunology*, *37*(12), 3311-3318.

Schubert, R. H., & Hegazi, M. (1988). Aeromonas eucrenophila species nova Aeromonas caviae a later and illegitimate synonym of Aeromonas punctata. Zentralblatt für Bakteriologie, Mikrobiologie und Hygiene. Series A: Medical Microbiology, Infectious Diseases, Virology, Parasitology, 268(1), 34-39.

Shelly, A., Banerjee, C., Saurav, G. K., Ray, A., Rana, V. S., Raman, R., & Mazumder, S. (2017). *Aeromonas hydrophila*-induced alterations in cytosolic calcium activate pro-apoptotic cPKC-MEK1/2-TNFα axis in infected headkidney macrophages of Clarias gariepinus. *Developmental & Comparative Immunology*, *76*, 392-402.

Soler, L., Yanez, M. A., Chacon, M. R., Aguilera-Arreola, M. G., Catalán, V., Figueras, M. J., & Martinez-Murcia, A. J. (2004). Phylogenetic analysis of the genus *Aeromonas* based on two housekeeping genes. *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, *54*(5), 1511-1519.

Song, X., Hu, X., Sun, B., Bo, Y., Wu, K., Xiao, L., & Gong, C. (2017). A transcriptome analysis focusing on inflammation-related genes of grass carp intestines following infection with *Aeromonas hydrophila*. *Scientific reports*, *7*, 40777.

Strasser, A., O'Connor, L., & Dixit, V. M. (2000). Apoptosis signaling. *Annual review of biochemistry*, 69(1), 217-245.

Suarez, G., Sierra, J. C., Kirtley, M. L., & Chopra, A. K. (2010). Role of Hcp, a type 6 secretion system effector, of *Aeromonas hydrophila* in modulating activation of host immune cells. *Microbiology*, *156*(Pt 12), 3678.

Tak, P. P., & Firestein, G. S. (2001). NF-κB: a key role in inflammatory diseases. *The Journal of clinical investigation*, *107*(1), 7-11.

Teunis, P., & Figueras, M. J. (2016). Reassessment of the enteropathogenicity of mesophilic *Aeromonas* species. *Frontiers in microbiology*, 7, 1395.

Tisoncik, J. R., Korth, M. J., Simmons, C. P., Farrar, J., Martin, T. R., & Katze, M. G. (2012). Into the eye of the cytokine storm. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev.*, 76(1), 16-32.

Tsuchiya, S., Yamabe, M., Yamaguchi, Y., Kobayashi, Y., Konno, T., & Tada, K. (1980). Establishment and characterization of a human acute monocytic leukemia cell line (THP-1). *International journal of cancer*, *26*(2), 171-176.

Ana Fernández Bravo

Vega-Sánchez, V., Latif-Eugenín, F., Soriano-Vargas, E., Beaz-Hidalgo, R., Figueras, M. J., Aguilera-Arreola, M. G., et al. (2014). Re-identification of *Aeromonas* isolates from rainbow trout and incidence of class 1 integron and β -lactamase genes. *Veterinary microbiology*, 172(3-4), 528-533.

Vidal, J. M., Kawabata, T. T., Thorpe, R., Silva-Lima, B., Cederbrant, K., Poole, S., et al. (2010). In vitro cytokine release assays for predicting cytokine release syndrome: the current state-of-the-science. Report of a European Medicines Agency Workshop. *Cytokine*, *51*(2), 213-215.

Xu, L. L., Warren, M. K., Rose, W. L., Gong, W., & Wang, J. M. (1996). Human recombinant monocyte chemotactic protein and other C-C chemokines bind and induce directional migration of dendritic cells in vitro. *Journal of leukocyte biology*, *60*(3), 365-371.

Zhang, J., Li, L., Kong, X., Wu, F., Zhou, C., Nie, G., & Li, X. (2015). Expression patterns of Toll-like receptors in natural triploid Carassius auratus after infection with *Aeromonas hydrophila*. *Veterinary immunology and immunopathology*, *168*(1-2), 77-82.

Zhang, X. T., Zhang, G. R., Shi, Z. C., Yuan, Y. J., Zheng, H., Lin, L., et al. (2017). Expression analysis of nine Toll-like receptors in yellow catfish (Pelteobagrus fulvidraco) responding to *Aeromonas hydrophila* challenge. *Fish & shellfish immunology*, *63*, 384-393.

Strain	Origin	Reference
A. dhakensis		
CECT 5744 ^T	Child feces with diarrea	Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2013
GMV 704	Cetacean	This study
128177	Human feces	This study
28B	Human wound infection	This study
A. caviae		
CECT 838 ^T	Guinea Pig	Schubert and Hegazi, 1988
ESV-378	Fish gills	Vega-Sánchez et al., 2014
E01980	Feces	This study
D50233	Feces	This study
A. veronii		
CECT 4257 ^T	Human sputum	Hickman-Brenner et al., 1987
123384	Human feces	This study
AE6	FW lake wàter	This study
01.1	Sick fish	This study
A. media		
CECT 4232 ^T	Fisheries water	Allen et al., 1983
ESV-382	Fish gills	Vega-Sánchez et al., 2014
32679	Feces	This study
ESV-360	Fish kidney	Vega-Sánchez et al., 2014
A. jandaei		
CECT 4228 ^T	Human feces	Carnahan et al., 1991
4300E	FW lake water	This study
CECT 4813	Human feces	This study
AE214	FW lake water	This study
A. piscícola		
CECT 7443 ^T	Sick fish	Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2009
AE169	BW Baltic Sea	This study
CECT 7444	Rainbow trout	Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2010
AE71	FW lake wàter	This study
V. vulnificus		
CECT 4999 ^T	Eel	Lee et al., 2013

Table 1. Strains used in the study.

Ana Fernández Bravo

Gene	Sequence (5'-3')
GAPDH	Forward CATGAGAAGTATGACAACAGCCT Reverse AGTCCTTCCACGATACCAAAGT
TLR4	Forward AGTTGATCTACCAAGCCTTGAGT Reverse GCTGGTTGTCCCAAAATCACTTT
JUN	Forward TGCCTCCAAGTGCCGAAAAA Reverse TGACTTTCTGTTTAAGCTGTGCC
RELA	Forward ATGTGGAGATCATTGAGCAGC Reverse CCTGGTCCTGTGTAGCCATT
ΤΝΓ-α	Forward GAGGCCAAGCCCTGGTATG Reverse CGGGCCGATTGATCTCAGC
CCL2	Forward CCCCAGTCACCTGCTGTTAT Reverse TGGAATCCTGAACCCACTTC
CCL20	Forward GCAAGCAACTTTGACTGCT Reverse ATTTGCGCACACAGACAACT
CASP3	Forward GAAATTGTGGAATTGATGCGTGA Reverse CTACAACGATCCCCTCTGAAAAA
BAX	Forward CCCGAGAGGTCTTTTTCCGAG Reverse CCAGCCCATGATGGTTCTGAT
<i>TP53</i>	Forward CAGCACATGACGGAGGTTGT Reverse TCATCCAAATACTCCACACGC
NLRP3	Forward CGTGAGTCCCATTAAGATGGAGT Reverse CCCGACAGTGGATATAGAACAGA
IL-1B	Forward TTCGACACATGGGATAACGAGG Reverse TTTTTGCTGTGAGTCCCCGGAG

Table 2. Primers used for gene expression.



Figure 1. Average with resting cells of intracellular survival in each *Aeromonas* species. Significant differences compared with resting cells $p < 0.05^*$



Figure 2. Observed THP-1 cell damage induced by clinical and environmental strains of *Aeromonas* spp. at different exposure times and MOIs. Significant differences compared with resting cells p < 0.05*.

Ana Fernández Bravo



Figure 3. Observed THP-1 cell damage induced by the six different *Aeromonas* spp. at MOI 20 and at different exposure times in relation to the resting cells. Significant differences compared with resting cells $p < 0.05^*$.



Figure 4. Gene expression profile of THP-1 cells (mean qPCR values) in relation to the resting cells induced by the different studied *Aeromonas*spp. at MOI 20. Significant differences compared with resting cells $P < 0.05^*$.

5. GENERAL DISCUSSION



General discussion

The presence of *Aeromonas* in different sources of water evaluated during one year with different methods of quantification, and with samples concentrated by skimmed milk flocculation, which is a method used in for the concentration of virus showed to be useful for the analysis of *Aeromonas*. Our results demonstrated that *Aeromonas* were detected in 100% (47/47) of the samples by qPCR, and the quantification obtained with this method was higher in comparison with MPN method and counts in plate. As expected the water with a higher concentration of *Aeromonas* corresponded to sewage water (Holmes et al., 1996; Borrell et al., 1998; Latif-Eugenín, 2017; McLellan et al., 2010; Figueras and Ashbolt, 2019). The finding that the skimmed milk flocculation concentration method used for viruses can be used for bacteria like *Aeromonas*, is very important since bacteria and viruses normally need different concentration methods. In addition, higher volumes of water can be studied, and this is one of the conclusions of this doctoral thesis.

The evaluation of the pathogenicity of mesophilic A. salmonicida isolated from water and human infections in the experimental assays using a mice model performed in the study 4.2 demonstrated that A. salmonicida can infect mammals with different levels of pathogenicity. This is suggested to depend upon the strain, probably due to the presence of different virulence factors. Our results showed the presence of several genes involved in a type III secretion system (T3SS), that generated a striking mortality, in one clinical strain at a dose of 1×10^9 . A group of 8 mice were died after only three days post-infection. The T3SS has been described as responsible for the pathogenic phenotype of strains of the genus Aeromonas that include human and fish pathogens (Vilches et al., 2004; Frey and Origgi et al., 2016). Another interesting finding was that an environmental strain of A. salmonicida showed a similar mice mortality in comparison with the two clinical strains. In the environmental strain, only one gene associated with the T3SS was found. However, a higher number of genes that encode hypothetical proteins were found in this strain and some of them could be implied in the virulence of this strain. Interestingly, some strains used showed necrotizing fasciitis in the tail after infection, and five candidate genes to cause this necrotizing fasciitis were found

Ana Fernández Bravo

only in their genome. Four of these genes were already listed in the literature as virulence factors in human pathogens (Gilbreath et al., 2012; Eshghi et al., 2012; Zeng et al., 2016; Wahid et al., 2017). The role in the human infections of the mesophilic *A. salmonicida* strains was previously suspected based on different documented clinical studies performed in India (Tewari et al., 2014; Varshney et al., 2017). Based on the genomic analysis the species *A. salmonicida* contain only two subspecies and not five as classically considered. One of the subspecies is *A. salmonicida* subsp. *pectinolytica* that embraces all the mesophilic strains recovered from the environment and from the clinical cases. The other is *A. salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida*, *smithia*, *mausoucida* and *achromogenes*. Moreover, clinicians should consider the inclusion of *A. salmonicida* in the diagnosis tests, since this study shows that mesophilic strains of this species are able to infect mammalians and show that the species can also be pathogenic for humans.

As a result of the collaboration of our laboratory with the University hospitals from our area we have identified with the *rpoB* gene a *V. alginolyticus* strain identified at the hospital with the API 20E method as *Aeromonas* sp. Therefore, it is important to alert clinicians that *V. alginolyticus* can be confused with *Aeromonas* based on the identification method used (study 4.3). In the case of the study 4.4., the strain that belonged to *A. trota,* based on the *rpoD* sequences, was identified only at genus level (*Aeromonas* spp.) at the hospital. The use of phenotypic identification methods has led to confusions in the *Aeromonas* spp. identification. Previous literature demonstrated that these methods do not always identify correctly the strains to the genus, being frequently confused with *Vibrio* (Abbott et al., 1998; Soler et al., 2003b; Lamy et al., 2010). In fact, Lamy et al. (2010) demonstrated the limitation of the API 20E system for the identification of *Aeromonas* spp. (Lamy et al., 2010).

The MALDI-TOF identification system was evaluated, in the mentioned cases (studies 4.3. and 4.4). The results obtained in the study 4.3. showed that the strain isolated in the first clinical case that belonged to *V. alginolyticus*, was

General discussion

preliminary identified as Vibrio parahaemolyticus. An explanation of this could be that both species are very closely related because they show a 16S rRNA similarity of 99.4%, which indicate a low probability of a correct identification with MALDI-TOF at species level, considering that the majority of the MALDI derived information comes from the ribosomal protein (Erler et al., 2015). Erroneous identification of Vibrio by using MALDI- TOF has been previously described (Dieckman et al., 2010). Moreover, as shown by our results in the study 4.4., the strain of the clinical case was identified as A. enteropelogenes by MALDI-TOF, and A. trota by rpoD sequencing, being the latter the accepted name for a synonymous species that is the most used name by the scientific community (Holme and Farmer, 2009). In a previous study, using isolates from Spanish hospitals it was demonstrated that 98.3% of the Aeromonas strains were correctly identified at the genus level, and 91.1% at the species level, being MALDI-TOF a useful tool for the Aeromonas identification (Latif-Eugenín, 2015). However, this method has a limitation related to the database. In the genus Aeromonas, the taxonomy has changed continuously with the description of new taxa and with new reclassifications. For example, the lack of A. dhakensis in the MALDI database has been described (Benagli et al., 2012; Latif-Eugenín, 2015). Additionally, the names of species not used as A. ichtioismia, A. punctata or A. enteropelogenes are included in the database (Vávrová et al., 2015). This is a problem in the clinical field, because the clinicians are not experts on the taxonomy of Aeromonas and might think that these synonyms represent different species

Based on these results, it is important to take into account the capacity of the *rpoD* gene for the identification of *Aeromonas*. The results in the studies 4.3. and 4.4. demonstrated that the use of the *rpoD* housekeeping gene is an excellent tool for the identification at species level when compared with phenotypic methods as well as with MALDI-TOF. However, the MALDI-TOF is a rapid system that provides a relatively good identification method for *Aeromonas* and many other microbes, but the database should be updated.

Doctoral thesis

Ana Fernández Bravo

The antibiotic profile of the A. trota and V. alginolyticus isolated from the clinical cases (studies 4.3. and 4.4.) were determined by the disk diffusion method or automatically determined by using the MicroScan Walkaway using the Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI) guidelines in the studies 4.3. and 4.4. The results obtained in the study 4.3. showed that both strains of V. alginolyticus were susceptible to all tested antibiotics, except to penicillin and ampicillin. This result is in agreement with the resistance to ampicillin and penicillin obtained in other studies susceptibility to trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole, tetracvcline and the and gentamicin. (Lainef et al., 2012; Liu et al., 2012). The strain isolated from the patient in the study 4.4. showed a resistance to ampicillin and cephalotin. Previous studies described A. trota as a rare species, being the only species of the genus susceptible to ampicillin (Carnahan, 1991b; Overman and Janda 1999; Huys et al., 2002; Abbott et al., 2003; Lai et al., 2007; Dallagasa et al., 2018). A resistance to cephalotin has also been described (Carnahan et al., 1991b; Abbott et al., 2003). These studies pretend to guide the clinicians in the correct treatment for these pathogens.

Another important aspect studied in this doctoral thesis is the evaluation of the usefulness of the MALDI-TOF for *Aeromonas* identification isolated from fish in comparison with the *rpoD* sequencing performed in the study 4.5. Our results showed poor accurate identification at species level in our case for the most prevalent species implicated in fish diseases, such as *A. salmonicida, A. hydrophila* and *A. bestiarum*. Overall, when the database was supplemented with 14 new spectra, the number of accurate identifications increased. This study agreed with the previous study showing that MALDI-TOF is a useful method for the identification of *Aeromonas* at genus level. However, at species level important differences in the percentage of strains correctly identified depend on the species (Benagli et al., 2012). Additionally, the database should be checked, taking into account the new changes in the taxonomy of *Aeromonas*.

In relation with the characterization of the recent species *A. lusitana*, a genomic analysis was performed by using a new strain from rainbow trout in

General discussion

Mexico found in our laboratory, as well as the type strain recently described by Martínez-Murcia et al. (2016) recovered from water and vegetables in Portugal. Our genomes were annotated with RAST Server (Aziz et al., 2008) and the size genome as well as the G+C content were 4.74Mb and 60.7%, respectively in the new strain, while in the type strain were 4.55 Mb and 61mol%, respectively. These results demonstrated to be in the range previously established based on the completed studied genomes, being the size (4.43 - 4.81 Mb) and the content of the G+C (57-63)mol%) (Beaz-Hidalgo and Figueras, 2013). Moreover, the ANI between both genomes of A. lusitana was higher than 96% (96.3%) However, the isDDH between both genomes of A. lusitana in our study was less than 70% (68.9%). Previously, several authors suggested that 96% and 70% of ANI, and isDDH, respectively are the cut-off values used to separate species (Colston et al., 2014; Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2015a). An explanation of these results could be that both strains are the same species with higher differences. Colston et al., 2014 showed a similar result in A. allosaccharophila, describing the taxonomy of this species as controversial, as it could be A. lusitana. For this reason, new genomic studies with more strains of this species should be carried out to elucidate this. Additionally, The Functional Comparison Tool from the SEED viewer (Overbeek et al., 2014) was used for the functional analysis, demonstrating the presence of the citrate synthase gene in A. lusitana previously associated with the virulence in species of Agrobacterium tumefaciens and Escherichia coli (Suksomtip et al., 2005; Quandt et al., 2015).

Besides, in the study 4.6. to reinforce the information obtained by genome sequencing, the presence/absence of virulence genes in 6 strains of *A. lusitana* was performed by PCR. The results showed that the distribution of virulence factors is strain-dependent, because the pattern of each strain was different. This pattern was similar to other environmental strains previously described (Chacón et al., 2003; Pablos et al., 2009; Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2012, 2013a; Aravena-Román et al., 2014). Furthermore, the phenotypic characteristic and the susceptibility to antimicrobial agents were evaluated and the results showed discordant results between the new isolate and the type strain, as well as between conventional methods and MicroScan

Ana Fernández Bravo

Walkaway. The susceptibility to 23 antimicrobial agents showed an intermediate resistance to ampicillin in contrast with the classical resistance to ampicillin defined as a typical characteristic of the majority of the *Aeromonas* spp. (Abbott et al., 2003; Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2012).

The draft genome sequence of this novel *A. lusitana* strain is a valuable addition to the genomic database and will contribute to the understanding of the role of this species in the environment as well as the relationship with other *Aeromonas* spp. Also, this study confirms that the biochemical characteristic in the genus *Aeromonas* is complex, it demonstrates the diversity of virulence profiles in strains of the new species *A. lusitana*. Cytotoxicity studies with these strains could be interesting to clarify the role of this species in human infections.

As explained in the introduction, the pathogenesis of *Aeromonas* infections is multifactorial, i.e. caused by a wide variety of virulence factors. In the study 4.7. we have characterized the potential role of the metallochaperone HypA in the virulence of Aeromonas by using an in vitro experiment. Our results showed that hypA was upregulated in acidic pH. The metallochaperone HypA was previously described in other pathogenic species such as H. pylori and E. coli with a role in the survival of the human stomach at acidic pH (Watanabe et al., 2015; Lacasse et al., 2016). Considering that 80% of the infections caused by Aeromonas are gastrointestinal, a similar possible adaptation of these bacteria to acid environment of the stomach could be suspected suggesting that HypA could play a role in this adaptation. Additionally, the results of the urease test to elucidate the enzymes related to this mechanism showed that all strains were urease negative. The principal role of the HypA has been associated with hydrogenases maturation, however, in the last years it has been suggested that it could play a role in the maturation of ureases. In *H. pylori*, the ureases are involved in the survival in the human stomach at acidic pH, while in E. coli the hydrogenases are involved in this mechanism (Blum et al., 2017; Hu et al., 2017). Taking into account these studies, a reasonable explanation of our results could be that hydrogenases, but not ureases, would be involved in acid resistance in Aeromonas. Finally, in the study 4.7., the macrophages infection

General discussion

demonstrated an upregulation of *hypA* at 4 h post-infection. Previous studies suggested that the immune system generates reactive oxygen species (ROS) as a defense mechanism against pathogens after phagocytosis by macrophages, as well as the hydrogenases participates in oxidative stress defense (Vignais and Billoud, 2007). For this reason, HypA would also contribute to the defense against ROS produced by macrophages in the phagocytic process.

Recently, mixed infections with different Aeromonas strains or species have been estimated to occur in 5%-10% of the cases (Mosser et al., 2015). In fact, Grim et al. (2014) and Ponussamy et al. (2016) described the complex interactions in the mixed infections with two strains of A. hydrophila (NF1 and NF2) isolated from an immunocompetent individual that developed necrotizing fasciitis (NF) resulting in amputation of several extremities. In the study 4.8. the role of exoA and T6SS genes of the strains NF1 and NF2, and in the generated mutants used to generate mixed infection in an *in vitro* and *in vivo* model were investigated. The strain NF2 presents a functional ExoA toxin, while the strain NF1 did not contain this gene. The genome of both NF1 and NF2 strains showed the presence of two clusters of type-VI secretion system (T6SS) synthesis genes and effectors (three copies of Hemolysincoregulated protein (Hcp) and five copies of valine-glycine repeat G proteins (VgrGs). Our results demonstrated VasK and TseC plays a role in the phagocytosis, the intracellular survival in macrophages and the elimination of NF2. Additionally, the immunoprotein TsiC in the NF2 plays a role in the defense against NF1 in the *in* vitro model. However, the ExoA toxin, not related with the T6SS, does not play a role in the *in vitro* model. Also, the results showed that in the intramuscular mixed infection generated in a murine model the T6SS effector TseC toxin in the NF1 strain produced the elimination of the NF2 strain from the site of the injection. Results confirmed that the progression of NF in mixed infection follows a different course in comparison with the infections produced with a single strain (Ponnusamy et al., 2016). The immunization experiments showed that ExoA plays a role in the single infection, but not in the mixed infection. Also, ExoA does not promote the pathogenesis and dissemination of NF1 contrary to the previous hypothesis

Ana Fernández Bravo

(Ponnusamy et al., 2016). These results suggested that the T6SS and ExoA contribute significantly to the development of NF in mice during mono-microbial infections. However, during mixed infection, the T6SS plays a dominant role in developing NF.

Despite the worldwide distribution of Aeromonas infections, its interaction with the human immune system remains poorly understood. For this reason, in this doctoral thesis we have tried to clarify if there exists a species-specific immune response that could explain the different prevalence of the different species in human infections (study 4.6). To carry out this objective, we have designed an in vitro model by using the most prevalent clinical species A. dhakensis, A.caviae and A. veronii and the less prevalent A. piscicola, A. media and A. jandaei (Figueras and Beaz-Hidalgo et al., 2015), excluding A. hydrophila that has been previously studied (Su et al., 2009; Rosenzweig et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2017; Kong et al., 2017). Our results demonstrated the upregulation of the immune related genes as cytokines (TNF-α), chemokines (CCL2, CCL20), TLRs (TLR4), transcription factors (RELA, JUN), apoptotic genes (CASP3, TP53, BAX) and pyroptotic genes (IL- β , NRLP3), previously described after A. hydrophila infection using a fish, mice and cell lines as model (McCoy et al., 2010a,b; Jones et al., 2012; Zhang et al., 2017; Kong et al., 2017; Liao et al., 2018) with the exception of the CCL2 and BAX gene. However, the results in this thesis doctoral showed that the response of monocytes against Aeromonas infection is species-specific, demonstrating that the most prevalent clinical species activate a higher immune response genes than the less prevalent species. An explanation of this could be associated with the cytokine storm that is a systemic inflammatory response syndrome that increases the severity of the infections, and in this case the more prevalent species would induce this mechanism and the consequence could be the higher prevalence in clinical cases. Moreover, the cell damage was higher in the most prevalent clinical species, as well as in the clinical strains in comparison with the environmental strains. A previous study described that, when V. vulnificus arrives to the blood it liberates a toxin that triggers a cytokine storm that could be fatal (Murciano et al., 2017). In view of the results, it

General discussion

could indicate that the clinical strains activate a cytokines storm responsible for the higher cell damages, as well as the increase of the intracellular survival of these bacteria in the human monocytes. In addition, in relation to the mechanism of the cell-death, our results demonstrated that *A. veronii* activated the pyroptosis in human monocytes. However, the species *A. piscicola* and *A. jandaei* showed a lower expression of the genes related to pyroptosis and higher expression in the genes related to apoptosis. Earlier literature demonstrated the activation of pyroptosis and apoptosis after *A. veronii* and *A. hydrophila* infections in mice and fish models (McCoy et al. 2010a, b; Jones et al., 2012; Lü et al., 2015). A previous study in *V. vulnificus* demonstrated that the immune response against the bacteria was type cell-dependent (Murciano et al., 2015), and this could be an explanation of the down-regulation of pyroptosis genes in the monocytic cell line after *A. veronii* infection.

Based on the results, we concluded that the expression of immune-related genes showed that the selected species caused a different immune response, which is characterized by a species-specific activation pattern. Also, the apoptosis route seemed to be the only way of producing cell damage and death in the case of *A*. *piscicola* and *A. jandaei*. However, *A. veronii* apparently only used the pyroptosis route. Further studies with a higher number of strains using additional inflammasome genes would be necessary to confirm this observation.

6. CONCLUSIONS



Conclusions

- 1. The best method for *Aeromonas* quantification in different water sources was the qPCR because it is faster than the MPN and the plate count methods.
- 2. The "skimmed milk" flocculation method used for the concentration of viruses from big volumes of water showed to be a good method for the detection and quantification of *Aeromonas*.
- 3. *Aeromonas salmonicida*, classically considered a fish pathogen species, caninfect mammals and the infective strains showed different levels of pathogenicity.
- 4. The five accepted subspecies of *A. salmonicida* formed, using a genomic analysis, only two groups that corresponded to two subspecies. The subsp. *pectinolytica* that grouped all mesophilic strains and the subsp. *salmonicida* that embraced all the psychrophilic strains and subspecies i.e. *smithia, achromogenes* and *masoucida*. Therefore, the latter three subspecies should be synonymized with the subspecies *A. salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida*.
- 5. The description of new clinical cases of *Aeromonas* human infections intends to raise awareness among the clinicians of the possible confusion of species of this genus with *Vibrio alginolyticus* depending on the identification method.
- 6. *Vibrio alginolyticus* infections, despite rare, occur in patients with cancer or other immunosuppressed conditions and in healthy individuals with skin or soft tissue lesions that have been in contact with seawater.
- 7. Human infections with *Aeromonas trota* are rare and occur mainly in immunocompromised patients and should be suspected when the isolated strain shows to be sensible to ampicillin.
- 8. The limited performance of MALDI-TOF for the identification of fish *Aeromonas* isolates at the species level has been demonstrated. This can be improved when increasing the number of strains of the different species at the database.
- 9. The genome of the new strain of *Aeromonas lusitana* ESV-351 showed more protein coding genes and tRNAs than the genome of the type strain and these could suggest a better survival and adaptation of this strain in the environment.
Ana Fernández Bravo

Also, the chromosomal region surrounding the conserved citrate synthase locus in the new strain was similar to that of four pathogenic bacteria, suggesting that this gene could play a role in the virulence of this new strain.

- 10. It has been demonstrated for the first time that the HypA metallochaperone could play a role in the acid tolerance and in the defense of *Aeromonas* against macrophages.
- 11. The T6SS and ExoA toxin plays a role in the development of the necrotizing fasciitis in mice during mono-microbial infections. However, during mixed infection, the T6SS plays a dominant role in development of this disease.
- 12. Independently of the species, more cell damage was observed in the human monocytic cell line (THP-1) after six hours of infection and the damage produced by the clinical strains was higher than the one observed for the environmental strains.
- 13. The transcriptional levels of the immune-related genes and the cell damage in the human monocytic cell line (THP-1) were higher in the infections produced with the most prevalent clinical species *A. dhakensis, A. veronii* and *A. caviae*. This could be associated with a cytokine storm and could explain their higher prevalence in clinical cases.
- 14. Death of human monocytic cells (THP-1) may occur only by apoptosis if infected with *A. piscicola* and *A. jandaei*. However, if infected with *A. veronii*, this would only happen by the pyroptosis route. Infections with *A. caviae* and *A. media* may induce cell death by both routes.

UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI EPIDEMIOLOGY AND PATHOGENIC CHARACTERIZATION OF SPECIES OF THE GENUS AEROMONAS Ana Fernández Bravo

7. REFERENCES



UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI EPIDEMIOLOGY AND PATHOGENIC CHARACTERIZATION OF SPECIES OF THE GENUS AEROMONAS Ana Fernández Bravo

ABASCAL F, ZARDOYA R, TELFORD MJ. TranslatorX: multiple alignment of nucleotide sequences guided by amino acid translations. Nucleic acids Res. 2010. *38*(suppl_2): W7-W13.

ABBOTT SL, CHEUNG WK, JANDA JM. The genus *Aeromonas*: biochemical characteristics, atypical reactions, and phenotypic identification schemes. J Clin Microbiol. 2003. 41: 2348-2357.

ABBOTT SL, CHEUNG WKW, KROSKE-BYSTROM S, MALEKZADEH T, JANDA JM. Identification of *Aeromonas* strains to the genospecies level in the clinical laboratory. J Clin Microbiol. 1992. 30: 1262–1266.

ABBOTT SL, SELI LS, CATINO M JR, HARTLEY MA, JANDA JM. Misidentification of unusual *Aeromonas* species as members of the genus *Vibrio*: a continuing problem. J Clin Microbiol. 1998. 36: 1103-1104.

ABDALLAH MM. The cytotoxicity effect of Metalloprotease produced and isolated from *Aeromonas* spp. The Iraqi Journal of Veterinary Medicine 2019. 42:41-45.

ABUHAMMOUR W, HASAN RA, ROGERS D. Necrotizing fasciitis caused by *Aeromonas hydrophila* in an immunocompetent child. Pediatr Emerg Care. 2006. 22: 48-51.

AGUILERA-ARREOLA MG, HERNANDEZ-RODRIGUEZ C, ZUNIGA G, FIGUERAS MJ, CASTRO-ESCARPULLI G. *Aeromonas hydrophila* clinical and environmental ecotypes as revealed by genetic diversity and virulence genes. FEMS Microbiol Lett. 2005. 242: 231-240.

AHN C. Necrotizing fasciitis: reviewing the causes and treatment strategies. Adv Skin Wound Care. 2007. 20: 288-293.

AIKEN RS, BARLIN B, MILES AA. Lancet. 1936. ii 780

AKIRA S. Toll-like receptor signaling. J Biol Chem. 2003. 278: 38105-38108.

ALBARRAL V, SANGLAS A, PALAU M, MIÑANA-GALBIS D, FUSTÉ M. C. Potential pathogenicity of *Aeromonas hydrophila* complex strains isolated from clinical, food, and environmental sources. Can J Microbiol. 2016. 62: 296-306.

AL-BENWAN K, ABBOTT S, JANDA JM, HUYS G, ALBERT MJ. Cystitis caused by *Aeromonas caviae*. J Clin Microbiol. 2007. 45: 2348-2350.

Ana Fernández Bravo

ALCAIDE E, BLASCO MD, ESTEVE C. Mechanisms of quinolone resistance in *Aeromonas* species isolated from humans, water and eels. Res Microbiol. 2010. 161: 40-45.

ALI A, CARNAHAN A, ALTWEGG M, LUTHYHOTTENSTEIN J, JOSEP SW. *Aeromonas bestiarum* sp. nov. (formely genomospecies DNA group 2 *Aeromonas hydrophila*), a new species isolated from non human sources. Med Microbiol Lett. 1996. 5: 156-165.

ALISPAHIC M, CHRISTENSEN H, BISGAARD M, HESS M, HESS C. MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry confirms difficulties in separating species of the *Avibacterium* genus. Avian Pathol. 2014. 43: 258–263.

ALLEN DA, AUSTIN B, COLWELL RR. *Aeromonas media*, a new species isolated from river water. Int J of Syst Evol Microbiol. 1983. 33: 599-604.

ALTMANN S, KORYTÁŘ T, KACZMARZYK D, NIPKOW M, KÜHN C, GOLDAMMER T, REBL, A. Toll-like receptors in maraena whitefish: Evolutionary relationship among salmonid fishes and patterns of response to *Aeromonas salmonicida*. Fish Shellfish Immnuol2016. 54:391-401.

ALMUZARA M, BARBERIS C, VELAZQUEZ VR, RAMIREZ MS, FAMIGLIETTI A, VAY C. Matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization-time-of-flight mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF MS) as a reliable tool to identify species of catalase-negative gram-positive cocci not belonging to the *Streptococcus* genus. Open Microbiol J. 2016. 10:202-208.

ALPERI A, FIGUERAS MJ. Human isolates of *Aeromonas* possess Shiga toxin genes (*stx1* and *stx2*) highly similar to the most virulent gene variants of *Escherichia coli*. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2010. 16: 15631567.

ALPERI A, MARTÍNEZ-MURCIA AJ, KO W, MONERA A, SAAVEDRA MJ M J, FIGUERAS MJ. *Aeromonas taiwanensis* sp. nov., and *Aeromonas sanarellii* sp. nov., two new clinical species from Taiwan. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2010a. 60: 2048-2055.

ALPERI A, MARTÍNEZ-MURCIA A, MONERA A, SAAVEDRA MJ, FIGUERAS. *Aeromonas fluvialis* sp. nov., isolated from a spanish river. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2010b. 60: 72–77.

ALTWEGG M. *Aeromonas* and *Plesiomonas*. En Manual of Clinical Microbiology. Eds. Murray PR, Baron EJ, Pfallen MA, Tenover FC y Yolken RH. ASM Press. 1999. pp. 507-516. EEUU.

ALTWEGG M, GEISS HK. *Aeromonas* as a human pathogen. Critical Reviews in Microbiology. 1989. 16: 235-286

ALTWEGG M, MARTINETTI LUCCHINI G, LÜTHY-HOTTENSTEIN J, ROHRBACH M. *Aeromonas*-associated gastroenteritis after consumption of contaminated shrimp. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 1991. 10: 44-45.

ALTWEGG M, STEIGERWALT AG, ALTWEGG-BISSIG R, LUTHY-HOTTENSTEIN J, BRENNER DJ. Biochemical identification of *Aeromonas* genospecies isolated from humans. J Clin Microbiol. 1990. 28: 258–264.

ANDERSON, M. C., VONAESCH, P., SAFFARIAN, A., MARTEYN, B. S., & SANSONETTI, P. J. *Shigella sonnei* encodes a functional T6SS used for interbacterial competition and niche occupancy. Cell host & microbe. 2017. 21: 769-776.

ARAUJO RM, PARES R, LUCENA F. The effect of terrestrial effluents on the incidence of *Aeromonas* spp. in coastal waters. J Appl Bacteriol. 1990. 69: 439-444.

ARAVENA-ROMÁN M, BEAZ-HIDALGO R, INGLIS TJ, RILEY TV, MARTÍNEZ-MURCIA AJ, CHANG BJ, FIGUERAS MJ. *Aeromonas australiensis* sp. nov., isolated from irrigation water. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2013. 63: 2270-2276.

ARAVENA-ROMÁN M, HARNETT GB, RILEY TV, INGLIS TJJ, CHANG BJ. *Aeromonas aquariorum* is widely distributed in clinical and environmental specimens and can be misidentified as *Aeromonas hydrophila*. J Clin Microbiol. 2011a. 49: 3006-3008.

ARAVENA-ROMÁN M, INGLIS TJ, HENDERSON B, RILEY TV, CHANG BJ. Antimicrobial susceptibilities of *Aeromonas* strains isolated from clinical and environmental sources to 2 antimicrobial agents. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2012. 56: 1110-1112.

ARAVENA-ROMÁN M, INGLIS TJJ, RILEY TV, CHANG BJ. Distribution of 13 virulence genes among clinical and environmental *Aeromonas* spp. in Western Australia. Eur. J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2014. 33: 1889-1895.

Ana Fernández Bravo

ARAVENA-ROMÁN M, RILEY TV, INGLIS TJJ, CHANG BJ. Phenotypic characteristics of human clinical and environmental *Aeromonas* in Western Australia. Pathology. 2011b. 43: 350-356.

ARDIC N, OZYURT M. Case report: Otitis due to *Vibrio alginolyticus*. Mikrobiyol Bul. 2004. 38:145-148.

ARIF N, YOUSFI S, VINNARD C. Deaths from necrotizing fasciitis in the United States, 2003–2013. Epidemiol Infect. 2016. 144: 1338-1344.

AROCKIARAJ J, BHATT P, HARIKRISHNA, R ARASU MV. AL-DHABI NA. Molecular and functional roles of 6C CC chemokine 19 in defense system of striped murrel Channa striatus. Fish & Shellfish Immunol 2015. 45: 817-827.

ASCHNER M, SYVERSEN T, SOUZA DO, ROCHA JB. Metallothioneins: mercury species-specific induction and their potential role in attenuating neurotoxicity. Exp Biol Med (Maywood). 2006. 231:1468-1473.

ASCHTGEN MS, BERNARD CS, DE BENTZMANN S, LLOUBES R, CASCALES E. SciN is an outer membrane lipoprotein required for type VI secretion in enteroaggregative *Escherichia coli.* J Bacteriol. 2008. 190: 7523-7531.

ATANASSOVA A, ZAMBLE DB. *Escherichia coli* HypA is a zinc metalloprotein with a weak affinity for nickel. J Bacteriol. 2005. 187:4689-4697.

AUCH AF, KLENK HP, GÖKER M. Standard operating procedure for calculating genome-to-genome distances based on high-scoring segment pairs. Stand Genomic Sci. 2010a. 2: 142-148.

AUSTIN B. Taxonomy of bacterial fish pathogens. Vet Res. 2011.42 20.

AUSTIN B, AUSTIN DA. *Aeromonadaceae* representative (*Aeromonas salmonicida*), in: Austin B, Austin, DA (Eds.), bacterial fish Pathog: disease of farmed and wild fish. Springer International Publishing, Cham. 2016. 215–321.

AWAN MB, AHMED MM, BARI A, KROVACEK K. Putative virulence factors of the *Aeromonas* spp. isolated from food and environment in Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. J Food Pro. 2006. 69: 1713-1716.

AZIZ RK, BARTELS D, BEST AA, DEJONGH M, DISZ T, EDWARDS RA, MEYER

F. The RAST Server: rapid annotations using subsystems technology. BMC genomics. 2008. 9: 75.

AZZOPARDI EA, AZZOPARDI SM, BOYCE DE, DICKSON WA. Emerging gramnegative infections in burn wounds. J Burn Care Res. 2011. 32: 570-576.

BABA M, IMAI T, NISHIMURA M, KAKIZAKI M, TAKAGI S, HIESHIMA K, YOSHIE O. Identification of CCR6, the specific receptor for a novel lymphocyte-directed CC chemokine LARC. J Biol Chem. 1997. 272: 14893-14898.

BAMAN SI. *Aeromonas hydrophila* as the etiologic agent in severe gastroenteritis: report of a case. Am J Med Technol. 1980. 46: 179-181.

BANERJEE C, GOSWAMI R, VERMA G, DATTA M, MAZUMDER S. *Aeromonas hydrophila* induced head kidney macrophage apoptosis in *Clarias batrachus* involves the activation of calpain and is caspase-3 mediated. Develop Comp Immunol. 2012. 37: 323-333.

BANERJEE C, KHATRI P, RAMAN R, BHATIA H, DATTA M, MAZUMDER S. Role of calmodulin-calmodulin kinase II, cAMP/protein kinase A and ERK 1/2 on *Aeromonas hydrophila*-induced apoptosis of head kidney macrophages. PLoS Patho. 2014. 10: e1004018.

BANKEVICH A, NURK S, ANTIPOV D, GUREVICH AA, DVORKIN M, KULIKOV AS, PYSHKIN AV. SPAdes: a new genome assembly algorithm and its applications to single-cell sequencing. J Comp Biol. 2012. 19: 455-477.

BARUA D, CVJETANOVIC B. The seventh pandemic of cholera. *Nature*. 1972. 239: 137-8.

BASHIR AWAN MB, AHMED MM, BARI A, KROVACEK K. Putative virulence factors of the *Aeromonas* spp. isolated from food and environment in Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates. J Food Prot. 2006. 69: 1713-1716.

BASU M, SWAIN B, MAITI NK, ROUTRAY P, SAMANTA M. Inductive expression of toll-like receptor 5 (TLR5) and associated downstream signaling molecules following ligand exposure and bacterial infection in the Indian major carp, mrigal (*Cirrhinus mrigala*). Fish Shellfish Immunol. 2011b. 32(1), 121-131.

Ana Fernández Bravo

BASU. SWAIN B, SAHOO BR, MAITI NK, SAMANTA M. Induction of toll-like receptor (TLR) 2, and MyD88-dependent TLR-signaling in response to ligand stimulation and bacterial infections in the Indian major carp, mrigal (*Cirrhinus mrigala*). Mol Biol Rep. 2011a. 39: 6015-6028.

BATRA P, MATHUR P, MISRA MC. *Aeromonas* spp.: an emerging nosocomial pathogen. J Lab Physicians 2016. 8: 1.

BAUTERS TG, BUYLE FM, VERSCHRAEGEN G, VERMIS K, VOGELAERS D, CLAEYS G, ROBAYS H. Infection risk related to the use of medicinal leeches. Pharm World Sci 2007. 29:122-125.

BEATSON SA, DAS GRAÇAS DE LUNA M, BACHMANN N., ALIKHAN NF, HANKS KR, SULLIVAN MJ, WEE BA, FREITASALMEIDA AC, DOS SANTOS PA, DE MELO JT, SQUIRE DJ, CUNNINGHAM AF, FITZGERALD JR, HENDERSON IR. Genome sequence of the emerging pathogen *Aeromonas caviae*. J Bacteriol. 2011. 193: 1286–1287.

BEAZ-HIDALGO R, ALPERI A, BUJÁN N, ROMALDE JL, FIGUERAS MJ. Comparison of phenotypical and genetic identification of *Aeromonas* strains isolated from diseased fish. Syst Appl Microbiol. 2010. 33: 149-153.

BEAZ-HIDALGO R, ALPERI A, FIGUERAS MJ, ROMALDE JL. *Aeromonas piscicola* sp. nov., isolated from diseased fish. Syst Appl Microbiol. 2009. 32: 471-479.

BEAZ-HIDALGO R, FIGUERAS MJ. *Aeromonas* spp. whole genomes and virulence factors implicated in fish disease. J Fish Dis. 2013. 36: 371-388.

BEAZ-HIDALGO R, HOSSAIN MJ, LILES MR, FIGUERAS MJ. Strategies to avoid wrongly labelled genomes using as example the detected wrong taxonomic affiliation for *Aeromonas* genomes in the GenBank database. PLoS One. 2015a. 10:e0115813.

BEAZ-HIDALGO R, LATIF-EUGENÍN F, HOSSAIN MJ, BERG K, NIEMI RM, RAPALA J, LYRA C, LILES MR, FIGUERAS MJ. *Aeromonas aquatica* sp. nov., *Aeromonas finlandiensis* sp. nov. and *Aeromonas lacus* sp. nov. isolated from finnish waters associated with cyanobacterial blooms. Syst Appl Microbiol. 2015b. 38: 161-168. **BEAZ-HIDALGO R, LOPEZ-ROMALDE S, TORANZO AE, ROMALDE JL**. Polymerase chain reaction amplification of repetitive intergenic consensus and repetitive extragenic palindromic sequences for molecular typing of *Pseudomonas anguilliseptica* and *Aeromonas salmonicida*. J Aquat Anim Health. 2008. 20: 75-85.

BEAZ-HIDALGO R, MARTÍNEZ-MURCIA A, FIGUERAS MJ. Reclassification of *Aeromonas hydrophila* subsp. *dhakensis* Huys et al. 2002 and *Aeromonas aquariorum* Martínez-Murcia et al. 2008 as *Aeromonas dhakensis* sp. nov. comb nov. and emendation of the species *Aeromonas hydrophila*. Syst Appl Microbiol. 2013. 36: 171-176.

BEAZ-HIDALGO R, FIGUERAS MJ. Molecular detection and characterization of furunculosis and other *Aeromonas* fish infections. En: Health and Environment in Aquaculature. ED. Carvalho E. Brasil. 2012. pp. 97-132.

BEAZ-HIDALGO R, SHAKÈD T, LAVIAD S, HALPERN M, FIGUERAS MJ. Chironomid egg masses harbour the clinical species *Aeromonas taiwanensis* and *Aeromonassanarellii*. FEMS. Microbiol Lett. 2012. 337: 48-54.

BELLAPIANTA JM, LJUNGQUIST K, TOBIN E, UHL R. Necrotizing fasciitis. JAAOS. 2009. 17: 174-182.

BENAGLI C, DEMARTA A, CAMINADA A, ZIEGLER D, PETRINI O, TONOLLA M. A rapid MALDI-TOF MS identification database at genospecies level for clinical and environmental *Aeromonas* strains. PLoS One. 2012. 7: e48441.

BERGSBAKEN T, FINK S, COOKSON BT. Pyroptosis: host cell death and inflammation. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2009 7: 99-109.

BEVERIDGE TJ, POUWELS PH, SÁRA M, KOTIRANTA A, LOUNATMA K, KARI K, SLEYTR UB. Functions of S-layers. FEMS Microbiol Rev. 1997. 20: 99-149.

BLUM FC, HU HQ, SERVETAS SL, BENOIT SL, MAIER RJ, MARONEY MJ, MERRELL DS. Structure-function analyses of metal-binding sites of HypA reveal residues important for hydrogenase maturation in *Helicobacter pylori*. PLoS One. 2017. 12: e0183260.

BOROWIEC ML. AMAS: a fast tool for alignment manipulation and computing of summary statistics. Peer J. 2016. 4 e1660.

Ana Fernández Bravo

BORRELL N, FIGUERAS MJ, GUARRO J. Phenotypic identification of *Aeromonas* genomospecies from clinical and environmental sources. Can J Microbiol. 1998. 44: 103-108.

BOSSI-KÜPFER M, GENINI A, PEDUZZI R, DEMARTA A. Tracheobronchitis caused by *Aeromonas veronii* biovar *sobria* after near-drowning. J Med Microbiol. 2007. 56: 1563-1564.

BOUSSAID A, BALEUX B, HASSANI L, LESNE J. *Aeromonas* species in stabilization ponds in the arid region of Marrakesh, Morocco, and relation to fecal-pollution and climatic factors. Microb Ecol. 1991. 21: 11-20.

BRAUN M, STUBER K, SCHLATTER Y, WAHLI T, KUHNERT P, FREY J. Characterization of an ADP ribosyltransferase toxin (*Aext*) from *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida*. J Bacteriol. 2002. 184: 1851-1858.

BRAVO L, FERNÁNDEZ A, NÚÑEZ FÁ, RIVEROM LA, RAMÍREZ M, AGUILA A, LEDO Y, CRUZ Y, HERNÁNDEZ J. *Aeromonas* spp associated to acute diarrheic disease in Cuba: case-control study. Rev Chilena Infectol. 2012. 29: 44-48. (Artículo en español).

BRIETZKE A, KORYTÁŘ T, JAROS J, KÖLLNER B, GOLDAMMER T, SEYFERT HM, REBL A. *Aeromonas salmonicida* infection only moderately regulates expression of factors contributing to toll-like receptor signaling but massively activates the cellular and humoral branches of innate immunity in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). J Immunol Res. 2015.

BUER J, BALLING R. Mice, microbes and models of infection. Nat Rev Genet. 2003. *4*: 195.

BULTMANN CA, STEISS JO, LANGNER C, BENKERT B, HAVENER M, KUSTERS U, HUHN-LINDENBEIN SG, MACK D. Complicated sea urchin-induced wound infection caused by *Vibrio alginolyticus* and *Staphylococcus lugdunensis* in a 14year-old boy. JMM Case Rep. 2016. 3:e005074.

BUNNAJIRAKUL S, PAVASUTTHIPAISIT S, STEINHAGEN D. Pathological alterations due to motile *Aeromonas* infection in red swordtail fish (*Xiphophorus helleri*). Tierarztl Prax Ausg K Kleintiere Heimtiere. 2015. 43: 434–438.

BURR SE, PUGOVKIN D, WAHLI T, SEGNER H, FREY J. Attenuated virulence of an *Aeromonassalmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida* type III secretion mutant in a rainbow trout model. Microbiology. 2005. 151: 2111-2128.

CACCAMESE SM, RASTEGAR DA. Chronic diarrhea associated with *Vibrio alginolyticus* in an immunocompromised patient. Clin Infect Dis. 1999. 29: 946-947.

CAMPANELLI A, SANCHEZ-POLITTA S, SAURAT JH. Cutaneous ulceration after an octopus bite: infection due to *Vibrio alginolyticus*, an emerging pathogen. Ann Dermatol Venereol. 2008. 135: 225-227.

CANALS R, ALTARRIBA M, VILCHES S, HORSBURGH G, SHAW JG, TOMAS JM, MERINO S. Analysis of the lateral flagellar gene system of *Aeromonas hydrophila* AH-3. J Bacteriol. 2006. 188: 852-862.

CAPDEVILA DA, EDMONDS KA, GIEDROC DP. Metallochaperones and metalloregulation in bacteria. Essays Biochem. 2017. 61: 177-200.

CARNAHAN AM, BEHRAM S, JOSEPH SW. Aerokey II: a flexible key for identifying clinical *Aeromonas* species. J Clin Microbiol. 1991a. 29: 2843-2849.

CARNAHAN AM, CHAKRABORTY T, FANNING GR, VERMA D, ALI A, JANDA JM, JOSEPH SW. *Aeromonas trota* sp. nov., an ampicillin susceptible species isolated from clinical specimens. J Clin Microbiol. 1991b. 29: 1206-1210.

CARNAHAN A, FANNING GR, JOSEPH SW. *Aeromonas jandaei* (formerly genospecies DNA group 9 *A. sobria*), a new sucrose-negative species isolated from clinical specimens. J Clin Microbiol. 1991. 29: 560–564.

CARR MW, ROTH SJ, LUTHER ED, ROSE SS, SPRINGER TA. Monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 acts as a T-lymphocyte chemoattractant. Proce Natl Acad Sci USA. 1994. 91: 3652-3656.

CARRUTHERS MD, NICHOLSON PA, TRACY EN, MUNSON JR RS. *Acinetobacter baumannii* utilizes a type VI secretion system for bacterial competition. PloS one. 2013. 8: e59388.

CARVALHO MJ, MARTÍNEZ-MURCIA A, ESTEVES A C, CORREIA A, SAAVEDRA MJ. Phylogenetic diversity, antibiotic resistance and virulence traits of *Aeromonas* spp. from untreated waters for human consumption. Int J Food Microbiol. 2012. 159: 230-239.

CASTRO-ESCARPULLI G, AGUILERA-ARREOLA MAG, GIONO S, HERNÁNDEZ-RODRÍGUEZ CH, CHACÓN M, SOLER L, OZORES A, FIGUERAS MJ. El género *Aeromonas* ¿Un patógeno importante en México?. Enf Infec Microbiol. 2002. 22: 206-216.

CASTRO-ESCARPULLI G, FIGUERAS MJ, AGUILERA-ARREOLA G, SOLER L, FERNÁNDEZ-RENDÓN E, APARICIO GO, GUARRO J, CHACÓN M.R. Characterization of *Aeromonas* spp. isolated from frozen fish intended for human consumption in Mexico. Int J Food Microbiol. 2003. 84: 41-49.

CATTOIR V, POIREL L, AUBERT C, SOUSSY CJ, NORDMANN P Unexpected occurrence of plasmid-mediated quinolone resistance determinants in environmental *Aeromonas* spp. Emerg Infect Dis 2008. 14: 231.

CHACÓN MR, CASTRO-ESCARPULLI G, SOLER L, GUARRO J, FIGUERAS MJ. A DNA probe specific for *Aeromonas* colonies. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis. 2002. 44: 221-225.

CHACÓN MR, FIGUERAS MJ, CASTRO-ESCARPULLI G, SOLER L, GUARRO J. Distribution of virulence genes in clinical and environmental isolates of A*eromonas* spp. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek. 2003. 84: 269-278.

CHACÓN MR, SOLER L, GROISMAN EA, GUARRO J, FIGUERAS MJ. Type III secretion system genes in clinical *Aeromonas* isolates. J Clin Microbiol. 2004. 42: 1285-1287.

CHAI B, WANG H, CHEN X. Draft genome sequence of high-melanin-yielding *Aeromonas media* strain WS. J Bacteriol. 2012. 194: 6693–6694.

CHAIX G, ROGER F, BERTHE T, LAMY B, JUMAS-BILAK E, LAFITE R, PETIT F. Distinct *Aeromonas* populations in water column and associated with copepods from Estuarine environment (Seine, France). Front Microbiol. 2017. 8: 1259.

CHAKRABORTY S, NAIR GB, SHINODA S. Pathogenic vibrios in the natural aquatic environment. Rev Environ Health. 1997. 12: 63-80.

CHAN KH, LEE KM, WONG KB. Interaction between hydrogenase maturation factors HypA and HypB is required for [NiFe]-hydrogenase maturation. PLoS One. 2012. 7: e32592.

CHANDRANGSU P, RENSING C, HELMANN JD. Metal homeostasis and resistance in bacteria. Nat Rev Microbiol. 2017. 15: 338-350.

CHANDRARATHNA HPSU, NIKAPITIYA C, DANANJAYA SHS, WIJERATHNE CUB, WIMALASENA SHMP, KWUN HJ, LEE J, DE ZOYSA, M. Outcome of coinfection with opportunistic and multidrug resistant *Aeromonas hydrophila* and *A. veronii* in zebrafish: Identification, characterization, pathogenicity and immune responses. Fish Shellfish Imunol. 2018. 80: 573-581.

CHANG YC, WANG JY, SELVAM A, KAO SC, YANG SS, SHIH DY. Multiplex PCR detection of enterotoxin genes in *Aeromonas* spp. from suspect food samples in northern Taiwan. J Food Prot. 2008. 71: 2094-2099.

CHAO CM, LAI CC, TSAI HY, WU CJ, TANG HJ, KO WC, HSUEH PR. Pneumonia caused by *Aeromonas* species in Taiwan, 2004-2011. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2013b. 32: 1069-1075.

CHARETTE SJ, BROCHU F, BOYLE B, FILION G, TANAKA KH, DEROME N. Draft genome sequence of the virulent strain 01-B526 of the fish pathogen *Aeromonas salmonicida*. J Bacteriol. 2012. 194: 722-723.

CHEN K CJ, KLINGEL M, MCLEOD S, MINDRA S, NG VK. Presentation and outcomes of necrotizing soft tissue infections. Int J General Med. 2017. 10: 215.

CHEN PL, CHEN YW, OU CC, LEE TM, WU CJ, KO WC, CHEN CS. A disease model of muscle necrosis caused by *Aeromonas dhakensis* infection in *Caenorhabditis elegans*. Front Microbiol. 2017. 7: 2058.

CHEN YW, KO WC, CHEN CS, CHEN PL. Evaluating Virulence and Pathogenesis of *Aeromonas* Infection in a *Caenorhabditis elegans* Model. JoVE . 2018a: e58768.

CHEN YW, KO WC, CHEN CS, CHEN PL. RIOK-1 is a suppressor of the p38 MAPK innate immune pathway in *Caenorhabiditis elegans*. Front Immunol. 2018b:9, 774.

Ana Fernández Bravo

CHEN PL, LEE TF, WU CJ, TENG SH, TENG LJ, KO WC, HSUEH PR. Matrixassisted laser desorption ionization-time of flight mass spectrometry can accurately differentiate *Aeromonas dhakensis* from *A. hydrophila*, *A. caviae*, and *A. veronii*. J Clin Microbiol. 2014a. 52: 2625-2628.

CHEN PL, TSAI PJ, CHEN CS, LU YC, CHEN HM, LEE NY, LEE CC, LI CW, LI MC, WU CJ, KO WC. *Aeromonas* stool isolates from individuals with or without diarrhea in southern Taiwan: Predominance of *Aeromonas veronii*. J Microbiol Immunol Infect. 2014b. pii: S1684-1182.

CHEN PL, WU CJ, TSAI PJ, TANG HJ, CHUANG YC, LEE NY, TSAI HW. Virulence diversity among bacteremic *Aeromonas* isolates: ex vivo, animal, and clinical evidences. PLoS One. 2014c. 9: e111213.

CHEN PL, WU CJ, CHEN CS, TSAI PJ, TANG HJ, KO WC. A comparative study of clinical *Aeromonas dhakensis* and *Aeromonas hydrophila* isolates in southern Taiwan: *A. dhakensis* is more predominant and virulent. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2013. 20: 428-434.

CHEN YF, LIANG RS, ZHUO XL, WU XT, ZOU JX. Isolation and characterization of *Aeromonas schubertii* from diseased snakehead, *Channa maculata* (Lacepède). J Fish Dis. 2012. 35: 421-430.

CHOI, K. H., GAYNOR, J. B., WHITE, K. G., LOPEZ, C., BOSIO, C. M., KARKHOFF-SCHWEIZER, R. R., ET AL. A Tn7-based broad-range bacterial cloning and expression system. Nat methods. 2005. 2: 443.

CHOPRA AK, HOUSTON CW. Enterotoxins in *Aeromonas*-associated gastroenteritis. Microbes Infec. 1999. 1: 1129-1137.

CHOPRA AK, PETERSON JW, XU XJ, COPPENHAVER DH, HOUSTON CW. Molecular and biochemical characterization of a heatlabile cytotonic enterotoxin from *Aeromonas hydrophila*. Microb Pathog. 1996. 21: 357-377.

CHOPRA AK, XU XJ, RIBARDO D, GONZALEZ M, KUHL K, PETERSON JW, HOUSTON CW. The cytotoxic enterotoxin of Aeromonas hydrophila induces proinflammatory cytokine production and activates arachidonic acid metabolism in macrophages. Infect Immun. 2000. 68: 2808–2818.

CHOUSTERMAN BG, SWIRSKI FK, WEBER GF. Cytokine storm and sepsis disease pathogenesis. Semin Immunopathol. 2017. 39: 517-528.

CHRISTENSEN JJ, DARGIS R, HAMMER M, JUSTESEN US, NIELSEN, XC, KEMP M, DANISH MALDI-TOF MS STUDY GROUP. Matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization-time of flight mass spectrometry analysis of Gram-positive, catalase-negative cocci not belonging to the *Streptococcus* or *Enterococcus* genus and benefits of database extension. J Clin Microbiol. 2012. 50: 1787–1791.

CITIL BE, DERIN S, SANKUR F, SAHAN M, CITIL MU. Vibrio alginolyticus associated chronic myringitis acquired in Mediterranean waters of Turkey. Case Rep Infect Dis. 2015. 187212.

CLSI. Methods for antimicrobial dilution and disk susceptibility testing of infrequently isolated or fastidious bacteria; proposed guideline M45-P. Wayne PA: Clinical and laboratory standards institute. 2005.

CLSI. Performance Standards for antimicrobial disk susceptibility tests; approved standardeleventh edition M02-A11. Wayne PA: Clinical and laboratory standards institute. 2012.

CLSI. Methods for antimicrobial dilution and disk susceptibility testing of infrequently isolated or fastidious bacteria; approved guideline M45-A2. Wayne PA: Clinical and laboratory standard institute. 2015.

COIL D, JOSPIN G, DARLING AE. A5-miseq: an updated pipeline to assemble microbial genomes from Illumina MiSeq data. Bioinformatics. 2015. 31: 587–589.

COLLINS MD, MARTÍNEZ-MURCIA AJ, CAI J. *Aeromonas enteropelogenes* and *Aeromonas ichthiosmia* are identical to *Aeromonas trota* and *Aeromonas veronii*, respectively, as revealed by small-subunit rRNA sequence analysis. Int J Syst Bacteriol. 1993. 43: 855–856

COLSTON SM, FULLMER MS, BEKA L, LAMY B, GOGARTEN JP, GRAF J. Bioinformatic genome comparisons for taxonomic and phylogenetic assignments using *Aeromonas* as a test case. MBio. 2014. 5: e02136.

COLSTON SM, NAVARRO A, MARTINEZ-MURCIA AJ, GRAF J. Draft Genome Sequence of *Aeromonas lusitana* sp. nov. Strain DSM 24905T, isolated from a hot spring in Vila-Real, Portugal. Genome Announc. 2018. *6*: e00226-18.

Ana Fernández Bravo

CONRAD. Trends in vibriosis transmission among the top four *Vibrio* species. United States, 1988-2012. MPH thesis, Georgia State University, Atlanta, GA, USA. 2013.

CONTRERAS-MOREIRA B, VINUESA P. GET_HOMOLOGUES, a versatile software package for scalable and robust microbial pangenome analysis. Appl. Environ Microbiol. 2013. 79: 7696–7701.

CREASON AL, DAVIS EW, PUTNAM ML, VANDEPUTTE OM, CHANG JH. Use of whole genome sequences to develop a molecular phylogenetic framework for *Rhodococcus fascians* and the *Rhodococcus* genus. Front Plant Sci. 2014. 5: 406.1-406.12.

CRISCUOLO A, GRIBALDO S. BMGE (Block mapping and gathering with entropy): a new software for selection of phylogenetic informative regions from multiple sequence alignments. BMC Evol Biol. 2010. 10: 210.

DACANAY A, KNICKLE L, SOLANKY K, BOYD JM, WALTER JA, BROWN LL, JOHNSON SC, REITH M. Contribution of the type III secretion system (TTSS) to virulence of *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida*. Microbiology. 2006. 152: 1847-1856.

DALLAGASSA CB, SUREK M, VIZZOTTO BS, PREDIGER KC, MORIEL, B, WOLF S, WEISS V, CRUZ LM, ASSIS FEA, PALUDO KS, REGO FGM, FARAH SMSS, PICHETH G, SOUZA EM, PEDROSA FO, CHUBATSU LS, FADEL-PICHETH CMT. Characteristics of an *Aeromonas trota* strain isolated from cerebrospinal fluid. Microb Pathog. 2018. 116: 109-112.

DALLAIRE-DUFRESNE S, TANAKA KH, TRUDEL MV, LAFAILLE A, CHARETTE SJ. Virulence, genomic features, and plasticity of *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida*, the causative agent of fish furunculosis. Vet Microbiol. 2014. 169: 1-7.

DEFFERT C, SCHAPPI MG, PACHE JC, CACHAT J, VESIN D, BISIG R, MA MULONE X, KELKKA T, HOLMDAHL R, GARCIA I, OLLEROS ML, KRAUSE KH. Bacillus calmette-guerin infection in NADPH oxidase deficiency: defective mycobacterial sequestration and granuloma formation. PLoS Pathog. 2014. 10: e1004325.

DEL VAL A, MOLES JR, GARRIGUES V. Very prolonged diarrhea associated with *Aeromonas hydrophila*. Am J Gastroenterol. 1990. 85: 1535-1535.

DEMARTA A., M. KÜPFER, P. RIEGEL, C. HARF-MONTEIL, M. TONOLLA, R. PEDUZZI, A. MONERA, M.J. SAAVEDRA AND A. MARTÍNEZ-MURCIA. *Aeromonas tecta* sp. nov., isolated from clinical and environmental sources. Syst. Appl. Microbiol. 2008. 31: 278–286.

DENG W, BURLAND V, PLUNKETT III G, BOUTIN A, MAYHEW GF, LISS P, PERNA NT, ROSE DJ, MAU B, ZHOU S, SCHWARTZ DC, FETHERSTON JD, LINDLER LE, BRUBAKER RR, PLANO GV, STRALEY SC, MCDONOUGH KA, NILLES ML, MATSON JS, BLATTNER FR, PERRY RD. Genome sequence of *Yersinia pestis* KIM. J Bacteriol. 2002. 184: 4601-4611.

DENG J, FU L, WANG R, YU N, DING X, JIANG L, FANG Y, JIANG C, LIN L, WANG Y, CHE X. Comparison of MALDI-TOF MS, gene sequencing and the Vitek 2 for identification of seventy-three clinical isolates of enteropathogens. J Thorac Dis. 2014. 6: 539–544.

DIAS C, MOTA V, MARTINEZ-MURCIA A, SAAVEDRA MJ. Antimicrobial resistance patterns of *Aeromonas* spp. isolated from ornamental fish. J Aquac Res Dev. 2012. 3

DIAS C, RIBEIRO M, CORREIA-BRANCO A, DOMÍNGUEZ-PERLES R, MARTEL F, SAAVEDRA MJ, SIMÕES M. Virulence, attachment and invasion of Caco-2 cells by multidrug-resistant bacteria isolated from wild animals. *Microbial Pathog*. 2019. *128*: 230-235.

DIECKMANN R, STRAUCH E, ALTER T. Rapid identification and characterization of *Vibrio* species using whole-cell MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry. J Appl Microbiol. 2010. 109: 199-211.

DOS SANTOS PA, PEREIRA AC, FERREIRA AF, DE MATTOS ALVES MA, ROSA AC, FREITAS-ALMEIDA AC. Adhesion, invasion, intracellular survival and cytotoxic activity of strains of *Aeromonas* spp. in HEp-2, Caco-2 and T-84 cell lines. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek. 2015. 107: 1225-1236.

DONOHUE MJ, BEST JM, SMALLWOOD AW, KOSTICH M, RODGERS M, SHOEMAKER JA. Differentiation of *Aeromonas* isolated from drinking water distribution systems using matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization-mass spectrometry. Anal Chem. 2007. 79: 1939–1946.

DONOHUE MJ, SMALLWOOD AW, PFALLER S, RODGERS M, SHOEMAKER JA. The development of a matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization mass spectrometrybased method for the protein fingerprinting and identification of *Aeromonas* species using whole cells. J Microbiol Methods. 2006. 65: 380-389.

DUONG-NU TM, JEONG K, HONG SH, NGUYEN HV, NGO VH, MIN JJ, LEE SE, RHEE JH. All three TonB systems are required for *Vibrio vulnificus* CMCP6 tissue invasiveness by flagellum expression. Infect Immun. 2015. 84: 254–265.

DWIVEDI M, MISHRA A, PRASAD A, AZIM A, SINGH RK, BARONIA AK, PRASAD KN, DWIVEDI UN. *Aeromonas caviae* septicemia in immunocompetent gastrointestinal carriers. Braz J Infect Dis. 2008. 12: 547-548.

ENGLISH G, TRUNK K, RAO VA, SRIKANNATHASAN V, HUNTER WN, COULTHURST SJ. New secreted toxins and immunity proteins encoded within the T ype VI secretion system gene cluster of Serratia marcescens. *Mol Microbiol*. 2012 86: 921-936.

EPPLE HJ, MANKERTZ J, IGNATIUS R, LIESENFELD O, FROMM M, ZEITZ M, CHAKRABORTY T, SCHULZKE JD. *Aeromonas hydrophila* beta-hemolysin induces active chloride secretion in colon epithelial cells (HT-29/B6). Infect Immun. 2004. 72: 4848-4858.

ERLER R, WICHELS A, HEINEMEYER EA, HAUK G, HIPPELEIN M, REYES NT, GERDTS G. VibrioBase: A MALDI-TOF MS database for fast identification of *Vibrio* spp. that are potentially pathogenic in humans. Syst Appl Microbiol. 2015. 38: 16-25.

ESCUDERO MM, DEL POZO LJ, JUBERT E, RIERA M. Cutaneous ulcer at the site of radiation-induced dermatitis caused by infection with *Vibrio alginolyticus*. Actas Dermosifiliogr. 2015. 106: 774-775.

ESHGHI A, LOURDAULT K, MURRAY GL, BARTPHO T, SERMSWAN RW, PICARDEAU M, ADLER B, SNARR B, ZUERNER RL, CAMERON CE. *Leptospira interrogans* catalase is required for resistance to H2O2 and for virulence. Infect Immun. 2012.80: 3892–3899.

ESSER B, BURNENS AP, LANFRANCHINI FM, SOMARUGA SGE, VON VIGIER RO, SCHAAD UB, AEBI C, BIANCHETTI MG. Acute community acquired diarrhea requiring hospital admission in Swiss children. Clin Infect Dis. 2000. 31: 192-196.

ESTEVE C, ALCAIDE E, BLASCO MD. *Aeromonas hydrophila* subsp. *dhakensis* isolated from feces, water and fish in Mediterranean Spain. Microbes Environ. 2012. 27: 367-373.

ESTEVE C, GUTIERREZ MC, VENTOSA A. DNA relatedness among *Aeromonas allosaccharophila* strains and DNA hibridization groups of the genus *Aeromonas*. Int J Syst Bacteriol. 1995a. 45: 390-391.

ESTEVE C, GUTIERREZ MC, VENTOSA A. *Aeromonas encheleia* sp. nov., isolated from European eels. Int J Syst Bacteriol. 1995b. 45: 462-466.

FADL AA, GALINDO CL, SHA J, EROVA TE, HOUSTON CW, OLANO J. P, CHOPRA AK. Deletion of the genes encoding the type III secretion system and cytotoxic enterotoxin alters host responses to *Aeromonas hydrophila* infection. Microb Pathog. 2006. 40: 198-210.

FARFÁN M, SPATARO N, SANGLAS A, ALBARRAL V, LORÉN JG, BOSCH E, FUSTÉ MC. Draft genome sequence of the *Aeromonas diversa* type strain. Genome Announc. 2013. 1: 6–7.

FARMER JJ, ARDUINO, MJ HICKMAN-BRENNER FW. The Genera *Aeromonas* and *Plesiomonas*. En: The Prokaryotes, a handbook on the biology of Bacteria. Ed. Dworkin M. Springer Science+Business Media, LLC. EEUU. 2006. pp. 564-596.

FARMER JJ, HICKMAN-BRENNER FW, FANNING GR, ARDUINO MJ, BRENNER DJ. Analysis of *Aeromonas* and *Plesiomonas* by DNA-DNA hybridization and phenotype. Abstract P1 at: First International Workshop *Aeromonas* and *Plesiomonas* (Manchester, UK)

FEHR D, CASANOVA C, LIVERMAN A, BLAZKOVA H, ORTH K, DOBBELAERE D, FREY J, BURR SE. *AopP*, a type III effector protein of *Aeromonas salmonicida*, inhibits the NFk a ppaB signalling pathway. Microbiol. 2006. 152: 2809-2818.

FERGUSON CM, COOTE BG, ASHBOLT NJ STEVENSON IM. Fecal indicator organisms and pathogens in water and sediment of the Georges River, Sydney. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 1994. 60.

Ana Fernández Bravo

FIGUERAS MJ. Clinical relevance of *Aeromonas*. Rev Med Microbiol. 2005. 16: 145-153.

FIGUERAS MJ, ALPERI A, BEAZ-HIDALGO R, STACKEBRANDT E, BRAMBILLA E, MONERA A, MARTÍNEZ-MURCIA AJ. *Aeromonas rivuli* sp. nov., isolated from the upstream region of a karst water rivulet in Germany. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2011a. 61: 242-248.

FIGUERAS MJ, ALPERI A, GUARRO J, MARTÍNEZ-MURCIA AJ. Genotyping of isolates included in the description of a novel species should be mandatory. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2006. 56: 1183–1184.

FIGUERAS MJ, ALPERI A, SAAVEDRA MJ, KO WC, GONZALO N, NAVARRO M, MARTÍNEZ-MURCIA A. Clinical relevance of the recently described *Aeromonas aquariorum*. J Clin Microbiol. 2009. 47: 3742-3746.

FIGUERAS SALVAT MJ, ASHBOLT N. *Aeromonas.* In: J.B. Rose and B. Jiménez-Cisneros, (eds) Global Water Pathogen Project. 2019.

FIGUERAS MJ, BEAZ-HIDALGO R. *Aeromonas*: Introduction, Detection by cultural and modern techniques. In: Encyclopedia of food microbiology. Eds: Batt C, Tortorello ML. Elsevier Ltd. Reino Unido. 2014. pp. 25-30.

FIGUERAS MJ, BEAZ-HIDALGO R. *Aeromonas* infections in humans. In: *Aeromonas*. Ed. Graf J.Caister Academic Press. EEUU. 2015. pp. 65-108.

FIGUERAS MJ, BEAZ-HIDALGO R, COLLADO L, MARTÍNEZ-MURCIA AJ. Recommendations for a new bacterial species description based on analyses of the unrelated genera *Aeromonas* and *Arcobacter*. The Bulletin of Bergey's International Society for Microbial Systematics. 2011b. 2:1-16.

FIGUERAS MJ, BEAZ-HIDALGO R, HOSSAIN MJ, LILES MR. Taxonomic affiliation of new genomes should be verified using average nucleotide identity and multilocus phylogenetic analysis. Genome Announc. 2014. 2: e00927-14.

FIGUERAS MJ, BEAZ-HIDALGO R, PAREDES K. Furunculosis y otras infecciones producidas por *Aeromonas*. En: Enfermedades infecciosas del cultivo de salmónidos en Chile y el mundo. Ed. Avendaño-Herrera R. Chile. 2011c. pp. 285-374.

FIGUERAS MJ, BEAZ-HIDALGO R, SENDEROVICH Y, LAVIAD S, HALPERN M.

Re-identification of *Aeromonas* isolates from chironomid egg masses as the potential pathogenic bacteria *Aeromonas aquariorum*. Environ Microbiol Rep. 2011d. 3: 239-244.

FIGUERAS MJ, BORREGO JJ. New perspectives in monitoring drinking water microbial quality. J Environ Res Public Health. 2010. 7: 4179-4202.

FIGUERAS MJ, LATIF-EUGENÍN F, BALLESTER F, PUJOL I, TENA D, BERG K, HOSSAIN MJ, BEAZ-HIDALGO R, LILES MR. 'Aeromonas intestinalis' and 'Aeromonas enterica'isolated from human faeces, 'Aeromonas crassostreae' from oyster and 'Aeromonas aquatilis' isolated from lake water represent novel species. New Microbes New infect, 2017. 15: 74-76.

FLANAGAN LA, PARKIN A. Electrochemical insights into the mechanism of NiFe membrane-bound hydrogenases. Biochem Soc Trans. 2016. 44: 315-328.

FOCK WL, CHEN CL, LAM TJ, SIN YM. Roles of an endogenous serum lectin in the immune protection of blue gourami, Trichogaster trichopterus (Pallus) against *Aeromonas hydrophila*. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 2001. 11:101-113.

FONES H, PRESTON, GM. The impact of transition metals on bacterial plant *disease. FEMS Microbiol Rev 2013.* 37: 495-519.

FONTES MC, SAAVEDRA MJ, MONERA A, MARTINS C, MARTÍNEZ-MURCIA A. Phylogenetic identification of *Aeromonas simiae* from a pig, first isolate since species description. Vet Microbiol. 2010. 142: 313-316.

FORGA-MARTEL J, GONZALEZ-VALLE F, WEINZIERL J. Infectious abortion associated with *Aeromonas hydrophila* in a mare. Equine practice. 2000.

FOSSE T, GIRAUD-MORIN C, MADINIER I. Phenotypes of beta-lactam resistance in the genus *Aeromonas*. Pathol-Biol. 2003. 51: 290-296.

FRANCKI KT, CHANG BJ, MEE BJ, COLLIGNON PJ, SUSAI V, KEESE PK. Identification of genes associated with copper tolerance in an adhesion-defective mutant of *Aeromonas veronii biovar* sobria. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol 2000. 29: 115-121.

FRENCH GL, WOO ML, HUI YW, CHAN KY. Antimicrobial susceptibilities of halophilic vibrios. J Antimicrob Chemother. 1989. 24: 183-194.

Ana Fernández Bravo

FREY J, KUHNERT P. Identification of animal *Pasteurellaceae* by MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry. Methods Mol Biol. 2015. 1247: 235–243.

FREY J, ORIGGI FC. Type III secretion system of *Aeromonas salmonicida* undermining the host's immune response. Front Mar Sci. 2016. 3: 130.

FROQUET R, CHERIX N, BURR SE, FREY J, VILCHES S, TOMAS JM, COSSONP. Alternative host model to evaluate *Aeromonas* virulence. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 2007.73: 5657-5659.

FU X, LAI Q, DONG C, WANG W, SHAO Z. Complete genome sequence of *Alcanivorax xenomutans* P40, an alkane-degrading bacterium isolated from deep seawater. Mar Genom. 2018. 38: 1-4.

FURUSU A, YOSHIZUK N, ABE K, SASAKI O, MIYAZAKI K, MIYAZAKI M, HIRAKATA Y, OZONO Y, HARADA T KOHNO, S *Aeromonas hydrophila* necrotizing fasciitis and gas gangrene in a diabetic patient on haemodialysis Nephrol. Dial. Transplant.1997. 12 :1730-1734

GALÁN JE, COLLMER A. Type III secretion machines: bacterial devices for protein delivery into host cells. Science. 1999. 284: 1322-1328.

GALINDO CL, FADL AA, SHA J, GUTIERREZ C, POPOV VL, BOLDOGH I, AGGARWAL BB, CHOPRA AK. *Aeromonas hydrophila* cytotoxic enterotoxin activates mitogen-activated protein kinases and induces apoptosis in murine macrophages and human intestinal epithelial cells. J Biol Chem. 2004. 279: 37597-37612.

GALINDO CL, SHA J, FADL AA, PILLAI LL, CHOPRA AK. Host immune responses to *Aeromonas* virulence factors. Curr Immunol Rev. 2006. 2: 13-26.

GAVRIEL AA, LANDRE JPB, LAMB AJ. Incidence of mesophilic *Aeromonas* within a public drinking water supply in north-east Scotland. J Appl Microbiol. 1998. 84: 383-392.

GELBART SM, PRABHUDESAI M, MAGEE SM. A case report: *Aeromonas sobria* gastroenteritis in an adult. Am J Clin Pathol 1985. 83: 389-391.

GHATAK S, BLOM J, DAS S, SANJUKTA R, PURO K, MAWLONG M, NGACHAN

SV. Pan-genome analysis of *Aeromonas hydrophila*, *Aeromonas veronii* and *Aeromonas caviae* indicates phylogenomic diversity and greater pathogenic potential for *Aeromonas hydrophila*. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek. 2016. 109: 945-956.

GHENGHESH KS, BARA F, BUKRIS B, EL-SURMANI A. ABEID, SS. Characterization of virulence factors of *Aeromonas* isolated from children with and without diarrhoea in Tripoli, Libya. J Diarrhoel Dis Res 1999. 75-80.

GILBREATH JJ, DODDS JC, RICK PD, SOLOSKI MJ, MERRELL DS, METCALF ES. Enterobacterial common antigen mutants of *Salmonella enterica* serovar typhimurium establish a persistent infection and provide protection against subsequent lethal challenge. Infect Immun. 2012. 80: 441–450.

GOMEZ JM, FAJARDO R, PATINO JF, ARIAS CA. Necrotizing fasciitis due to *Vibrio alginolyticus* in an immunocompetent patient. J Clin Microbiol. 2003. 41: 3427-3429.

GONG Y, FENG S, LI S, ZHANG Y, ZHAO Z, HU M, JIANG Y.Genome-wide characterization of Toll-like receptor gene family in common carp (Cyprinus carpio) and their involvement in host immune response to *Aeromonas hydrophila* infection. Comp Biochem Physiol Part D: Genom Proteom, 2017.24, 89-98.

GONZALEZ MJ, VILLANUEVA MP, LATIF F, FERNANDEZ F, FERNANDEZ H. Isolation of *Plesiomonas shigelloides* and *Aeromonas veronii* biotype sobria from South American sea lion, *Otaria flavescens* (Shaw, 1800) feces. Revista de biologia marina y oceanografia. 2009. 44: 763-765.

GORIS J, KONSTANTINIDIS KT, KLAPPENBACH JA, COENYE T, VANDAMME P, TIEDJE JM. DNA-DNA hybridization values and their relationship to whole-genome sequence similarities. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2007. 57: 81-91.

GRAF J. Aeromonas. Caister Academic Press. (Ed.). 2015.

GRANUM PE, O'SULLIVAN K, TOMÁS JM, ØRMEN Ø. Possible virulence factors of *Aeromonas* spp. from food and water. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol. 1998. 21: 131-137.

Ana Fernández Bravo

GRAUMANN J, LILIE H, TANG X, TUCKER KA, HOFFMANN JH, VIJAYALAKSHMI J, SAPER M, BARDWELL JC, JAKOB U. Activation of the redox-regulated molecular chaperone Hsp33--a two-step mechanism. Structure. 2001. 9: 377-387.

GRIFFIN PJ, SNIESZKO SF, FRIDDLE SB. (1953). A more comprehensive description of Bacterium salmonicida. Trans. Amer. Fish. SOC. 82: 129.

GRIM CJ, KOZLOVA EV, PONNUSAMY D, FITTS EC, SHA J, KIRTLEY ML, VAN LIER CJ, TINER BL, EROVA TE, JOSEPH SJ, READ TD, SHAK JR, JOSEPH SW, SINGLETARY E, FELLAND T, BAZE WB, HORNEMAN AJ, CHOPRA AK. Functional genomic characterization of virulence factors from necrotizing fasciitis-causing strains of *Aeromonas hydrophila*. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2014. 80: 4162-4183.

GUÉRIN-FAUBLÉE V, CHARLES S, CHOMARAT M, FLANDROIS JP. Reappraisal of the effect of temperature on the growth kinetics of *Aeromonas salmonicida*. Lett Appl Microbiol. 1997. 25: 363–366.

GUGLIANDOLO C, IRRERA GP, LENTINI V, MAUGERI TL. Pathogenic *Vibrio, Aeromonas* and *Arcobacter* spp. associated with copepods in the Straits of Messina (Italy). Mar Pollut Bull 2008. 56: 600-606.

GULLA S, LUND V, KRISTOFFERSEN AB, SØRUM H, COLQUHOUN DJ. *vapA* (A-layer) typing differentiates *Aeromonas salmonicida* subspecies and identifies a number of previously undescribed subtypes. J Fish Dis. 2016. 39: 329–342.

GUNASEKARAN L, AMBALKAR S, SAMARJI RA, QAMRUDDIN A. Post-traumatic osteomyelitis due to *Aeromonas* species. Indian J Med Microbiol. 2009. 27: 163-165.

GOU, C., WANG, J., WANG, Y., DONG, W., SHAN, X., LOU, Y., & GAO, Y. Hericium caput-medusae (Bull.: Fr.) Pers. polysaccharide enhance innate immune response, immune-related genes expression and disease resistance against *Aeromonas hydrophila* in grass carp (*Ctenopharyngodon idella*). Fish Shellfish Immunol. 2018. 72: 604-610.

HAN HJ, KIM DY, KIM WS, KIM CS, JUNG SJ, OH MJ, KIM DH. Atypical *Aeromonas salmonicida* infection in the black rockfish, *Sebastes schlegeli* Hilgendorf, in Korea. J Fish Dis. 2011. 34: 47–55.

HAN JE, KIM JH, SHIN SP, JUN JW, CHAI JY, PAR SC. Draft genome sequence of *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *achromogenes* AS03, an atypical strain isolated from crucian carp (*Carassius carassius*) in the Republic of Korea. Genome Announc. 2013. 1: e00791-13.

HANDA O, NAITO Y, YOSHIKAWA T. Redox biology and gastric carcinogenesis: the role of *Helicobacter pylori*. Redox Rep. 2011. 16: 1-7.

HARF-MONTEIL C, FLÈCHE AL, RIEGEL P, PRÉVOST G, BERMOND D, GRIMONT PA, MONTEIL H. *Aeromonas simiae* sp. nov., isolated from monkey faeces. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2004. 54: 481-485.

HARTLEY JW, WEST E, GOTHARD WP, HANAN HW. Vibrio alginolyticus in the U.K. J Infect. 1991. 23: 223.

HASAN NA, CHOI SY, EPPINGER M, CLARK PW, CHEN A, ALAM M, HALEY BJ, TAVIANI E, HINE E, SU Q, ET AL. Genomic diversity of 2010 Haitian cholera outbreak strains. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2012. 109: E2010-E2017.

HASSAN A, NAZ A, OBAID A, PARACHA RZ, NAZ K, AWAN FM, MUHMMAD SA, JANJUA HA, AHMAD J, ALI A. Pangenome and immuno-proteomics analysis of *Acinetobacter baumannii* strains revealed the core peptide vaccine targets. BMC genomics. 2016. 17: 732.

HASSANI L, IMZILN B, BOUSSAID A, GAUTHIER MJ. Seasonal incidence of antibiotic resistance among *Aeromonas* species isolated from domestic wastewater before and after treatment in stabilization ponds. Microb Ecol. 1992. 23: 227-237.

HAYES ET, WILKS JC, SANFILIPPO P, YOHANNES E, TATE DP, JONES BD, RADMACHER MD, BONDURANT SS, SLONCZEWSKI JL. Oxygen limitation modulates pH regulation of catabolism and hydrogenases, multidrug transporters, and envelope composition in *Escherichia coli* K-12. BMC Microbiol. 2006. 6: 89.

HERNANDEZ-ROBLES MF, ALVAREZ-CONTRERAS AK, JUAREZ-GARCIA P, NATIVIDAD-BONIFACIO I, CURIEL-QUESADA E, VAZQUEZ-SALINAS C, QUINONES-RAMIREZ EI. Virulence factors and antimicrobial resistance in environmental strains of *Vibrio alginolyticus*. Int Microbiol. 2016. 19: 191-198.

Ana Fernández Bravo

HICKMAN-BRENNER FW, MACDONALD KL, STEIGERWALT AG, FANNING GR, BRENNER DJ, FARMER JD. *Aeromonas veronii*, a new ornithine decarboxylase-positive species that may cause diarrhea. J Clin Microbiol. 1987. 25: 900-906.

HIRANSUTHIKUL N, TANTISIRIWAT W, LERTUTSAHAKUL K, VIBHAGOOL A, BOONMA P. Skin and soft tissue infections among tsunami survivors in Southern Thailand. Clin Infect Dis. 2005. 41: 93-96.

HIRATSUKA M, SAITOH Y, YAMANE N. The isolation of *Vibrio alginolyticus* from a patient with acute entero-colitis. Tohoku J Exp Med. 1980. 132: 469-472.

HO PL, TANG WM, LO KS, YUEN KY. Necrotizing fasciitis due to *Vibrio alginolyticus* following an injury inflicted by a stingray. Scand J Infect Dis. 1998. 30: 192-193.

HOANG DT, CHERNOMOR O, VON HAESELER A, MINH BQ, LE SV. UFBoot2: Improving the ultrafast bootstrap approximation. Mol Biol Evol. 2017. 35: 518–522.

HOCHEDEZ P, HOPE-RAPP E, OLIVE C, NICOLAS M, BEAUCAIRE G, CABIÉ A. Bacteremia caused by *Aeromonas* species in the Caribbean Islands of Martinique and Guadeloupe. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2011. 84: 842.

HOESEL B, SCHMID JA. The complexity of NF-κB signaling in inflammation and cancer. Mol Cancer. 2013. 12: 86.

HOLLAND RD, DUFFY CR, RAFII F, SUTHERLAND JB, HEINZE TM, HOLDER CL, VOORHEES KJ, LAY JO JR. Identification of bacterial proteins observed in MALDI TOF mass spectra from whole cells. Anal Chem. 1999. 71: 3226–3230.

HOLLAND RD, RAFII F, HEINZE TM, SUTHERLAND JB, VOORHEES KJ, LAY JO JR. Matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization timeof- flight mass spectrometric detection of bacterial biomarker proteins isolated from contaminated water, lettuce and cotton cloth. Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom. 2000. 14: 911–917.

HOLMES B, FARMER III JJ. International committee on systematics of prokaryotes; subcommittee on the taxonomy of *Aeromonadaceae*, *Vibrionaceae* and related organisms. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2009. 59: 2638-2640.

HOLMES P, NICOLLS ML. *Aeromonads* in drinking water supplies: their ocurrence and significance. J Ciwem. 1996. 9: 464-469.

HOP HT, ARAYAN LT, HUY TX, REYES AW, VU SH, MIN W KIM S The key role of c-Fos for immune regulation and bacterial dissemination in *Brucella* infected macrophage. <u>Front Cell Infect Microbiol</u>. 2018.8.

HORII T, MORITA M, MURAMATSU H, MONJI A, MIYAGISHIMA D, KANNO T, MAEKAWA M. Antibiotic resistance in *Aeromonas hydrophila* and *Vibrio alginolyticus* isolated from a wound infection: a case report. J Trauma. 2005. 58: 196-200.

HOSSAIN MJ, BEAZ-HIDALGO R, FIGUERAS MJ, LILES MR. Draft genome sequences of two novel *Aeromonas* species recovered in association with cyanobacterial blooms. Genome Announc. 2014. 2: e01181-14.

HOSSAIN MJ, WALDBIESER GC, SUN D, CAPPS NK, HEMSTREET WB, CARLISLE K, GRIFFIN MJ, KHOO L, GOODWIN E, SONSTEGARD TS, SCHROEDER S, HAYDEN K, NEWTON JC, TERHUNE JS, LILES MR. Implication of lateral genetic transfer in the emergence of *Aeromonas hydrophila* isolates of epidemic outbreaks in channel catfish. PloS One. 2013. 8: e80943.

HOUF K, DE ZUTTER L, VAN HOOF J, VANDAMME P. Assessment of the genetic diversity among *Arcobacters* isolated from poultry products by using two PCR-based typing methods. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2002. 68: 2172-2178.

HU HQ, JOHNSON RC, MERRELL DS, MARONEY MJ. Nickel ligation of the N-terminal amine of HypA is required for urease maturation in *Helicobacter pylori*. Biochemistry. 2017. 56: 1105-1116.

HUA HT, BOLLET C, TERCIAN S, DRANCOURT M, RAOULT D. Aeromonas popoffii urinary tract infection. J Clin Microbiol. 2004. 42: 5427-5428.

HUYS G, CNOCKAERT M, SWINGS J. Aeromonas culicicola (Pidiyar et al., 2002) is a later subjective synonym of Aeromonas veronii (Hickman-Brenner et al., 1987. Syst Appl Microbiol. 2005. 28: 604-609.

HUYS G, COOPMAN V, VAN VARENBERGH D, CORDONNIER J. Selective culturing and genus-specific PCR detection for identification of *Aeromonas* in tissue samples to assist the medico-legal diagnosis of death by drowning. Forensic Sci Int. 2012. 221: 11-15.

Ana Fernández Bravo

HUYS G, KÄMPFER P, ALBERT MJ, KÜHN I, DENYS R, SWINGS J. *Aeromonas hydrophila* subsp. *dhakensis* subsp. nov., isolated from children with diarrhea in Bangladesh, and extended description of *Aeromonas hydrophila* subsp. *hydrophila* (Chester 1901) Stanier 1943 (approved lists 1980). Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2002. 52: 705-712.

HUYS G, KÄMPFER P, ALTWEGG M, COOPMAN R, JANSSEN P, GILLIS M, KERSTERS K. Inclusion of *Aeromonas* DNA hybridization group 11 in *Aeromonas encheleia* and extended descriptions of the species *Aeromonas eucrenophila* and *A. encheleia*. Int J Syst Bacteriol. 1997a. 47: 1157-1164.

HUYS G, KÄMPFER P, ALTWEGG M, KERSTERS I, LAMB A, COOPMAN R, LÜTHYHOTTENSTEIN J, VANCANNEYT M, JANSSEN P, KERSTERS K. *Aeromonas popoffii* sp. nov., a mesophilic bacterium isolated from drinking water production plants and reservoirs. Int J Syst Bacteriol. 1997b. 47: 1165-1171.

HUYS G, KERSTERS L, VANCANNEYT M, COOPMAN R, JANSSEN P, KERSTERS K. Diversity of *Aeromonas* sp. in Flemish drinking water production plants as determined by gas-liquid chromatographic analysis of cellular fatty acid methyl esters (FAMEs). J Appl Bacteriol. 1995. 78: 445-455.

HUYS G, KÄMPFER P, SWINGS J. New DNA-DNA hybridization and phenotypic data on the species *Aeromonas ichthiosmia* and *Aeromonas allosaccharophila*: A. *ichthiosmia* (Schubert *et al.*, 1990) is a later synonym of *A. veronii* (Hickman-Brenner *et al.* 1987). Syst Appl Microbiol. 2001. 24: 177-182.

HUYS GR, SWINGS J. DNA-DNA reassociation and phenotypic data indicate synonymy between *Aeromonas enteropelogenes* Schubert et al. 1990 and *Aeromonas trota* Denys Carnahan et al. 1991. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2002. 52: 1969-1972.

HWANG O. Role of oxidative stress in Parkinson's disease. Exp Neurobiol. 2013. 22: 11-17.

IGBINOSA IH, IGUMBOR EU, AGHDASI F, TOM M, OKOH AI. Emerging *Aeromonas* species infections and their significance in public health. Scientific World Journal. 2012. 2012: 625023.

ILHAN Z, GÜLHAN T, AKSAKAL A. *Aeromonas hydrophila* associated with ovine abortion. Small Rum Res. 2006 61: 73-78.

JACKSON KA, EDWARDS-JONES V, SUTTON CW, FOX AJ. Optimisation of intact cell MALDI method for fingerprinting of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*. J Microbiol Methods. 2005. 62: 273–284.

JACOBS SLIFKA KM, NEWTON AE, MAHON BE. Vibrio alginolyticus infections in the USA, 1988-2012. Epidemiol Infect. 2017. 145: 1491-1499.

JAMES SJ, CUTLER P, MELNYK S, JERNIGAN S, JANAK L, GAYLOR DW, NEUBRANDER JA. Metabolic biomarkers of increased oxidative stress and impaired methylation capacity in children with autism. Am J Clin Nutr. 2004. 80: 1611-1617.

JANDA JM, ABBOTT S. Evolving concepts regarding the genus *Aeromonas*: an expanding panorama of species, disease presentations, and unanswereded questions. Clin Infect Dis. 1998. 27: 332-344.

JANDA JM, ABBOTT SL. Human Pathog. The genus *Aeromonas*. En: B. Austin, M. Altwegg, PJ Gosling and S. Joseph. (ed). John Wiley and Sons, New York. 1996. pp. 151-174.

JANDA JM, ABBOTT SL. The genus *Aeromonas*: taxonomy, pathogenicity, and infection. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2010. 23: 35-73.

JANDA JM, ABBOTT SL, KHASHE S, KELLOGG GH, SHIMADA T. Further studies on biochemical characteristics and serologic properties of the genus *Aeromonas*. J Clin Microbiol. 1996. 34: 1930-1933.

JANDA JM, BRENDEN R, DEBENEDETTI JA, CONSTANTINO MO, ROBÍN T. *Vibrio alginolyticus* bacteriemia in an immunocompromised patient. . Diagn Infect Dis. 1986. 5: 337-340.

JANEWAY, C. A. How the immune system works to protect the host from infection: a personal view. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. 2001. 98: 7461-7468.

JIA B, RAPHENYA AR, ALCOCK B, WAGLECHNER N, GUO P, TSANG KK, LAGO BA, DAVE BM, PEREIRA S, SHARMA AN, DOSHI S, COURTOT M, LO R, WILLIAMS LE, FRYE JG, ELSAYEGH T, SARDAR D, WESTMAN EL, PAWLOWSKI AC, JOHNSON TA, BRINKMAN FSL, WRIGHT GD, MCARTHUR AG. CARD 2017: expansion and model-centric curation of the comprehensive antibiotic resistance database. Nucleic Acids Res. 2017. 45: D566-D573.

Ana Fernández Bravo

JJEMBA PK, WEINRICH LA, CHENG W, GIRALDO E, LECHEVALLIER MW. Regrowth of potential opportunistic pathogens and algae in reclaimed-water distribution systems. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2010. 76: 4169-4178.

JOLLEY KA, MAIDEN MC. Using multilocus sequence typing to study bacterial variation: prospects in the genomic era. Fut Microbiol. 2014. 9: 623-630.

JOHNSON RC, HU HQ, MERRELL DS, MARONEY MJ. Dynamic HypA zinc site is essential for acid viability and proper urease maturation in *Helicobacter pylori*. Metallomics. 2015. 7: 674-682.

JONES RM, LUO L, MOBERG KH. *Aeromonas salmonicida*-secreted protein AopP is a potent inducer of apoptosis in a mammalian and a Drosophila model. Cell Microbiol. 2012. 14: 274-285.

JUAN HJ, TANG RB, WU TC, YU KW. Isolation of *Aeromonas hydrophila* in children with diarrhea. J Microbiol Immunol Infect. 2000. 33: 115-117.

KALYAANAMOORTHY S, MINH BQ, WONG TKF, VON HAESELER A, JERMIIN LS. ModelFinder: Fast model selection for accurate phylogenetic estimates. Nat Methods. 2017. 14: 587–589.

KAMBLE R. Aeromonas salmonicida furunculosis in an adult male. Int J Curr Microbiol App Sci. 2015. 4: 59-63.

KANG HJ, HEO DH, CHOI SW, KIM KN, SHIM J, KIM CW, SUNG HC, YUN CW. Functional characterization of Hsp33 protein from *Bacillus psychrosaccharolyticus*; additional function of HSP33 on resistance to solvent stress. Biochem Biophys Res Commun. 2007. 358: 743-750.

KAO HT, HUANG YC, LIN TY. Fatal bacteremic pneumonia caused by *Aeromonas hydropila* in a previously healthy child. J Microbiol Immunol Infect. 2003. 36: 209-211.

KAO TL, KAO ML. A fatal case of necrotizing *Aeromonas schubertii* fasciitis after penetrating injury. Am J Emerg Med. 2012. 30: 258.e3-e5.

KAPER JB, LOCKMAN H, COLWELL RR, JOSEPH SW. *Aeromonas hydrophila*: ecology and toxigenicity of isolates from an estuary. J Appl Bacteriol. 1981. 50: 359-377.

KAWAI T, AKIRA S. TLR signaling. Semin Immunol. 2007. 19: 24-32.

KHAJANCHI BK, FADL AA, BOCHARDT MA, BERG RL, HORNEMAN AJ, STEMPER ME, JOSEPH SW, MOYER NP, SHA J, CHOPRA AK. Distribution of virulence factors and molecular fingerprinting of *Aeromonas* species isolates from water and clinical samples: suggestive evidence of water-to-human transmission. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2010. 76: 2313-2325.

KHAJANCHI BK, KIRTLEY ML, BRACKMAN SM, CHOPRA AK. Immunomodulatory and protective roles of quorum-sensing signaling molecules N-acyl homoserine lactones during infection of mice with *Aeromonas hydrophila*. Infect immune. 2011. 79: 2646-2657.

KHOR WC, PUAH SM, TAN JA, PUTHUCHEARY SD, CHUA KH. Phenotypic and genetic diversity of *Aeromonas* species isolated from fresh water lakes in Malaysia. *PLoS One*. 2015. *10*: e0145933.

KIM M, OH HS, PARK SC, CHUN J. Towards a taxonomic coherence between average nucleotide identity and 16S rRNA gene sequence similarity for species demarcation of prokaryotes. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2014. 64: 346-351.

KIMURA M, ARAOKA H, YONEYAMA A. *Aeromonas caviae* is the most frequent pathogen amongst cases of *Aeromonas* bacteremia in Japan. Scand J Infect Dis. 2013. 45: 304-309.

KING GE, WERNER SB, KIZER KW. Epidemiology of *Aeromonas* infections in California. Clin Infect Dis. 1992. 15: 449-452.

KINGOMBE CIB, HUYS G, TONOLLA M, ALBERT MJ, SWINGS J, PEDUZZI R, JEMMI T. PCR detection, characterization and distribution of virulence genes in *Aeromonas* spp. Appl Environ Microbiol. 1999. 65: 5293-5302.

KINZELMAN J, MCLELLAN SL, AMICK A, PREEDIT J, SCOPEL CO, OLAPADE O, GRADUS S, SINGH A, SEDMAK G. Identification of human enteric pathogens in gull feces at Southwestern Lake Michigan bathing beaches. Can J Microbiol. 2008. 54: 1006-1015.

KLUYVER AJ, VAN NEIL CB. Prospects for a natural system of classification of bacteria. Zentralbl Bakteriol Parasitenkd Infectionskr Hyg Abt. 1936. 94: 369-403.

Ana Fernández Bravo

KONG W, HUANG C, TANG Y, ZHANG D, WU Z, CHEN X. Effect of Bacillus subtilis on *Aeromonas hydrophila*-induced intestinal mucosal barrier function damage and inflammation in grass carp (*Ctenopharyngodon idella*). *Scientific reports*. 2017: 7(1), 1588.

KONSTANTINIDIS KT, TIEDJE JM. Towards a genome-based taxonomy for prokaryotes. J Bacteriol. 2005. 187: 6258-6264.

KORGAONKAR A, TRIVEDI U, RUMBAUGH KP, WHITELEY M. Community surveillance enhances *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* virulence during polymicrobial infection. PNAS. 2013. 110: 1059-1064.

KOTLOFF KL, NATARO JP, BLACKWELDER WC, NASRIN D, FARAG TH, PANCHALINGAM S, WU Y, SOW SO, SUR D, BREIMAN RF, ET AL. Burden and aetiology of diarrhoeal disease in infants and young children in developing countries (the Global Enteric Multicenter Study, GEMS): a prospective, case-control study. Lancet. 2013. 382: 209-222.

KOZINSKA A. Dominant pathogenic species of mesophilic aeromonads isolated from diseased and healthy fish cultured in Poland. J Fish Dis. 2007. 30: 293–301.

KOZINSKA A, FIGUERAS MJ, CHACÓN MR, SOLER L. Phenotypic characteristics and pathogenicity of *Aeromonas* genomospecies isolated from common carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L.). J Appl Microbiol. 2002. 93: 1034-1041.

KRISTENSEN DM, KANNAN L, COLEMAN MK, WOLF YI, SOROKIN A, KOONIN EV, MUSHEGIAN A. A low-polynomial algorithm for assembling clusters of orthologous groups from intergenomic symmetric best matches. Bioinformatics. 2010. 26: 1481–1487.

KROVACEK K, DUMONTET S, ERIKSSON E, BALODA SB. Isolation, and virulence profiles, of *Aeromonas hydrophila* implicated in an outbreak of food poisoning in Sweden. Microbiol Immunol 1995. 39: 655-661.

KRZYMIŃSKA S, KAZNOWSKI A, PUK M. Interaction of *Aeromonas* spp. human isolates with murine macrophages. New Microbiol. 2008. 31: 481-488.

KRZYMIŃSKA S, MOKRACKA J, KOCZURA R, ĆWIERTNIA A, KAZNOWSKI A. *Aeromonas* spp.-mediated cell-contact cytotoxicity is associated with the presence of type III secretion system. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek. 2012. 101: 243-251.

KUMAR H, KAWAI T, AKIRA S. Pathogen recognition by the innate immune system. Int Rev Immunol. 2011. 30: 16-34.

KUMAR S, MUKHOPADHYAY P, CHATTERJEE M, BANDYOPADHYAY MK, BANDYOPADHYAY M, GHOSH T, SAMADDAR D. Necrotizing fasciitis caused by *Aeromonas caviae*. Avicenna J Med. 2012. 2: 94-96.

KUMSTA C, JAKOB U. Redox-regulated chaperones. Biochemistry. 2009. 48: 4666-4676.

KÜPFER M, KUHNERT P, KORCZAK BM, PEDUZZI R, DEMARTA A. Genetic relationships of *Aeromonas* strains inferred from 16S rRNA, *gyrB* and *rpoB* gene sequences. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2006. 56: 2743-2751.

LACASSE MJ, DOUGLAS CD, ZAMBLE DB. Mechanism of selective nickel transfer from HypB to HypA, *Escherichia coli* [NiFe]-hydrogenase accessory proteins. Biochemistry. 2016. 55: 6821-6831.

LAI CC, DING LW, HSUEH PR. Wound infection and septic shock due to *Aeromonas trota* in a patient with liver cirrhosis. Clin Infect Dis. 2007. 44: 1523-1524.

LAI R F, JAKOVLIĆ I, LIU H, ZHAN FB, WEI J, WANG WM. Molecular characterization and immunological response analysis of toll-like receptors from the blunt snout bream (*Megalobrama amblycephala*). Dev Comp Immunol. 2017. 67: 471-475.

LAJNEF R, SNOUSSI M, ROMALDE JL, NOZHA C, HASSEN A. Comparative study on the antibiotic susceptibility and plasmid profiles of *Vibrio alginolyticus* strains isolated from four Tunisian marine biotopes. World J Microbiol Biotechnol. 2012. 28: 3345-3363.

LAMKANFI M, DIXIT VM. The inflammasomes. PLoS Patho. 2009. 5: e1000510.

LAMY B, KODJO A, LAURENT F. Prospective nationwide study of *Aeromonas* infections in France. J Clin Microbiol. 2009. 47: 1234–1237.

LAMY B, KODJO A, LAURENT F, COLBVH STUDY GROUP. Identification of *Aeromonas* isolates by matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight massspectrometry. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis. 2011. 71: 1-5.

LAMY B, LAURENT F, VERDIER I, DECOUSSER JW, LECAILLON E, MARCHANDIN H, ROGER F, TIGAUD S, DE MONTCLOS H; COLBVH STUDY GROUP, KODJO A. ET AL. Accuracy of 6 commercial systems for identifying clinical *Aeromonas* isolates. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis. 2010. 67: 9-14.

Ana Fernández Bravo

LATIF-EUGENÍN FL. *Aeromonas*, un microorganismo ambiental de importancia en salud humana y animal. Tesis Doctoral. 2015

LATIF-EUGENÍN F, BEAZ-HIDALGO R, JOSÉ FM. A culture independent method for the detection of *Aeromonas* sp. from water samples. Ital J Food Saf. 2016. 5: 5489.

LATIF-EUGENÍN F, BEAZ-HIDALGO R, SILVERA C , FERNANDEZ-CASSI X, FIGUERAS MJ. Chlorinated and ultraviolet radiation -treated reclaimed irrigation water is the source of *Aeromonas* found in vegetables used for human consumption. Environ Res. 2017. 154: 190-195.

LARKIN MA, BLACKSHIELDS G, BROWN NP, CHENNA R, MCGETTIGAN PA, MCWILLIAM H, THOMPSON JD. Clustal W and Clustal X version 2.0. Bioinformatics. 2007. 23: 2947-2948.

LEE ZMP, BUSSEMA III C, SCHMIDT TM. rrn DB: Documenting the number of rRNA and tRNA genes in bacteria and archaea. Nucleic Acids Res. 2009. 37: D489-D493.

LEE I, KIM YO, PARK SC, CHUN J. OrthoANI: an improved algorithm and software for calculating average nucleotide identity. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2016. 66: 1100-1103.

LEE DY, MOON SY, LEE SO, YANG HY, LEE HJ, LEE MS. Septic shock due to *Vibrio alginolyticus* in a cirrhotic patient: the first case in Korea. Yonsei Med J. 2008. 49: 329-332.

LEE CT, PAJUELO D, LLORENS A, CHEN YH, LEIRO JM, PADRÓS F, HOR LI, AMARO, C. MARTX of *Vibrio vulnificus* biotype 2 is a virulence and survival factor. Environ Microbiol. 2013. 15: 419-432.

LI Y, CAI SH. Identification and pathogenicity of *Aeromonas sobria* on tail-rot disease in juvenile tilapia *Oreochromis niloticus*. Curr Microbiol. 2011. 62:623-627.

LI Y, LIU Y, ZOU Z, HUANG H, REN Y, ZHANG Y, LI G, ZOU Z, WANG L. Complete genome sequence of *Aeromonas veronii* strain B565. J Bacteriol. 2011. 193: 3389–3390.

LI L, STOECKERT CJ, ROOS DS. OrthoMCL: Identification of ortholog groups for eukaryotic genomes. Genome Res. 2003. 13: 2178–2189.

LI J, YIE J, FU W, FOO RW, HU Y, WOO NY, XU H. Antibiotic resistance and plasmid profiles of *Vibrio* isolates from cultured Sparus sarba. Wei Sheng Wu Xue Bao. 1999. 39: 461-468.

LI Z, WANG X, CHEN C, GAO J, LV A. Transcriptome profiles in the spleen of African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) challenged with *Aeromonas veronii*. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 2019. 86: 858-867.

LIAO Z, WAN Q, XIAO X, JI J, SU J. A systematic investigation on the composition, evolution and expression characteristics of chemokine superfamily in grass carp *Ctenopharyngodon Idella*. <u>Dev Comp Immunol.</u>2018. 82: 72-82.

LIEBGOTT PP, LEROUX F, BURLAT B, DEMENTIN S, BAFFERT C, LAUTIER T, FOURMOND V, CECCALDI P, CAVAZZA C, MEYNIAL-SALLES I, SOUCAILLE P, FONTECILLA-CAMPS JC, GUIGLIARELLI B, BERTRAND P, ROUSSET M, LÉGER C. Relating diffusion along the substrate tunnel and oxygen sensitivity in hydrogenase. Nat Chem Biol. 2010. 6: 63-70.

LIM PL. Appendicitis associated with travelers' diarrhea caused by *Aeromonas sobria*. J Travel Med. 2009. 16: 132-133.

LIU YJ, FIGUERAS MJ, SANTOS SR, NEWTON JC, LILES MR. Classification of a hypervirulent *Aeromonas hydrophila* pathotype responsible for epidemic outbreaks in warmwater fishes. Front Microbiol. 2016. 18: 1615.

LIU H, GU D, SHENG L, WANG Q, ZHANG Y. Investigation of the roles of T6SS genes in motility, biofilm formation, and extracellular protease Asp production in *Vibrio alginolyticus* with modified Gateway-compatible plasmids. Lett Appl Microbiol. 2012. 55: 73-81.

LIU L, LI N, ZHANG D, FU X, SHI C, LIN Q, HAO G. Complete genome sequence of the highly virulent *Aeromonas schubertii* strain WL1483, isolated from diseased snakehead fish (*Channa argus*) in China. Genome Announc. 2016. 4: e01567-15.

LIVAK KJ, SCHMITTGEN TD. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. Methods (San Diego, Calif. 2001. 25: 402-408.
LONG M, NIELSEN TK, LEISNER JJ, HANSEN LH, SHEN ZX, ZHANG QQ, LI A. *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida* strains isolated from Chinese freshwater fish contain a novel genomic island and possible regional-specific mobile genetic elements profiles. FEMS Microbiol Lett. 2016. 363: fnw190.

LOPES CM, RABADAO EM, VENTURA C, DA CUNHA S, CORTE-REAL R, MELICO-SILVESTRE AA. A case of *Vibrio alginolyticus* bacteremia and probable sphenoiditis following a dive in the sea. Clin Infect Dis. 1993. 17: 299-300.

LOPEZ-CASTEJON G, BROUGH D. Understanding the mechanism of IL-1 β secretion. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 2011. 22: 189-195.

LORENTZ A, KLOPP I, GEBHARDT T, MANNS MP, BISCHOFF SC. Role of activator protein 1, nuclear factor- κ B, and nuclear factor of activated T cells in IgE receptormediated cytokine expression in mature human mast cells. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2003. 111: 1062-1068.

LOVELY CJ, LESLIE AJ. Normal intestinal flora of wild Nile crocodiles (*Crocodylus niloticus*) in the Okavango Delta, Botswana. J S Afr Vet Assoc. 2008. 79: 67-70.

LOWE TM, CHAN PP. tRNAscan-SE On-line: integrating search and context for analysis of transfer RNA genes. Nucleic Acids Res. 2016. 44: W54-W57.

LÜ AJ, HU XC, WANG Y, ZHU AH, SHEN LL, TIAN J, FENG ZZ, FENG ZJ. Skin immune response in the zebrafish, Danio rerio (Hamilton), to *Aeromonas hydrophila* infection: a transcriptional profiling approach. J Fish Dis. 2015. 38: 137-50.

LU Y, YEUNG N, SIERACKI N, MARSHALL NM. Design of functional metalloproteins. Nature. 2009. 460: 855-862.

LUBITZ W, OGATA H, RUDIGER O, REIJERSE E. Hydrogenases. Chem Rev. 2014. 114: 4081-4148.

LUKJANCENKO O, WASSENAA, TM, USSERY DW. Comparison of 61 sequenced *Escherichia coli* genomes. Microb Ecol. 2010. 60: 708-720.

MAHLA RS, REDDY CM, PRASAD D, KUMAR H. Sweeten PAMPs: role of sugar complexed PAMPs in innate immunity and vaccine biology. Front Immunol. 2013. 4: 248.

MAIDEN MC. Multilocus sequence typing of bacteria. Annu Rev Microbiol. 2006. 60: 561-588.

340

MAIDEN MC, BYGRAVES JA, FEIL E, MORELLI G, RUSSELL JE, URWIN R, ZHANG Q, ZHOU J, ZURTH K, CAUGANT DA, FEAVERS IM, ACHTMAN M, SPRATT BG. Multilocus sequence typing: a portable approach to the identification of clones within populations of pathogenic microorganisms. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 1998. 95: 3140-3145.

MANDAL J, DHODAPKAR R, ACHARYA NS, SASTRY A, PARIJA SC. Urinary tract infection due to *Aeromonas* spp., a lesser known causative bacterium. J Infect Dev Ctries. 2010. 4: 679-681.

MANDRELL RE, HARDEN LA, BATES A, MILLER WG, HADDON WF, FAGERQUIST CK. Speciation of *Campylobacter coli*, *C. jejuni*, *C. helveticus*, *C. lari*, *C. sputorum*, and *C. upsaliensis* by matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization-time of flight mass spectrometry. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2005. 71: 6292–6307.

MANSOUR AM, ABD ELKHALEK R, SHAHEEN HI, EL MOHAMMADY H, REFAEY S, HASSAN K, RIDDLE M, SANDERS JW, SEBENY PJ, YOUNG SY, FRENCK R. Burden of *Aeromonas hydrophila* associated diarrhea among children younger than 2 years in rural Egyptian community. J Infect Dev Ctries. 2012. 6: 842-846.

MARTÍ E, BALCÁZAR JL. *Aeromonas rivipollensis* sp. nov., a novel species isolated from aquatic samples. J Basic Microbiol. 2015. 55: 1435-1439.

MARTIN-CARNAHAN A, JOSEPH SW. Order XII. Aeromonadales ord. nov. En Bergey's Manual of Systematic Bacteriology. Eds Brenner DJ, Krieg N R, Staley JT y Garrity GM. Springer. EEUU. 2005. pp 556-578.

MARTÍNEZ-MURCIA A, BEAZ-HIDALGO R, CARVALHO MJ, ARAVENA-ROMÁN M, CORREIA A, FIGUERAS MJ, SAAVEDRA MJ. *Aeromonas lusitana* sp. nov., isolated from untreated waters and vegetables. Curr Microbiol. 2016. 72: 795-803.

MARTÍNEZ-MURCIA A, BEAZ-HIDALGO R, SVEC P, SAAVEDRA MJ, FIGUERAS MJ, SEDLACEK I. *Aeromonas cavernicola* sp. nov., isolated from fresh water of a brook in a cavern. Curr Microbiol. 2013. 66: 197-204.

MARTÍNEZ-MURCIA AJ, BENLLOCH S, COLLINS MD. Phylogenetic interrelationships of members of the genera *Aeromonas* and *Plesiomonas* as determined by

Ana Fernández Bravo

16S ribosomal DNA sequencing: lack of congruence with results of DNA-DNA hybridizations. Int J Syst Bacteriol. 1992a. 42: 412-421.

MARTÍNEZ-MURCIA AJ, ESTEVE C, GARAY E, COLLINS MD. Aeromonas allosaccharophila sp. nov., a new mesophilic member of the genus Aeromonas. FEMS Microbiol Lett. 1992b. 70: 199-205.

MARTÍNEZ-MURCIA A, LAMY B. Molecular diagnostics by genetic methods. *Aeromonas*, 2015. pp: 155-200.

MARTÍNEZ-MURCIA A, MORENA A, SAAVEDRA MJ, OCINA R, LÓPEZ-ÁLVAREZ M, LARA E, FIGUERAS MJ. Multilocus phylogenetic analysis of the genus *Aeromonas*. Syst Appl Microbiol. 2011. 34: 189-199.

MARTÍNEZ-MURCIA A, SAAVEDRA MJ. Antimicrobial resistance patterns of *Aeromonas* spp. isolated from ornamental fish. J Aquacult Res Dev. 2012. 3: 131.

MARTÍNEZ-MURCIA AJ, SAAVEDRA MJ, MOTA VR, MAIER T, STACKEBRANDT E, COUSIN S. *Aeromonas aquariorum* sp. nov., isolated from aquaria of ornamental fish. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2008. 58: 1169-1175.

MARTÍNEZ-MURCIA AJ, SOLER L, SAAVEDRA MJ, CHACÓN MR, GUARRO J, STACKEBRANDT E, FIGUERAS MJ. Phenotypic, genotypic, and phylogenetic discrepancies to differentiate *Aeromonas salmonicida* from *Aeromonas bestiarum*. Int Microbiol. 2005. 8: 259-269.

MARTINO ME, FASOLATO L, MONTEMURRO F, ROSTEGHIN M, MANFRIN A, PATARNELLO T, NOVELLI E, CARDAZZO B. Determination of microbial diversity of *Aeromonas* strains on the basis of multilocus sequence typing, phenotype, and presence of putative virulence genes. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2011. 77: 4986- 5000.

MASSA S, ALTIERI C, D'ANGELA A. The occurrence of *Aeromonas* spp. in natural mineral water and well water. International J Food Microbiol. 2001. 63: 169-173.

MCCOY AJ, KOIZUMI Y, TOMA C, HIGA N, DIXIT V, TANIGUCHI S, TSCHOPP J, SUZUKI, T. Cytotoxins of the human pathogen *Aeromonas hydrophila* trigger, via the NLRP3 inflammasome, caspase-1 activation in macrophages. Eur J Immunol. (2010a). 40: 2797-2803.

MCCOY AJ, KOIZUMI Y, HIGA N, SUZUKI T. Differential regulation of caspase-1 activation via NLRP3/NLRC4 inflammasomes mediated by aerolysin and type III secretion system during *Aeromonas veronii* infection. J Immunol. (2010b). 185: 7077-7084.

MCLELLAN SL, HUSE SM, MUELLER-SPITZ SR, ANDREISHCHEVA EN, SOGIN ML. Diversity and population structure of sewage-derived microorganisms in wastewater treatment plant influent. Environ Microbiol. 2010. 12: 378-392.

MCINNES JI, TRUST TJ CROSA JH. Deoxyribonucleic acid relationships among members of the genus *Aeromonas*. Can J Microbiol. 1979. 25: 579-586.

MEHTA N, OLSON JW, MAIER RJ. Characterization of *Helicobacter pylori* nickel metabolism accessory proteins needed for maturation of both urease and hydrogenase. J Bacteriol. 2003. 185: 726-734.

MEIER-KOLTHOFF JP, AUCH AF, KLENK HP, GÖKER M. Genome sequence-based species delimitation with confidence intervals and improved distance functions. BMC Bioinf. 2013. 14-60.

MEIER-KOLTHOFF JP, KLENK HP, GÖKER M. Taxonomic use of DNA G+C content and DNA–DNA hybridization in the genomic age. International journal of systematic and evolutionary microbiology. 2014. 64: 352-356.

MENANTEAU-LEDOUBLE S, EL-MATBOULI M. Antigens of *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida* specifically induced *in vivo* in *Oncorhynchus mykiss*. J Fish Dis. 2016. 39: 1015–1019.

MENANTEAU-LEDOUBLE S, KATTLUN J, NOBAUER K, EL-MATBOULI M. Protein expression and transcription profiles of three strains of *Aeromonas salmonicida* ssp. salmonicida under normal and iron-limited culture conditions. Proteome Sci. 2014; 12: 29.

MENDES-MARQUES CL, NASCIMENTO LM, THEOPHILO GN, HOFER E, MELO NETO OP, LEAL NC. Molecular characterization of *Aeromonas* spp. and *Vibrio cholerae* O1 isolated during a diarrhea outbreak. Rev Inst Med Trop Sao Paulo. 2012. 54: 299-304.

MERINO S, AGUILAR A, NOGUERAS MM, REGUE M, SWIFT S, TOMÁS JM. Cloning, sequencing, and role in virulence of two phospholipases (A1 and C) from mesophilic *Aeromonas* sp. serogroup O:34. Infect Immun. 1999. 67: 4008-4013.

Ana Fernández Bravo

MERINO S, FULTON KM, TWINE SM, WILHELMS M, MOLERO R, TOMÁS JM.

Aeromonas hydrophila flagella glycosylation: involvement of a lipid carrier. Plos one. 2014. 9: e89630.

MERINO S, GAVIN R, VILCHES S, SHAW JG, TOMAS JM. A colonization factor (production of lateral flagella) of mesophilic *Aeromonas* spp. is inactive in *Aeromonas* salmonicida strains. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2003. 69: 663-667.

MERINO S, TOMÁS JM. Bacterial capsules and evasion of immune responses. eLS. 2010.

MICHALSKA M, WOLF P. *Pseudomonas* Exotoxin A: optimized by evolution for effective killing. Front Microbiol. 2015. 6: 963.

MILES AA, HALNAN ET. A new species of micro-organism (*Proteus melanovogenes*) causing black rot in eggs. J Hyg. 1937.37: 79-97.

MIÑANA-GALBIS D, FARFAN M, FUSTE MC, LOREN JG. *Aeromonas molluscorum* sp. nov., isolated from bivalve molluscs. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2004. 54: 2073-2078.

MIÑANA-GALBIS D, FARFAN M, FUSTE MC, LOREN JG. *Aeromonas bivalvium* sp. nov., isolated from bivalve molluscs. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2007. 57: 582- 587.

MIÑANA-GALBIS D, FARFAN M, LOREN JG, FUSTÉ MC. Proposal to assign *Aeromonas diversa* sp. *nov.*, as a novel species designation for *Aeromonas* group 501. Syst Appl Microbiol. 2010. 33: 15-19.

MIÑANA-GALBIS D, URBIZU-SERRANO A, FARFÁN M, FUSTÉ MC, LORÉN JG. Phylogenetic analysis and identification of *Aeromonas* species based on sequencing of the *cpn60* universal target. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2009. 59: 1976-1983.

MONAGHAN SF, ANJARIA D, MOHR A, LIVINGSTON DH. Necrotizing fasciitis and sepsis caused by *Aeromonas hydrophila* after crush injury of the lower extremity. Surg Infect (Larchmt). 2008. 9: 459-467.

MONFORT P, BALEUX B. Distribution and survival of motile *Aeromonas* spp. in brackish water receiving sewage treatment effluent. Appl Environ Microbiol. 1991. 57: 2459-2467.

MONTES M, PÉREZ MJ, NIETO TP. Numerical taxonomy of gram-negative, facultative anaerobic bacteria isolated from skin of turbot (*Scophthalmus maximus*) and surrounding water. Syst Appl Microbiol. 1999.22: 604-618.

MOREIRA VF, LÓPEZ-SAN ROMÁN A. Acute ileitis. Rev esp enferm dig. 2009. 101: 295. (Artículo en español).

MORGAN D, JOHNSON PC, DUPONT HL, SATTERWHITE TK, WOOD LV. Lack of correlation between known virulence properties of *Aeromonas hydrophila* and enteropathogenicity for humans. Infect Immun. 1985. 50: 62-65.

MORINAGA Y, YANAGIHARA K, LATIF EUGENÍN FL, BEAZ-HIDALGO R, FIGUERAS MJ. Identification errors of *Aeromonas* species: the considerable virulence of the new species *Aeromonas aquariorum*. Diag Microbiol Infect Dis. 2013. 76: 106-109.

MORRIS JG JR, BLACK RE. Cholera and other vibrioses in the United States. N Engl J Med. 1985. 312: 343-350.

MOSSER T, TALAGRAND-REBOUL E, COLSTON SM, GRAF J, FIGUERAS MJ, JUMAS-BILAK E, ET AL. Exposure to pairs of *Aeromonas* strains enhances virulence in the *Caenorhabditis elegans* infection model. Front Microbiol. 2015. 6: 1218.

MULDER IE, WADSWORTH S, SECOMBES CJ. Cytokine expression in the intestine of rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) during infection with *Aeromonas salmonicida*. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 2007. 23: 747-759.

MUMCUOGLU KY. Recommendations for the use of leeches in reconstructive plastic surgery. Evid Based Complement Alternat Med. 2014. 2014/205929.

MUNIESA M, DE SIMON M, PRATS G, FERRER D, PAÑELLA H, JOFRE J. Shiga toxin 2-converting bacteriophages associated with clonal variability in *Escherichia coli* 0157:H7 strains of human origin isolated from a single outbreak. Infect Immun. 2003. 71: 4554-4562.

MURCIANO C, HOR LI, AMARO C. Host–pathogen interactions in *Vibrio vulnificus*: responses of monocytes and vascular endothelial cells to live bacteria. Future Microbiol. 2015 10: 471-487.

MURCIANO C, LEE CT, FERNÁNDEZ-BRAVO A, HSIEH TH, FOUZ B, HOR LI, AMARO C. MARTX toxin in the zoonotic serovar of *Vibrio vulnificus* Triggers an early cytokine storm in mice. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2017. 7: 332.

MURRAY PR. Matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization time-of-flight mass spectrometry: usefulness for taxonomy and epidemiology. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2010. 16: 1626-1630.

Ana Fernández Bravo

NAGAR V, SHASHIDHAR R, BANDEKAR JR. Prevalence, characterization, and antimicrobial resistance of *Aeromonas* strains from various retail food products in Mumbai, India. J Food Sci. 2011. 76: 486-492.

NAGAR V, SHASHIDHAR R, BANDEKAR JR. Characterization of *Aeromonas* strains isolated from Indian foods using *rpoD* gene sequencing and whole cell protein analysis. World J Microbiol Biotechnol. 2013. 29: 745-752.

NAGATA K, TAKESHIMA Y, TOMII K, IMAI Y. Fulminant fatal bacteremic pneumonia due to *Aeromonas hydrophila* in a non-immunocompromised woman. Intern Med. 2011. 50: 63-65.

NAIR GB, HOLMES B. International committee on systematic bacteriology subcommittee on the taxonomy of *Vibrionaceae*. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 1999. 49: 1945-1947.

NAIR GB, HOLMES B. International committee on systematic bacteriology: subcommittee on the taxonomy of *Vibrionaceae*. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2002. 52: 2331-2333.

NAWAZ M, KHAN SA, KHAN AA, SUNG K, TRAN Q, KERDAHI K, STEELE R. Detection and characterization of virulence genes and integrons in *Aeromonas veronii* isolated from catfish. Food Microbiol. 2010. 27: 327-331.

NAZARENKO EL, CRAWFORD RJ, IVANOVA EP. The structural diversity of carbohydrate antigens of selected gram-negative marine bacteria. Marine drugs. 2011. 9: 1914-1954.

NELSON KL, RAJA SM, BUCKLEY JT. The glycosylphosphatidylinositol-anchored surface glycoprotein Thy-1 is a receptor for the channel-forming toxin aerolysin. J Biol Chem. 1997. 272: 12170-12174.

NEILL MA, CARPENTER CC. Other pathogenic vibrios. (Eighth edn). Mandell, Douglas, and Bennett's principles and practice of infectious diseases. 2015. 2480-2484.

NEYTS K, HUYS G, UYTTENDAELE M, SWINGS J, DEBEVERE J. Incidence and identification of mesophilic *Aeromonas* spp. from retail foods. Lett Appl Microbiol. 2000a. 31: 359-363.

NEYTS K, NOTEBAERT E, UYTTENDAELE M, DEBEVERE J. Modification of the bile salts-Irgasan-brilliant green agar for enumeration of *Aeromonas* species from food. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 2000b. 57: 211-218.

NGUYEN LT, SCHMIDT HA, VON HAESELER A, MINH BQ. IQ-TREE: A fast and effective stochastic algorithm for estimating maximum-likelihood phylogenies. Mol Biol Evol. 2015. 32: 268–274.

NHUNG PH, HATA H, OHKUSU K, NODA M, SHAH MM, GOTO K, EZAKI T. Use of the novel phylogenetic marker *dnaJ* and DNA-DNA hybridization to clarify interrelationships within the genus *Aeromonas*. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2007. 57: 1232-1237.

NI PJ, JIANG WD, WU P, LIU Y, KUANG SY, TANGL, FENG L. Dietary low or excess levels of lipids reduced growth performance, and impaired immune function and structure of head kidney, spleen and skin in young grass carp (*Ctenopharyngodon idella*) under the infection of *Aeromonas hydrophila*. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 2016. *55*;28-47.

NOGUCHI K, RIGGINS DP, ELDAHAN KC, KITKO RD, SLONCZEWSKI JL. Hydrogenase-3 contributes to anaerobic acid resistance of *Escherichia coli*. PloS one. 2010. 5: e10132.

NOVÁKOVÁ D, SVEC P, SEDLÁCEK I. Characterization of *Aeromonas encheleia* strains isolated from aquatic environments in the Czech Republic. Lett Appl Microbiol. 2009. 48: 289-294.

NZEAKO B, OKAFOR N. Bacterial enteropathogens and factors associated with seasonal episodes of gastroenteritis in Nsukka, Nigeria. British J Biomed Science. 2002. 59: 76-79.

O'HALLORAN TV, CULOTTA VC. Metallochaperones, an intracellular shuttle service for metal ions. J Biol Chem. 2000. 275: 25057-25060.

O'HARA CM, SOWERS EG, BOPP CA, DUDA SB, STROCKBINE NA. Accuracy of six commercially available systems for identification of members of the family *Vibrionaceae*. J Clin Microbiol. 2003. 41: 5654-5659.

OPAL SM, SAXON JR. Intracranial infection by *Vibrio alginolyticus* following injury in salt water. J Clin Microbiol. 1986. 23: 373-374.

ORMEN O, GRANUM PE, LASSEN J, FIGUERAS MJ. Lack of agreement between biochemical and genetic identification of *Aeromonas* spp. APMIS. 2015. 113: 203–207.

ORIGGI FC, BENEDICENTI O, SEGNER H, SATTLER U, WAHLI T, FREY J. *Aeromonas salmonicida* type III secretion system-effectors-mediated immune suppression in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). Fish & shellfish immunology. 2017. 60: 334-345.

OROZOVA P, BARKER M, AUSTIN DA, AUSTIN B. Identification and pathogenicity to rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum), of some aeromonads. J Fish Dis. 2009. 32: 865–871.

OTTAVIANI D, BACCHIOCCHI I, MASINI L, LEONI F, CARRATURO A, GIAMMARIOLI M, SBARAGLIA G. Antimicrobial susceptibility of potentially pathogenic halophilic vibrios isolated from seafood. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2001. 18: 135-140.

OTTAVIANI D, LEONI F, ROCCHEGIANI E, SANTARELLI S, MASINI L, D'ANNIBALE ML, PIANETTI A, CARRATURO A. A severe case of *Aeromonas veronii* biovar *sobria* travellers diarrhoea characterized by *Vibrio parahaemolyticus* co-isolation. J Med Microbiol. 2013. 62: 161-164.

OTTAVIANI D, PARLANI C, CITTERIO B, MASINI L, LEONI F, CANONICO C, SABATINI L, BRUSCOLINI F, PIANETTI A. Putative virulence properties of *Aeromonas* strains isolated from food, environmental and clinical sources in Italy: a comparative study. Int J Food Microbiol. 2011. 144: 538-545.

OVERBEEK R, OLSON R, PUSCH GD, OLSEN GJ, DAVIS JJ, DISZ T, EDWARDS RA, GERDES S, PARRELLO B, SHUKLA M, VONSTEIN V, WATTAM AR, XIA F, STEVENS R. The SEED and the rapid annotation of microbial genomes using subsystems technology (RAST). Nucleic Acids Res. 2014. 42: D206-D214.

OVERMAN TL, JANDA JM. Antimicrobial susceptibility patterns of *Aeromonas jandaei*, *A. schubertii*, *A. trota*, and *A. veronii* Biotype veronii. J Clin Microbiol. 1999. 37: 706-708.

PABLOS M, HUYS G, CNOCKAERT M, RODRÍGUEZ-CALLEJA JM, OTERO A, SANTOS JA, GARCÍA-LÓPEZ ML. Identification and epidemiological relationships of *Aeromonas* isolates from patients with diarrhea, drinking water and foods. Int J Food Microbiol. 2011. 147: 203-210. PABLOS, M., REMACHA, M.A., RODRÍGUEZ-CALLEJA, J.M., SANTOS, J.A., OTERO, A., AND GARCÍA-LÓPEZ, M.L. Identity, virulence genes, and clonal relatedness of *Aeromonas* isolates from patients with diarrhoea and drinking water. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2010. 29: 1163–1172.

PABLOS M, RODRÍGUEZ-CALLEJA JM, SANTOS JA, OTERO A, GARCÍA-LÓPEZ ML. Occurrence of motile Aeromonas in municipal drinking water and distribution of genes encoding virulence factors. Int J Food Microbiol. 2009. 135: 158-164.

PADILLA JCA, BUSTOS P, CASTRO-ESCARPULLI G, SÁNCHEZ-VARELA A, PALMA-MARTINEZ I, ARZATE-BARBOSA P, GARCÍA-PÉREZ CA, LÓPEZ-LÓPEZ MDE J, GONZÁLEZ, V., GUO, X. Draft genome sequence of *Aeromonas caviae* strain 429865 INP, isolated from a Mexican patient. Genome Announc. 2015. 3: e01240-15.

PALMA-MARTÍNEZ I, GUERRERO-MANDUJANO A, RUIZ-RUIZ MJ, HERNANDEZ-CORTEZ C, MOLINA-LOPEZ J, BOCANEGRA-GARCIA V, CASTRO-ESCARPULLI G. Active Shiga-Like Toxin Produced by Some Aeromonas spp., isolated in Mexico City. Front Microbiol. 2016. 7: 1522.

PALMER LD, SKAAR EP. Transition metals and virulence in bacteria. Annu Rev Genet. 2016. 50: 67-91.

PANG M, JIANG J, XIE X, WU Y, DONG Y, KWOK AH, ZHANG W, YAO H, LU C, LEUNG FC, LIU, Y. Novel insights into the pathogenicity of epidemic *Aeromonas hydrophila* ST251 clones from comparative genomics. Sci Rep. 2015. 5: 9833.

PANIAGUA C, ARGÜELLO-VILLARES JL, ARIAS MA, HERREROS M. *Aeromonas hydrophila* associated with a severe outbreak of infection in farmed rabbits. <u>Zentralbl Hyg</u> <u>Umweltmed.</u> 1998. 201: 423-430.

PARKER JL, SHAW JG. *Aeromonas* spp. clinical microbiology and disease. J Infect. 2011. 62: 109-118.

PATTERSON TF, BELL SR, BIA FJ. *Vibrio alginolyticus* cellulitis following coral injury. Yale J Biol Med. 1998. 61: 507-512.

PAVAN ME, ABBOTT SL, ZORZÓPULOS J, JANDA JM. *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *pectinolytica* subsp. nov., a new pectinase- positive subspecies isolated from a heavily polluted river. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2000. 50: 1119–1124.

Ana Fernández Bravo

PAVAN ME, PAVAN EE, LÓPEZ NI, LEVIN L, PETTINARI MJ. Living in an extremely polluted environment: clues from the genome of melanin-producing *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *pectinolytica* 34melT. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2015. 81: 5235–48.

PEATMAN E, MOHAMMED H, KIRBY A, SHOEMAKER CA, YILDIRIM-AKSOY M, BECK BH. Mechanisms of pathogen virulence and host susceptibility in virulent *Aeromonas hydrophila* infections of channel catfish (Ictalurus punctatus). Aquaculture. 2018. 482: 1-8.

PÉREZ L, ABARCA ML, LATIF-EUGENÍN F, BEAZ-HIDALGO R, FIGUERAS MJ, DOMINGO M. *Aeromonas dhakensis* pneumonia and sepsis in a neonatal Risso's dolphin (*Grampus griseus*) from the Mediterranean Sea. Dis Aquat Organ. 2015. 116: 69-74.

PÉREZ-SANCHO M, CERDÁ I, FERNÁNDEZ-BRAVO A, DOMÍNGUEZ L, FIGUERAS MJ, FERNÁNDEZ-GARAYZÁBAL JF, VELA AI. Limited performance of MALDI-TOF for identification of fish *Aeromonas* isolates at species level. J Fish Dis. 2018. 41: 1485-1493.

PEREZ-SANCHO M, VELA AI, WIKLUND T, KOSTRZEWA M, DOMÍNGUEZ L, FIGUERAS MJ, FERNÁNDEZ-GARAYZÁBAL JF. Differentiation of *Flavobacterium psychrophilum* from *Flavobacterium psychrophilum*-like species by MALDI-TOF mass spectrometry. Research in Veterinary Science. 2017. 115: 345–352.

PÉREZ-VALDESPINO A, CELESTINO-MANCERA M, VILLEGAS-RODRÍGUEZ VL, CURIEL-QUESADA E. Characterization of mercury-resistant clinical *Aeromonas* species. Braz J Microbiol. 2014. 44: 1279-1283.

PETERS BM, JABRA-RIZK MA, GRAEME AO, COSTERTON JW, SHIRTLIFF ME. Polymicrobial interactions: impact on pathogenesis and human disease. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2012. 25: 193-213.

PEZZLO M, VALTER PJ, BURNS MJ. Wound infection associated with *Vibrio alginolyticus*. Am J Clin Pathol. 1979. 71: 476-478.

PIANETTI A, SABATINI L, BRUSCOLINI F, CHIAVERINI F, CECCHETTI G. Faecal contamination indicators, *Salmonella*, *Vibrio* and *Aeromonas* in water used for irrigation of agricultural products. Epidemiol Infect. 2004. 132: 231-238.

PICARDEAU M. Virulence of the zoonotic agent of leptospirosis: Still terra incognita? Nat Rev Microbiol. 2017. 15: 297–307.

PIOTROWSKA M, POPOWSKA M. Insight into the mobilome of *Aeromonas* strains. Front Microbiol. 2015. 6: 494.

POPOFF M, COYNAULT C, KRIEDJAN M, LEMELIN M. Polynucleotide sequence relatedness among motile *Aeromonas* species. Curr Microbiol. 1981. 5: 109-114.

POPOFF M, VÉRON M. A taxonomic study of the *Aeromonas hydrophila- Aeromonas punctata* group. J Gen Microbiol. 1976. 94: 11-22.

PRESLEY SM, RAINWATER TR, AUSTIN GP, PLATT SG, ZAK JC, COBB GP, MARSLAND EJ, TIAN K, ZHANG B, ANDERSON TA, ET AL. Assessment of pathogens and toxicants in New Orleans, LA following Hurricane Katrina. Environ Sci Technol. 2006. 40: 468-474.

PROFT T, BAKER EN. Pili in Gram-negative and Gram-positive bacteria—structure, assembly and their *role in disease. Cell Mol Life Sci. 2009. 66: 613.*

PUTHUCHEARY SD, PUAH SM, CHUA KH. Molecular characterization of clinical isolates of *Aeromonas* species from Malaysia. PLoS One. 2012. 7: e30205.

PYLKKÖ P, POHJANVIRTA T, MADETOJA J, PELKONEN S. Characterisation of atypical *Aeromonas salmonicida* infection in Arctic charr *Salvelinus alpinus* and European grayling *Thymallus thymallus*. Dis Aquat Organ. 2005. 66: 121-128.

PYLKKÖ P, SUOMALAINEN LR, TIIROLA M, VALTONEN ET. Evidence of enhanced bacterial invasion during *Diplostomum spathaceum* infection in European grayling, *Thymallus thymallus* (L.). J Fish Dis. 2006. 29: 79-86.

QAMAR FN, NISAR MI, QUADRI F, SHAKOOR S, SOW SO, NASRIN D, SUR D. *Aeromonas*-associated diarrhea in children under 5 years: the GEMS experience. Am J Trop Med Hyg. 2016. 95: 774-780.

QUANDT EM, GOLLIHAR J, BLOUNT ZD, ELLINGTON AD, GEORGIOU G, BARRICK JE. Fine-tuning citrate synthase flux potentiates and refines metabolic innovation in the Lenski evolution experiment. Elife. 2015. 4: e09696.

Ana Fernández Bravo

RAHMAN M, HUYS G, KÜHN I, RAHMAN M, MÖLLBY R. Prevalence and transmission of antimicrobial resistance among *Aeromonas* populations from a duckweed aquaculture based hospital sewage water recycling system in Bangladesh. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek. 2009. 96: 313-321.

RAMSEY MM, RUMBAUGH KP, WHITELEY M. Metabolite cross-feeding enhances virulence in a model polymicrobial infection. PLoS Pathog 2011. 7: e1002012.

RANGREZ AY, DAYANANDA KM, ATANUR S, JOSHI R, PATOLE MS, SHOUCHE YS. Detection of conjugation related type four secretion machinery in *Aeromonas culicicola*. PLos One. 2006. 1: e115.

RASMUSSEN-IVEY CR, FIGUERAS MJ, MCGAREY D, LILES MR. Virulence factors of *Aeromonas hydrophila*: In the wake of reclassification. Front Microbiol. 2016. 7: 1337.

REGECOVA I, PIPOVA M, JEVINOVA P, MARUSKOVA K, KMET V, POPELKA P. Species identification and antimicrobial resistance of coagulase-negative staphylococci isolated from the meat of sea fish. J Food Sci. 2014. *79*: M898–M902.

REILLY GD, REILLY CA, SMITH EG, BAKER-AUSTIN C. *Vibrio alginolyticus*associated wound infection acquired in British waters, Guernsey, July 2011. Euro Surveill. 2011. 16: pii: 19994.

REINA J, LOPEZ A. Gastroenteritis caused by *Aeromonas trota* in a child. J Clin Pathol. 1996. 49: 173-175.

REITH ME, SINGH RK, CURTIS B, BOYD JM, BOUEVITCH A, KIMBALL J, MUNHOLLAND J, MURPHY C, SARTY D, WILLIAMS J, NASH JH, JOHNSON SC, BROWN LL. The genome of *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida* A449: Insights into the evolution of a fish pathogen. BMC Genomics. 2008. 18: 427.

REYES-BECERRIL M, ASCENCIO-VALLE F, HIRONO I, KONDO H, JIRAPONGPAIROJ W, ESTEBAN MA, ALAMILLO E, ANGULO C. TLR21's agonists in combination with *Aeromonas* antigens synergistically up-regulate functional TLR21 and cytokine gene expression in yellowtail leucocytes. Dev Comp Immunol. 2016. 61: 107-115.

RICHTER M, ROSSELLÓ-MÓRA R. Shifting the genomic gold standard for the prokaryotic species definition. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 2009. 106: 19126-19131.

ROGER F, LAMY B, JUMAS-BILAK E, KODJO A, COLBVH STUDY GROUP, MARCHANDIN H. Ribosomal multi-operon diversity: an original perspective on the genus *Aeromonas*. PLoS One. 2012a. 7:e46268.

ROGER F, MARCHANDIN H, JUMAS-BILAK E, KODJO A, COLBVH STUDY GROUP, LAMY B. Multilocus genetics to reconstruct aeromonads evolution. BMC Microbiol. 2012b. 12: 62.

ROMERO A, SARACENI PR, MERINO S, FIGUERAS A, TOMÁS JM, NOVOA B. The animal model determines the results of *Aeromonas* virulence factors. Front Microbiol. 2016. 7: 1574.

ROSENZWEIG AC. Metallochaperones: bind and deliver. Chem Biol. 2002; 9: 673-677.

ROSENZWEIG JA, CHOPRA AK. The exoribonuclease polynucleotide phosphorylase influences the virulence and stress responses of yersiniae and many other pathogens. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2013. 3: 81.

ROSSELLÓ-MÓRA R. DNA-DNA reassociation methods applied to microbial taxonomy and their critical evaluation. Molecular identification, systematics, and population structure of prokaryotes. Ed. Stackebrandt E. SprigerVerlag. Alemania. 2006. pp. 23-50.

ROUF M, RIGNEY M. Growth temperatures and temperature characteristics of *Aeromonas*. Appl Microbiol. 1971. 22: 503–506.

ROULEAU FD, VINCENT AT, CHARETTE SJ. Genomic and phenotypic characterization of an atypical *Aeromonas salmonicida* strain isolated from a lumpfish and producing unusual granular structures. J Fish Dis. 2018. 41: 673–681.

RUBIN SJ, TILTON RC. Isolation of *Vibrio alginolyticus* from wound infections. J Clin Microbiol. 1975. 2: 556-558.

RUPPÉ E, CHERKAOUI A, WAGNER N, LA SCALA GC, BEAULIEU JY, GIRARD M, FREY J, LAZAREVIC V, SCHRENZEL J. *In vivo* selection of a multidrug-resistant *Aeromonas salmonicida* during medicinal leech therapy. New Microbes New Infect. 2017. 21: 23–27.

Ana Fernández Bravo

RYCHERT J, CREELY D, MAYO-SMITH LM, CALDERWOOD SB, IVERS LC, RYAN ET, BONCY J, QADRI F, AHMED D, FERRARO MJ, HARRIS JB. Evaluation of matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization-time of flight mass spectrometry for identification of *Vibrio cholerae*. J Clin Microbiol. 2015. 53: 329–331.

SALAUN B, ROMERO P, LEBECQUE S. Toll-like receptors' two-edged sword: when immunity meets apoptosis. Eur J Immunol. 2007. 37: 3311-3318.

SANARELLI G. Ueber einen neuen mikroorganismus des wassers, welcher fur thiere mit veräenderlicher und konstanter temperatur pathogen ist Zbl Bakt. 1981. 9: 193–199; 222–228.

SANCHEZ-CESPEDES J, BLASCO MD, MARTI S, ALBA V, ALCALDE E, ESTEVE C, VILA J. Plasmid-mediated QnrS2 determinant from a clinical *Aeromonas veronii* isolate. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2008. 52: 2990-2991.

SANCHIS M, GUARRO J, SUTTON DA, FOTHERGILL AW, WIEDERHOLD N, CAPILLA J. Voriconazole and posaconazole therapy for experimental *Candida lusitaniae* infection. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis. 2016. 84: 48–51.

SARANI B, STRONG M, PASCUAL J, SCHWAB CW. Necrotizing fasciitis: current concepts and review of the literature. J Am Coll Surg. 2009. 28: 279-288.

SAUTOUR M, MARY P, CHIHIB NE, HORNEZ JP. The effects of temperature, water activity and pH on the growth of *Aeromonas hydrophila* and on its subsequent survival in microcosm water. J Appl Microbiol. 2003. *95*: 807-813.

SCHMIDT O, WUST PK, HELLMUTH S, BORST K, HORN MA, DRAKE HL. Novel [NiFe]- and [FeFe]-hydrogenase gene transcripts indicative of active facultative aerobes and obligate anaerobes in earthworm gut contents. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2011. 77: 5842-5850.

SCHNABL SM, KUNZ C, UNGLAUB F, POLYKANDRIOTIS E, HORCH R E, DRAGU A. Acute postoperative infection with *Aeromonas hydrophila* after using medical leeches for treatment of venous congestion. Archives Orthop Trauma Surg. 2010. 130: 1323-1328.

SCHUBERT RH. Aeromonads and their significance as potential pathogens in water. In Soc Appl Bacteriol Symp Ser. 1991. 20:131S.

SCHUBERT RH, HEGAZI M. *Aeromonas eucrenophila* species nova *Aeromonas caviae* a later and illegitimate synonym of *Aeromonas punctata*. Zentralbl Bakteriol Mikrobiol Hyg A. 1988. 268: 34-39.

SCHUBERT RHW, HEGAZI M, WAHLIG W. Aeromonas enteropelogenes species nova. Hyg Med. 1990. 15: 1-472.

SEEMANN T. Prokka: Rapid prokaryotic genome annotation. Bioinformatics. 2014. 30: 2068–2069.

SEGAL AW. How neutrophils kill microbes. Annu Rev Immunolo. 2005. 23: 197-223.

SELLEGOUNDER D, GUPTA YR, MURUGANANTHKUMAR R, SENTHILKUMARAN B. Enterotoxic effects of *Aeromonas hydrophila* infection in the catfish, *Clarias gariepinus*: Biochemical, histological and proteome analyses. Vet immunol Immunopatho 2018. 204: 1-10.

SENDEROVICH Y, SHIFRA KD, VAINBLAT I, BLAU D, IZHAKI I, HALPERN M. A molecular study on the prevalence and virulence potential of *Aeromonas* spp. recovered from patients suffering from diarrhoea in Israel. PLoS One. 2012. 7:e3007.

SEPE A, BARBIERI P, PEDUZZI R, DEMARTA A. Evaluation of *recA* sequencing for the classification of *Aeromonas* strains at the genotype level. Lett Appl Microbiol. 2008. 46: 439-444.

SESHADRI R, JOSEPH SW, CHOPRA AK, SHA J, SHAW J, GRAF J, HAFT D, WU M, REN Q, ROSOVITZ MJ, MADUPU R, TALLON L, KIM M, JIN S, VUONG H, STINE OC, ALI A, HORNEMAN AJ, HEIDELBERG JF. Genome sequence of *Aeromonas hydrophila* ATCC 7966T, jack of all trades. J Bacteriol. 2006. 188: 8272–8282.

SEVER R, GOLDSTEIN AL, STEINBERG E, SOFFER D. Trauma with a touch of fresh water: necrotizing fasciitis caused by *Aeromonas hydrophilia* after a motorcycle accident. Am Surg 2013. 79: E326.

SGANGA G, COZZA V, SPANU T, SPADA PL, FADDA G. Global climate change and wound care: case study of an off-season *Vibrio alginolyticus* infection in a healthy man. Ostomy Wound Manage. 2009. 55: 60-62.

Ana Fernández Bravo

SHA J, PILLAI L, FADL AA, GALINDO CL, EROVA TE, CHOPRA AK. The type III secretion system and cytotoxic enterotoxin alter the virulence of *Aeromonas hydrophila*. Infect Immun. 2005. 73: 6446-6457.

SHAK JR, WHITAKER JA, RIBNER BS, BURD EM. Aminoglycoside-resistant *Aeromonas hydrophila* as part of a polymicrobial infection following a traumatic fall into freshwater. J Clin Microbiol. 2011. 49: 1169-1170.

SHAN S, LIU D, LIU R, ZHU Y, LI T, ZHANG F, LIH. Non-mammalian Toll-like receptor 18 (Tlr18) recognizes bacterial pathogens in common carp (*Cyprinus carpio* L.): indications for a role of participation in the NF- κ B signaling pathway. Fish Shellfish Immunol 2018.72: 187-198.

SHARMA A, DUBEY N, SHARAN B. Characterization of aeromonads isolated from the river Narmada, India. Int J Hyg Environ Health. 2005. 208: 425-433.

SHELLY A, BANERJEE C, SAURAV GK, RAY A, RANA VS, RAMAN R, MAZUMDER S. *Aeromonas hydrophila*-induced alterations in cytosolic calcium activate pro-apoptotic cPKC-MEK1/2-TNFα axis in infected headkidney macrophages of *Clarias gariepinus*. Dev Comp Immunol. 2017 .76: 392-402.

SHILOH MU, NATHAN CF. Reactive nitrogen intermediates and the pathogenesis of *Salmonella* and mycobacteria. Curr Opin Microbiol. 2000. 3: 35-42.

SHIN HB, YOON J, LEE Y, KIM MS, LEE K. Comparison of MALDI-TOF MS, housekeeping gene sequencing, and 16S rRNA gene sequencing for identification of *Aeromonas* clinical isolates. Yonsei Med J. 2015. 56: 550-555.

SHIZUMA T, TANAKA C, MORI H, FUKUYAMA N. Investigation of Bacteremia due to *Aeromonas* species and comparison with that due to enterobacteria in patients with liver cirrhosis. Gastroenterol Res Pract. 2011. 2011: 930826.

SHRESTHA N, BALNAN W, WILEY DJ, BARBER G, FIELDS KA, SCHESSER K. Eukaryotic initiation factor 2(elF2) signaling regulates proinflammatory cytokine expression and bacterial invasion. J. Biol. Chem. 2012. 287: 28738–28744

SIERRA JC, SUAREZ G, SHA J, BAZE WB, FOLTZ SM, CHOPRA AK. Unraveling the mechanism of action of a new type III secretion system effector AexU from *Aeromonas hydrophila*. Microbi Pathog. 2010. 49: 122-134.

SINGH DV, SANYAL SC. Enteropathogenicity of *Aeromonas jandaei* and *A. trota*. FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol. 1997. 17: 243-250.

SISTI M, ALBANO A, BRANDI G. Bactericidal effect of chlorine on motile Aeromonas spp. in drinking water supplies and influence of temperature on disinfection efficacy. Lett Appl Microbiol. 1998. 26: 347-351.

SOGAWA K, WATANABE M, SATO K, SEGAWA S, MIYABE A, MURATA S, SAITO T, NOMURA F. Rapid identification of microorganisms by mass spectrometry: improved performance by incorporation of in-house spectral data into a commercial database. Anal Bioanal Chem. 2012. 403: 1811–1822.

SOLER L, FIGUERAS MJ, CHACÓN MR, GUARRO J, MARTÍNEZ-MURCIA AJ. Comparison of three molecular methods for typing *Aeromonas popoffii* isolates. Antonie van Leeuwenhoek. 2003a. 83: 341-349.

SOLER L, FIGUERAS MJ, CHACÓN MR, VILA J, MARCO F, MARTÍNEZ-MURCIA AJ, GUARRO J. Potential virulence and antimicrobial susceptibility of *Aeromonas popoffii* recovered from freshwater and seawater. FEMS Immun Med Microbiol. 2002. 32: 243-247.

SOLER L, MARCO F, VILA J, CHACON MR, GUARRO J, FIGUERAS MJ. Evaluation of two miniaturized systems, MicroScan W/A and BBL Crystal E/NF, for identification of clinical isolates of *Aeromonas* spp. J Clin Microbiol. 2003b. 41: 5732–5734.

SOLER L, YAÑEZ MA, CHACÓN MR, AGUILERA-ARREOLA MG, CATALÁN V, FIGUERAS MJ, MARTÍNEZ-MURCIA AJ. Phylogenetic analysis of the genus *Aeromonas* based on two housekeeping genes. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2004. 54: 1511-1519.

SONG X, HU X, SUN B, BO Y, WU K, XIAO L, GONG C. A transcriptome analysis focusing on inflammation-related genes of grass carp intestines following infection with *Aeromonas hydrophila*. Sci Rep. 2017. 7: 40777.

SOOD S, NERURKAR V. Fatal necrotizing soft tissue infection by *Aeromonas hydrophila*. J Clin Diagn Res. 2014. 8: DD06-DD07.

Ana Fernández Bravo

SORIANO–VARGAS E, CASTRO–ESCARPULLI G, AGUILERA–ARREOLA MG, VEGA–CASTILLO F, SALGADO-MIRANDA C. Aislamiento e identificación de *Aeromonas bestiarum* a partir de carpa común de cultivo (*Cyprinus carpio* L.) procedentes de Santa María Chapa de Mota, Estado de México, México. Vet México. 2010. 41: 111-115.

SPADARO S, BERSELLI A, MARANGONI E, ROMANELLO A, COLAMUSSI MV, RAGAZZI R, ZARDI S, VOLTA CA. *Aeromonas sobria* necrotizing fasciitis and sepsis in an immunocompromised patient: a case report and review of the literature. J Med Case Rep. 2014. 8: 315.

SPATARO N, FARFÁN M, ALBARRAL V, SANGLAS A, LORÉN JG, FUSTÉ MC, BOSCH E. Draft genome sequence of *Aeromonas molluscorum* strain 848TT, isolated from bivalve molluscs. Genome Announc. 2013. 1: e00382-13.

SRIVASTAVA N, SHELLY A, KUMAR M, PANT A, DAS B, MAJUMDAR T, MAZUMDER S. *Aeromonas hydrophila* utilizes TLR4 topology for synchronous activation of MyD88 and TRIF to orchestrate anti-inflammatory responses in zebrafish. Cell Death Discov. 2017. 3: 17067.

STACKEBRANDT E, FREDERIKSEN W, GARRITY GM, GRIMONT PAD, KÄMPFER P, MAIDEN MCJ, NESME X, ROSSELLÓMÓRA R, SWINGS J, TRÜPER HG, VAUTERIN L, WARD AC, WHITMAN WB. Report of the ad hoc committee for the re-evaluation of the species definition in bacteriology. Int.J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2002. 52: 1043-1047.

STAINER RY. A note on the taxonomy of *P. hydrophilus*. J Bacteriol. 1943. 46: 213-214.

STEVENS DL BRYANT AE. Necrotizing soft-tissue infections. N Engl J Med 2017. 377:2253-65.

STRASSER A, O'CONNOR L, DIXIT VM. Apoptosis signaling. Annu Rev Biochem. 2000. 69: 217-245.

SU J, YANG C, XIONG F, WANG Y, ZHU. Z. Toll-like receptor 4 signaling pathway can be triggered by grass carp reovirus and *Aeromonas hydrophila* infection in rare minnow *Gobiocypris rarus*. Fish Shellfish Immunol 2009. 27: 33-39.

SUAREZ G, SIERRA JC, KIRTLEY ML, CHOPRA AK. Role of Hcp, a type 6 secretion system effector, of *Aeromonas hydrophila* in modulating activation of host immune cells. Microbiology. 2010. 156: 3678-3688.

SUKSOMTIP M, LIU P, ANDERSON T, TUNGPRADABKUL S, WOOD DW, NESTER EW. Citrate synthase mutants of *Agrobacterium* are attenuated in virulence and display reduced *vir* gene induction. J Bacteriol. 2005. 187: 4844-4852.

SZEWCZYK U, SZEWCZYK R, MANZ W, SCHLEIFER KH. Microbial safety of drinking water. Annu Rev Microbiol. 2002. 54: 81–127.

TAK PP, FIRESTEIN GS. NF-κB: a key role in inflammatory diseases. J Clin Invest. 2001. 107: 7-11.

TAKEUCHI O, AKIRA S. Pattern recognition receptors and inflammation. Cell. 2010. 140: 805-820.

TAKEUCHI O, HOSHINO K, KAWAI T, SANJO H, TAKADA H, OGAWA T, TAKEDA K, AKIRA S. Differential roles of TLR2 and TLR4 in recognition of gramnegative and gram-positive bacterial cell wall components. Immun 1999. 11:443-451.

TAMURA K, STECHER G, PETERSON D, FILIPSKI A, KUMAR S. MEGA6: molecular evolutionary genetics analysis version 6.0. Mol Biol Evol. 2013 30: 2725-2729.

TANAKA KH, DALLAIRE-DUFRESNE S, DAHER RK, FRENETTE M, CHARETTE SJ. An insertion sequence-dependent plasmid rearrangement in *Aeromonas* salmonicida causes the loss of the type three secretion system. PLoS One. 2012. 7: e33725.

TATUSOVA T, DICUCCIO M, BADRETDIN A, CHETVERNIN V, NAWROCKI EP, ZASLAVSKY L, LOMSADZE A, PRUITT K, BORODOVSKY M, OSTELL J. NCBI prokaryotic genome annotation pipeline. Nucleic Acids Res. 2016. 44: 6614-6624.

TENA D, ASPÍROZ C, FIGUERAS MJ, GONZÁLEZ-PRAETORIUS A, ALDEA MJ, ALPERÍ A, BISQUERT J. Surgical site infection due to *Aeromonas* species: report of nine cases and literature review. Scand J Infect Dis. 2009. 41: 164-170.

TENA D, GONZÁLEZ-PRAETORIUS A, GIMENO C, PÉREZ-POMATA MT, BISQUERT J. Extraintestinal infection due to *Aeromonas* spp.: review of 38 cases. Enf Inf Microbiol Clin. 2007. 25: 235-241.

Ana Fernández Bravo

TEUNIS P, FIGUERAS MJ. Reassessment of the enteropathogenicity of mesophilic *Aeromonas* species. Front Microbiol. 2016. 7: 1395.

TEWARI R, DUDEJA M, NANDY S, DAS AK. Isolation of *Aeromonas salmonicida* from human blood sample: A case report. J Clin Diagnostic Res. 2014. 8: 139–140.

THOMAS LV, GROSS RJ, CHEASTY T, ROWE B. Extended serogrouping scheme for motile, mesophilic *Aeromonas* species. J Clin Microbiol. 1990. 28: 980-984.

TIAN L, ZHOU XQ, JIANG WD, LIU Y, WU P, JIANG J, XIE F. Sodium butyrate improved intestinal immune function associated with NF- κ B and p38MAPK signalling pathways in young grass carp (*Ctenopharyngodon idella*). Fish Shellfish Immunol. 2017. 66: 548-563.

TING JP, LOVERING RC, ALNEMRI ES, BERTIN J, BOSS JM, DAVIS BK, et al. The NLR gene family: a standard nomenclature. Immunity. 2008. **28**: 285–7.

THOMPSON FL, IIDA T, SWINGS J. Biodiversity of vibrios. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev. 2004. 68: 403-431.

TISONCIK JR, KORTH MJ, SIMMONS CP, FARRAR J, MARTIN TR, KATZE MG. Into the eye of the cytokine storm. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev. 2012. 76: 16-32.

TOMÁS JM. The main *Aeromonas* pathogenic factors. ISRN Microbiol. 2012. 12: 256-261.

TREASURER JW, BIRKBECK TH, LAIDLER LA, COX DI. Atypical *Aeromonas salmonicida* infection in naturally-and laboratory-challenged farmed haddock, *Melanogrammus aeglefinus* (L.). J Fish Dis. 2007. 30: 313-318.

TRUDEL MV, VINCENT AT, ATTÉRÉ SA, LABBÉ M, DEROME N, CULLEY AI, CHARETTE SJ. Diversity of antibiotic-resistance genes in Canadian isolates of *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida*: dominance of pSN254b and discovery of pAsa8. Sci Rep. 2016. 6: 35617.

TSAI YH, HUANG KC, HUANG TJ, HSU WH. Case reports: fatal necrotizing fasciitis caused by *Aeromonas sobria* in two diabetic patients. Clin Orthop Relat Res. 2009. 467: 846-849.

TSUCHIYA S, YAMABE M, YAMAGUCHI Y, KOBAYASHI Y, KONNO T, TADA

K. Establishment and characterization of a human acute monocytic leukemia cell line (THP-1). Int J Cancer. 1980. 26: 171-176.

TREASURER JW, BIRKBECK TH, LAIDLER LA, COX DI. Atypical *Aeromonas* salmonicida infection in naturally-and laboratory-challenged farmed haddock, *Melanogrammus aeglefinus* (L.). J Fish Dis. 2007. 30: 313-318.

UH Y, PARK JS, HWANG GY, JANG IH, YOON KJ, PARK HC, HWANG SO. *Vibrio alginolyticus* acute gastroenteritis: report of two cases. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2001. 7: 104-106.

USSERY DW, KIIL K, LAGESEN K, SICHERITZ-PONTEN T, BOHLIN J, WASSENAAR TM. The genus *Burkholderia*: analysis of 56 genomic sequences. Microb Pathogen. 2009. 6: 140-157.

VAN DER KOOIJ D, MARTIJN B, SCHAAP PG, HOOGENBOEZEM W, VEENENDAAL HR, VAN DER WIELEN PW. Improved biostability assessment of drinking water with a suite of test methods at a water supply treating eutrophic lake water. Water Res :2015. 87 347-355.

VARSHNEY A, DAS M, CHAUDHARY P, KUMARI R, YADAV K. *Aeromonas salmonicida* as a causative agent for postoperative endophthalmitis. Middle East Afr J Ophthalmol. 2017. 24: 213–215.

VÁVROVÁ A, BALÁŽOVÁ T, SEDLÁČEK I, TVRZOVÁ L, ŠEDO O. Evaluation of the MALDI-TOF MS profiling for identification of newly described *Aeromonas* spp. Folia Microbiol (Praha). 2015. 60: 375-383.

VEGA-SÁNCHEZ V, ACOSTA-DIBARRAT J, VEGA-CASTILLO F, CASTRO-ESCARPULLI G, AGUILERA-ARREOLA MG, SORIANO-VARGAS E. Phenotypical characteristics, genetic identification, and antimicrobial sensitivity of *Aeromonas* species isolated from farmed rainbow trout (*Onchorynchus mykiss*) in Mexico. Acta Trop. 2014. 130: 76-79.

VEGA-SÁNCHEZ V, LATIF-EUGENÍN F, SORIANO-VARGAS E, BEAZ-HIDALGO R, FIGUERAS MJ, AGUILERA-ARREOLA MG, CASTRO-ESCARPULLI G. Re-identification of *Aeromonas* isolates from rainbow trout and incidence of class 1 integron and β-lactamase genes. Vet Microbiol. 2014. 172: 528-533.

Ana Fernández Bravo

VERSALOVIC J, KOEUTH T, LUPSKI JR. Distribution of repetitive DNA sequences in eubacteria and application to fingerprinting of bacterial genomes. Nucleic Acids Res. 1991. 19: 6823-6831.

VESTH T, LAGESEN K, ACAR Ö, USSERY D. CMG-biotools, a free workbench for basic comparative microbial genomics. PloS One. 2013. 8: e60120.

VIDAL JM, KAWABATA TT, THORPE R, SILVA-LIMA B, CEDERBRANT K, POOLE S, MUELLER-BERGHAUS J, PALLARDY M, VAN DER LAAN JW. *In vitro* cytokine release assays for predicting cytokine release syndrome: the current state-of-thescience. Report of a European Medicines Agency Workshop. Cytokine. 2010. 51: 213-215.

VIGNAIS PM, BILLOUD B. Occurrence, classification, and biological function of hydrogenases: an overview. Chem Rev. 2007. 107: 4206-4272.

VILA J, RUIZ J, GALLARDO F, MARTHA V, LARA S, FIGUERAS MJ, GASCON J. *Aeromonas* spp. and traveler's diarrhea: clinical features and antimicrobial resistance. Emerg Infect Dis. 2003. 9: 552-555.

VILCHES S, JIMENEZ N, TOMÁS JM, MERINO S. *Aeromonas hydrophila* AH-3 type III secretion system expression and regulatory network. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 2009. 75: 6382-6392.

VILCHES S, URGELL C, MERINO S, CHACÓN M, SOLER L, CASTRO-ESCARPULLI G, FIGUERAS MJ, TOMÁS JM. Complete type III secretion system of a mesophilic *Aeromonas hydrophila* strain. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2004. 70: 6914-6919.

VILCHES S, WILHELMS M, YU HB, LEUNG KY, TOMÁS JM, MERINO S. *Aeromonas hydrophila* AH-3 AexT is an ADP ribosylating toxin secreted through the type III secretion system. Microb Pathog. 2008. 44: 112.

VINCENT AT, ROULEAU FD, MOINEAU S, CHARETTE SJ. Study of mesophilic *Aeromonas salmonicida* A527 strain sheds light on the species' lifestyles and taxonomic dilemma. FEMS Microbiol Lett. 2017. 364: fnx239.

VINCENT AT, TANAKA KH, TRUDEL MV, FRENETTE M, DEROME N, CHARETTE SJ. Draft genome sequences of two *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida* isolates harboring plasmids conferring antibiotic resistance. FEMS Microbiol Lett. 2015. 362. VINCENT AT, TRUDEL MV, FRESCHI L, NAGAR V, GAGNÉ-THIVIERGE C, LEVESQUE RC, CHARETTE SJ. Increasing genomic diversity and evidence of constrained lifestyle evolution due to insertion sequences in *Aeromonas salmonicida*. BMC Genomics. 2016. 17: 44.

VINCENT AT, TRUDEL MV, PAQUET VE, BOYLE B, TANAKA KH, DALLAIRE-DUFRESNE S, DAHER RK, FRENETTE M, DEROME N, CHARETTE SJ. Detection of variants of the pRAS3, pAB5S9, and pSN254 plasmids in *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *salmonicida*: multidrug-resistance, interspecies exchanges, and plasmid reshaping. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2014. 58: 7367–7374.

VIVAS J, SÁA AI, TINAJAS A, BARBEYTO L, RODRÍGUEZ LA. Identification of motile *Aeromonas* strains with the Microscan walkaway system in conjunction with the combo negative type 1S panels. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2000. 66: 1764-1766.

VON GRAEVENITZ A. The role of *Aeromonas* in diarrhea: a review. Infection. 2007. 35: 59.

WAHID SUH. Structural and functional characterization of the *Helicobacter pylori* cytidine 5'-monophosphate-pseudaminic acid synthase PseF: molecular insight into substrate recognition and catalysis mechanism. 2017. Adv Appl Bioinform Chem. 10: 79-88.

WALDRIDGE BM, STEWART AJ, TAYLOR DC, SAVILLE WJ. The Incidence of *Aeromonas* species in the feces of nondiarrheic Horses. Journal Equin Vet Sci. 2011. 31: 700-702.

WALDRON KJ, RUTHERFORD JC, FORD D, ROBINSON NJ. Metalloproteins and metal sensing. Nature. 2009. 460: 823-830.

WANG G, CLARK CG, RODGERS FG. Detection in *Escherichia coli* of the genes encoding the major virulence factors, the genes defining the O157:H7 serotype, and components of the type 2 Shiga toxin family by multiplex PCR. J Clin Microbiol. 2002. 40: 3613-3619.

WANG HC, KO WC, SHU HY, CHEN PL, WANG YC, WU CJ. Genome sequence of *Aeromonas taiwanensis* LMG 24683T, a clinical wound isolate from taiwan. Genome Announc. 2014. 2: e00579-14.

Ana Fernández Bravo

WATANABE S, KAWASHIMA T, NISHITANI Y, KANAI T, WADA T, INABA K, ATOMI H, IMANAKA T, MIKI K. Structural basis of a Ni acquisition cycle for [NiFe] hydrogenase by Ni-metallochaperone HypA and its enhancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2015. 112: 7701-7706.

WATTAM AR, DAVIS JJ, ASSAF R, BOISVERT S, BRETTIN T, BUN C, CONRAD N, DIETRICH EM, DISZ T, GABBARD JL, GERDES S, HENRY CS, KENYON RW, MACHI D, MAO C, NORDBERG EK, OLSEN GJ, MURPHY-OLSON DE, OLSON R, OVERBEEK R, PARRELLO B, PUSCH GD, SHUKLA M, VONSTEIN V, WARREN A, XIA F, YOO H, STEVENS RL. Improvements to PATRIC, the all-bacterial bioinformatics database and analysis resource center. Nucleic Acids Res. 2017. 45: D535–D542.

WEBER B, HASIC M, CHEN C, WAI SN, MILTON DL. Type VI secretion modulates quorum sensing and stress response in *Vibrio anguillarum*. Environ Microbiol. 2009. 11: 3018-3028.

WEISS G, CARVER PL. Role of divalent metals in infectious disease susceptibility and outcome. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2018. 24: 16-23.

WILLIAMS TL, ANDRZEJEWSKI D, LAY JO, MUSSER SM. Experimental factors affecting the quality and reproducibility of MALDI TOF mass spectra obtained from whole bacteria cells. J Am Soc Mass Spectrom. 2003. 14: 342–351.

WILSON LA, SHARP PM. Enterobacterial repetitive intergenic consensus (ERIC) sequences in *Escherichia coli*: Evolution and implications for ERIC-PCR. Mol Biol Evol. 2006. 23: 1156-1168.

WINTER G, BUHRKE T, LENZ O, JONES AK, FORGBER M, FRIEDRICH B. A model system for [NiFe] hydrogenase maturation studies: Purification of an active site-containing hydrogenase large subunit without small subunit. FEBS Lett. 2005. 579: 4292-4296.

WHOLEY WY, JAKOB U. Hsp33 confers bleach resistance by protecting elongation factor Tu against oxidative degradation in *Vibrio cholerae*. Mol Microbiol. 2012. 83: 981-991.

WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION. Guidelines for Drinking-Water Quality. Addendum: Microbiological Agents in Drinking-Water, *Aeromonas* pp. 1-17. WorldHealth Organization, Geneva, Switzerland, 2nd edition, 2002.

WOESE CR. Bacterial evolution. Microbiol Rev. 1987. 51: 221.

WU CJ, CHEN PL, HSUEH PR, CHANG MC, TSAI PJ, SHIH HI, WANG HC, CHOU PH, KO WC. Clinical implications of species identification in monomicrobial *Aeromonas* bacteremia. PLoS One. 2015. 10:e0117821.

WU CJ, CHEN PL, TANG HJ, CHEN HM, TSENG FC, SHIH HI, HUNG YP, CHUNG CH, KO WC. Incidence of *Aeromonas* bacteremia in southern Taiwan: *Vibrio* and *Salmonella* bacteremia as comparators. J Microbiol Immunol Infect. 2012a. 47: 145-148.

WU CJ, TSAI PJ, CHEN PL, WU IC, LIN YT, CHEN YH, WANG LR, KO WC. *Aeromonas aquariorum* septicemia and enterocolitis in a cirrhotic patient. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis. 2012b. 74: 406-408.

WU CJ, WANG HC, CHEN CS, SHU HY, KAO AW, CHEN PL, KO WC. Genome sequence of a novel human pathogen, *Aeromonas aquariorum*. J Bacteriol. 2012c. 194: 4114-4115.

WU CJ, WU JJ, YAN JJ, LEE HC, LEE NY, CHANG CM, SHIH HI, WU HM, WANG LR, KO WC. Clinical significance and distribution of putative virulence markers of 116 consecutive clinical *Aeromonas* isolates in southern Taiwan. J Infect. 2007. 54: 151-158.

XIA W, LI H, SZE KH, SUN H. Structure of a nickel chaperone, HypA, from *Helicobacter pylori* reveals two distinct metal binding sites. J Am Chem Soc. 2009. 131: 10031-10040.

XU LL, WARREN MK, ROSE WL, GONG W, WANG JM. Human recombinant monocyte chemotactic protein and other C-C chemokines bind and induce directional migration of dendritic cells in vitro. J Leukoc Biol. 1996. 60(3), 365-371.

XU QQ, XU P, ZHOU JW, PAN TS, TUO R, AI K, YANG DQ. Cloning and expression analysis of two pro-inflammatory cytokines, IL-1 β and its receptor, IL-1R2, in the Asian swamp eel *Monopterus albus*. Mol Biol. 2016. 50: 671-683.

YANG X, YANG QQ, GUO QY, YI CY, MAO HP, LIN JX, JIANG ZP, YU XQ. *Aeromonas salmonicida* peritonitis after eating fish in a patient undergoing CAPD. Perit Dial Int. 2008. 28: 316-317.

Ana Fernández Bravo

YANG JL, ZHAN WB, ZHOU L, XING J. Purification, virulence and characterization of an extracellular peptidase produced by *Aeromonas salmonicida* subsp. *masoucida* isolated from cultured sea cucumber *Apostichopus japonicus*. Dis Aquat Organ. 2008a. 82: 223-229.

YANO Y, HAMANO K, TSUTSUI I, AUE-UMNEOY D, BAN M, SATOMI M. Occurrence, molecular characterization, and antimicrobial susceptibility of *Aeromonas* spp. in marine species of shrimps cultured at inland low salinity ponds. Food Microbiol. 2015. 47: 21-27.

YÁÑEZ MA, CATALÁN V, APRAIZ D, FIGUERAS MJ, MARTÍNEZ-MURCIA AJ. Phylogenetic analysis of members of the genus *Aeromonas* based on *gyrB* gene sequences. Int J Syst Evol Microbiol. 2003. 53: 875-883.

YARAHMADI, P., MIANDARE, H. K., FAYAZ, S., & CAIPANG, C. M. A. Increased stocking density causes changes in expression of selected stress-and immune-related genes, humoral innate immune parameters and stress responses of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Fish Shellfish Immunol.* 2016 48: 43-53.

YATES SP, TAYLOR PL, JØRGENSEN R, FERRARIS D, ZHANG J, ANDERSEN GR, ET AL. Structure–function analysis of water-soluble inhibitors of the catalytic domain of exotoxin A from *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*. Biochem J. 2005. 385: 667-675.

YI SW, YOU MJ, CHO HS, LEE CS, KWON JK, SHIN GW. Molecular characterization of *Aeromonas* species isolated from farmed eels (*Anguilla japonica*). Vet Microbiol. 2013. 164: 195-200.

YU L, LI CH, CHEN J. A novel CC chemokine ligand 2 like gene from ayu Plecoglossus altivelis is involved in the innate immune response against to *Vibrio anguillarum*. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 2019. 87: 886-896.

YU HB, ZHANG YL, LAU YL, YAO F, VILCHES S, MERINO S, LEUNG KY. Identification and characterization of putative virulence genes and gene clusters in *Aeromonas hydrophila* PPD134/91. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 2005. 71: 4469-4477.

YUCEL N, ERDOGAN S. Virulence properties and characterization of aeromonads isolated from foods of animal origin and environmental sources. J Food Prot. 2010. 73: 855-860.

ZANETTI S, DERIU A, VOLTERRA L, FALCHI MP, MOLICOTTI P, FADDA G, SECHI L. Virulence factos in *Vibrio alginolyticus* strains isolated from aquatic environments. Ann Ig. 2000. 12: 487-491.

ZDANOVSKY AG, CHIRON M, PASTAN I, FITZGERALD DJ. Mechanism of action of *Pseudomonas* exotoxin. Identification of a rate-limiting step. J Biol Chem. 1993. 268: 21791-21799.

ZENG WB, CHEN WB, YAN QP, LIN GF, QIN YX. Hemerythrin is required for *Aeromonas hydrophlia* to survive in the macrophages of *Anguilla japonica*. Genet Mol Res. 2016. 15: gmr8074.

ZHANG L, HINZ AJ, NADEAU JP, MAH TF. *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* tssC1 links type VI secretion and biofilm-specific antibiotic resistance. J. Bacteriol. 2011. 193: 5510–5513.

ZHANG J, LI L, KONG X, WU F, ZHOU C, NIE G, LI X. Expression patterns of Tolllike receptors in natural triploid *Carassius auratus* after infection with *Aeromonas hydrophila*. Vet Immunol Immunopathol. 2015. 168: 77-82.

ZHANG D, MOREIRA GSA, SHOEMAKER C, NEWTON JC, XU DH. Detection and quantification of virulent *Aeromonas hydrophila* in channel catfish tissues following waterborne challenge. FEMS Microbiol Lett. 2016. 363: fnw080.

ZHANG Q, SHI GQ, TANG GP, ZOU ZT, YAO GH, ZENG G. A foodborne outbreak of *Aeromonas hydrophila* in a college, Xingyi City, Guizhou, China, 2012. Western Pac Surveill Response J. 2012. 3: 39.

ZHANG XT, ZHANG GR, SHI ZC, YUAN YJ, ZHENG H, LIN L, WEI KJ, JI W. Expression analysis of nine Toll-like receptors in yellow catfish (*Pelteobagrus fulvidraco*) responding to *Aeromonas hydrophila* challenge. Fish Shellfish Immunol. 2017. 63: 384-393. UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI EPIDEMIOLOGY AND PATHOGENIC CHARACTERIZATION OF SPECIES OF THE GENUS AEROMONAS Ana Fernández Bravo UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI EPIDEMIOLOGY AND PATHOGENIC CHARACTERIZATION OF SPECIES OF THE GENUS AEROMONAS Ana Fernández Bravo

8. SUPPLEMENTARY



UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI EPIDEMIOLOGY AND PATHOGENIC CHARACTERIZATION OF SPECIES OF THE GENUS AEROMONAS Ana Fernández Bravo

Supplementary

Supplementary	table S1.	Strains	used for	the	experiment
					1

Species	Strain	Source	Study
A. salmonicida	AJ83	Wound infection	4.2.
A. salmonicida	947C	Wound infection	4.2.
A. salmonicida	A308	Water	4.2.
A. salmonicida	34 mel ^T	Fish	4.2.
A. salmonicida	Y47	Chicken	4.2.
A. salmonicida	A527	Giant river prawn	4.2.
V. alginlolyitus	1182C	Feces	4.3.
V. alginlolyitus	153834	Wound infection	4.3.
A. trota	1183C	Feces	4.4.
A. hydrophila	PS	Fish	4.5.
A. hydrophila	17164	Fish	4.5.
A. hydrophila	87	Fish	4.5.
A. hydrophila	ESV-356	Gill from fish	4.5.
A. hydrophila	ESV-357	Spleen from fish	4.5.
A. hydrophila	ESV-370	Gill from fish	4.5.
A. hydrophila	ESV-371	Intestine from fish	4.5.
A. hydrophila	ESV-380	Intestine from fish	4.5.
A. hvdrophila	ESV-381	Gill from fish	4.5.
A. hvdrophila	ESV-399	Gill from fish	4.5.
A. salmonicida	ESV-396	Boil from fish	4.5.
A. salmonicida	CECT 4239	Fish	4.5.
A. salmonicida	CECT 4253	Brook trout	4.5.
A. salmonicida	CECT 4238	Fish	4.5.
A. salmonicida	CECT 896	Blood from fish	4.5.
A. salmonicida	18894	Salmon	4.5.
A. salmonicida	18895	Fish	4.5.
A. salmonicida	18900	Canadian perch	4.5.
A. salmonicida	18902	Salmon	4.5.
A. salmonicida	33753	Salmon	4.5.
A. sobria	ESV-355	Intestine from fish	4.5.
A. sobria	ESV-361	Gill from fish	4.5.
A. sobria	ESV-369	Kidney from fish	4.5.
A. sobria	ESV-372	Spleen from fish	4.5.
A. sobria	ESV-390	Gill from fish	4.5.
A. sobria	CECT 4245	Gill from fish	4.5.
A. sobria	CECT 4251	Gill from fish	4.5.

Ana Fernández Bravo

Supplementary table S1. Continued

Species	Strain	Source	Study
A. sobria	CECT 4249	Gill from fish	4.5.
A. veronii	01.1	Fish	4.5.
A. veronii	01.2	Fish	4.5.
A. veronii	04.1	Fish	4.5.
A. veronii	04.2	Fish	4.5.
A. veronii	06.1	Fish	4.5.
A. veronii	06.2	Fish	4.5.
A. veronii	ESV-386	Fish	4.5.
A. veronii	ESV-400	Spleen from fish	4.5.
A. veronii	09.2	Fish	4.5.
A. veronii	09.1	Fish	4.5.
A. bestiarum	ESV-352	Kidney from fish	4.5.
A. bestiarum	ESV-353	Spleen for fish	4.5.
A. bestiarum	ESV-363	Liver from fish	4.5.
A. bestiarum	ESV-364	Spleen for fish	4.5.
A. bestiarum	ESV-365	Fish	4.5.
A. bestiarum	ESV-366	Spleen for fish	4.5.
A. bestiarum	ESV-367	Gills from fish	4.5.
A. bestiarum	ESV-375	Gills from fish	4.5.
A. bestiarum	ESV-376	Gills from fish	4.5.
A. bestiarum	ESV-384	Gills from fish	4.5.
A. popoffi	ESV-354	Gills from fish	4.5.
A. popoffi	ESV-358	Gills from fish	4.5.
A. popoffi	AE3	Lake water	4.5.
A. popoffi	AE9	Lake water	4.5.
A. popoffi	AE14	Lake water	4.5.
A. popoffi	AE17	Lake water	4.5.
A. popoffi	AE20	Lake water	4.5.
A. popoffi	AE25	Lake water	4.5.
A. popoffi	AE121	Lake water	4.5.
A. popoffi	AE123	Lake water	4.5.
A. lusitana	ESV-351	Rainbow trout	4.6.

Supplementary

Strain	Source	Source	Study
A. lusitana	CECT 7828 ^T	Untreated water	4.6.
A. lusitana	MDC 2467	Untreated water	4.6.
A. lusitana	MDC 2468	Vegetables	4.6.
A. lusitana	MDC 2469	Vegetables	4.6.
A. lusitana	MDC 2472	Untreated water	4.6.
A. hydrophila	CECT 839 ^T	Milk	4.7.
A. salmonicida	CECT 894 ^T	Salmon	4.7.
A. jandaei	CECT 4228 ^T	Human feces	4.7. and 4.9.
A. caviae	CECT 838 ^T	Guinea pig	4.7. and 4.9.
A. dhakensis	CECT 5744 ^T	Children feces	4.7. and 4.9.
A. veronii	CECT 4257 ^T	Sputum	4.7. and 4.9.
A. hydrophila	NF1	Necrotizing fasciitis	4.8.
A. hydrophila	NF2	Necrotizing fasciitis	4.8.
A. hydrophila	NF1-exoA	Necrotizing fasciitis	4.8.
A. hydrophila	$NF2\Delta exoA$ -lux	Necrotizing fasciitis	4.8.
A. hydrophila	NF2-lux	Necrotizing fasciitis	4.8.
A. hydrophila	NF1-lux	Necrotizing fasciitis	4.8.
A. hydrophila	NF1Δ <i>vasK</i>	Necrotizing fasciitis	4.8.
A. hydrophila	$NF1\Delta tseC$	Necrotizing fasciitis	4.8.
A. hydrophila	NF2-lux-pBR322-tsiC	Necrotizing fasciitis	4.8.
A. media	CECT 4232 ^T	Fisheries water	4.9.
A. piscicola	СЕСТ 7443 ^т	Sick fish	4.9.

Supplementary table S1. Continued

Supplementary table S2. Strains used for the genome analysis.

Species	Strain	Source	Study
A. hydrophila	CECT 839 ^T	Milk	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. salmonicida	CECT 894 ^T /CIP 103209 ^T	Salmon	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. sobria	CECT 4245 ^T	Fish	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. media	CECT 4232 ^T	Fisheries water	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. veronii	CECT 4257 ^T	Sputum	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.

Ana Fernández Bravo

Supplementary table 52. Co	Jitiliuca		
Species	Strain	Source	Study
A. caviae	СЕСТ 838 ^т	Guinea pig	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. eucrenophila	СЕСТ 4224 ^т	Fresh water fish	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. schubertii	СЕСТ 4240 ^т	Skin abscess	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. jandaei	CECT 4228 ^T	Human feces	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. trota	CECT 4255 ^T	Human feces	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. allosaccharophila	СЕСТ 4199 ^т	Eel	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. encheleia	СЕСТ 4342 ^т	Eel	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. bestiarum	CECT 4227 ^T	Sick fish	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. popoffi	CECT 5176 ^T	Drinking water	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. simiae	IBS S-6874 ^T	Monkey feces	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. molluscorum	CECT 5864 ^T	Shellfish	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. bivalvium	СЕСТ 7113 ^т	Shellfish	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. tecta	CECT 7082 ^T	Children feces	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. piscicola	CECT 7443 ^T	Sick fish	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. fluvialis	CECT 7401 ^T	River water	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. taiwanensis	CECT 7403 ^T	Wound infection	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. sanarelli	СЕСТ 7402 ^т	Wound infection	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. diversa	CECT 4254 ^T	Wound infection	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. rivuli	CECT 7518 ^T	River water	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. cavernicola	CECT 7862 ^T /MDC 2508	Cavern creek water	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. australiensis	CECT 8023 ^T	Irrigation water	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. dhakensis	CECT 5744 ^T	Children feces	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. finlandiensis	CECT 8028 ^T /4287D	Cyanobacterial bloom	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. aquatica	CECT 8025 ^T /AE235	Cyanobacterial bloom	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. lacus	CECT 8024 ^T / AE122	Cyanobacterial bloom	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. rivipollensis	LMG 26323 ^T	River water	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. aquatilis	CECT 8026 ^T	Lake water	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.

Supplementary table S2. Continued

Supplementary

Species	Strain	Source	Study
A. lusitana	CECT 7828 ^T /MDC 2473	Untreatedwater	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. intestinalis	CECT 8980 ^T	Human feces	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. enterica	CECT 8981 ^T	Human feces	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. crassostreae	CECT 8982 ^T	Shellfish	4.2.,4.6. and 4.7.
A. caviae	429865 Ae_01	Child feces	4.2.
A. dhakensis	AKK1	Septicemia (NF)	4.2.
A. media	WS	Water	4.2.
A. schubertii	WL1483	Snakehead fish	4.2.
A. simiae	CIP 107798	Pig	4.2.
A. veronii	B565	Sediment	4.2. and 4.6.
A. salmonicida subsp. salmonicida	01-B526	Brook trout	4.2.
A. salmonicida subsp. salmonicida	2004-05MF26	Fish	4.2.
A. salmonicida subsp. salmonicida	A449	Fish	4.2. and 4.6.
A. salmonicida subsp. salmonicida	BG	Freshwater fish	4.2.
A. salmonicida subsp. salmonicida	ҮК	Freshwater fish	4.2.
A. salmonicida subsp. achromogenes	AS03	Crucian carp	4.2.
A. salmonicida subsp. smithia	JF4097	Arctic char	4.2.
A. salmonicida subsp. smithia	NBRC 13784 ^T	Ulcer from fish	4.2.
A. salmonicida subsp. masoucida	RFAS1	Rockfish	4.2.
A. salmonicida subsp. masoucida	M18076-11	Lumpfish	4.2.
A. salmonicida	Y47	Chicken	4.2.
A. salmonicida	Y567	Food	4.2.
A. salmonicida	Y577	Food	4.2.
A. salmonicida	A527	Giant river prawn	4.2.
A. salmonicida	ECFood+05	Food	4.2.
A. salmonicida	ASG1	Wound infection	4.2.
A. salmonicida	A308	Water	4.2.
A. salmonicida	947C	Wound infection	4.2.
A. salmonicida	AJ83	Wound infection	4.2.
A. salmonicida subsp. pectinolytica	34mel ^T	Fish	4.2.

Supplementary table S2. Continued
UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI EPIDEMIOLOGY AND PATHOGENIC CHARACTERIZATION OF SPECIES OF THE GENUS AEROMONAS Ana Fernández Bravo UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI EPIDEMIOLOGY AND PATHOGENIC CHARACTERIZATION OF SPECIES OF THE GENUS AEROMONAS Ana Fernández Bravo UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI EPIDEMIOLOGY AND PATHOGENIC CHARACTERIZATION OF SPECIES OF THE GENUS AEROMONAS Ana Fernández Bravo



U N I V E R S I TAT ROVIRA i VIRGILI